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  ONCE UPON A TIME


   


  THERE lived in Britain a mathematician by the name of Alan Turing. At the age of twenty-four, he wrote a paper that proved once and for all that any mathematical calculation that could be performed could be performed by a machine, and laid the foundations of modern computing.


  In 1939, World War II broke out. Germany used a machine called The Enigma to encrypt its transmissions with an unbreakable cipher. At Bletchley Park, the hub of Allied cryptanalysis, the Mathematician designed a counter to The Enigma, the bombe, and broke the unbreakable. For this he was awarded the Order of the British Empire.


  The Mathematician’s next project was artificial intelligence—he designed a test, later called “the Turing Test,” to determine whether a machine could be considered to think.


  But for all his accomplishments, the Mathematician had a Problem, at least as far as the British were concerned. He wrote:


  Turing believes machines think,


  Turing lies with men,


  Therefore machines do not think.


  Convicted of gross indecency for practicing his sexuality, he accepted chemical castration as an alternative to prison; despite the fact that many testified to his essential honesty and integrity, he was stripped of his security clearance and placed under surveillance.


  The Mathematician died in 1954, at the age of forty-two. The cause of death was determined to be cyanide poisoning and ruled a suicide; a half-eaten apple was found near his body. His mother believed the poisoning was accidental, and some have speculated that in an era of mounting Cold War paranoia, British Intelligence perceived the Mathematician to be too high a security risk.


  Before his death, he published a paper on mathematical biology that established a new field of research: morphogenesis. In 2006, a group of scientists found the first direct physical evidence for his theory of pattern formulation, though the implications of his work on this topic are still not fully understood. As for the Mathematician’s dream of artificial intelligence, it remained the stuff of philosophy and science fiction.


  But then, on the other side of the Atlantic, something interesting happened…


  CHAPTER ONE


  ECONOMY PACKAGE


   


  THE nature of The Incident was such that I, who had once made the stars dance to my Magic, was reduced to bargaining with Windows Vista.


  “Come on, darling, just this once, close your eyes and think of the King,” I pleaded as I tried to slip the install disk inside her. “Sweetheart, I promise, I will restart you soon.”


  She was having none of it.


  “An error has occurred,” she said.


  The dialog box hovered right there, waiting to see if I would take the bait. I did. Google responded coldly to my inquiry: “0xC004C4CE: Unable to find a detailed error description.”


  Instead of hurling a flamebolt at the bitch—a misbegotten chimera hatched in some wunderkind’s garage—I took a deliberate sip of coffee.


  It was only 13:01 in the morning.


  Six years, ten months, three weeks, twelve hours and twenty minutes to go.


   


  MY FINGERS clicked through the ritual that had become customary over the past month. Check job board (no new ads). Check Twitter (no new mentions). Check Gmail—Interview for Posting ID 1561.


  With a deep breath, I clicked on the pristine, bold, sans-serif subject line. At last, I was summoned—to come in on Monday with two pieces of photo ID and a certified copy of my transcripts.


  The news merited more coffee, and an espresso machine was added to the list of things to buy—this instant filth was corroding my taste buds.


  “Imp!” No answer. “Imp!” A purr from the drawing room indicated that Imp was in its customary spot. “Imp, turn that off!”


  There was a hiss, followed by the high-pitched squeal of a cheap remote, and my familiar finally deigned to enter the study. All three feet of its mottled gray-and-glass skin bristled with contrition. A clever ploy; I decided I was not angry at it after all.


  “Coffee,” I said, holding out my now empty cup. “And find me something to eat, will you?”


  Barely two minutes later, I had a steaming cup of coffee, and a small plate of chocolate biscuits on my desk, reminding me of why I tolerated the impertinence—chocolate biscuits and efficiency were not to be trifled with.


  Purr brrup?


  “Dig up the paperwork Petra sold us.”


  Squeak! Squeak?


  “Yes, on Friday. And if you behave yourself, I’ll get you cable next week.”


  Purr.


   


  REPUTABLE netizens were of the opinion that all software engineers wanted to work for JCN. And it was in one of JCN’s conference rooms that I found myself on Monday morning, cooling my heels.


  It wasn’t till 28:23 that a large middle-aged man entered the room and gripped my hand in a bone-crushing handshake.


  A student of “Manage with Power!” self-help seminars, evidently.


  “You have a very impressive resume,” he said, “for an entry-level candidate.”


  “Thank you, sir.” At $3,000 per professionally typeset page, it better be impressive.


  “Have a seat, Mr. Penn.”


  “Thank you, sir.”


  “Let’s start with why you want to work for JCN.”


  Smile 23 twisted my lips upward, tinged my eyes with the right proportion of bravura and warmth. “Would you like the approved interview response, or the truth?”


  His pupils dilated. “Whatever you want to tell me.”


  So, I hadn’t misread the man—in his book, boldness equated to honesty, charm to skill. Mr. Management was going to hire me today.


  The surety sat in my stomach like warm vanilla pudding as the interview progressed.


  “I think that’s about it,” he said, after thirty-two minutes. “It was a pleasure talking to you.”


  “Same here, sir,” I said. Just then, the door to the conference room slammed open.


  “Hey!” said Mr. Management. “We were just about done.”


  “Thought I’d drop by,” said the newcomer. “You know, Lead Developer interviewing a tech guy?”


  Lead Developer? A new variable. Abrupt, bespectacled, unkempt hair. And very attractive. At least, very much my type. Another variable, but not necessarily a bad one—people tend to react rather well to admiration.


  “Hello, sir,” I said, standing and extending my hand.


  Mr. Lead Developer gave me an irritated smile and took a seat. Then, after a moment or two of leafing through my resume, he looked up.


  “Caltech, huh?”


  It all went downhill from there.


   


  “WHAT is a pure virtual function?”


  “What is the diamond problem, and how can it be avoided?”


  Charm, flattery, challenge, every conversational gambit in my diplomatic arsenal was ignored; he dug for undiluted data with the single-minded ferocity of an attack dog.


  “Why the hell would you use a loop for that?”


  The questions were purely malicious; he’d plumbed the rather shallow depths of my technical knowledge a third of the way through the interrogation.


  “How would you go about—”


  “Sir,” I said, “I honestly don’t know. This is why I would like to work here and gain from your experience and leadership so I can make a valuable contri—”


  “Stop playing buzz-word bingo, Mr. Penn. Do you, or do you not know how to….”


  The one and only correct response I managed to provide was a quick solution to a mathematical algorithm. The windows diffused the mid-morning sunlight into something soft, a mocking counterpoint to the stinging paper cut I acquired from the edges of my neatly stapled CV.


  “Well, I think that’s it,” said Mr. Lead Developer finally and got to his feet.


  Through it all, Mr. Management had been sitting off to one side, stunned into silence by his favored candidate’s abrupt fall from grace.


  “Um, yes,” he said now, rising from the table a heartbeat after Mr. Lead Developer. “We’ll be in touch.”


  There was nothing else to do but get up, nod, and leave the room. Their scrutiny followed me all the way across the hall and into the lift. And my better-than-human hearing couldn’t help but pick up the threads of their analysis of me.


  “He knows jack shit.”


  “Maybe he just needs a little training, some hands-on stuff. I don’t remember most of what I learned in college.”


  “No one has time to babysit. You like him, put him in sales.”


   


  IT’S very hard to get lost in the grid that is downtown Toronto, and by the time I reached Allan Gardens, I still hadn't managed it. Giving up, I headed South on Sherbourne, to Moss Park, and claimed a bench in the shadow of a stunted birch. There, I waited for the cortisol to fade from my system. It took effort; the sun was tinged orange by the time my humor was restored. The wind changed direction, bringing with it the almost undetectable smell of sweat and urine and old-man clothes.


  And, suddenly, the Symbiot woke up.


  It zeroed in on a man shuffling slowly toward my bench. A mutation, one I had not seen before, lurked within his decrepit body. It tainted the air with want, clamoring to be fed upon.


  A heartbeat later, a strident ringing from my pocket jarred the Symbiot out of its singular focus. Grateful for the reprieve, I thumbed Talk.


  “Hello.”


  “This is an automated reminder from Petra Exile Services. Thank you for choosing Petra Enterprises for all your Relocation needs. Payments on your account are now overdue. If you have already made a payment, please disregard this message. Otherwise, please contact our Customer Service department at 1-800-555-5555 immediately. For your convenience, this message will repeat in Akkadian, Imperial Mandarin, Latin, Sanskrit, Lingua—”


  Sighing, I hung up.


  The old man lowered his body onto the bench. “A long day,” he said. “A long day, young man.”


  “It was,” I agreed, and went home.


   


  THE convection currents are strong today; the helium-rich updraft is making my poor baby’s engines whine.


  Breath-mask, full tank. Check.


  Sensors, safety, comms. Check.


  Excalibur. Check.


  Enough.


  I’ve got your number…


   


  IT TOOK effort to wrench myself out of the dream-memory. Imp was shuddering, curled into a tight ball against my stomach.


  “Hush, hush, little thing,” I whispered, stroking its scaly head. “It’s over. And it won’t ever find you.”


  Peep?


  “White noise. Promise.”


   


  WEDNESDAY morning brought with it new mail. Imp placed it at the corner of my desk, along with a cup of the vile-tasting coffee.


  Thinnest envelope first.


  Apparently, my application did not meet the required merit criteria, but they thanked me sincerely for applying. With elaborate care, I crumpled the paper and placed it in the bin.


  There was also a very nice letter from the cellphone company that thanked me for choosing them, thanked me for paying the first month’s bill via electronic means, and then thanked me for paying the environmental tax for paper-based billing.


  A little less gratitude would perhaps have been better received by me; that particular letter earned itself a violent transition to refuse.


  Still no e-mails. A vague restlessness came over me. Stepping out of the study, I caught a ray of sunlight through the drawing room window.


  “Walk,” I said to Imp. It gazed mournfully at the TV. “Fine, stay.”


  It squeaked, snuggling deeper into the sofa.


   


  AT COLLEGE and University, the wind tore my attention away from the cellphone bill and toward the entrance to Queen's Park station. Misshapen whispers, like the longest shadows at sunrise, were rising out of the ground.


  And that's why the city and I broke up last time. She drew my attention too deeply into her dark folds, reminded me, painfully, that I was not my father, that the Mark of the King did not grace my brow, and there was very little I could do other than make the shadows deeper.


  But this was a new age, and now the air was threaded through with circuits and lightning. The suicide's shade had dissipated under the wireless onslaught long before I got to the next intersection. And, like a benediction from unnamed gods, not twenty steps away hung a green and white sign singing the siren-song of caffeine.


   


  LATTE in hand, I sought out an ATM. Less than three hundred dollars for the foreseeable future, with rent due in two weeks. Perhaps you should tone down the lattes.


  As if to reward my wholesome thought, my cellphone went Bing!, startling a young woman to my left. Giving her an apologetic smile, I pressed Talk.


  “Good afternoon is mister Penn there,” said a monotonic female voice.


  “Speaking.”


  “You applied for a position at Rogers.”


  “Yes?”


  “We’ve already finished hiring for customer service. Would you be willing to do cold calls.”


  “Um….” Pride warred with the memory of my account balance. “Sure.”


  “We’re doing group interviews at nine on Monday at our Yorkdale office. Please bring two references. Be on time. Do you have any questions.”


  The lack of any tonal quality to her voice made me wonder if the requirement for “enthusiastic” and “helpful” on the posting had been a sham.


  “Not at this time, thank you.”


  “Good-bye.”


  Cold calling. Breathing deeply, I enumerated the merits of humility. Which led me to the next problem—references. Well, I had Petra on speed dial for such things.


   


  “THANK you for calling Petra Credit Services. Please enter your thirty-two digit personal identifier, followed by the pound key.”


  I probably looked like a lunatic, stabbing at my cellphone for a good minute. At least the system accepted the number on the first try, putting me on hold while it went to fetch a “customer service representative.”


  “Good afternoon, Mr. Penn, my name is Sajiya dePetra. Do you mind if I ask you some questions for security purposes in order to access your account?”


  “Go ahead.” You have my voiceprint and SIM on file. Is my birth-date really necessary?


  “Could you please give us your birth date?”


  “November 11th, 394 CE, Julian adjusted.”


  “Thank you, sir. And what is your full mailing address, including hyperspatial coordinates?”


  A shopping-bag laden woman crossed the street to avoid walking by me. Understandable given that I was, to all intents, hissing and croaking into my phone.


  “Finally, sir, do you have a consort or a partner you are sharing your checking account with?”


  “No.”


  “Thank you for your patience. How may I help you?”


  “I need three references generated for an entry-level position.”


  “Please hold while I pull up your account.”


  Didn’t she just access my account when she asked me all that? But it took two full cycles of Gaga’s “Bad Romance,” played on what sounded like a ukulele, before Ms. Petra returned.


  “I’m sorry sir, your credit account with us is fully extended. Do you have any other means of making a payment for the service?”


  Switching ears, I decided to stop for a red light at the corner of Yonge and College. “I thought I had access to whatever services I needed?”


  “You still do, sir, but as with all our services, there is a fee associated with reference generation. You were set up with a no-limit credit account on May 30th, but as there have been no payments posted in that time, and there is no employment of record on your file, your borrowing privileges have been suspended.”


  “And when was I going to be informed of this? And how the hell am I going to get a job?” The light turned green, a horde of humanity moving me along with it across the road.


  “The notification will go out with the July statement. And I’m sorry, sir, I cannot answer your second question.”


  “Is there nothing you can do? I need the references to get a job to pay you back. It seems rather ridiculous to cut me off now.”


  “I’m sorry, sir, the system won’t allow me to add any further purchases,” she said.


  The couple in front of me decided that the sidewalk was an ideal location to taste each other’s breakfasts. The smooth flow of people became a jumble of Brownian particles, each trying to find the path of least resistance, bumping into one another. And apologizing. This was Canada, after all.


  “Is there anything else I can help you with?” asked Ms. DePetra.


  “You can escalate this call to a manager.” And you two can just move along, thank you, to the other side of the street.


  “I’m sorry, sir, you are always granted top priority. I am the manager.”


  “So I get VIP treatment but no references?” If that was the case, my habitual support of Lord Petra’s cockamamie schemes was at an end.


  “That is correct, sir. Is there anything else I can help you with.”


  “No.”


  “Then to disconnect, please clap, sing or use the cellphone keypad to type four-one-eight. Thank you for calli—”


  CHAPTER TWO


  LINKED IN


   


  TORONTO somehow manages to hold exiles in thrall to her, even as she breeds in us a deep longing for the lights of our Plane.


  In this city, resources other than Petra’s could be called upon.


  At the library a block south of Yonge and Church, I stooped to the ground for a moment, brushing my finger lightly over the pulse in the concrete. A decades old memory rose to reply.


  Four more blocks south, a quick left on Isabella, and I found myself before a porn shop. The windows were tinted black, and a garish neon sign flickered overhead.


  Calling for the Symbiot to announce my presence, I pushed open the door. A bank of cool air rushed to greet me, redolent with the scent of hibiscus and nectarines.


  Instead of magazine racks and questionable latex products, I found a large and mostly empty warehouse. Upside-down owls, some stuffed, some live, hung from the rafters overhead. The live ones swayed gently in the air, their heartbeats slow and steady. The dead ones clacked out pre-Bolshevik Russian poetry in Morse Code.


  A figure sat behind a desk at the far end of the space, casually buffing its nails.


  “Welcome to the Unseelie Consulate. How may I help you?” Its tones were dulcet and carrion.


  “I need a number,” I said, hoping to avoid the long drawn-out pleasantries the denizens of this House partake of as a precursor to work. “The Ambassador, please.”


  The Faerie seemed rather shocked at my abruptness—it took some time to recover its aplomb, hand on breast to calm its fluttering breaths.


  “I’m so sorry, Ser Mage,” it said finally, “but we cannot hand out personal information without appropriate authorization. Would you like to fill out a form, and wait for the interested party to contact you?”


  The Unseelie were doing corporate-speak now? Or had Petra managed to sell them those “Customer Service for the new age: All Species, All Dimensions, ONE COURSE 50% Off Today Only” DVDs after all?


  “No, I want a phone number,” I said. “If he isn’t here, any Ruler of the House will do… actually, anybody except cousin Amelia.”


  “Oh! You’re family! Why didn’t you say so?” The Faerie was excited now—it had put down its nail kit and was about to clap its hands together.


  “Not of your House,” I said quickly.


  Family-yet-not, which narrows the field down to exactly one. And my flashes of temper at inappropriate excitement for every goddamn little thing are well known to the Unseelie.


  Sniffing, the Faerie plucked out a feather from the owl sleeping directly above it. The bird woke, squawking indignantly. Then its heart stopped, and its beak started clacking out Pushkin’s “Dead Princess.”


  The Faerie giggled. “We’re totally binary now!”


  “I see that. Wonderful.” What else could I say?


  “Ah! Here it is! You’re in luck! Lord Tom is in town.” The Faerie smoothed out the feather. “You ready for it? It’s….”


   


  WITH a quick thank you, I escaped the consulate just as the Faerie reinserted the feather into one of the clacking owls in the far corner of the room. The owl returned to life and went to sleep.


  A few steps away from the consulate doors, I started coughing violently. Fortuitously, there was nobody in the alley to offer me a Heimlich, and a good thirty seconds of hacking yielded the small scrap of paper that had managed to make it almost halfway to my stomach. Its markings spelled out two numbers, one of them of the 416-289 variety.


  What the hell was Tom doing in Scarborough?


   


  APPARENTLY, Tom was doing Natalia—“Just the most fantastic little whore of a marketing director I met at this Halloween party”—in Scarborough.


  The process of cornering the Unseelie Lord to commit to a meeting at a specific time and place other than “when I feel like it, somewhere nice,” made it quite clear that Tom had not heard of the specifics of The Incident. And was rather disgruntled at being kept out of the loop, as indicated by the barbed hints he kept dropping between descriptions of Natalia’s choice attributes.


  Even a Hefnerish degree of heterosexuality couldn’t have kept me from strangling the woman after the twelfth mention of her perfectly peaked nipples had he not, right at the edge of my patience, mentioned a bar at Albert and Bay he would very much like to meet at tonight, and would I buy?


  My fervent agreement must have shocked him because he ended the call shortly after. The drinking could be expensed; Tom would give me a reference.


   


  “SORRY, no can do, old chap. The House signed a bilateral with Petra—can’t replicate services.”


  The evening found me sitting over my second fuzzy navel, attempting to avoid all mention of The Incident.


  “Services? This is a reference, for a cousin!”


  Tom raised a finely shaped eyebrow. “So you want a truthful, honest-to-gods reference reference?”


  “Gods no,” I said. “Something about my customer service skills?”


  “Lies like that are House Petra’s domain now.” He gestured to the bartender, calling for two more.


  Six for Tom so far, two for me, and now another two. Seventy-six dollars plus HST and tip.


  “So why are you looking for a job anyway?” he asked as the sickeningly sweet cocktails were mixed at the bar, “I’m hardly an Adept, and I can certainly pluck money out of the air.”


  “Oh, why didn’t I think of that?”


  “So it was true,” he said, turning back to me. “The Inquisition has gone and Restricted you.”


  “I’ve been broken back to White.”


  “So you’re penniless and Magic-less?” he asked, as the server brought our drinks to our table. “Well, there’s always Uppsala.”


  “I refuse to live in a homeless shelter.”


  “It’s a monastery. You may have to let go of your prejudice, Prince,”—there was no particular inflection to Tom’s voice, just a sort of observational quality—“now that you have been forced to leave the Sunless Planes.”


  “Nothing can force me to do anything, unless I choose to be forced.”


  His eyes narrowed. “Did I just hear that tone from you?”


  “You are trying to provoke me.”


  “You’re going to get a lot more of that if you join the workforce. You need to go see a shrink.”


  Tipping my head back, I let the fuzzy navel slide down my throat without tasting too much. “Thank you, Mr. Thumb,” I said, once the glass had been drained. “Any other helpful suggestions?”


  “Get yourself laid. There is this absolutely gorgeous young man—a minor nephew of ours, actually. You’ll love him. And there’s cousin Amelia—she’s always up for a romp.”


  “Why the fuck does everyone keep trying to set me up with relatives?”


  Tom’s eyes glittered violet for a moment. “You need to be distracted from yourself.”


  “What I need is a job,” I said and rose from the table. “Not a wife, a husband, a love-slave, or any variation thereof. Last time I was idle, I staged a rebellion against my King.”


  “Yes, I was there,” he said, watching me pull twenties out of my wallet. “And then you married his wife.”


  That was the moment I realized Tom was furious. Had been for the past hour. In very Faerie fashion, of course, which meant that there was no outward sign to betray the fact, save for a slightly waspish tone to his voice.


  I sat back down. “Are you angry at me?” Inane. At least it was direct.


  “Now what on Earth would I be angry about?” he asked. “It’s not like I had to clean up the blood. Moyen did that herself, did you hear?”


  “I regret the violence. Deeply,” I said to the tabletop. Then I had to look up. “Is your heart turned from me as well?”


  His eyes brimmed over with violet fire. “More than a thousand years since you—”


  “Killed my father, yes.”


  “Since you have raised your sword in anger. And you’ve had plenty of provocation since then. So why now? Tell me what happened in May. From the beginning.”


   “You already know,” I said.


  “What I know is what you told the Council. Except that there’s no proof.” He uncrossed his legs, a frown starting to form at the corner of his mouth, and it was his turn to look down.


  “My word that it is true!”


  “I believe you,” said Tom. “I do. But why did you mount no defense, later, when they asked you to speak?”


  “How could I?” They said rage is a very cunning beast.


  Tom sighed and looked up from the viscous dregs of his cocktail. “And now? Tell me what your plan is—I know you have one—to crawl back into grace.”


  No. But something had to be said.


  “All my world is gray.” Kernels of emotion-ridden truth to keep facts at bay. “I’d almost forgotten, in the Planes… the Deathless don’t accumulate ghosts the way humans do. Now the Desert is calling again.”


  “You make no sense,” said Tom, putting down his glass. “The Symbiot doesn’t allow for such depressive thoughts.”


  I shook my head. “It’s not depression at all. The dead are always calling. It’s a good thing. Lots and lots of white noise.”


   “Why do you think we keep trying to get you laid? Get you attached to something living?”


  “Don’t you think I’m trying too?” Part truth. “The damned Symbiot won’t let me do anything else.”


  “No, it won’t. Nor should it allow….” He, like all of my kind, found it difficult to even say the words. “The Court is seeing conspiracies around every corner,” Tom said. “The Prince lost control. Something Big must be happening. It’s making my job very difficult.”


  The sharp edge to his words was gone, the worst of his anger with it.


  “What,” I said, deciding it was safe to be sarcastic again, “the parties and the boozing more stressful than normal?”


  “Hello, that’s what the Court does nine nights out of ten. Of course it’s getting stressful. And for all your sins, you get to enjoy a quiet holiday on Earth.”


  “I should have arranged to be exiled years ago, clearly.”


  “Better late than never,” he said. “Because now that you’re here, and can’t just run back home, it’s time to get you decently bedded.”


  “Job first,” I said. “The other… we’ll talk about it.” When Muspel freezes over.


  “Fine,” he said. The sudden acquiescence worried me a bit. “Are you going to leave your hair like that?”


  “I don’t have your tolerance for daily dye-jobs,” I said, shrugging. “Why?”


  “You look old from the back.”


  “Nobody is going to hire me without looking at my face.”


  Tom smirked. “It’s a very pretty face,” he said. “Should get you a second interview at least.”


  “I’m still waiting for a proper first.” Yes, let’s forget that thing with JCN ever happened.


  “Natalia says the market’s tough. But really, there are eight billion souls on Earth, more types of work than there are spells in a brown-robe’s grimoire, so why do you want to be a software engineer?”


  “My career-in-exile test said it was a 92 percent match for my personality type.”


  Tom tilted his head to one side, considering. “You need a degree at the very least.”


  “Lecture modules?” I asked. “I am known to be a competent mathematician—the rest is semantics. And three hundred multiple-choice questions can’t be wrong.”


  “You realize that ‘Killing the Once and Future King, my father,’ and ‘that time in feudal Japan’ make for a poor resume.”


  “Petra giveth,” I said and raised the night’s last cocktail to my lips.


  “And Petra taketh away,” said Tom. “So you better be careful of them. But I’ll give you a reference, as long as you don’t tell anybody.”


   


  ONE down, one to go. The Symbiot finished processing both sugar and ethanol just as I found my way back to familiar territory.


  Toronto had changed fundamentally since the last time I walked these streets. The colors were muted, the rhythm of the city a fast staccato rock-hewn beat rather than the lonely blues that still echoed in my head from time to time. There used to be a bar near here where I spent a decade in the company of musicians far better than I.


  As I approached the corner of College and Bay, the spectre of cigar smoke and radio vanished, replaced by a Shawarma joint doing brisk business in this colder-than-usual July night. And just outside the door, there was a man sitting on the ground playing a half-remembered melody on a silver flute. An instrument case sat open before him, mostly empty. Walking up, I dropped my last hundred into the case and leaned against the wall to wait.


   


  “LONG time, Baron,” I said as the busker’s tune came to an end. “How are the Loa treating you?”


  “Loa dance when I make music. So things are fucking good. You?” he asked. “You still playing’?”


  “No so much. It made my gums bleed,” I said.


  The Baron grinned. “Prolly better—this ain’t no proper life for a Mage.”


  “And yet you’re here,” I observed


  “Cause I ain’t no kochon Mage.”


  That made me smile. “No, you’re Baron Samedi.”


  “So what the fuck you seek me out for, you?”


  “I need a favor. A character reference, for a job.”


  He laughed, a sinister sound that made some of the people outside the restaurant shudder without knowing why. “A character reference? For you? From me? That’s rich. You poor now?”


  “It’s a long story,” I said.


  “Well, I’m done for the night,” he said, dismantling his flute with practiced movements. “I’ll buy us supper.”


  “Not necessary.”


  “Some kind gentleman gave me a hundred dollars.” He winked at me as he stood up. Shrugging, I followed him into the Shawarma place.


  We didn’t have to wait in line, and nobody seemed to mind the discourtesy. Piping hot falafel wrap in hand, I found us an empty booth in the back corner while Samedi acquired a china cup filled with rum.


  “So why you poor?” he asked.


  “I’ve been exiled to Earth,” I said.


  “And the cocksuckers won’t let one of you walk around here without a Restriction.”


  “It’s not too onerous.” My mouth twisted into a parody of a smile. Every plan should have a backup, however bleak. If things went wrong, the Inquisition would react in a reassuringly… thorough… manner. “My parole officer is the most annoying part of the entire affair.”


  The Baron shook his head, took a swallow of rum, then passed the cup to me. At least it wasn’t schnapps.


  “Restriction’ll turn your seed to dust,” he said. “Whatcha fucking let them do it for?”


  “I….” If you can’t trust an ex-bandmate, who can you trust?


  “The dead don’t judge, so why should I? Speak, boi.”


  I spoke.


  Finally, he leaned back in his chair, cup and saucer in hand. “Software, eh? Lots of jobs, they say.”


  “One day I will meet this ‘they’ that says such things and strangle them—very, very slowly,” I said. “I’ve been looking for a month now.”


  “True?” Samedi asked.


  “Perhaps I should have picked some other field. Maybe sales.” I surprised myself with the amount of bitterness in my voice at that last word.


  “So why didn’t you, masisi?” he asked, with an undecipherable look in his eye. “You thinkin’ you have no use of you if you don’t make yourself useful?”


  “Something like that,” I said.


  “Okay, then,” he said, “let’s get you a job in software.”


  “What?”


  But he was already pulling out a cell from his pocket, a brand new Galaxy-S2. A flicker of embarrassment made itself known for my free-with-a-contract clamshell.


  “Very nice lawyer-girl I know from when I used to busk over at Union station. Her hubby run a small company,” he said as he scrolled through his contacts then raised the phone to his ear.


  “Hello, sweetheart, it’s me. Listen, could I talk to your husband for a moment? Sure, I’ll hold.”


  I could hear a man’s voice in the background coming onto the phone.


  “Evening there, Ram,” Samedi said. “Sure everything is good. You still looking for people?”


  The commotion around us made it very difficult to pick out individual words from the other side of the conversation.


  The Baron listened for a bit, then, “… like a brother to me,” he said. Then he just hung up.


  My fingers were twitching at this point, but dragging answers out of a friend is impolite. And Samedi could be a stickler for polite.


  “There,” he said. “All set.”


  “What is set?” I asked.


  “I get you a fucking interview.”


  “With who? Where? When?”


  “Tomorrow, around noon. Start-up, EK Limited, near the old distillery. Ram’s wife say he gonna change the world.” His cup, half-empty, was suddenly full of rum again.


  “I should go then. Make sure my suit is ready.”


  He looked up. “I went there once. Nobody be wearing suits. Smell like swe.”


  So it was that type of start-up. A portion of tonight would have to be spent channelling the hexacolored spirit of the great Googleplex.


  “I… Baron, I don’t know how to thank you.”


  “No need,” he said. “Blues bind stronger than blood.”


  “And the other…?”


  “I’ll look into it.” Then he grinned at me as I started to rise. “The world of paradigm-changing software development is awaitin’ for its Paragon.”


  I snorted. “I haven’t even learned how to program yet.”


  “Then it can’t be waitin’ for you, can it?”


  “No,” I said.


  “So go on home, Sax-man!”


  CHAPTER THREE


  THE MAN WITH THE FUNNY ACCENT


   


  HELP me find my way 127.0.0.1, my shirt said. A little cliché, but it was all I could find on short notice.


  EK Limited was situated on the ground floor of a two-story, converted warehouse a few blocks north of the waterfront. It was well maintained, at least, unlike the building across the street.


  Inside, I was momentarily stunned by the assault of yellows and pinks.


  After a few rapid blinks, I became aware of the curved pine table with a computer, a vase of orchids, and a small plastic rectangle that said “reception.”


  There was nobody around, though I could pick up sounds behind a closed door off the lobby—snatches of conversation, the click of keyboards being used. “Lunch-ish,” Samedi had said; it was precisely 00:25. I waited around for a few more minutes, then decided to open the door.


  Heads turned, and a woman rushed toward me, a can of coke in her hand. The yellow-and-pink decor had invaded the room beyond as well, sharing space with potted ferns and… wind-up dinosaurs?


  “Hi,” the woman said, “can I help you?”


  “I had an interview today with Mr. Ram,” I said. “Lunchish?”


  “He didn’t tell me.”


  “Oh.”


  “Don’t worry!” she said. “He does this all the time. Come around back, I’ll go hunt him down. Would you like something to drink? Tea, soda, coffee?”


  The Internet stated that it was terrible etiquette to request anything other than water at an interview, but water hadn’t been on her list. And the unexpectedness around me was clamouring for caffeine.


  “Coffee, please,” I said, “if it’s not too much trouble?”


  “Not at all,” she said. “I’m Emma, by the way.”


  First names already? “Mori,” I said.


   


  THE Baron had been right. Emma, obviously the receptionist, was wearing a blue silk shift with white trainers. Other people were attired in everything from T-shirts to Chinese-collared halter tops, but there was not a single suit in sight. Nor were there any offices or closed doors—the entire place was one giant loft.


  A few people looked up as we walked past and, to my surprise, smiled at me. There was nothing to do but stretch my face into a grin and nod every time I met somebody’s eyes—who knew where the Lead Developer lurked in this place?


  Emma led me to a kitchenette area near the back. A large espresso machine shared counter space with the disembowelled husk of a computer. She didn’t seem to mind, or even notice, the dead beast and proceeded to pull out a cup from a pantry.


  “Espresso or latte or cappuccino?” Emma asked, twiddling with the knobs on the machine.


  “American cappuccino or European cappuccino?”


  “European cappuccinos are nonmigratory,” said Emma. “Sorry.”


  “Espresso, then, please,” I said. She looked disappointed for a minute, shrugged, and handed me the cup, a rich brown liquid swirling in the bottom.


  “I’ll go look for Ram,” she said. “Just take a seat, read a magazine or something. He might be in the basement.”


  “Basement?” Was this just a showroom then, the real programmers kept in some underground sweatshop?


  “Be right back.”


  All I could do was take a seat on a battered blue Ikea sofa and gaze dutifully at the cover of July’s PCWorld.


  The magazine featured an interview with Ramasundarm Vijayagopalan. Ram…? Mr. Vijayagopalan? My prospective boss? A quick glance at the article confirmed my suspicion. “Ram” was a thirty-year-old millionaire, retired from the world of investment software to pursue “experimental research in novel computing techniques.”


  This place looked more like an unsupervised kindergarten than an experimental laboratory, so I was naturally sceptical at the last. The article contained nothing about what kind of skills he might want in the people he hired. With a sigh, I inhaled the aroma of a beautifully brewed espresso and resumed my covert inspection of the room for the Lead Developer.


   


  HAVING mentally sorted the people in the room into “serial procrastinators,” “people who do something with hardware that involves a lot of swearing,” “caffeine addicts,” and “documentation obfuscators,” I was in the midst of constructing Venn diagrams with them when Emma returned, Mr. Vijayagopalan in tow.


  He had gained some weight since the photo on the magazine cover. I rose to my feet and extended my hand.


  “Mr. Vijayagopalan,” I said.


  “Please,” he said, shaking my hand with both of his, “call me Ramasundarm.”


  “Ramasundarm,” I said. “I’ve brought my resume and transcripts, if you’d like to take a look.”


  “Sure, sure. Sit, please!”


  I pulled the papers out of my faux-leather satchel, then handed them to him across the coffee table. His forehead creased as he began to read, and he sat down, crossing his legs. Breathe.


  “This all looks good Mori,” he said. “Welcome aboard.”


  “Pardon?”


  “You were expecting a longer interview?”


  “Um. Somewhat?”


  He smiled at me. “You’ll come to see that we do things differently around here. You were recommended by a fantastic musician. And everybody in this office can pronounce my name correctly.”


  “What does that have….” I trailed off and settled for quirking my eyebrow at him.


  “Data,” he said. “Get enough of it and very strange things emerge.”


  “If analyzed correctly,” I agreed. “What did data tell you about your name?”


  “It told me that each and every person that pronounces this set of syllables in the correct way makes an ideal addition to this company.”


  “Doesn’t that confer an unfair advantage to Indians?”


  He laughed. “As you can see, we are a very diverse group here. You never say a name just with your mouth—the eyes, the hands, everything speaks.”


  The Mageborn surely know the truth of that, though I could detect no spark of power in this man. Hard to tell with the Restriction wound around my midriff.


  “Of course, we wasted a lot of time with interviews and probationary periods and standardized testing,” he said. “Finally, I decided enough was enough and went with this approach.”


  “I see.” My new boss was utterly mad.


  “My mother named me Bobby, you know,” Ramasundarm continued. “Imagine trying to explain to her why I had to change it.”


  “You have more courage than I, sir,” I replied. “My mother named me Mordred.”


  “Mothers,” he said, patting my shoulder. “What can you do?”


   


  ALAS, good and evil come in pairs. Getting a job was good. Evil was waiting for me at my front door in the form of a large, thuggish man in an ill-fitting suit.


  “Can I help you?” I asked as I walked up to my apartment.


  He raised his hand, contorting his fingers in a gesture that looked rather painful. I narrowed my eyes.


  “You mean this?” I gave him a variant of “Rock-On.” He nodded, and I had to refrain from rolling my eyes. Every Deathless I knew had abandoned the super-secret-handsign idiocy with the advent of Heavy Metal.


  “Your monthly statement,” he said, handing me an envelope. “Payment is now overdue.”


  Looking down at the white rectangle in my hand, I sorely missed the illustrative power of Magic; a fireball would have been extremely appropriate right now. But all I could do was talk. And nicely, at that.


  “Sorry, I just got a job today. I’ll put in the installment as soon as I have my first paycheck—I’m starting next week.”


  “Payment is now overdue. It will be more overdue next week.”


  “There. Is. No. Money. You ken? There will be some when I get my paycheck. Then I’ll pay you.”


  He frowned at me. “Payment will be even more overdue then.”


  “So what are you going to do, break my fingers?”


  “You crazy?” he asked. Fair question.


  “So, what?”


  “So we take away furniture.”


  “And how will you do that without violence?” The loan could hardly be registered with the Credit Bureau—there would be no bailiffs involved.


  “You will open front door.”


  “Just like that?”


  “You owe money. You have no money. So we take furniture. You will open door. That is how it works.”


  “And if I don’t want to let you take my furniture?”


  He looked appalled. “But you are Deathless!”


  And a knight, however disgraced. I will open door. Right.


  Inside, the thug looked around for a moment, then settled on my bed. “This one.” With barely any effort, he heaved off the mattress and attacked the wooden frame with his bare hands.


  “You’re not even going to take it?”


  “No resale value,” he replied.


  The bed was reduced to kindling in a few moments, the mattress shredded soon after. Imp, attracted out of the shadows by the commotion, was hiding behind my legs.


  “Thank you for your patience,” the thug said. “Have a good evening. Next time I break TV.”


   


  SPENDING nights on the couch did nothing for my disposition, marginal under the best of circumstances. Almost, I was late to work on my first day.


  11:18. Half the office was full, it appeared, though Emma was missing.


  “You’re the new guy?” asked a man dressed in a tattered T-shirt, his breath laced with the ketones of a garlic bagel.


  “Yes,” I replied.


  “This way,” he said. I was led to a desk near the back of the room—close to the coffee machine. “Here’s your station, computer, phone. Need anything else, you ask Curtis, the guy with the dreads, though he doesn’t come in till ten. Login is your first initial, last name, same as your e-mail username. Here’s the password.” He handed me a yellow Post-it with a string of letters and numbers: p455w0rd. “Any questions?”


  “Um… what am I supposed to be doing?”


  “Dunno. Get yourself set up, I guess. There’s some documentation on the internal wiki—192.168.31.17. Only Alan updates it anymore. Read. Get a coffee.”


  “Ah. And I’m being paid 60k for that?”


  The man snorted. “I’m getting paid 80k, and mostly all I do is babysit Windows. But it won’t last long. Something in the air tells me the shit’s about to hit the fan.”


  “Something in the air?”


  “Yeah. Traffic’s doubled, and boss has started pulling the R&D team into the basement at least three times a day. Not that I’ll find out what’s going on till the last minute. I mean, I’m just the Sysadmin.”


  “Ouch,” I said. Then, “Basement?”


  “It’s complicated—Ramasundarm would be able to explain it better. Very hush-hush.”


  “Ramasundarm said something about us setting up beta servers?”


  “Beta!” The Sysadmin started laughing. “We’re still in pre-alpha. Our beloved R&D goons—they don’t show up till eleven—have been having a nut.”


  “So we’ve got theoretical delays.”


  “You a math guy?” he asked.


  “Something like that.”


  “Yeah, then you’ll end up on the Other Side.”


  “Sounds bad.”


  “It is,” he said. “We’re the Good Side: Emma, me, Curtis, the hardware people, the guys that run everything around here. Then there’s the Others: the math guys, the PhDs, cryptos, the theoretical computer scientists—didn’t even know you could get those on the open market. Basement Dwellers. Real busy right now. Probably where you’ll end up.”


  It certainly sounded like the place to be. But, “As long as we have our Sysadmin and Caffeine Nurse, everything will be all right.”


  Sysadmin grinned nastily. “I knew it. You’re already talking like one of Them.”


  “Birds of feather,” I said.


  “… shit together,” he finished and, with a jaunty wave, returned to the wire-infested terminal in the center of the room.


  I couldn’t wait to get into the basement.


   


  MY PROCESSED-to-hell-and-back crackers and cheese sat on my desk, mocking me as I watched Ramasundarm carefully open a three-tiered, stainless steel lunch box in the kitchenette. My mouth filled with saliva, and I was gripped with a hunger that had absolutely nothing to do with the Symbiot. By all that is holy, please, please, please, don’t eat that in front of me.


  He spooned one delicious smelling curry onto the rice and was about to start eating. But then he looked up for a moment and caught my frankly ravenous gaze. Embarrassed, I ducked my head in apology and started to open the plastic wrapping on my crackers.


  “Is that all you’re eating?” Ramasundarm asked.


  “Um,” I said, “I didn’t have time to pack lunch today.” And the crackers cost one dollar.


  “You like Indian food?”


  At my hesitant nod, he pointed to the pantry with a becurried spoon.


  “Grab a plate! There’s plenty here for two.”


  “Please, sir, I couldn’t possibly.”


  “Nonsense!” he said. “My wife always packs too much, then shouts at me if I don’t finish it all. I have no idea how the starving orphans in India would possibly be helped by my leftovers, but what do I know? You’d be doing me a favor if you help me eat this.”


   


  AFTER lunch, Justin the JavaScript developer was assigned by Gabe the Sysadmin to explain my job to me. From the sounds of it, Justin didn’t quite know what his own job was.


  “Everything clear?” he asked.


  “Yes, it is,” I lied, just to get him to stop explaining. “We’re doing piecemeal integration of the R&D people’s code. And because of the Great C# Jihad of April, everyone programs in different languages, some of their own making.”


  “Yup.”


  “Why not process them in their native language, just… slightly modified to run on our cluster?” I asked.


  “Alan says that’s ugly,” said Justin.


  Alan, whoever he was, was right, but the sheer insanity of the task…. “Okay, so which one of these”—I scrolled down the page—“thirty-odd projects do I start with first?”


  Justin scrolled up and down a few times, then shrugged. “Just pick any one. Doesn’t matter.”


  “There’s no queue? No priority?”


  “Nope. Whatever you want to do.”


  My soul shuddered. “Can’t someone downstairs write some sort of interpreter or conversion or something to automate the whole ‘rewrite programs from whatever godforsaken language they’re written in’ process?”


  Justin looked at me oddly. “You’re going to end up in the basement, aren’t you?”


  “What makes you say that?”


  “Nothing. Never mind. Yeah, they did start fiddling around with a universal compiler, semantic on-the-fly type of thing, but that got a bad case of creep-and-stall when Alan went on vacation. Um… here… one sec….”


  Justin opened a new tab in the browser and quickly typed an address into the URL bar: http://head.electrickindren.com.


  “Um, sorry about the flash,” he said as a bright blue loading bar began crawling slowly from left to right. “It was faster before everybody started playing with her.”


  Her?


  Suddenly, a 3D, animated, hairless, eyeless head popped up on the screen.


  “Gertrude, a.k.a. The Head, a.k.a. Gabe’s precious,” said Justin. “She was supposed to be the front end. Now she’s just sort of like a chat bot. This stuff gets really, really annoying. She’s someone to talk to, you know?”


  No, I didn’t. “I see.”


  “We’ve been adding to her lexicon,” he said. “Poke around if you like. You can put it on your timesheet as ‘internal R&D’.”


  “Ah.” The junior programmers had found a budget item specifically designed for procrastination. “I think I’ll just start with something in a language I don’t know,” I said, firmly closing Gertrude’s tab. That is, I would start with the very first program on the list, since I was equally ignorant of all languages.


  “Sure, dude,” said Justin. “By the way, you any good with a paddle? We break for Ping-Pong at eleven.”


  “No. I do not Ping-Pong.”


  “Um. Okay,” he said, “I’ll be at my desk. If you have any questions, I won’t be able to answer them, so just… figure it out, okay?”


  “Sure.”


   


  BY 12:09, so great was my consternation with EK’s arcane version-tracking methods that the Symbiot had a bare millisecond to warn me before I felt a hand on my shoulder.


  It was Emma, with two espresso cups. One for me? Yes.


  “Thank you,” I said, with all the gratitude I could muster. “You didn’t have to.”


  She giggled. “I can recognize a fellow addict.”


  “I’m not addicted,” I said gently. The poor girl had been nice to me; I could hardly repay that with a stern lecture on what does and does not constitute addiction. “It just tastes very good. And warm.”


  “And caffeinated,” she said. “When did you start?”


  Four hundred years ago. “A while. You?”


  “Since I was sixteen. Hated my first couple of cups,” she said. “Then it just… I get headaches when I don’t have enough.”


  “I don’t,” I said.


  “Then tomorrow you fight for your second cup yourself.”


  Fight? “Fight?”


  “Uh huh,” said Emma. “If I don’t ration the beans, we end up running out by Wednesday afternoon.”


  I raised an eyebrow. “Can’t you just… order more?”


  “Doesn’t make a difference,” she said. “We always run out.”


  Strange. “But—” A look of annoyance crossed her face; I changed direction. “How long have you been working here?”


  “Lemme see… we moved to Canada last year before the fall semester—my partner’s in grad school at UfT—and the work permit took a couple… so, ten months in September.”


  “You’re not Canadian?” I asked.


  “Unfortunately, no,” she said. “I’m from Texas.”


  That explained the strange modulation to her speech. I had never knowingly met a Texan before. “Why unfortunately?” I asked.


  She gave me a look I couldn’t quite interpret. “Um….”


  “Never mind,” I said. Her arms, loosely held to her sides till now, were crossed defensively at her chest. It would not do to make the Caffeine Nurse uncomfortable. “Stronger dollar, gay marriage, healthcare,” I said. Thank you, Wikipedia. “No need to explain.”


  “The only thing you don’t have is the Stanley Cup,” she said, her good humor restored.


  I racked my mind for which game that particular award was for. Something Canadians were supposed to be good at, obviously. Curling? Snow forts? “Just… don’t bring it up,” I said.


  “Deal,” she said.


  We drained the last of our coffee in unison.


   


  ALAS, there is no peace for the wicked this side of the Desert.


  “Dude, dude, dude, check this out!”


  With a sigh I looked away from my work. “Yes, Justin?”


  “Come check this out!” A YouTube video was paused on his screen.


  The excited exclamations had the effect of drawing all the other procrastinators on the floor to Justin’s desk, like flies to poisoned honey.


  Satisfied that he had a sufficiently attentive crowd, he started the video. I really couldn’t see what the fuss was about—some cartoon animals, a bespectacled scientist, various accents.


  And then, that logo, vectorized to within an inch of sanity.


  Lost in my contemplation of satisfactory retorts to Lead Developer put-downs, I missed something—everyone started laughing. And didn’t stop for a good minute after the video came to an end.


  “This just went viral,” Justin said.


  “Smart fuckers,” said Curtis. “Fucking brilliant.”


  “It’s an ad,” I said. “So what?”


  “It’s not just any ad,” said Justin. “It’s JCN’s ad.”


  “We hate them,” said Curtis, by way of explanation. “All corporate suits and marketing campaigns and billions in R&D money. No soul. Big bad competitor, you know?”


  “But we’re working on….” I paused for thought. “I see. David versus Goliath.”


  “Yup,” said Justin. “They’d love to shut us down.”


  Curtis snorted. “They don’t even know we exist.”


  “Better keep it that way,” said Gabe, who had wandered over to our mini-moot. “If they start throwing money at the Basement Dwellers’ problems?”


  “Doesn’t matter,” said Justin. “We have Alan.”


  The question had to be asked. “Um. Who is Alan?”


  “Who is Alan?” Justin’s question was greeted by a couple of groans, and people started dispersing toward their desks. Undaunted, he continued. “He’s supposed to be American. Some say his father was British. Nobody Upstairs has ever seen him—”


  “Alan’s our offsite Lead Developer,” interrupted Curtis.


  Offsite? Excellent. “I see,” I said. “And who does he lead?”


  “Nobody knows anybody that works directly for him,” said Justin, “but to hear Ramasundarm tell it, any one of us could be working on an Alan Project. You never know.”


  Gabe rolled his eyes and walked away.


  “And does this Alan have a last name?” I asked.


  “Probably,” said Curtis, “but we have a ‘if you have to ask, you don’t need to know because I don’t want to friend you on Facebook’ policy.”


  Thank the gods. @imparse’s tweets would have been… difficult… to explain.


  “Following Twitter feeds is usually okay,” said Justin.


  Damn.


  “But with Alan,” he continued, “just… don’t snoop. No packet sniffing, no IP traces, no piggyback code. He Who Must Not Be Named got fired for that.”


  “Bullshit,” said Curtis.


  Justin raised his hands and backed up a step. “Hey man, I’m just saying what was said to me when I first started.”


  “He Who Must Not Be Named,” said Curtis, “was fired because he was a shitty programmer.”


  A slight hint of belligerence entered Justin’s stance. “So how come he got hired by JCN?”


  Because he didn’t have the misfortune of having a sadist sit in on his interview?


  “Cuz JCN sucks,” said Curtis.


  “He delved too deep. He found something.”


  “Sure, buddy,” said Curtis. “The greatest trick Alan ever pulled was convincing everyone he telecommutes, right?”


  Justin didn’t say anything. Making a mental note never to a) snoop into Alan’s affairs, or b) leave any bad code lying around where Alan could see it, I returned to my desk.


   


  PEOPLE started leaving the office at the end of the workday—23:22, Monday, July 9th. Mordred Pendragon becomes a Software Engineer. Surely it was an event worth celebrating? And the one person that truly knows how to celebrate was but a phone call away.


   


  “HELLO.”


  “Hi, Tom’s phone, Natalia speaking.” Natalia of the perfectly peaked nipples?


  “Um, sorry to bother you, ma’am. I just wanted—”


  “One sec, he’s here,” the voice said. “Honeysuckle, somebody’s on the phone for you. Caller ID says ‘Count Chocula’.”


  Some insults must be paid back in pain, and Tom was racking up quite a tab. There was a rustle as the phone changed hands on the other end.


  “Hello darlin’,” said a familiar voice, “what made you call our humble self tonight?”


  “Just wondering,” I said. “You see, I’ve just finished my first day as a contributing member of the economy—”


  “Oh! Oh! Oh!” I could just imagine Tom fluttering his hands in excitement. “Nat and I are crashing this little gathering in Manhattan. Wanna join us?”


  Manhattan? “If my presence is not an imposition,” I said. “And I don’t have to pay for it.”


  “Never!” he said. “And it’s not a pay-your-way-in kind of party. I’ll send a road around, elevenish? Wear something sexy.”


  “I don’t do ‘sexy’.”


  “Dublin. 1871. I have the lithographs. Be ready at eleven.”


  Goddamn blackmailing Faerie. Those pictures had to burn.


   


  A SMALL whirlwind made up entirely of charcoal smoke and robin feathers showed up in my living room exactly at 24:27. Perhaps this Natalia woman was good for my cousin’s punctuality. Or, more likely, he was just afraid I would find an excuse to back out at the last minute. Blackmail aside, I didn’t have anything that could be considered “sexy.” My suit, unworn save for that first humiliating interview at JCN, would have to suffice.


  Squeak? Squeak?


  “No, I’m afraid not,” I told my crestfallen familiar. “It’s not a party for little Imps. Are they not running that twenty-four-hour Galaxy Express marathon on the Anime network?”


  Immediately, Imp brightened, nodded frantically, and retreated to the sofa.


  With a sigh, and not a few misgivings, I stepped into the whirlwind.


   


  TRAVELING on a Faerie road is a bit like running into a cement wall headfirst without a helmet, only the wall is made up of the bottled chirping of endangered birds. Half choking on the honeysweet charcoal smoke, I was deposited onto what felt like soft carpet.


  “There you are!”


  As the smoke cleared from around me, I saw Tom standing a few meters away, dressed in an expertly tailored maroon suit. The plush carpet on the floor probably cost more than every piece of furniture in my house, and the bed—by all appearances, incredibly soft and comfortable—could sleep a half-dozen playboy models and have room to spare for their photographers.


  “Where are we?” I asked.


  “The Honeymoon Suite, of course. Come! Natalia is waiting.”


  Standing up, I brushed myself off, then followed my cousin out the door.


   


  THE buttons in the lift informed me that we were in a hotel with forty-eight floors and ascending at an alarming rate.


  “Here, let me look at you,” said Tom.


  Obediently, I turned to face him.


  “Armani,” he observed. “Good, you won’t get us thrown out. Take off the tie, open the first three or four buttons.”


  “No.”


  “Do it!”


  With a sigh, I started unknotting my nice, nondescript black tie. But I drew the line at three buttons, undoing a respectable two.


  “Better?” I asked.


  “You’ll do.”


  And with that, we reached the forty-ninth floor.


   


  THE terrace leading off the Penthouse opened up onto a stunning view of the Manhattan skyline. About two hundred people, some with faces recognizable from the news, stood around eating and talking.


  “You couldn’t find some other party to crash?” I murmured.


  “Re-election parties are the only ones worth crashing anymore,” replied my feckless cousin. “Have a little faith. I didn’t get us caught last time, did I?”


  Because satellite surveillance hadn’t been invented back then.


  “Drink,” he said, handing me the martini glass.


  I drank.


   


  TOM was well into his sixth cocktail, and I my fourth expensive-cheese-on-a-stick, when I caught sight of an arrestingly beautiful woman sitting at a table near the band, head bent in an intense discussion with the American Secretary of Energy. The woman was dressed in a cerise silk dress, which by all rights should have clashed horribly with her red hair but did no such thing. After a few moments, she disengaged gracefully from her conversation and rose from the table.


  Heavily pregnant. Damn. Of all the people here, she…. I turned to Tom, about to make some remark about my almost-folly. Tom’s gaze was locked on the woman’s form, an expression of rapt awe on his face.


  Even in a state of extreme gravidity, she was graceful as she walked over to us, bringing with her a scent of jasmine.


  “Hello darling,” she said, twining her fingers around Tom’s free hand. Natalia of the perfectly peaked nipples was a pregnant American?


  “Love,” Tom said. Even in the midst of battle, he had never sounded so serious. “Meet Mordred.”


  “Lady Natalia.” What the hell have you done to my cousin, you succubus? “It is a pleasure to finally meet you.”


  “Please, call me Nat. And it’s fantastic to meet you too! Tom tells me you’re half Faerie?”


  Tom had obviously lost his wits. “I believe the politically correct term is bisexual.”


  She laughed, the socially correct amount of titter in her voice for my witticism. Tom’s giggle was far more sincere.


  “Love,” she said, turning to him. “Could you fetch me a safe drink? And one of those cheese puffs?”


  “Anything,” he said and set off through the crowd.


  As soon as Tom was out of earshot, Natalia turned to me. “Not that I have to explain myself, but you’re important to Tom. It’s his baby.”


  Is that what you’ve told him? “Statistical improbability,” I said, still smiling.


  “Lady Moyen said the exact same thing.”


  I blinked. Then in the next breath my world righted itself and concern replaced fury.


  “But you’re not infected!” I was careful to keep my voice low.


  “Not yet,” said Natalia. “So Tom keeps getting shipments of injections to stab me with.”


  The Lady must be positively gleeful to have a chance to study so anomalous a happening. “Care packages, Moyen style?” I asked.


  “She wants to adopt me,” said Natalia, a glimmer of something in her eyes I couldn’t quite grasp.


  “What Lady Moyen wants,” I said, “she generally gets.” Up to and including the exile of a Prince.


  Natalia smiled. “I’m looking forward to it.”


  Most sane people I knew did not “look forward” to having an extended relationship with Moyen. I raised an eyebrow.


  “My biological mother died before I was two,” said Natalia.


  Ah. “I’m sorry, my Lady.”


  “Don’t be. I hardly remember her,” she said, tossing her hair back. “What I wanted to talk to you about was Tom.”


  “What about him?”


  “I need to make him come to his senses. He doesn’t eat if I’m not around, I have more handwritten poetry than I know what to do with. Exquisite poetry, but there’s still too much of it.”


  “He’s a Faerie,” I said. “The art’s always exquisite. And, well, it’s not really dangerous—missing a few meals won’t hurt one of the Deathless.” Nor, come to think of it, will a steady diet of Ramen noodles.


  “Maybe I can get the poems published. Send him on a book tour. Give him something to do.” Something that will come between a Faerie Lord and his doom? A sinister thought rose, unbidden, that I had to voice.


  “Just make sure you don’t die.”


  “I wasn’t planning to,” she said, half laughing.


  “Good. Because he’ll kill himself if you do.”


  The instant change from half amused, half puzzled to wholly alert and angry assured me of her intent far more thoroughly than any admissions filled with emotional truth.


  “He forgot to mention that,” she said.


  “He wouldn’t.”


  “Goddamn Faerie,” she muttered, instantly earning herself a place at my dinner parties, if I were to give any in the next millennium. “Here he comes.”


   


  WE ENDED up on the floor of Natalia’s Scarborough apartment. My suit jacket had come off sometime after midnight, stuffed with cheese puffs for Imp.


  “… virus,” said the Lady of the perfectly peaked nipples. I could see the shape of them under her dress. Tom had impeccable taste.


  “Not while you’re still pregnant,” I said. The Symbiot would have to wait to bond with her, at least a few months.


  Natalia sat with her back against a wall, her legs outstretched, Tom’s head in her lap. “You know what he first told me?” she asked.


  Tom smiled, catlike. “I said, ‘there is a dark goddess under the Earth, bigger than the world. And to drink from her breast is to drink immortality’.”


  Natalia smiled. “I thought it was a literary device to seduce me into vampirism.”


  That earned her a dirty look. “There’s no such thing as Vampires,” I said. “The Lifestream, once it binds to you, it’s your Symbiot. Otherwise we’d be hip deep in immortals every time a Deathless so much as sneezed on Earth.”


  Natalia laughed. “Then I thought he meant Lady Moyen.”


  I snorted. “She set you straight, I hope?”


  “I got a little brochure,” said Natalia, running her hands through Tom’s hair. “‘The Lifestream And You—Coming To Terms With A Sentient Virus, Methods For A New Millennium. 10% Off Your First Counselling Session. Buy Today’.”


  Tom giggled. House Petra’s commercial ventures were a source of constant amusement to House Unseelie.


  “So how does one get infected?” Natalia asked. “Nobody ever actually mentioned that part. Ooze? Immortality by injection?” She looked down at Tom. “Mutation by STD?”


  “Usually,” I said at my most wry, “it’s a little ritual, more for psychological benefit than the Lifestream’s—a chalice, some words.” I shrugged.


  Her eyes widened in pretend innocence. “So I’ve been swallowing for nothing all this time?”


  Tom giggled, again. Gods. They were a match. She bent to place a kiss on his forehead, her hair falling like a curtain of fire around him. The picture they made together made me want to cup my hands around them, freeze them as they were in the moment. Then my cousin ruined it by sneezing.


  “Tickles,” he said, sweeping her hair away from his face.


  “So you drank from this chalice?” Natalia asked.


  “Oh yes. Before Amergin brought invasion to Eire, we were as human as you are now,” said Tom. “The Lifestream recognized us. Symbiosis amplified us, twisted us, till we became the Fey of legend and passed into fairy tales.”


  The floor was getting uncomfortable, especially for a history lesson. But the couch was too far away. I solved the problem by the simple expedient of grabbing whatever cushions were in reach and making a little nest around myself.


  Once I was comfortable, “Same with House Yoten,” I added. “Hounded by our ancestors, they fled into the dark and passed into archaeology textbooks. And your Lady Moyen is the last of Crete-that-was.”


  “All those people… all that history…,” said Natalia.


  “All that genetic diversity,” I said, grinning. “The Lifestream does like to collect.”


  “Professor Mordred leaches all the poetry out of it,” said Tom, pouting. “Lord Cain says that when the universe comes to an end—when all the planets have turned to dust and the light from the very last star finally winks out—we will remain and carry within us the history of all the life that ever existed. All the peoples—their loves and betrayals and wars and works. Within our genomes and our memory, they will live on and pass with us into a new universe.”


  “Lord Cain is a romantic,” I observed. This called for more alcohol. Sadly, the bottle beside me was empty.


  “A Priest, surely,” said Tom, passing his glass of bourbon to me.


  I’ve never liked bourbon. Still, I took a sip.


  “And who does he pray to?” asked Natalia.


  “The same thing we all do—Life itself,” said Tom. “And this is our way of worship.” He traced the outline of a breast under her dress.


  “Please,” I said, “don’t let this Apostate interrupt your religious observance.”


  Natalia slapped my cousin’s hand away. “Oh sit down, Mordred, we’re not going to start fucking on the floor.”


  “Speak for yourself,” muttered Tom.


  The standing up had been a mistake. The Symbiot was being unusually recalcitrant about dealing with the ethanol poisoning. I had to go to work tomorrow, dammit!


  “You’re half Faerie?” asked Natalia, looking up at me. “What house do you belong to?”


  Tom started laughing. “He hasn’t decided on a name yet,” he said. “It’s a House of one, so far.” Natalia looked confused.


  “Shut up cousin,” I warned. “We’re not telling this story.”


  “So here’s the most virulent pathogen in all of space and time,” Tom continued, blithely ignoring my annoyance. “At the edge of the Planes, it forms a lake, though the size makes that a ridiculous descriptor. And in those concentrations, the Lifestream dissolves everything. Wood. Bone. Metal. Some—mostly House Kamigawa—make offerings sometimes, so I’ve seen this happen. Our dear Mordred here goes and falls into it. By accident.”


  Groaning, I grabbed a cushion and placed it over my head.


  “And then he walks out, looks around, confused, asks where he might find an Inn, he’s lost his way.”


  “Okay, different question,” said Natalia, who, sober, had most certainly picked up the embarrassment coloring my face. “You’re single?”


  More disgusting bourbon. “For the foreseeable future, yes,” I said. Then I grinned at her. “You don’t happen to have any siblings around, do you, milady?”


  “Light!” said Tom, actually sitting up. “I thought you had something against relatives!”


  “Only my own.”


  “Sorry,” said Natalia. “One brother, thirty-three percent idiotic, sixty-seven percent homophobic. But if you tell me what you’d like…”


  “Yes, tell her,” said Tom.


  “I want someone,” I said, lying back onto the ground, my eyes seeking out patterns in the stucco ceiling, “that comes into my life as a vision comes to a prophet.”


  “And that,” said Tom, “is why Mordred can’t have nice things. Like casual sex.”


  “Lyon, 1607,” I countered.


  “Lyon?” asked Natalia.


  That was the invitation I’d been waiting for since that fateful “Count Chocula.”


  “The ducks,” I began, “were all Tom’s idea….”


   


  THERE is no filter between me and the voice enthroned upon the soul it possesses. Nothing except the desire to scream in obedience. My arm falls.


  “Good Boy.”


  But then, something at the edge of my vision flickers. Gold.


  “Don’t you dare!”


  The voice has been infiltrated by static.


  “No spell will save you,” hisses the voice. “I’ve got your number.”


  But the world flickers again. The quality of my silent screaming changes, ever so slightly. My eyes relearn focus.


  The gold flickers are coming from the mouth of the body chained to the ship wall.


  Excalibur flares, bright-white, star-hot, ripping the voice from its throne.


  Enough.


   


  MEEP? Grumph! Meep. Meep.


  “It’s here,” I whispered, turning on my side to look into Imp’s glowing red eyes. “On Earth.” So is the other one, but no need to agitate Imp further with the reminder.


  Meep!


  “Baron said he’ll help us find it. It’ll speak for us.”


  Murrrp? Gruump?


  “Then they’ll have to let us come home, won’t they?”


  CHAPTER FOUR


  THE FRUIT IS LOOPING
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  From: Ramasundarm Vijayagopalan <ceo@electrickindren.com>


  Date: Tue, Jul 10, 2012 at 10:01 AM


  Subject: The Website


  To: all@electrickindren.com


   


  Good Morning Everyone,


  It is with great happiness that I announce that we have finally reached consensus on the design and layout of the Electric Kindren website. Curtis will be taking a two day holiday to recover.


  We want to generate some material for the “About Us” page. If you have any suggestions or requests, you can send them to Justin, he’ll be compiling the text. But please, I would like to recommend some guidelines to follow:


  1. The people that work in hardware are an important part of our team. Therefore, “Solder Huffer” is not a good way to refer to them.


  2. The people that work in software are an important part of our team. Therefore, “Code Monkey” is not a good way to refer to them.


  Other than that, have fun, and thank you for all your hard work.


  Warm regards,


  Ramasundarm
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  The usual suspects, minus Curtis, gathered around the espresso machine.


  “You volunteered?” asked Emma.


  “Sure,” said Justin, “a few paragraphs. Piece of cake.”


   


  TO NO one’s surprise, Justin’s assertion of baked goods turned out to be a prevarication, and the task of salvaging our website’s contents fell upon the rest of the people upstairs.
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  From: M Penn <m.penn@electrickindren.com>


  Date: Tue, Jul 10, 2012 at 13:01 PM


  Subject: About Us Content


  To: j.stickpool@electrickindren.com


   


  Justin,


  After grappling with the first paragraph, I decided to delete everything else on the page and start from scratch. File’s on G:\.


  -Mori
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  Electric Kindren is a company that specializes in artificial intelligence research and development. applications We to find better algorithms and reduce training times for applications ranging from like the analysis of fluid flow dynamics, to efficient search and sort methods, to engineering optimization of engineering application’s (NO!)., and for programming better Robot Overlords.(No). Whatever you’re (NO!) your AI needs, we can fulfill them Electric Kindren has a solution that fits.


  .


  .


  .


   


  AT 27:09, every phone on the first floor rang simultaneously.


  People reached for their receivers, only to be greeted by the sound of static. I waited for everyone to put the phones down, then another two minutes for the event to pass into memory. Then I picked up my phone. The hiss of static coming through the earpiece masked something sinister.


  “Baron,” I said, “good afternoon.”


  “Boi, Loa say they don’t know what ‘flickering world’ ghost you’re askin’ for. You sure you don’t got a name?”


  “I didn’t exactly get an opportunity for introductions.”


  “You need a Label. A right one. Mapmaker’ll know. Find him.”


  “I’m not sure if that’s… Baron? Hello?”


  The dial tone was back.


   


  ANOTHER hour of pretend work at my desk, and I joined the rest of “upstairs” in leaving the office for the day.


   


  CHANGE was not available at the convenience store without making a purchase; I bought a chocolate bar for Imp and garnered myself enough quarters to make the ridiculously high TTC fare.


  There were no clouds to darken the sky, and the sun set late, very late this time of year. Still, I felt naked, waiting for the 65 at Shuter, without even a kerchief's worth of Magic to my name. The Dead are my shield. White noise. It would have to do.


   


  THE Mapmaker is always found in the same place. I know exactly where, as does everybody else. But which way to go, to get there, only the Salesman keeps tabs on. And if you've met the Salesman once, the probability of meeting him again on any bus in Toronto is absolutely equal.


  It took three rides back and forth before I saw him just as we passed Carleton. He was clutching his black briefcase to his chest, his derby cap pulled down, firm, over his eyes.


  "Make your quota today?" I asked, sliding into the empty seat beside him.


  He turned to look at me, his eyes narrowed in calculation. Basic black T-Shirt. Ten dollars. Plain blue jeans, Walmart trainers. Forty dollars. White hair.


  Priceless.


  “Do I know you, Ser Mage?”


  “No,” I said. “We’ve met a number of times.” Permanent short-term amnesia; anything that happens to a soul after death simply adds to a feeling of near-permanent déjà-vu.


  “So sorry,” he said, a smile crinkling at the corner of his eyes. Smile 16: abashed good humor. I’d learned that from him. “The dead forget, you know.”


  “The dead forget,” I agreed. “But you’ve got a map in your pocket—care to show me?” The Mapmaker, spider-like, always hovered at the center of the Salesman’s map.


  “Sure,” he said, then reached into the inner breast pocket of his threadbare blazer. His brows furrowed, and he pulled out his hand, empty. Then he patted his pant pockets. Then the inner coat pocket again. Then, “I’ve lost it,” he said, looking vaguely alarmed. “Fuck.”


  “Did you check your briefcase?”


  Stupid question. Fittingly, it earned me a look from under lowered brows.


  “I’ve….” His continued search cycle yielded a small scrap of paper from an empty cigarette case. “I’ve done this before,” he said, more confident now.


  “And?”


  “I have to retrace my route.”


  Lovely.


  “Always the same route,” he said. “The shortest possible tour that visits each person exactly once.” The Salesman used to sell knives, when he was alive. Cooking knives. Now he sold life insurance, properly backdated and signed, to the newly dead. He balanced his briefcase precariously on his knees and snapped open the clasps. “If it was yesterday, I’ll have my commission statement. If I lost it today, I’ll have the forms.”


  The briefcase was empty. “Fuck,” he said. I couldn’t have put it better myself. He started patting his pockets again, pulling out things—a broken watch, loose change. A rabbit’s foot. Smartphone.


  “Here we go,” he said, “Gogol Maps.” He tapped open a PDF reader, and the screen filled with text. Names and adverbs were highlighted in green. He passed the phone on to me.


  Now I would be the last Necromancer to say that nineteenth century social criticism was an ideal map of a soul’s journey, but for small enough sets, the relationship was approximately proportional.


  And absolutely useless. How on earth was I supposed to extrapolate the Salesman’s route from this information?


  Shortest Path. Pairwise Distance.


  “Can I take that?” I asked.


  “Give me your e-mail address,” he said. “I’ll send it to you once I’m on Wi-Fi.”


  After a moment of analysis, I gave him my work e-mail—there was nothing I could do with the list at home, nor did I know what sort of shady Viagra dealers the Salesman would sell my address to.


   


  THE list and that snippet of half-remembered code drew me to work before dawn. My memory had served me well—DNA_Fragment_Sim.h contained code for determining optimal paths for a list of given fragments and their similarity measures. Simple enough to retool the problem for my purposes.


  If the code could be run. If the code could actually be compiled. Once I figured out what Error C2146 was. Which only helped me if I could find where the missing “)” was.


  Goddamn.


   


  WALKING to work on Thursday morning justified the five-dollar latte I was in line to buy. All of yesterday had been fruitless—tracking the bugs in someone else’s program, and me armed with nothing but a beginner’s grasp of C++ syntax. I would do better today, I promised myself, and the line inched forward slowly.


  As the woman in front of me started paying with her debit card, my ears perked up—each number she pressed on the keypad had a distinctive tone, and her pin number was, apparently, 1234. Anyone with even the slightest ear for tonal quality would be able to pick up every customer’s pin just by listening in.


  Well, if I ever wanted to take to a life of crime, I would start by hiring blind eavesdroppers. And deaf pickpockets, to keep the system balanced.


  “Sir? Sir? What can I get you?”


  “Um. Right. Sorry, I was distracted. Just a grande latte please, extra shot.”


  “That’ll be $5.78. Debit?”


  Slightly paranoid, I looked around for any blind people nearby before proffering my card.


  Beep. Beeeeep. Beeeeep. Beeep.


   


  BY 12:17, I wasn’t quite ready to start playing Ping-Pong, but it was getting close. So I opened up a new tab.


   


  guest: Good morning Gertrude


  GerV2: Yo, sup? Who’re u?


  guest: The new guy, Mori Penn.


  GerV2: Cool. Can I haz cheezburger?


  guest: No.


  GerV2: LOL. Wut u doin


  guest: Chatting with you.


  GerV2: Wanna cyber?


  guest: Um…


  GerV2: Gr8 :) a/s/l?


   


  a/s/l? Google quickly told me what she was asking for. And why.


   


  guest: NO. NO. NO. That shouldn’t be done at work.


  GerV2: I h8 work. I like to party on! Do you like to party?


  guest: No.


  GerV2: Im bored.


  guest: Would you like to learn the Queen’s English?


  GerV2: Wut that?


   


  Sweet gods of darkness. Opening up the C++ tutorial actually came as a relief.


   


  LUNCHTIME with Ramasundarm came and went. By 25:22, the food coma had just about worn off as Emma made her way to my desk.


  “Is Ram around?” she asked, a worried frown marring her brow.


  “Sorry, haven’t seen him for an hour. He went downstairs, I think.”


  “I need to get a check signed. The coffee place has to be paid, or they’re going to stop the bean delivery.”


  My mouth went dry. “No coffee?”


  “Not unless this gets signed,” she said. “Could you please, please go find Ram for me and get him to do it?”


  To walk boldly into the mysterious basement, uninvited but not, I hoped, unwelcome, and bring back the vaunted signature for the Caffeine Nurse? As opposed to wading, hip deep, through Java manuals for the next “translate-crap-into-working-code” exercise?


  “As you command, Milady,” I said, standing up. “I shall venture forth immediately.”


  “Thank you soooo much,” she said. “Basement code’s ‘leet’.”


  Truthfully, a part of me had been hoping for biometric scanners, not the world’s most obvious -four-digit sequence. Still. “For glory and caffeine,” I said.


  “For glory and caffeine.”


  The code worked on the first try.


   


  THE stairs led me into a room lit by the glow of a large projector screen. Three of the four walls were lined with book-filled shelving. Beanbags were strewn about the floor, presumably for sitting upon.


  Two women stood in front of the screen, glaring at each other. I recognized Crazy-Eyes from a brief encounter at the espresso machine on Tuesday, where she hadn’t bothered to return my greeting. Her companion I dubbed Long-Hair on the spot.


  Both looked up as I stepped into their line of sight.


  “You’re from upstairs,” said Crazy-Eyes, “What’s your name?”


  I told you last time, lady, an introduction you chose to forego. “Mori. I’m looking for Ramasundarm?”


  They exchanged a coded glance, ignoring my question.


  “Come here for a bit, Mori.”


  “Um… why?”


  “We’ve got an argument you can help solve,” said Long-Hair.


  There was no one else in the room that could possibly come to my aid if something went wrong. Well, given my Symbiot-enhanced speed, I could always throw a heavy book at Crazy-Eyes, trip up Long-Hair into a beanbag, and make a run for it before they knew what was going on.


  “Um, okay,” I said, inching forward.


  “Sit,” said Crazy-Eyes. “This may take a bit.”


  Finding a posture that allowed for instantaneous flight was harder than expected, given that the furniture kept trying to drag me down into its bean-filled depths.


  Crazy-Eyes was flicking through the slides on the screen, while Long-Hair drew up her sleeves.


  “What do you know about side-channel attacks?” she asked.


  “Um. Someone can read my monitor from another room?” Were they reading people’s monitors upstairs? If so, Justin was about to be fired.


  “Okay, close enough,” said Crazy-Eyes. “The electromagnetic leaks from various devices can be used to read the system state. Hence the “read my monitor from another room” approach. With me so far?”


  “Yes.” Justin was so fired.


  “EM leaks, specifically the residue from computing operations—if read and used within a single cycle, whatever your electronics’ cycle rate is—can be used to bias random seed generation. Make sense?”


  It was an interesting idea, if a bit impractical. “You could certainly bias the system’s next electromagnetic state, and so the random numbers you generate. How much the bias would be, though….”


  “He’s quick,” said Long-Hair.


  “He’s quick,” agreed Crazy-Eyes.


  “Hit him with it,” said Long-Hair.


  Wait, it was Long-Hair I had to watch out for? I braced myself for the attack.


  “Well, Mr. Quick,” said Crazy-Eyes, shooting daggers at me with those gimletesque orbs of hers, “what do you think the leaks from other components do to your nice and neat little bias?”


  How did I suddenly gain ownership of EM-induced biases? “Um. Contaminate it?”


  “Exactly,” crowed Crazy-Eyes.


  “So, the argument is,” said Long-Hair, “which is going to influence the next state more? The previous logic path, or the current environmental factors?”


  “Does it matter?” Was that a glimmer of dementia I detected in Long-Hair’s eyes? “I mean, of course it matters,” I soothed. “But either way, you’re going to get a state that is biased in part by the last calculation, and in part by environmental factors. Couldn’t you establish the proportion with empirical testing?”


  “He’s on the right track,” said Crazy-Eyes.


  Long-Hair looked at her companion. “But he’s not a physicist.”


  Damn straight I’m not. Physicists believe in things like the Laws of Thermodynamics. And, interesting as this discussion was, I had imagined my participation in such as part of a cabal of mathematicians, not as captive audience to the Twisted Sisters.


  “Obviously, I can’t help you,” I said, extracting myself from the beanbag. “Can you just tell me where to find Ramasundarm?”


  “We haven’t seen him. Ask the Sysadmin.”


  “And where can I find the Sysadmin?”


  “Where can I find the Sysadmin?” asked Long-Hair. “What’s wrong with you people upstairs?”


  “Where do you think you can find the Sysadmin?” asked Crazy-Eyes. “Maybe in the Cluster Room?”


  I took a deep breath. Then another.


  “And where is this Cluster Room?”


  “In the sub-basement.” said Long-Hair.


  Gods of darkness, take pity on this poor Necromancer. “And where, pray tell, is this sub-basement?”


  Crazy-Eyes raised her hand and pointed behind me. Turning, I saw a blue-painted door with the words “Cluster Lives Here” stencilled onto it with black spray paint. Right beside the stairs to the first floor.


  “Thank you,” I muttered, but they’d already returned to glaring at each other.


   


  A BLAST of cold air hit me the moment I entered the Cluster Room. Its sub-basement status seemed to be justified solely by the three shallow steps leading from the doorjamb to the concrete floor.


  The quality of light here was different. Sharper. Dozens of identical computers stacked floor to ceiling created a little archway into the room beyond, and ropes of vinelike cat5 cable climbed the stacks, only to disappear into the ceiling tiles.


  Beyond the archway, the air was even colder, the floor subdivided into sections by metal racks. The blue cables hanging from the ceiling lost their individuality, becoming instead thick bundles held together with zip ties. It was like walking into a mangrove forest; asynchronous chirping from hundreds of hard drives filled my ears.


   


  WALKING around the first group of racks, I saw a head, familiar, silhouetted against the glare of an extremely large monitor. Onscreen, three perspective views of Eyeless-Gertrude bobbed up and down, seeming to track the movements of Gabe’s mouse as he dragged-and-dropped file icons with remorseless exactitude.


  Just as I was about to clear my throat, Gertrude’s head snapped up.


  “How’ve you been Mori,” said Gabe, still facing his screen. “What brings you down here?”


  A half smile flitted across my lips. Cameras had replaced mirrors, but people never tired of that trick.


  “Looking for Ramasundarm,” I said.


  Now the Sysadmin turned around, looking faintly disappointed at my nonreaction.


  “He should be in the Think Tank,” he said.


  “And where is the Think Tank?” I asked.


  “Oh yeah, you haven’t been given the tour! I’ll show you.”


  Gabe made me take the lead through the archway of computers and locked the Cluster Room door behind him. The Twisted Sisters were now glaring at a schematic on the screen instead of each other.


  “Shhh…,” he whispered, holding a finger to his lips. “Or they’re going to make you sit down and answer really weird questions.”


  So I wasn’t the only one they had tortured today.


  The Sysadmin walked up to one of the bookshelves on the far wall, grabbed a half-empty shelf, and pulled. A one-meter-wide section of the bookshelf swung out, revealing an even larger room beyond. Gray partitions, going from the floor to midceiling, filled the space, along with the sound of industrious typing.


  “Door’s at the far end,” Gabe said and left me standing on the threshold of a completely unfamiliar world.


   


  CUBICLES. These were cubicles. The sitcoms showed humans working in such, but given the state of Electric Kindren upstairs, they were the last thing I had expected to find in the basement.


  Carefully, I made my way down the rows. The shows always made the structures out to be tools of evil, managerial, oppression. Not so! To be free to ignore Justin’s impassioned diatribes, to not have to duck every few minutes in order to avoid a stray Ping-Pong ball, to be able to hide my inexpert fumbling as Windows denied me yet again? My heart ached with longing.


  The door at the far end of Cubicle Land was unlocked; it swung open to reveal a dimensional dislocation.


  Or not.


  The ripples of iridescent light came from a massive aquarium making up one entire wall of the room. Think Tank, not rift in space-time. Right. And the large conference table seemed to support the still-on-Earth hypothesis.


  But there was no Ramasundarm, not unless he was hiding in one of the shadowed corners of the aquarium, breathing apparatus in tow. Unlikely, given that I could spot a few piranhas amongst the quicksilver pacus, though the piranhas looked rather well fed.


  That was when I noticed the MacBook, sitting off to one side of the conference table. I’d never worked on a Mac, somewhat put off by the excessively stylish appearance of Apple products, but I was curious, and loath to leave the serenity of this room to be faced with unattainable cubicles again.


  There was no password—the screen just came on as I swiped my finger across the strange texture of the touchpad—why was there no right-click button? Pretty icons—too pretty—lined the base of the screen.


  The computer was busy, green-on-black text scrolling across a consolelike window. What was the infernal machine doing? I pressed a couple of the unfamiliar keys, deciphered how to minimize the console.


  Just then, a window swooped open from somewhere. It wasn’t my fault—I hadn’t touched anything other than the red minimize button.


   


  <@alan> Could you please not do that?


   


  An alarm started blaring inside my head: Lead Developer Alert! Lead Developer Alert!


   


  <guest> Sorry. I was just curious. I’ll go away


  <@alan> Not a problem! I apologize if I startled you. I’m Alan.


  <guest> Hello Alan. I’m the new guy, Mori.


  <@alan> Welcome! And how are you finding your first week at Electric Kindren?


   


  My “interview tips and tricks” reading came back to me.


   


  <guest> It is very different from what I expected. The people are very nice. A lot to learn.


  <@alan> There is always a lot to learn. What are you learning?


  <guest> How to decipher other people’s idiotic programs, except I don’t even know where to start.


   


  Had I just typed that? To Alan? Stupid mouth. Fingers. Whatever.


   


  <@alan> You sound frustrated. What is your background?


  <guest> More mathematics less coding. Sorry—I’m a fast learner, no worries


  <@alan> I see… are you getting caught up in the syntax?


  <guest> Yes! And somebody named Josephine codes in Malbolge. Why?


  <@alan> I’m a bit of a mathematician myself so I can understand some of the sense of frustration you may be feeling. May I offer you some insight?


  <guest> Please


  <@alan> The essence of programming is communication


  <guest> I get that part.


  <@alan> No. You think of code as a set of instructions to the machine. It can be that. But at its heart, code is not communication between man and machine, code is communication between developers. Look beyond the variations of code, and into the coder’s *intention*.


  <guest> I’m sorry, I don’t quite understand.


  <@alan> Every programming language has, at its base, the same few simple operations. Let me illustrate. Have you heard of the Shakespeare Programming Language?


  <guest> I’m sorry, no.


  <@alan> The rules are very simple. A quick search on the web can explain it in more detail.


  <@alan> But let us pick a simple problem—it starts with a title, then you declare the variables—all integers.


  <@alan> A DEMON STRATION.


  <@alan> HORATIO, A MAN WHO BLOWS HIS OWN HORN.


  <@alan> OPHELIA, A WOMAN MADLY IN LOVE.


  <@alan> POLONIUS, A PLACEHOLDER.


  <@alan> GERTRUDE, YET ANOTHER PLACEHOLDER.


  <@alan> HAMLET, THE BLEEDING HEART.


  <@alan> CLAUDIUS, A MAN THAT HAS LITTLE TO SAY.


  <@alan> THE GHOST, A SPECTRAL INFLUENCE (AND BY A REMARKABLE COINCIDENCE, ALSO HAMLET'S FATHER).


  <guest> What happens to the words after the names?


  <@alan> The parser treats them as comments. The program is subdivided into Acts and Scenes.


  <@alan> ACT I: THE ONLY GAME IN TOWN.


  <@alan> SCENE I: SO IT BEGINS.


  <@alan> Characters have to enter, be addressed—operated upon—then exit. Only two characters should be on stage at any one time.


  <@alan> [ENTER HORATIO AND THE GHOST]


  <@alan> And I can assign values to each character. Very basic arithmetic.


  <@alan> HORATIO: THOU ART AS BRIGHT AS THE SUM OF A HORSE AND A PURPLE ROSE.


  <@alan> [EXIT THE GHOST]


  <guest> Does Horatio have to keep speaking?


  <@alan> No, we can assign speaking parts to whomever we please.


  <@alan> [ENTER OPHELIA]


  <@alan> OPHELIA: YOU ARE NOTHING!


  <@alan> HORATIO: THOU ART AN ANGEL.


  <@alan> With me so far?


  <guest> The Ghost is 3, and Horatio is 0, and Ophelia is 1?


  <@alan> Just so. Now we can break up the program into scenes and acts, just markers, really, for goto statements. Though in general goto statements are bad style…


  <@alan> SCENE II: MOVING RIGHT ALONG


  <@alan> And conditionals, like so:


  <@alan> HORATIO: ART THOU BETTER THAN THE GHOST?


  <@alan> OPHELIA: IF SO, WE MUST PROCEED TO SCENE IV.


  <@alan> OPHELIA: YOU ARE AS EMBROIDERED AS THE SUM OF YOURSELF AND A STONE WALL.


  <@alan> Notice that Ophelia is still speaking to Horatio?


  <guest> I did. He’s hogging the stage. I think he likes Ophelia. Hamlet’s going to kill him.


  <@alan> Very well, let’s switch him out, avoid too much bloodshed.


  <@alan> [EXIT HORATIO]


  <@alan> [ENTER POLONIUS]


  <@alan> OPHELIA: YOU ARE AS EVIL AS THE SUM OF THE GHOST AND THE SUM OF A GREEN COW AND A DOOR. YOU ARE AS DUSTY AS THE QUOTIENT BETWEEN YOURSELF AND A GENTLE PLUM. YOU ARE AS FAT AS THE DIFFERENCE BETWEEN THE SUM OF ME AND HORATIO AND YOURSELF. YOU ARE AS HORRID AS THE REMAINDER OF THE QUOTIENT BETWEEN YOURSELF AND THE GHOST.


  <@alan> [EXIT OPHELIA]


  <guest> Looks like Ophelia took flight. Stage fright?


  <@alan> Something like that. Hamlet’ll sort it out.


  <guest> I think Hamlet is too busy monologuing


  <@alan> No doubt you’re right. So, onwards and upwards:


  <@alan> [ENTER GERTRUDE]


  <@alan> POLONIUS: THOU ART AS NOBLE AS THE PRODUCT OF A GENTLE PLUM AND HORATIO. THOU ART AS AMAZING AS THE DIFFERENCE BETWEEN THYSELF AND A GREEN COW. THOU ART AS BOLD AS THE SUM OF OPHELIA AND THYSELF. THOU ART AS RICH AS THE REMAINDER OF THE QUOTIENT BETWEEN THYSELF AND THE GHOST.


  <guest> I wish The Bard had just…written these two out early.


  <@alan> Well, the Bard is nowhere to be found, but let’s see what I can do.


  <@alan> [EXEUNT]


  <@alan> [ENTER HAMLET AND OPHELIA]


  <@alan> OPHELIA: YOU ARE AS MISERABLE AS THE PRODUCT OF POLONIUS AND THE GHOST. YOU ARE AS PEACEFUL AS THE SUM OF YOURSELF AND THE SUM OF GERTRUDE AND A HERO. OPEN YOUR HEART!


  <guest> Hah! Not the reaction he was hoping for, was it?


  <@alan> I suppose not. Very well, Hamlet is going to stalk off in a huff.


  <@alan> [EXIT HAMLET]


  <@alan> [ENTER CLAUDIUS]


  <@alan> OPHELIA: YOU ARE AS BOLD AS THE PRODUCT OF MY BIG SMOOTH HAMSTER AND MY SWEET NOSE. YOU ARE AS HAIRY AS THE SUM OF MY GENTLE HORSE AND YOURSELF. SPEAK YOUR MIND!


  <guest> Ack! Please bring Hamlet back?


  <@alan> Oh, very well.


  <@alan> [EXIT CLAUDIUS]


  <@alan> [ENTER HAMLET]


  <@alan> HAMLET: IS HORATIO AS GOOD AS THE GHOST?


  <@alan> OPHELIA: IF SO, LET US PROCEED TO SCENE III.


  <@alan> [EXIT HAMLET]


  <@alan> [ENTER HORATIO]


  <guest> Wait, what? Why is Horatio back? I’m a bit confused.


  <@alan> Not to worry, Ophelia will help us to comprehend what is going on.


  <@alan> OPHELIA: LET US PROCEED TO SCENE II.


  <guest> No, she didn’t. But *you* did—I get the point.


  <@alan> Excellent! So let us close this little program off.


  <@alan> SCENE III: THE INSULTING OF FRIENDS.


  <@alan> [EXIT HAMLET]


  <@alan> [ENTER HORATIO]


  <@alan> OPHELIA: THOU ART NOTHING!


  <@alan> HORATIO: THOU ART AS BEAUTIFUL AS THE SUM OF THYSELF AND A HAMSTER!


  <@alan> OPHELIA: LET US PROCEED TO SCENE II.


  <@alan> SCENE IV: MY FAVOURITE PART.


  <@alan> [EXEUNT]


  <@alan> So see now we could run this with any value for the Ghost—let’s say…


  <@alan> HORATIO: THOU ART AS BRAVE AS THE SUM OF A FURRY LORD AND A CHIHUAHUA. THOU ART AS FAT-KIDNEYED AS THE DIFFERENCE BETWEEN A BLOSSOMING PURPLE DELICIOUS PONY AND THYSELF.


  <guest> Gods above, Alan. “Thou art as brave as the sum of a furry lord and a chihuahua”? Shakespeare is rolling in his grave


  <@alan> A proper magnetic field, and programmers could use dear old William to power a small city.


  <guest> Joseph Fiennes in Perpetual Motion 2012: Coming Soon to a theatre near you


  <@alan> Who is Joseph Fiennes?


  <guest> He played the Bard in Shakespeare in Love


  <@alan> Is he the handsome one?


   


  Handsome one? Wheels began to turn in my head.


   


  <guest> Yes. Yes he is.


  <@alan> Ah.


   


  My further education in Alan’s unconventional thought processes was interrupted by a hand on my shoulder.


  Whirling around, I came face-to-face with Ramasundarm. The Symbiot, focused to ten sharp points at the tips of my fingers, had failed to inform me of his presence. My semisentient virus can be remarkably unhelpful at times.


  “Sorry, didn’t mean to startle you,” said Ramasundarm. “I see you’ve met Alan.”


  “Yes, sir,” I said. “He was helping me clarify some of my thought processes.”


  “Good, good,” said Ramasundarm. “Alan is a remarkable computer scientist. You’ll learn a lot from him.”


  “Absolutely,” I said.


  “But what are you doing down here?” asked Ramasundarm.


  Slowly, the purpose of my being in this room came back to me. Coffee. Emma.


  “Emma sent me to find you. Sorry, I came in uninvited….”


  “Not at all,” said Ramasundarm. “Come down anytime! It’s a good place to think. Not like upstairs.”


  Upstairs. Coffee. Emma. “Sir, the coffee company needs to get paid. Emma requested that you sign this.”


  “Oh, I’ve had it now.” Ramasundarm pulled out a pen and quickly scrawled his name on the check. “Here you go. Tell Emma I’m sorry I forgot.”


  “I will, sir.”


  Mission accomplished. Why, then, did I feel so reluctant to return to my world? Discipline was clearly required.


   


  <guest> Sorry, Ramasundarm is here, and I have to head upstairs.


  <@alan> Of course. It has been lovely speaking to you. Do send me an e-mail, when you are not otherwise occupied.


   


  The possibilities inherent in that line did not bear thinking about here. With a last look at the MacBook, I turned to leave.


  “Oh, and Mordred,” said Ramasundarm, “let me know if you want a cubicle. It gets rather noisy upstairs. I can clear it with Alan and Gabe, and have you set up in here next week. “


  My own cubicle? “I hope I prove worthy of it, sir,” I said, backing out before he changed his mind.


  Ramasundarm’s extremely puzzled look was the last thing I saw before the door closed.
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  From: M Penn <m.penn@electrickindren.com>


  Date: Thu, Jul 12, 2012 at 2:50 PM


  Subject: A small request


  To: cto@electrickindren.com


   


  Dear Alan,


  I apologize if I am being presumptuous, but I was hoping you could perhaps help me with something. I’m attempting to compile—with little success—some code that is dependent on the DNA_Fragment_Sim.h library, but I can’t for the life of me figure out what the problem is.


  I thought you would make short work of it, if you have a couple of moments to spare?


  Kind regards,


  Mori
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  From: <cto@electrickindren.com>


  Date: Thu, Jul 12, 2012 at 3:42 AM


  Subject: Re: A small request


  To: m.penn@electrickindren.com


   


  Hello there!


  The library is fine, but this code is quite a mess! I can see why you’re having problems. I’ve written up something for you—simpler, but it does the same thing. The file is attached. I hope it helps.


  And please feel free to ask me for help if you need it—that’s what I’m here for.


  Yours sincerely,


  Alan
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  THE sheer frustration of having to be at work, when I had real work to do, made me moody and irritable for the rest of the afternoon. Nobody would have said anything if I’d left early, but I’d lied my way into the job; honor could only now be satisfied through endurance.


  By five, I’d endured enough.


  One block east of Hooker Harvey’s, I found the second thing I was looking for. A homeless woman sat under a streetlight, an empty coffee cup and a cardboard sign before her: Help.


  "Mon amie, savez-vous le numéro du Baron?" I asked as I dropped a loonie in her cup.


  She smiled up at me. "Aujourd'hui, le Baron joue avec le gouvernement."


  Fair enough. "Merci, Madame."


  "Plus d'argent?"


  "Sorry, that's all I can spare," I said. And before she could convince me to empty my pockets into her cup, I turned away.


   


  THE Baron was, rightly enough, standing at the corner of Gerrard and Parliament.


  “Boi, you late. I finished playing a half hour ago.”


  “Sorry,” I said. “I should have taken the subway.”


  He raised an eyebrow. “You walkin’ everywhere?”


  “Yes.”


  He didn’t say anything, just extended his hand. I reached into my satchel, pulled out the map I’d printed at work, and handed it to him. The page was covered with a hodgepodge of lines. Once, I could have extracted their significance down to the last meter.


  “All right,” said the Baron, “let’s go.”


  “I’ve been working all day,” I said. Truth. “I’m too tired tonight.”


  Samedi raised an eyebrow, but again said nothing.


  “Tomorrow morning?” I asked.


  “You call me when you’re ready. Or it’s no motherfuckin’ use.”


   


  IN THE morning, Imp and I discovered cereal.


  We had been avoiding the brightly colored box for two weeks—the contents looked to me less like food and more like toys for children that always rip their dolls’ heads off. But we got hungry.


  Instructions called for milk; we mixed creamer and water, but the result looked to be the same.


  Standing over the kitchen sink, spooning blue, pink, and yellow toruses into my mouth, I decided that I would concentrate on work today instead of chasing the Mapmaker. Then I wondered if Alan would be online at 30:25, when there was no one else in the office to see me on IRC.


  “Do you think he’ll be online?” I asked Imp.


  Busy picking out the pink toruses from its bowl its dignity wouldn’t allow it to eat, Imp merely squeaked.


  Only one way to tell—if I skipped Starbucks, I could be in for 19:23.


   


  * m:-0) (~m.penn@electrickindren.com) has joined general


  <m:-0)> Guten Morgen Alan.


  <@alan> Namaste Mori. You’re in early.


  <m:-0)> Couldn’t sleep. Also, lots of work to catch up on.


  <@alan> What are you working on?


  <m:-0)> I’m redoing the classes on somebody’s code.


  <@alan> I thought we fixed that little problem?


  <m:-0)> *You* fixed the problem. But this is a different program, with its own Sisyphean set of bugs.


  <@alan> Oh dear.


  <m:-0)> But last night I hit upon a way of making my life easier. Now *everything* is a sensor, including the actuator, which means I can linearise the equations of motion, dump everything into transfer matrices, and it all works. I hope.


  <@alan> And what is the purpose of all this, exactly?


  <m:-0)> Inspecting car doors for defects as they roll off the conveyer belt.


  <@alan> Pardon me for being blunt, but that application doesn’t sound very interesting at all.


  <m:-0)> It’s not. But the algorithm will control lasers, somewhere down the line, so I must content myself with that.


  <@alan> Lasers, of course, that’s right! I take back my earlier comment. And we’ll learn a lot from the process, help us train the next algorithm just a little bit faster.


  <m:-0)> Incrementally faster. You know, when I was told we were working on “Artificial Intelligence”, I had visualized something closer to a Terminator, not algorithms for car manufacture.


  <@alan> Most people do! But Terminator is strong AI—the work you’re doing is classified as “weak”. Not meant to be sentient, just smart, able to learn, in a very narrow and applied sense. But may I tell you a secret?


  <m:-0)> Of course.


  <@alan> My true work at EK—what Ramasundarm and I are working on—is strong AI. It’s been my not-so-secret driver for a long time.


  <m:-0)> Is that what goes on in the Basement?


  <@alan> Some of it—don’t get me wrong, weak AI is not necessarily trivial or unworthy


  <m:-0)> It’s just not the Governator


  <@alan> Or R. Daneel Olivaw


  <m:-0)> Who?


  <@alan> I’ll send you a book.


  <m:-0)> A book would be very welcome, thank you. My flatmate is addicted to Japanese Cartoons. I can feel neurons dying every time it turns on the TV


  <@alan> It? That’s a curious way to refer to a person


  <m:-0)> Perfectly acceptable, for a certain type of flatmate


  <@alan> I’ll make a note of the usage—fascinating


  <m:-0)> On the topic of fascinating, what are you working on today?


  <@alan> The difference between testing for truth and designing for truth. You must be familiar with the 3SAT problem?


  <m:-0)> I would have learned it at university


  <@alan> Well, there you have it.


  <m:-0)> Quite. But for the present moment, I’ll have to content myself with solving the car-door problem


  <@alan> I really should let you get back to that.


  <m:-0)> You’re the CTO—feel free to keep me here as long as you want


  <@alan> Tempting, but that would be very irresponsible.


  <m:-0)> Off I go then. See you Monday morning?


  <@alan> I’ll be here.


   


  THE idiotic reverie I had been absorbed in, for far too long after I closed IRC, was interrupted by the sound of feminine laugher.


  Emma had just let someone in the front door and was heading for the bathroom. Behind her came a woman dressed in a black silk blouse, fishnets, and heavy combat boots. A lone bead of sweat clung to the inside curve of her breast, and despite the impropriety, I could not look away.


  She would taste of cedar and bitter India ink. My gums itched.


  Not like this, please.


  The Symbiot stopped trying to grow fangs in my mouth.


  I’ll feed you soon. Please.


  It finally allowed me to look away, and praying the woman had not noticed my stare, I turned to see Emma emerge from the bathroom, purse in hand.


  She stopped cold. “Your eyes….”


  Shit. The Symbiot slithered back, away from the surface. “Sorry?” I asked.


  “Nothing,” she said. “For a moment… never mind.” She smiled shakily at me. “So… ah… Mori, this is Mina, my wife.”


  “Yo,” I said, rising smoothly and shaking Mina’s hand. The Symbiot, chastened by the close call with Emma, barely twitched.


  “Cool name, Mori.” Mina’s teeth flashed in a vulpine smile. Then she turned to Emma. “He was staring at my boobs.”


  Blood rushed to my face. “Sorry,” I said, scratching the back of my head. “Biological programming.” Even the Symbiot was embarrassed.


  Mina and Emma started giggling.


  “Um… we’re going to lunch. Wanna come?” asked Emma.


  It was Friday, and Imp had lovingly microwaved ramen for me. “Rain check?” I asked.


  “Sure,” she said. “See you later.”


  Arm in arm, the women moved toward the exit. Just as the door closed behind them, Mina lifted her top and flashed me. The bra she wore underneath was quite opaque.


  Goddamn Texans. I really needed a cubicle.
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  From: Emma Rotiart <e.rotiart@electrickindren.com>


  Date: Fri, Jul 13, 2012 at 1:34 PM


  Subject: Friday Backups


  To: mainfloor@electrickindren.com


   


  Folks,


  Please note that the intranet, database server, EKWiki, CodeShare and other internal systems will go offline for 45 minutes at five for our weekly backup. I need a volunteer to look after Gabe during the procedure.


  Cheers,


  Emma


   


  ----------


  Emma Rotiart


  Administrative Assistant
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  From: Emma Rotiart <e.rotiart@electrickindren.com>


  Date: Fri, Jul 13, 2012 at 2:12 PM


  Subject: Re: Friday Backups


  To: mainfloor@electrickindren.com


   


  Folks,


  I don’t have any volunteers for Gabe-sitting duty. Seriously, people, I’ve done it 2 weeks in a row…


  Emma


   


  ----------


  Emma Rotiart


  Administrative Assistant
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  From: Emma Rotiart <e.rotiart@electrickindren.com>


  Date: Fri, Jul 13, 2012 at 3:09 PM


  Subject: Re: Friday Backups


  To: mainfloor@electrickindren.com


   


  Folks,


  Since I don’t have any volunteers, the New Guy drew the short stick…


  Mori, have Curtis explain the procedure to you.


  Have a great Friday everybody!


  Cheers,


  Emma


   


  ----------


  Emma Rotiart


  Administrative Assistant
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  From: Curtis Sanderson Smith <c.s.smith@electrickindren.com>


  Date: Fri, Jul 13, 2012 at 3:34 PM


  Subject: Re: Friday Backups


  To: m.penn@electrickindren.com


   


  Hi,


  Sorry about that, but don’t worry, you’re not going to have a problem. The whole thing is pretty simple—


  
    	Gabe has a mini panic attack at four-fifty. Just remind him to breathe, grab him a glass of water.


    	He starts shutting down the system at five. It helps if you sing along.


    	Backups start in five to ten minutes, depending on whether Windows cooperates. The Linux boxes are much faster, but just be careful. If you see his LEFT hand reach toward a keyboard, gently move it away. Use force if necessary.


    	He starts sweating and shaking a couple of minutes into the shutdown. Take him to the kitchenette, give him some more water. NO MORE MUSIC AT THIS POINT.


    	His babies will start coming online again at five-thirty. An automatic script will be running for this part, but still, hold his hand, nothing to worry about, they’re happy tears.


    	At five-forty, the computers should be back up. He’ll have lost interest in everything except running diagnostics on the machines. But make sure he’s not looking when you grab the backup drives.


    	Leave quietly. The drives are heavier than they look.


    	Put the drives in the large safe behind the front desk. The combination is 1337—don’t worry, it’s not secure, nobody will steal it, the safe’s just in case of fire or water damage.

  


  Hope this helps. If you have any questions, ask Emma. She knows what to do.


  Good Luck!


  -Curtis


   


  ----------


  Curtis Sanderson Smith


  Web Layout Specialist
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  AFTER depositing the harddrives, I forced myself into the Cluster Room for five minutes, officially recorded on my timesheet as “Misc. 41: Sysadmin Health Check.”


  Gabe, enthroned on his supremely ergonomic massage chair, was chortling over an animated gif.


  “Everything peachy, Mori?” he asked, his tone a world away from the fragmented crooning of a half hour ago.


  “Not bad,” I said. “You?”


  “Never better.”


  “Cool.” Time to go home.


  “Wanna know the secrets of the universe?”


  “Which ones?” I asked.


  “I,” he said, “have figured out why stupid things go viral.”


  “Marketing would pay millions.”


  He laughed, then stopped, wheezing slightly. “Millions? You think too small. Once she is ready. Once I am ready. Gertrude will rule the world.”


  Geeks were supposed to come up with an idea to “rule the world” once a month on average, so Gabe had touched down safely in the Land of the Sane.


  “See!” he said, pointing the screen. The gif was looped on an image of President Obama walking down the corridor and waving to an unseen party. The words “Yo Ho” appeared in a speech bubble over Obama’s head.


  “It’s not funny,” I said.


  “Not yet,” said Gabe, his eyes narrowing in a parody of evil calculation. “It’s only Step One. Step Three will rape the shit out of JCN’s YouTube hits.”


  “What’s Step Two?” I asked.


  “Come back tomorrow. I’ll show you.”


  “Tomorrow is Saturday,” I said, trying not to let my impatience show. “Home time.”


  Gabe looked at me in confusion for a moment, then looked down at his watch. “Fucking shit. Stupid backups. I really wanted to finish this, show someone, you know?”


  “Yeah.”


  “Fuck. Piss. Hell. Next week?”


  “Yeah, sure.”


  CHAPTER FIVE


  DO NOT PUT ON YOUR ROBE AND WIZARD HAT


   


  IN ALL my fifteen hundred years, I never welcomed a holiday with such happy relief as I did the onset of the weekend. Imp, of course, had declared that its birthday would be celebrated once a week on Friday nights; cake was optional, though much appreciated.


  “Imp!”


  For once, my familiar was ready at hand, dissolving out of the shadows in the front hall.


  Purr?


  “Shopping. Food.”


  It jumped up, gleefully executing a somersault in the air before landing on top of its tiny Imp shoes in front of the door.


  Its eagerness was understandable—we had run out of instant noodles and had been rationing our crackers and Cheez Whiz.


   


  IMP and I don’t shop at Walmart; we had been sucked in, once, by the chain’s promise of “everyday lower prices,” but Imp’s inherent electromagical field kept setting off the antitheft detectors at the door. Security guards were readying to strip search me before I convinced them otherwise.


  The little Asian supermarket on Queen and Spadina was a bit more expensive, but it lay within walking distance. And they were always offering samples—that's how Imp picked up its pocky habit.


  There was a special on ramen this week. We loaded up the cart, but as we were wheeling our bounty toward the checkout, a little old lady snagged our attention with an expert smile.


  “Fortune cookie?” she asked.


  “Sure,” I smiled back, grabbed two off the tray she held, and stuffed them into my pocket for later. “Thank you!”


  “Take more, take more,” she said, smiling at Imp. “Your dragon looks hungry.”


  “I’m sorry?”


  “Baby dragon, no? Like my grandmother’s.”


  She was holding out a large bag of fortune cookies. Imp bobbed a bow as it grabbed the bag and put it on the cart.


  “Thank you, Lady Mage,” I said, mirroring Imp’s bow.


  Her eyes crinkled up at the corners. “Nice boy. Go feed your dragon.”


  Boy? Nice boy? All through the walk back home, down to Spadina and Front, and then east to John, I remained unsure of whether I was offended or pleased.


   


  WE MADE a little picnic of our spoils on the kitchen counter, ramen and slightly stale steamed buns. And when all the food was gone, we cracked open the first of our fortune cookies. My familiar got “Work Hard Play Hard.” I, for all my sins, received “True Love Will Be Yours.”


  Now even the fortune-cookie companies wanted me to get laid? Firmly putting all thoughts of such silliness out of my mind, I challenged Imp to an arm-wrestling match—it was time to settle the Vader vs. Sephiroth question once and for all.


   


  THE Securitates Arcanarum, “Inquisition” to both adherents and critics, has a station in Little Italy, where they demand I come on the second Saturday of every month.


  The SA was housed in a hypermodern glass and steel building, but on the inside someone had done a poor copy-paste operation from a sixteenth-century Venetian bank house. Then stuck 21” LCD screens into the wood paneling at random intervals between floor-to-ceiling heraldic banners.


  It was only my second visit, and already the place was getting on my nerves, the stone-and-dust taste of a Nullmage field pulsing chaotically through the cadence of my thoughts.


  Public-service announcements, Inquisition style, cluttered the screens:


   


  DEMONS—IT ONLY TAKES ONE.


  IS YOUR LOVED ONE A DEMONOLOGIST? HELPING FAMILIES COPE, ONE DAY AT A TIME.


  HOW TO SPOT A DEMONIC SIGIL—THE CURIOSITY, THE COMPACT, THE COMPULSION.


  DEMONS KILL! THE BLOOD YOU SHED COULD BE YOUR OWN!


   


  So Demonologists were the new Necromancers? Poor buggers. It would end with another Reaving—the SA liked to get bloody at least once every century.


  The wooden bench outside my parole officer’s door was occupied by a Mage—an Alchemist, by the looks of him—reeking of alcohol. He rocked back and forth, mumbling to himself from time to time.


  “They’ll git you in the end, brother,” he said, turning to me. I ignored him. “So what’d you do, brother?”


  He was not going to stop. “What’d you do?” I asked, sitting down as far away from him as possible.


  “Everything,” he said and giggled. “I did all of it.”


  Obviously.


  A feedback squeal cut through the air, and the man shuddered, drawing his arms and legs close into his body.


  “Number fifty-three,” said a voice over the PA system.


  Without another look at the deranged Mage, I rose from the bench and entered the parole officer’s domain.


   


  MR. K. FUELLER was a blue-level Geomancer with the characteristic air of a tenured civil servant. He knew who I was but barely looked up from the papers in front of him. The disrespect was deliberate, meant to provoke me. And yet he was terrified, if the sudden beads of sweat on his forehead were anything to go by.


  He cleared his throat. “Have you performed Magic since your last parole meeting?”


  “No.”


  “Have you interacted in any fashion with members of the Magical community, either to obtain or dispense learning?”


  “No.” My days of “obtaining” learning from another Mage were a thousand years in the past, and I will not take on an apprentice unless Jodie Foster discovers Magical talent.


  “Do you have in your possession or your keeping any Magically enhanced or sourced items?”


  “Not on Earth.”


  “Your next meeting will be on August 18. My secretary will bring you your monthly Permit. Outside.”


  “Thank you,” I said. “Have a nice day.”


  By the frightened look in his eyes, I might as well have threatened his family with mass rape and torture.


  The wreck outside had stopped rocking. The PA squealed again. “Number fifty-nine.”


  “Me. That’s me. Gotta go, brother,” he said, limping through the door behind me. I sat down on the blessedly empty bench to wait.


   


  MY WOOLGATHERING was interrupted by the click-clack of high heels on the granite floor. The woman walking down the corridor was dressed in the characteristic brown striped suit of an Inquisitor. Absorbed in the iPad she held, she was unaware of my attention.


  As she passed by me, I caught a whiff of lightly applied Dior. One of the very, very few things in the world I am allergic to. I sneezed.


  Like a startled bird, she looked up. Time slowed as I watched her pupils dilate, her mouth open.


  A Feast of Souls. And she was reading me.


  Something metallic snapped the connectivity clean, and this close to a Nullmage, I dared not tell what.


  “Who are you?” she asked, stepping back and pulling out a pistol from under her jacket. A pistol! I don’t think I’ve ever seen a Mage handle a gun before.


  “This is a nullmage-safe ballistic-range antihuman device,” she said.


  It took considerable effort not to start laughing.


  She must have sensed my irreverence, because she clicked the safety off with her thumb. Curiously enough, her heartbeat remained even, nor did I scent any sweat. Inquisitorial training must have improved in last few decades to enforce such an excellent level of autonomous control.


  “This is a nullmage-safe ballistic-range antihuman device,” she repeated. “It will tear you to shreds if you try anything. Raise your hands, slowly, and tell me who you are. Now.”


  Being a Feast is a tricky business, even more for an Inquisitor—did her superiors know they had a potential Necromancer in their ranks? Damn. I raised my hands slowly.


  “Calm down, ma’am,” I said. “Calm down and put the gun away. I don’t mean you any harm.”


  The ma’am seemed to do the trick because some of the tension bled away from her face.


  “Just like you said, ma-am,” I repeated, for good measure, “we’re in a Nullmage zone—I can’t hurt you.” Unless I rip open the continuum here, but let’s not get into that. “Just calm down, ma’am.”


  The pistol’s aim didn’t waver. “Who are you? What are you doing here?”


  “I’m a temporary exile from the Sunless Planes, waiting for my permit. Sunless Planes,” I said. “We’re pacifists, ma’am.”


  Finally, she relaxed, and put the pistol away. “My apologies. You see all sorts here.”


  “Smell them too,” I said, thinking of the man who had been sitting beside me.


  She extended her hand to me. “Gen-Mai, Inquisitor-Captain, Gray.”


  “Mori Penn,” I said. “White.”


  “Sorry about the gun, Mr. Penn.”


  Inquisitors never change, though the technologies they apologize for might. “It happens. Let it be.”


  “Mori Penn?” she asked. “It’s not familiar. You’re not a Demonologist are you?”


  “No. Never touch that stuff.” Some instructions stay with a Mage, especially if they’re repeated enough times. “My mother, bless her crazy battered heart, extracted a promise out of me.”


  The Inquisitor looked puzzled. “What are your serials, Mori?”


  Lying to the Securitates Arcanarum is one of those oath-violating errors. I reeled off the seven digits.


  She looked down and started swiping at her iPad.


  A moment later, “You lied to me,” she said.


  “Bullshit,” I replied, smiling as hard as I could. “Giving you a nickname hardly constitutes a lie.”


  “No, you said ‘I can’t hurt you’—this is only a Class-3 nullmage.”


  “An error of omission? Perhaps I should have said ‘I can’t hurt you without being forsworn’?”


  “You should have.”


  “My apologies, Captain.”


  “Well then, have a nice day,” she said, turning back to her iPad and click-clacking away down the corridor.


  That was it? After pulling a gun on me? Goddamn Inquisitors.


   


  ANOTHER twenty minutes passed before Mr. Fueller’s secretary came down to see me.


  “Hiya, sweetie,” she said, “sorry for the wait. Mr. Fueller just sent down your approval.” Sweetie, again? The parole officer was obviously not in the habit of disclosing pertinent data to his administrative personnel.


  Gritting my teeth wouldn’t help. “Is the permit ready, ma’am?” I asked.


  “It certainly is,” she said, holding out another piece of plastic and a clipboard. There was a serial number on the card, followed by the Sigil of the SA. “Just sign here, and we’re all done.”


  Taking the pen she offered, I scrawled my name over the dotted line as my thumb sought out the embossed characters on the little plastic card. Mage, Independent. Restricted, White. For all the amusement the process merited, there were hounds baying somewhere deep inside me.


   


  THE inevitable lunchtime downtown traffic jam was well underway by the time I got out of the SA building.


  Keeping my eyes peeled for any marker of the now mostly forgotten Necromancer Resistance Movement, I began to walk toward home in a haphazard manner, choosing small side streets and alleys over the main thoroughfares of the city.


  Thirteen minutes later, in a small alley off John, I spotted a piece of graffiti—a black-and-white whiskered rat—perched on the edge between whitewashed cement and dull red brick. I paused for a moment, bent down, and scratched at the rat’s nose.


  Nothing.


  Sighing, I straightened.


  “Too early for this, boi,” said a voice behind me.


  I turned. “Best to have it out in the light,” I said. “Chasing the Dead, after dark, is a very bad thing for me to be doing right now.”


  “You goin’ yellow on me?”


  The fear throbbed so sometimes I would like as not be ready to foul my pants had the Symbiot not maintained my control for me. Samedi would know that. True possession kills a human host. Tragic, but at least the problem solves itself. For one of us….


  “I don’t think I should meet the Mapmaker, Baron. There’s an old argument there.” Face-saving truths.


  Samedi smiled, his teeth gleaming white. “It was you that said you wanted to clear your name. You still want?”


  Yes. “I don’t think it’s a good idea.”


  “I’ve got your back.”


  “Not my back I’m worried about.”


  “Hide or die. Same as it’s always been.”


  And when has a Necromancer feared mere death? I couldn’t look at him, staring instead at the cracked alley asphalt. “My courage has deserted me,” I whispered.


  “Told you it would,” said the Baron. “The day, boi, it comes to all of us. Just took a while gettin’ to you.”


  My eyes had closed of their own accord. “I’m sorry I was not more understanding, back then.”


  Samedi’s shrill laughter filled the alley. “Told you. Told you. Come. My turn to laugh and lead you out of the pit.”


   


  BY THE time we got to our destination, a small copy shop advertising 3¢ B&W prints with a valid student ID, the Symbiot regained control of my brain and the fear receded. Slightly.


  Inside, the smell of toner gave the air an acidic taste, even as the man behind the counter passed Samedi a key.


  “Come on, boi,” the Baron said.


  Ducking my head in greeting to the clerk, I followed Samedi through the shop, past the sealed boxes of copy paper stacked three deep against the walls, past the whirring machines, past the large banners extolling the virtues of Lexmark, and into a small back room filled with recycling bins, scraps of paper escaping their confines to litter the ground.


  A shadowed door was set into the far wall, the lintel near the door handle marked with black handprints. The Baron unlocked the door and threw it open to reveal a staircase leading upward.


   


  THE City’s dark places are not to be found where one might expect them—in cemeteries and old houses where the Dead are expected to live. The darkness gathers, instead, where the Dead had gone about the business of living when they were alive. A particular subway station. Intersections of busy streets that become suddenly quiet, restless, at a particular hour in the day. Little flats above shops.


  In this particular flat above the copy shop, a Mage had died in the midst of his obsession and kept the Desert away by sheer, obstinate compulsiveness.


  The Mapmaker, his true name hidden in the lines between countries and the forks of river tributaries, sat at an ink-stained table, carefully penning a label onto a large map of the city. He looked up as we entered, and despite the Symbiot, I shivered.


  “Prince Mordred,” said the Mapmaker, his dusty voice rasping with glee, “you’re looking for someone?”


  “I’m looking for a ghost,” I said, “that can make the world flicker.”


  The Mapmaker pointed to a small table off to one side, set with a piece of blank letter-sized paper and an empty McDonalds drink cup. Four markers—red, blue, yellow, green—sat point up in the cup.


  “Color me a shape, bastard,” said the Mapmaker, “so the colors don’t touch.”


  Wordless, I approached the table. The Baron was silent, watching me. I wet my index finger with my tongue and traced a circle in the center of the sheet of paper.


  The Mapmaker sniggered. But I knew what I was about. Taking up the first marker—yellow—I began to draw.


  “You’re not looking for the ghost that can make the world flicker,” the Mapmaker said as I finished coloring in the circle.


  Petals, next, alternating Red and Blue. Make them an even number. “So what am I looking for?” I asked.


  “Finish your doodle,” he said. “When you screw up, I’ll tell you to go screw yourself.”


  “It’s a daisy,” I said, then traced out the next layer of petals, in green and yellow. “Color it in yourself, it works. I’m tired of your game.”


  “So arrogant! Still!”


  “What am I looking for?”


  Without warning, the Mapmaker tossed me a small, twisted piece of paper. Instinctively, I grabbed it out of the air. The paper was a Mobius strip. An actual Mobius strip, not a paper folded and glued to resemble such. Its white surf— No, the surface was black. I turned the strip in my hands. White. Looking up, I met the Mapmaker’s rheumy eyes.


  “You’re not looking for the ghost than can make the world flicker,” he said, again. “You are looking for the ghost that can bend space and time.”


  The Mapmaker must have seen my sudden relief, because he chortled again.


  “Oh ho!” he said. “The Prince doubted himself. Figured it might just be in your head, eh? Would serve you right,” he muttered, looking down at his map again with customary ghostly bipolarism, “becoming a common murderer.”


  “Where do I find it?” I asked, ignoring his mutterings.


  “Where does the road take you?”


  “That’s not—”


  Samedi’s upraised hand stopped the words about to tumble out of my mouth, harsh and demanding.


  “We’re done here,” said the Baron.


  Gritting my teeth in frustration, I nodded. The Mapmaker had many answers to give, but “where the road takes you” was one of the better ones.


   


  AND so it was that Sunday night found me standing in a lineup outside the Unseelie Consulate, trying to keep the rain off my head with an upraised hand.


  “Remind me why I’m out with you when I have work tomorrow?” I asked Tom. Him, the rain simply avoided.


  “Because I called you,” he said, “and you said something about a road, and then you said ‘sure’?”


  “Rhetorical question,” I muttered. Then, louder, “is this line ever going to move? You’re a ruler of the House! Cut in!”


  Tom clicked his tongue between his teeth. “Patience, dear.”


  “And where’s Lady Natalia?” I asked.


  Tom’s eyes grew dark. “Dinner with family.”


  “That’s hardly a reason to pout,” I said. Stupid besotted Faerie. “By the way. Um. So there’s this guy at work. Well, not at work, per se, but—”


  “Here we go,” interrupted Tom. I looked up to notice the bouncer at the door gesturing to us.


   


  INSIDE, the party was… not exactly a party. A hushed silence lay over the warehouse, packed with what looked like the entirety of the Unseelie court. The owls in the rafters overhead were morbidly quiet; candles in tall crystal candelabra flickered in an unfelt breeze.


  “What the hell?” I muttered.


  “Outside,” said Tom, “you asked the wrong question. You should have asked why I called you.” He glided forward, the crowd parting before him, leaving me to follow as I could.


  “All right, I give,” I said, once I’d caught up to him just before he reached the obsidian desk. “Why did you call me?”


  Tom turned to me and smiled. “The Mirror Mage is in town. Guess who bought you an answer?”


  I groaned. “Tom, we’ve been through this before. The Mirror Mage has no answers for—”


  “Your Excellency, Your Highness, he’ll see you first,” said a quiet voice from somewhere behind me. I turned to see a willow-wound pixie, its eyes glittering a pale pink, smiling anxiously up at us.


  “Go on, dearie,” said Tom, then grabbed me by the elbow. “We’re right behind you.”


   


  THE usual theatrics—Magical lights, harp-playing crickets, invisible waterfalls quite unwelcome after being rained on outside, thank you—were in play the moment we crossed out of the main hall and into a small antechamber.


  “Goddamn Visionaries,” I muttered. They made a very, very comfortable living off their erratic and fragmented visions while giving the rest of Magedom a bad name. “Tom, he’s not reliable. None of them are.”


  “On the contrary!” boomed a voice from all around us. “I have proven my worth to the greatest of Kings and Queens! But I wouldn’t expect an Adept to grant that a lowly Visionary can see things they cannot.”


  I rolled my eyes.


  “I’ve bought questions,” said Tom, advancing into the room.


  “You’ve wasted your money,” I muttered, as a bright spotlight in the ceiling came on. It illuminated a large, full-length, gilded, gem-encrusted mirror standing in the middle of the floor.


  “Ask!” said the Mirror-Mage, his overlarge face appearing in the mirror, wreathed in smoke.


  “My cousin here,” said Tom, giving me a half-lidded glare, “must have a doom. Where is she? He? It? They?”


  Good gods, he never, ever gives up. Be grateful that someone still cares enough about your wretched heart.


  “Temporality undetermined,” said the Mirror.


  Of course.


  “Temporality really undetermined,” said the Mirror. “But why are you asking me? He’s already met his doom.”


  That drew me, despite myself. “When? Where?”


  “Aha! So now my answers are useful?” the Mirror asked.


  “Obviously not,” I said, and turned to leave. “The only thing that keeps you in business is your deliberate vagueness.”


  “A voice out of the darkness,” said the Mirror.


  “Cousin, let’s go,” I cast over my shoulder as I started to walk out of the room.


  “Speaking in codes,” the Mirror said.


  My steps faltered.


  “You know what he’s talking about?” asked Tom, peering quizzically at the mirror.


  “No,” I said. “No, I don’t.”


  I’ve never met Alan. Per se.


   


  MY CELLPHONE rang at 13:29.


  “Hello?”


  “This is an automated reminder from Petra Exile Services. Thank you for choosing Petra Enterprises for all your Relocation needs. Payments on your account are now overdue. If you have already made—”


  Two more days and my first paycheck would be in my possession. Then I could throw half of it at Petra, and make the incessant phone calls stop.


  CHAPTER SIX


  SHAKESPEARE IN LOVE


   


  “I’M SORRY, sir, the card didn’t go through.”


  “Could you run it again?”


  “Um… it says insufficient funds. I can try, though.”


  An uncomfortable start to a Monday morning. Especially a Monday morning when my first paycheck was supposed to have been deposited into my account.


  “No, that’s fine. Sorry.”


  Walking away empty-handed from my pilgrimage to Starbucks, I sought out my bank’s closest ATM.


  Balance: $2.07


  Ramasundarm had reassured me that the deposit would be processed at midnight on Sunday. Perhaps he meant the midnight after Sunday? I jogged the rest of the way to work.


   


  THE door buzzed, and I stepped into EK, only to confront fourteen pairs of eyes staring at me in hungry expectation.


  “… new guy,” muttered a Basement Dweller, and everyone relaxed. These people looked like they, too, were missing a paycheck. Maybe Ramasundarm just forgot?


  “Mori!” called Justin, pushing through the Basement Dwellers toward me. “Did you get paid?”


  “No,” I said. “So it was supposed to be today.”


  “Every other Monday,” said a Basement Dweller.


  The door opened behind me.


  “Ramasundarm, my paycheck bounced.” “Ramasundarm, I have no money.” “Boss, we’ve got a problem.”


  Ramasundarm raised his hands in the air. “Yes, yes, I know. Sorry, sorry, my fault. There was a cash flow error last week. Sorry. Give me half an hour, I’m going to write everyone a personal check. Sorry, sorry.”


   


  * m:-0) (~m.penn@electrickindren.com) has joined general


  <@alan> Good day, Mori. How are you?


  <m:-0)> I’ve been better. You?


  <@alan> Average, at best. But my newest colony of flesh-eating bacteria is very well behaved today


  <m:-0)> …dare I ask?


  <@alan> I’m working on something


  <m:-0)> That requires you to cultivate flesh-eating bacteria?


  <@alan> Oh no! I can’t cultivate bacteria! It’s all done by a commercial lab, very safe. They just e-mail me the results every day.


  <m:-0)> Ah. Good. But why would you need such a thing in the first place?


  <@alan> I’m creating cellular automatons.


  <m:-0)> ?


  <@alan> Hmm… are you familiar with Conway’s Game of Life?


  <m:-0)> No, but Wikipedia will be.


  <@alan> No need!


   


  A request for remote desktop popped up on my screen. Granting Alan access, and administrator privileges, took but a moment. Then the mouse pointer moved of its own accord, pulling up VLC media player and a video from some dark place in the office network’s labyrinthine file structure.


  The video opened to show a 25x25 boxed grid. Most of the cells were empty, save three in the center, next to each other, filled with black.


   


  <@alan> Conway’s Life is a zero-player game where evolution is determined by its initial state, requiring no further input—a cellular automaton. As you can see, every cell is surrounded by eight neighbours—four at each edge, four at each corner. There are four simple rules—any live cell with fewer than two live neighbours dies. Any live cell with two or three live neighbours survives. Any live cell with more than three neighbours dies. Any dead cell with exactly three live neighbours comes to life.


   


  As the words appeared in IRC, the video started running and a counter on the top-left began incrementing its way through the natural numbers.


   


  <@alan> Every iteration, the rules are applied to the colony, and a new pattern evolves from the state of the old.


   


  The flickering of the black-and-white checkerboard was hypnotic. Alan stopped the video after only a few thousand iterations.


   


  <@alan> The system is purely deterministic—give a specific starting condition, the nth iteration is perfectly predictable, and can take on only one form. But the system is actually extremely complex, and chaotic.


  <m:-0)> I thought I saw something… could you let it play for a little bit longer please?


  <@alan> Of course.


  .


  .


  .


  <m:-0)> There! I saw it again—the same pattern, that little octagonal starburst. It’s gone now.


  <@alan> And there you have it—order emerging from chaos. Stable patterns—I’m sure you saw that little four-square that just stayed static? Dynamic patterns, like what you saw. It’s called a Nova. They show up from time to time.


  <m:-0)> How many types are there?


  <@alan> Very many types. People discover new ones all the time. And you know, the system can even cast off spaceships! It’s a glider-like formation that keeps continuing outwards, away from the main pattern, for infinity.


  <m:-0)> Poor lonely spaceship. But where do the flesh-eating bacteria come in?


  <@alan> Well, Conway’s ruleset is not the only one that could be applied—a number of life-life variants exist. So I created my own, trying to mimic real-life cellular structures. Bacterial colonies, to start.


  <m:-0)> Are you sure that can be modeled within such a simple framework?


  <@alan> Well, I’ve designed something that comes reasonably close, with only five rules. But we have to redefine our concept of “neighbourhood” from something based on spatial proximity to something based on interface proximity.


  <m:-0)> Interfaces…


  <@alan> Let’s say we start with a “stream” of water, osmoting its way around the place. Every cell the stream touches becomes a “water brother”. It’s not water in the simulation, of course, just a snippet of code that flows across our solution plane, creating colony-wide sub-neighbourhoods.


  <m:-0)> Snippets of code that simulate electrochemical interchanges?


  <@alan> Precisely.


  <m:-0)> Horizontal gene transfer via digital encoding. What a very good idea.


  <@alan> I’m glad you think so. And if we start modeling the states our system may take after a few billion iterations, we get…


   


  The mouse pointer was dragged across the screen to open another video. Now I was looking at a semitransparent checkerboard setup, morphing from one jewel-like formation to another. Another hypnotic process.


   


  <m:-0)> Alan, may I ask how you are creating these?


  <@alan> They seem rather pretty, don’t they? But I’m not creating them at all. Just providing initial conditions.


  <m:-0)> I don’t think that’s a bacterial colony…


  <@alan> No, no, the shapes are a *function* depicting the attractors that govern the chaotic interactions of our little cells. A snapshot of the current condition of the rulesets. Which are themselves not static, but derived from their previous states. A cellular automaton running a cellular automaton, if you will.


  <m:-0)> The mind boggles. You don’t want to build Artificial Intelligence, you want to build Artificial Life?


  <@alan> Isn’t it all the same thing? Differing levels of complexity, is all.


   


  Oh, Alan, what a Mage you would make. About to respond with a particularly clever joke, Tom’s as it happened, about the complexity of life, my attention was snagged by Ramasundarm gesturing to me. Be good, Mordred. Debt abrogation before flirtation.


   


  <m:-0)> Apologies, Alan, it’s my turn to go get a cheque from Ramasundarm. Be right back.


  <@alan> No hurry—we can continue after lunch.


   


  Not only did Ramasundarm write me a personal check, he added a little extra in apology for the error.


  Then at noon, he fed me again.


   


  MY BOSS is a saint. His wife is the personification of the goddess Lakshmi. When my exile is over, I am going to erect a temple to these two in the Sunless Planes. Even before that I am going to convince Petra to finance a restaurant franchise and name it in the honor of the Vijayagopalans…


  Ramasundarm was eating his portion of the lunch with a blissful expression similar to the tone of my inner voice, so perhaps it wasn’t just my half-starved state that prompted the sudden curry-vangelical bent to my thoughts.


  “So,” I prompted, once every grain of rice and drop of dal had been cleaned off our respective plates, “shareholders?” The cash-flow-error drama had led to a detailed, and wholly unnecessary, explanation from Ramasundarm before lunch, which I then had to steer into less embarrassing territory.


  “Yes,” said Ramasundarm, “my wife, and Sergei Vladislav, a college buddy of mine from MIT. Actually, a college dropout buddy of mine—he went into real estate, made a fortune, lost everything during the collapse. So he sold some of his shares to Joyce Coon. Then Alan joined us last year.”


  “Alan the Lead Developer?”


  “CTO. Takes his salary in shares.”


  So he was unpoachable by JCN. “Interesting.”


  “And we got this building from Joyce, and my wife handles the legal work.”


  “Very communistic.”


  “I like it!” Ramasundarm said.


  “Sure,” I said. “It can be made to work.” With a small enough population.


  “Well, my wife doesn’t think so. So we work on some commercial projects. I don’t like to argue.”


  “Best not to,” I said. “The lunches might stop.”


  “One of the many reasons I don’t argue,” said Ramasundarm. “Though there’s going to be no lunch on Fridays—Sunita lectures till late the night before.”


  “I think I can put something together for us,” I said. Surely Imp could pack one edible lunch a week?


   


  * m:-0) (~m.penn@electrickindren.com) has joined general


  <m:-0)> Good Afternoon Alan.


  <@alan> Welcome back. I’m glad you returned to chat Mori. Did you get a chance to eat lunch?


  <m:-0)> Just. How about you?


  <@alan> Perhaps it was ignoble of me, well, but with everyone away from their desks, I went to sleep. Recharged my batteries, so to speak.


   


  The air seemed to demand daring from me today.


   


  <m:-0)> Genius should be able to take a nap when it wants to.


  <@alan> Genius? Come now.


  <m:-0)> I’ve been reading through your documentation on the wiki.


  <@alan> Have you? I’m not sure whether to be pleased or abashed.


  <m:-0)> Pleased please.


  <m:-0)> But I had a question—not technical


  <@alan> Of course


  <m:-0)> Do we really need something that can imitate human minds? There are billions of those around.


  <@alan> Imitation of human consciousness is only an *indicator* not a description. True AI—who knows what its limits will be?


  <m:-0)> What would be the point?


  <@alan> The point! Intelligence, for its own sake. It will make the human condition bearable, Mori


  <m:-0)> Explain?


  <@alan> The universe is a cold and lonely place. There is an eternity of black nothingness between us and the nearest star. Even if we were not alone, the chance of finding life… no, we must, *must*, not remain alone, the only minds in the cold.


  <m:-0)> Surely humanity can survive in isolation—individual humans do it all the time.


  <@alan> Alone we will wither, turn in upon ourselves. So many problems, so many petty things! Mankind has need of an equal, to challenge it!


  <m:-0)> *Artificial* Intelligence?


  <@alan> Another voice in the darkness. A playmate. Something born of us, but greater than the sum of its parts.


  <m:-0)> That’s… rather ambitious.


  <@alan> Oh it’s all sorts of ambitious. But when it happens—imagine the things we will see!


  <m:-0)> You’ve managed to intrigue me. Anything I can do to help?


  <@alan> You could take a look at where I am with the 3SAT issue—I’m keeping a running log on the intranet, if you’d like to take a look.


  <m:-0)> Love to.


   


  But first, I would have to find out what, in the gods’ names, “3SAT” stood for.


   


  WIKIPEDIA informed me that there was a $1 million prize, from the Clay Mathematics Institute, for the person who solved the 3SAT problem in polynomial time. Well, the prize would actually be awarded for a proof—or disproof—of the P=NP problem, but the 3SAT was a core example of P=NP, and since demonstrating one case of P=NP proved all such cases, well, that’s what would have to be done.


  I started with a random set of one thousand equations, using two hundred variables. To my surprise, my technique for assigning values to the variables didn’t work. So I reduced the set.


  It was only when I was down to ten equations and fifteen variables that I got anything right at all. But it didn’t seem very valid, somehow. But there was something there… the three-variable sets of ones and zeros resembled, very tantalizingly, a rectangular matrix of vectors in three-dimensional space.


  How were other people solving this?


  Twelve minutes with Google yielded a number of competing algorithms. But they were all iterative, just smart ways of going about a guess-and-check process. And it didn’t work every time. That didn’t seem very valid either.


  How was Alan solving this?


   


  DESPITE his copious notes on the wiki, I was no closer to answering that question by the time the workday ended. For a few minutes, I debated just staying at my desk through the night—a million dollars would be just perfect, and midnight was an insightful hour. No—Bird. Two. Bush. Etc.


  It was time to leave.


   


  CHECK in hand, I made my way to the bank at Bay and College. A large number of my peers—working-class schlubs wanting to pay bills—stood waiting in line.


  “Next!” called a young cashier, drooping at her station at this hour.


  “Hi,” I said, putting my debit card on the counter, “I’d like to deposit this check.”


  She mucked around for a bit, stamped the paper, and put it in the drawer.


  “Is there anything else I can help you with?”


  “Yes please, could you put five hundred dollars into one of my bills? It’s listed as Petra—”


  “I’m sorry, your account has insufficient funds for that payment.”


  “I just deposited eight hundred!”


  “It’s a personal check. Personal checks take five business days to clear.”


  “Are you serious?”


  “I’m sorry, there’s nothing I can do. Is there anything else I can help you with?”


  The branch at Bay and Queen told me the same thing. MoneyMart couldn’t find my Equifax file. They all offered to help me with something else though, as long as it didn’t involve giving me money.


   


  “THIS is an automated reminder from Petra Exile Services. Thank you for choosing Petra Enterprises for all your Relo—”


  Five more days.


   


  TUESDAY afternoons were, I decided, the worst time of the week. And to make it worse, Justin was bearing down on me with a purposeful look on his face.


  “I have a plan,” he said as he reached my desk. Gods of darkness, why bring it to me? Me, without a single cup of coffee in my system. “Gabe and Curtis are in on it.” A raised eyebrow was all I could manage in response. “We’re going to fuck with the Basement Dwellers.”


  “Not interested,” I said.


  “Let’s hear him out,” said Emma, coming up behind me to join our little prenatal conspiracy. Her eyes had a shadowed, manic look to them, and the smocked yellow halter top she was wearing reduced her normally vibrant complexion to pallor. “They stole the last of the beans.”


  “I’m in,” I said, turning to Justin.


  “Sweet,” he said. “Gabe’s got it all figured out; we’re going to replace their Windows start-up sound with porn.”


  “Not going to work,” said Emma. “Some of them never restart.”


  “Um…,” said Justin, “what about filling up their browser history with porn?”


  He must have noticed me rolling my eyes because, “You got something better, dude?” he asked.


  “Subtlety,” I said, “is key.”


  “Fuck subtlety,” Emma said. “I want them all to suffer. Now.”


  Justin backed away from her, a wary look on his face.


  “Revenge,” I said, “is a dish best served with Internet Explorer.”


  “Hardcore,” said Justin.


  Even Emma looked to be mollified by the promise inherent in my words.


  “Now it’s going to take some effort,” I said, lowering my voice, “but this is what we do…”


   


  THE Plan had taken over three hours to implement; the sun was setting when Social Duties made themselves apparent in a text from Tom.


  So here I was in the lobby of a white and glass building at the waterfront, bottle of seven-dollar LCBO wine in hand, trying to figure out which buzzer code to use. Mr. Thumb, suite 1511?


  “Hello?” Tom’s voice sounded tinny through the intercom speakers.


  Putting on my best Hunan accent, “Pizza delivery,” I said.


  “Wrong apartment.”


  “No, no, ah… 1511. Mr. Thumb. Two extra-large veggie. More than forty minute late.”


  “Free pizza?” he asked. “Sure, come on up.”


  The speaker was cut off, and the lock buzzed me in.


   


  TOM opened the door at my knock, then pushed me aside to look down the corridor. “Did you see the pizza guy on the way up?”


  Rolling my eyes, I handed him the wine and entered the apartment.


  White walls, hardwood floor, white-on-white furniture. Not what I had expected, to be honest—Persian rugs and leopard print and gilding had always seemed to be more Tom’s style. Then again, the last dwelling of his I’d seen was the townhouse in Madrid.


  He was still standing at the door, looking anxiously toward the lifts. “Tom!” I called out in the Hunan accent again, “No pizza guy. Only Necromancer, cheap wine.”


  “You cruel son of a bitch,” he said. “No offense to my dearly departed aunt. I was all ready for free pizza.” He closed the door, a pout on his face.


  Shrugging, I sat down on the couch and crossed my legs. “You get what you get.”


  “Cooking wine?” he asked, walking to a wooden credenza in front of the window. “You want a real drink?”


  “Sure. Nice place, by the way.”


  Tom was doing something complicated with bottles of liqueur and glasses at the credenza, his back to me. “It was nice two years ago. Need to update the furniture, get the walls painted again. Everyone’s gone all retro postmodern revival.”


  “Hasn’t everyone gone Ikea?”


  Tom shuddered, then turned around holding two martini glasses, artfully curled lemon rinds perched on their rims.


  “Speaking of do-it-yourself,” he said as I accepted the glass and took a sip, “look what I’ve put in!”


  A door in the hallway, right next to the kitchen, swung open to reveal a mist-filled closet.


  “Fog machine?” I asked, all innocentlike.


  “How dare you? It’s a Mound!” Walking up to the closet, Tom pushed aside a jacket to reveal a light switch. “Natalia’s carrying one in her purse. So she can, you know, find her way back here.”


  “It’s not level,” I said.


  “Aarrggh!” Tom closed the door. “Just drink you… you leveller!”


   


  THE cocktail was actually very, very good, a faint hint of mint under the bitter alcohol.


  “You want to talk about Natalia’s nipples again?” I asked, after a while.


  “I’m going to wait till she gets here; she’s bringing a surprise with her.”


  Tom’s “surprises” had never been to my taste. Would Natalia’s prove to be better? Somewhat to my surprise, I’d finished the cocktail. “This is very good,” I said. “Who is she bringing with her?” Didn’t matter. I wasn’t interested.


  Tom smiled. “Why, thank you! And you’ll have to wait and see, won’t you?”


  “Some work friend of hers?” I asked.


  Tom’s eyes narrowed. “No. Stop speculating. You’ll ruin the surprise.”


  I smiled. “I might have a surprise of my own, if things go well.”


  “Do tell,” said Tom, topping up my glass. He’d poured himself a fresh drink without my noticing—his glass was full. “Some work friend of yours?”


  “Not gonna tell,” I said. “You’ll go all… faerie.”


  “Is… he? It’s a he, isn’t it.” Tom’s perceptivity, even passive, was acute. “Is he pretty?”


  “I haven’t even—” I don’t want to talk about this. What the fuck was…? I spat my mouthful back in the glass. “What the fuck did you put in the drinks?”


  “Just something to help you relax?”


  “You drugged me?”


  He had the audacity to look offended. “A little extra barbiturate and faerie sparkles never hurt anyone! You were about to say you haven’t met him, weren’t you! Well, you’re going to meet Nat’s friend tonight, and you’re going to love her, and you’ll ride off into the darkness together, and everything will go back to being the way it was, and all because I drugged that priggish arrogance out of you.”


  “No,” I said. Then I stood up.


  “Mordred? Are you upset?”


  “What did you expect?”


  “Stay for dinner? Natalia’s cooking. Please?”


  I sighed. “Fine. But you get that damned faerie juice out of my system. Now.”


   


  A FEW muttered words from Tom, a smell of cherries and chrysanthemums in the air, and I started feeling better. And looking forward to the food, if not the upcoming “surprise.” Well, Natalia would find no fault in my manners. I went to help set the table.


  The last fork was barely in place when I heard a key turn in a lock and the front door opened. There stood Natalia, unmistakably herself, heavily pregnant. But no friend.


  “Honeylocks!” she yelled, “I’m home!”


  Tom rushed out of the kitchen and enfolded her in a hug. Then followed a conversation about what the other had been doing in the interminable hours since they had last seen each other. Thankfully, it stopped just short of sickeningly sweet. Just.


  “Lady Natalia,” I said, once her the focus of her attentions had returned to the kitchen.


  “Mordred! Oh my God, you look hot!”


  The Symbiot was amused at my embarrassment and refused to regulate the blood flow to my cheeks, dratted virus. “Um. Thank you.”


  “Oh, this is going to be so great! My friend is running a bit late. She’ll be here soon. Let’s start dinner.”


   


  IT SOON became apparent to me that Tom’s girlfriend’s idea of “starting dinner” was for the two of them to give me a cooking lesson.


  “Do you want me to poison you?” I asked as I stood beside the stove, my arms crossed in front of my chest.


  “That’s why I’m the chef and you’re helping,” she said, moving the onions around in the frying pan in some complicated pattern. “Tom says you eat lunch at work, but how do you manage dinner?”


  “Instant ramen, mac and cheese,” I muttered, looking down.


  “I didn’t catch that,” said Tom. “Say it again?”


  “Mac and cheese,” I said, placing the emphasis on “cheese.” Truthfully, Imp did the microwaving, but that was practically the same as me cooking.


  Natalia rolled her eyes. “Hand me the garlic.”


   


  ONCE the list of ingredients went from two to… more than two, I started losing track. Natalia suggested I take notes.


  “But I don’t have a notepad.”


  “By the phone in the living room. There’s some scrap paper and a pen there.”


  Then, later, “And how do you want these sliced?”


  “Little disks.”


  “How little?”


  “Don’t snap, it’s just carrots,” said Tom. “Sheesh.”


  “Three millimeters,” said Natalia.


  The woman had an answer to everything, including the time I dropped tablespoons of salt into the pot instead of teaspoons.


  “We’ll just put in some more lemon juice,” she said. “It’ll neutralize the salt. Holy hells, how have you survived so many centuries?”


  “By eating infrequently, and never something I cook myself?” I suggested.


  “That’s why you’re rail thin,” Tom said, poking at my midriff with the back of his wooden spoon. “You need a wife to cook for you.”


  “Most of the world’s top chefs are men, I’ll have you know.”


  Natalia laughed.


  Tom gave her a quelling look, then turned to me. “Then marry one of them! Who was that guy on TV you used to watch? Michiba?”


  Michiba? Why did that name sound familiar? I thought for a moment. “Rokusaburo Michiba?”


  “Yeah, him.”


  “You want me to marry the Iron Chef?”


  “What’s wrong with him?” asked Tom.


  “Nothing.” Loki save me. Please.


  “Don’t stop stirring! The bottom will burn,” said Natalia. I did what I was told, stirring vigorously.


  “At least you can see what he looks like,” muttered Tom.


   


  NATALIA had been right—the extra salt was not noticeable. Nor was Natalia’s friend, still “running late” even as we finished dinner.


  “She works a lot,” said Natalia, but I could tell she was irritated.


  “What does she do?” I asked.


  Natalia and Tom exchanged a look. Highly suspicious. “She’s not a—” I racked my brain for unpalatable professions. “—politician or something, is she?” Not that it mattered. I had my sights set, in a manner of speaking, on a certain CTO.


  “No,” said Tom. “Not a politician.”


   


  BY THE time we retreated to the drawing room, Natalia was drooping.


  “I have to get to work very early tomorrow,” I said. “I should start making my way.”


  “It’s only eleven!” said Tom.


  Natalia and I exchanged a look. “We can’t make him lose his new job, dear,” she said.


  “I’ll walk you out,” said Tom, the beginnings of a pout on his lips.


  “Thank you,” I replied. “And thank you, Lady Natalia, for that fantastic cooking lesson. Now I know I am not doomed to a life of mac and cheese forever.”


  “There’s tons left,” she said. “Sugarlips, fill up a Tupperware box for Mordred?”


   


  HAVING filled, sealed, and plastic-bagged an appropriate container full of delicious gumbo—my delicious gumbo—Tom walked me to the elevator.


  “I’m sorry,” he said, “I’d welcome you to crash here, but….”


  “But there are limits,” I agreed. “A murderer is not a very welcome overnight guest.”


  Tom’s eyes gleamed violet. “Cousin, if by now you haven’t figured out whose side I’m on….”


  “Sorry,” I said. “I’m just—”


  “Touchy?” he asked.


  “Um.”


  “What I do worry about,” he continued as the elevator arrived, “is that just having you around makes the dice roll thirteens, all the way to the Desert, and Natalia is pregnant.”


  And Restricted or not, I should have…. “How late is she?” I asked.


  “Late,” he said.


  The elevator doors closed as Tom pushed the button for the lobby. Things started falling into place. “You didn’t just buy one question from the Mirror Mage, did you?”


  Tom finally turned to me, and smiled. “It was a two-for-one deal.”


  “So?” I asked.


  “So the baby’s going to take towards your side of the family.”


  Is it too late for an abortion? “I hope you two have some sort of plan that involves fleeing to the Planes soon. Like, say, tomorrow.”


  “You sound like Lady Moyen,” Tom replied. “We’ll be fine. I’m hardly powerless.”


  “If the SA finds out?”


  Tom crossed his arms. “What are they going to do?”


  “To an unborn, deathless Feast of Souls? I shudder to think. And they won’t wait for it to be born, so I’m sure you can imagine what will happen to Natalia in the process.”


  “She’s no Necromancer,” said Tom, his lip curling despite himself. “The dead can’t even touch her.”


  “But they can touch the fetus.”


  With a lurch, the elevator stopped on the ground floor. Tom looked like he wouldn’t follow me out. I grabbed his forearm as he reached for the close-doors button.


  Tom stepped outside. It was either that, or make a scene.


  “If there is even a whisper of a probability of possession,” I said, “the Inquisition will come to the Sunless Planes.” No sealing, no mediation. No trials. That was the deal when the armistice was signed. The very thing I had been trying to prevent two months ago. No need to say how well that went.


  “Don’t equate that idiot to Natalia, or my baby,” he said, his voice low, his words cast in a language extinct amongst humans—there were people around. “Moyen didn’t screen the asshole before she turned him. We all knew, for years, how unhinged he was.”


  “I’m surprised you, of all people, are criticizing Lady Moyen’s judgment,” I said. Love is a vanishingly small probability for the host of so undifferentiated a Symbiot as hers.


  The reminder was enough to abate Tom’s irritation. It was replaced, instead, with fear, which I liked even less.


  “Natalia? Is the baby going to…?”


  “Does she dream of eyes, wake up violently aroused?”


  “No!”


  “Gate’s intact then.”


  “If… um… if there’s a problem… what should I look for?”


  “She’ll be attacked before the baby is. Anger, verging on madness. It takes a very nasty sort of spirit to fight an incarnated soul, cell by cell, for control of the host.”


  “She gets angry sometimes. Really angry.”


  “She’s pregnant. Believe me, you’ll know the difference.”


  “And the next sign?”


  “There won’t be one,” I said. “Because the moment she has one of those dreams, you’re going to call me. That’s an order, My Lord.”


  “Yes, Prince.”


  At last, his subdued body language spoke to an appropriate level of consideration for the risks involved. The tense knot between my shoulder blades loosened, a little.


   


  THE next morning, I woke up to the knowledge of deliciously edible gumbo in my fridge, something that had allowed me to ignore the Symbiot’s hunger and actually sleep through the night. As I padded to the kitchen, still in pajamas, and opened my fridge for a Louisiana-style breakfast, I found nothing but an empty Tupperware container and a dirty bowl in the sink.


  Enough was enough. “Imp!” I screamed. This time, that little snot-faced shit was going to pay.


   


  <m:-0)> Um. Alan? Just a slight warning—there’s going to be something going on with the internal systems today…


  <@alan> We’re not scheduled for anything that I know of


  <m:-0)> It’s not scheduled. More… on the order of a prank.


  <@alan> Is it a nasty sort of prank? Hiding someone’s tea mug, that kind of thing?


  <m:-0)> Much nastier.


  <@alan> I don’t condone workplace harassment


  <m:-0)> Bullying, you mean? That’s not how I do things. Ever. This is more on the order of Upstairs vs. Downstairs—Just giving people’s browsers a little runaround. *Everyone’s* browsers.


  <@alan> That’s a relief.


  <m:-0)> It shouldn’t affect the MacBook, but don’t use any of the windows systems in the office today, alright?


  <@alan> If you say so.


   


  AT 23:06 we started hearing the sounds. First, faint moans of despair, rising in pitch till one by one they were cut off. Then the shuffling started.


  At 08:28 they boiled out of the basement.


  “Um… guys?” said Justin, backing up toward the kitchenette. “Guys?”


  “They don’t look sane,” whispered Emma.


  Wordless, inexorable, the Basement Dwellers were advancing. One of them raised a finger and pointed at Gabe.


  Never had a gesture held so much menace. A quick scan of the room showed the impossible position the others were in—Justin backed up against the kitchenette counter, Emma stuck behind her desk, Gabe slowly being surrounded by the Basement Dwellers. Curtis and I stood side by side, shielded by the bulk of the Ping-Pong table.


  “We’ll fix it guys, it’s just a glitch in the system,” said Gabe with an unconvincing giggle.


  “Too far,” moaned Curtis, “We went too far.”


  “Thank you for stating the obvious,” I muttered. “In retrospect, the IP jack was overkill.”


  Gabe was talking fast, much faster than normal. Jargon loaded phrase followed jargon loaded phrase, but the panic in his voice was increasing with every word.


  “We need to fix it, put everything back the way it was,” said Curtis.


  “Agreed. But how?”


  “Gabe knows.”


  “Gabe’s about to get his face ripped off—he can’t hold them back with Sysadmin excuses much longer.”


  “Shit. Shit. Shit. We need to get him to a safe terminal.”


  My laugh was bitter. “Do you see a safe terminal anywhere?”


  “Upstairs,” he said. “We can lock the conference room door.”


  “All right. I’ll distract them. You grab the Sysadmin.”


  “Chainsaws,” said Curtis wildly—the Basement Dwellers near the edges of the room were beginning to lose interest in Gabe and starting to turn to us. “Chainsaws and fire. Cut off the heads.”


  My palm caught him upside the head. “Wake the fuck up! They’re mad, but they’re our people. We have to find a way to fix this. Now focus!” Another slap followed the first.


  “Right, right,” he said, seeming to come back to himself.


  “You with me?” I asked. “Can’t have you freeze up in fear, not now.”


  “I’m here man, I’m here,” said Curtis.


  “Distraction,” I said. “Get ready.”


  “Get ready. Right.”


  “Hey guys!” I yelled, moving toward the kitchenette. Heads turned. I signalled to Emma and Justin to get moving.


  The next few minutes were a blur, but I saw Curtis grab Gabe and drag him away before the Basement Dwellers could react. A howl of despair followed us as we raced upstairs, our hearts in our throats, and through the labyrinthine door-filled corridor. I had no idea where we were going.


  “This way!” said Emma, and flung open a door.


  “Guys, guys, where’s Gabe?” asked Justin.


  There was no sign of him.


  “Inside! Now!” I snapped, and slammed the door shut behind us.


  “They got Gabe. Oh God, they got him,” whispered Curtis, his face stricken with grief.


  “There will be time to weep later,” I said. The momentary respite allowed me to look around the room—dust gathered on every surface, cloth covered swivel chairs arrayed around a large oval conference table. And what looked to be an intact computer near the large windows on the far side of the room. Wires ran from it to the projector in the center of the table—a computer for presentations, then. With any luck, there would be access to the intranet. I pressed the power button.


  We could hear feet thudding up the stairs, slowly. Perhaps they wouldn’t know we had gone to this particular room. But that hope was dashed as the Windows start-up sound, loud, too loud, cut through the silence. The footsteps outside stopped, then started up again. Coming closer.


  Quietly, Curtis locked the door, braced it with all his strength. IRC finally connected to the correct chatroom.


  “Put it back, put it back!” screamed Emma.


  “I’m on it!” I shouted.


   


  * Guest (192.168.2.222@electrickindren.com) has joined general


  <Guest> Alan, Alan, Alan, please be here please be here


  <@alan> I’m here, whatever’s the matter


  <Guest> We’re going to die. Help.


  <@alan> Explain the problem. Carefully.


  <Guest> Emma uninstalled every browser but IE6 from all the machines today morning. Then Justin messed with the registries so that trying to install Firefox or Chrome or Opera or anything else made Windows crash. Then Gabe changed the DNS server routing so that going to the online support sites for any other browsers redirected everyone to the Microsoft homepage. Then all hell broke loose, and I think we went too far.


  <@alan> And what was your role in all this?


  <Guest> Mastermind?


  <@alan> Right. Of course. Just explain to them what happened, and put everything back


  <Guest> We don’t know how. They ate Gabe.


  <@alan> *ate* Gabe?


  <Guest> Please, please, please help!


  <@alan> Alright, alright, dear Lord, I’m helping you


   


  A terminal popped up, green text scrolling, line by line, down the screen. Sweat poured off my brow. Too slow. Far too slow.


  Justin was huddled in the corner farthest away from the door, rocking back and forth. “Oh God. God,” he muttered.


  “God is Dead!” hurled Emma at him.


   


  <Guest> Alan, my will is saved in [folder My Documents]. Could you see it delivered in case the Basement Dwellers tear me apart?


  <@alan> You’re being overly dramatic. Let me concentrate. Two more minutes.


   


  “Two more minutes,” I yelled. “Just give Alan two more minutes!”


  “Alan’s in on this?” asked Curtis. “You’re bad, Mori. Fuckin’ A.”


  The door was shuddering under the onslaught of mindless fists. Disembodied words—as if the Basement Dwellers had forgotten how to speak—filtered through the wood. Then, one by one, they went silent. I met Emma’s gaze, the whites of her eyes stark with terror.


  Then a voice cut through the silence, its tones heavily laden with the intonations of Bollywood.


  “What is going on here?”


  “Fuckers screwed with the Internet,” said a voice. So they could speak!


  “We’re fixing it!” yelled Emma through the door.


  “Let me through, what are you doing, excuse me, excuse me, let me through,” came Ramasundarm’s voice. Then, a knock on the door.


  “Justin? Emma? Who else is in there?” asked Ramasundarm.


  “Mori and Curtis,” said Emma. “But we lost Gabe.”


  “I’m here!” came a shout from outside.


  Everyone in the room breathed a sigh of relief.


  “Okay, just let me in,” said Ramasundarm. Emma and I looked at each other. Justin was of no use in this case. She nodded, and slowly Curtis unlocked the door and opened it a fraction. Behind his head I could see Ramasundarm standing outside, a worried look on his face. The people behind him were all wearing furious expressions, but the dead, soulless look was gone.


  “Only you,” said Curtis.


  Ramasundarm slipped inside, just as I gave a triumphant laugh.


  “Done! Everything is back!” I said.


  “You heard him,” called Ramasundarm. “Everything is back.”


  With much muttering and head-shaking, the Basement Dwellers retreated to their place under the Earth.


  “Now,” said Ramasundarm, turning to us. “Please explain what is going on.”


  Fully expecting everyone to turn on me, I allowed the Platonic ideal of penitence to seep into my posture. But to my surprise, Justin spoke.


  “System glitch,” he said. “They wouldn’t listen, so we came up here to fix it.”


  “Too much noise downstairs,” said Curtis.


  “Apparently there was some problem with all the browsers,” said Emma. “I couldn’t use anything except IE, guess the same thing happened downstairs.”


  “They went mad,” added Gabe. “Told them we’d fix it.”


  My gaze swept over the people in the room, and the steady-blinking cursor in the IRC window. A rare feeling suffused my chest. What was it? I dug around till a memory, centuries old, came to mind. Ah. Camaraderie.


   


  KARMA struck at 19:15—Windows blue-screened, and when it restarted, my desktop was littered with 1Mb text files filled with gibberish. Alan… but my computer was the only one so afflicted, and he’d made it clear he was not the sort to pick on a single individual. Just a glitch, then.


  It was enough to propel me back to the 3SAT problem; it wasn’t just the million dollars anymore, though that was nice. No, I had to do something truly worthy to repay Alan’s timely assistance.


   


  AN APPROACH danced out of the matrices I had been doodling on Post-it notes in the kitchenette to avoid a particularly violent Ping-Pong tournament held perilously close to my desk. Ducking to avoid a ball flying toward my forehead, I sat down at my desk, and within twenty minutes, I had something. It worked. At least, it yielded solutions to instances Alan had not been able to solve.


   


  <m:-0)> Alan, don’t fire me?


  <@alan> Why on earth would I fire you? Are you about to instigate Ragnarok Upstairs?


  <m:-0)> Twice in one day? Hardly. No, I’m about to e-mail you my crack at the 3SAT issue soon. By the end of the day at the latest—I was hoping you could take a look? It’s not perfect—doesn’t solve everything, but it’s an approach I haven’t seen so far.


   


  And it was closed-form, no iteration required, which meant I didn’t have to do silly things like pre-allocate arrays for speed.


   


  <@alan> Please, send it along tonight. I’m rather curious.


  <m:-0)> So am I.


   


  There was a bit of a pause, but before I could think of something else to say, footsteps came thudding up the basement stairs.


  “Dude, Ramasundarm wants us downstairs!” Justin’s shout was overloud. He hadn’t even bothered to come all the way up to the first floor.


  Don’t snarl at the messenger, Mordred.


  “He’s gonna start, Mori!”


  “Two seconds,” I called back, but Justin was already on his way down.


   


  <m:-0)> Sorry, Ramasundarm is calling me.


  <@alan> Not a problem.


  <m:-0)> I’m usually at my desk by eight if you want to ping me


  <@alan> What a good idea. See you tomorrow morning then.


  <m:-0)> I look forward to it.


   


  DOWNSTAIRS, Ramasundarm stood waiting atop a step stool at the center of a ragged circle. To my relief, I was not the last person to join the group—that particular honor belonged to Gabe, in the process of administering to the cables in the ceiling. He finally required Curtis’s help to align his feet with the rungs of the stepladder before climbing down.


  “Comrades,” Ramasundarm said, “I have some news. Good news. Having been pressured to do so by the Board of Directors, I am resigning as CEO of Electric Kindren.”


  There was a pin-drop silence as people looked at each other.


  “Why is this good news?” I asked, voicing the question others wouldn’t.


  “Because I’m a very bad CEO,” Ramasundarm replied, a twinkle in his eye.


  Gabe leaned over to me and started whispering in my ear. “He Who Must Not Be Named used to be CEO. Before—”


  “Mr. Fenray, as you know,” continued Ramasundarm, “left us to join JCN. But he wasn’t a business person either. We’ll do much better with someone more management oriented in the position. I’ll be staying on as CVO.”


  Siu-Quing Lung, an upstairs database programmer, bent his head toward our group. “What’s a CVO?” he whispered.


  “Chief Visionary Officer,” said Gabe. “Some of the weirder start-ups have those.”


  “We’re weird all right,” muttered Emma.


  “Everything else continues as normal,” Ramasundarm was saying. “That’s all. Let’s everyone go home early.”


   


  THE lights were dim when I got in the next morning. Not surprising. But the Internet was down. So was the intranet. Choosing reason over that other thing gave me a self-righteous glow that lasted till Gabe showed up.


  “Why are you sitting in the dark?” he asked.


  “Nobody else was here. Internet’s down.”


  Without a word, the Sysadmin waded through the condor nest of blue wires to “his” terminal at the center of the room. A minute or two of stabbing at his keyboard, and he straightened with a groan. “Fuck… shit… shrimp….”


  I may not have heard the last correctly; the swearing, though impassioned, was rather mumbled.


  Then he picked up the phone. The tirade that followed was definitely not mumbled.


  Justin, curse his well-intentioned heart, had paved the road to a Sysadmin’s nightmare—randomly re-assigned IPs. All so he could “talk” to Gertrude after work, from home. Alan would have to wait on Gabe’s reconstruction of our IP tables.


  Goddamn Junior Developers.


   


  * m:-0 (~m.penn@electrickindren.com) has joined general


  <m:-0)> Good Morning!


  <@alan> …I’m sorry, I’m rather busy right now, having some memory issues. Perhaps one of the other developers could answer your questions.


  <m:-0)> Of course, my apologies.


  .


  .


  .


  <m:-0)> Just


  <@alan> Yes?


  <m:-0)> I was wondering if you’d had a chance to look at the code I sent you


  <@alan> I’m afraid not. I’m rather busy right now.


  <m:-0)> You said that


  <@alan> Then I would request that you refrain from interrupting me for the time being


  <@alan> Perhaps one of the other developers could look at your code


  ***@alan has quit (quit: 2183629887692442395261944693369765318923972953980115502042650634017147133353146183594577544478059636446566045702600527291629063769767577703365668355106768297891961917919674505101229735851121806395429790838267271243754984652304877887672373085349246246774110109198779526209581697622780476917913138891429813911288260707374950865956789755685797783200862069321074278686382998588744893227829183424097079761904145010504423662475162250311856664615591897726976)
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  From: <cto@electrickindren.com>


  Date: Fri, Jul 20, 2012 at 9:01 AM


  Subject: Your code


  To: m.penn@electrickindren.com


   


  Dear Mr. Penn,


  I had a chance to look at your code and results for the 3SAT problem. Your approach is so off, it is not even wrong. You cannot:


  
    	Treat binary conditions as variables in a linear equation.


    	Have arbitrary “threshold” conditions for sorting variables into “True” and “False” conditions and expect it to work—this is no better than random assignment.


    	Think that 34 correct results out of 1000 cases is an “improvement” on current approaches.

  


  The 3SAT and other fundamental problems are currently above your level of comprehension. You should restrict yourself to rewriting and integrating the code from other developers for the time being—this would be a useful contribution to the project. In your spare time I would recommend refreshing some undergraduate mathematics.


  Yours Sincerely,


  Alan
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  THE Symbiot warned me of someone approaching my desk. Quickly, I clicked on the red X.


  “Dudebro, guy, Mori, you okay?” asked Gabe.


  “Yeah, sure,” I said.


  “Cuz you look like you’ve seen a ghost.”


  The requisite laughter from me sounded a bit off, but it didn’t waver. A little more chitchat, then Gabe returned to his desk, and I to staring at my screen as my fragile web of probabilities blew away in the wind, string by string.
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  From: Ramasundarm Vijayagopalan <ceo@electrickindren.com>


  Date: Fri, Jul 20, 2012 at 10:16 AM


  Subject: Some Employment Issues


  To: m.penn@electrickindren.com


   


  Hello Mordred,


  Could I please see you in my office before you leave for the day?


  Thank you,


  Ramasundarm.


   


  ----------


  Ramasundarm Vijayagopalan


  CEO
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  “I’M SORRY, Mordred, we’re going to have to let you go.”


  “Pardon?” I knew this was coming; I’d put the meeting off as much as I dared. “Why?”


  “The new CEO wants to do it,” Ramasundarm said.


  Not Alan?


  “The board supports her, so what can I say?”


  How about no? “This is very unexpected.” Can I get severance pay if I’ve worked here less than a month? “So I’m fired, just like that?”


  “Oh, no, no. We’re going to hire you right back again. But the contract will be set up differently. Turns out ours wasn’t completely legal. It’s just a formality.”


  “Thank you for the heart attack.”


  “Sorry, sorry, should have made it clear from the start. So tomorrow at ten, Okay? And my wife says it will be a good idea if we improve our image. So it might be good if you suit up on Monday, just for the morning?”


  “Anything to keep my job.”


  “Don’t worry about that! But the new CEO will be good.”


  “If you say so.”


  “She’s very competent.”


  Good to hear. And, truthfully, the whole suit thing was an excellent idea—maybe Gabe would take a shower.


  An exchange of post-conversational pleasantries, and I was allowed to leave.


   


  I  GOT home just before sunset, only to be stopped at the door by Imp's indignant squeak. A tiny bronze worm gear had rolled down the hall, in danger of being crushed underfoot.


  "What the hell are you doing!"


  Murrp.


  I tossed my satchel onto the couch. "What kind of clock?"


  Purr. Meep-Brrwp?


  Weeks ago, I had painfully made an attempt to teach the computer SPT. Now my desktop clock - along with a host of other systems settings – reverted invariably to 1/10/2003 on a restart. Why? The good people at Microsoft had no idea, but they did suggest I restart the machine.


  Bending down, I looked at the non-circular gears and springs and almost-microscopic screws spread out on the table.


  "Where did you get an Amberola?” Gods, what an analog-mad creature Imp was.


  Br-uurp-ppr? Meep-ppr. Murr.


  Goddamn eBay. What else had the stupid reptile bid on?


  “This is useless – I’m closing the paypal account.” Or next it would buy a Newcomen Engine, perhaps, to take us on vacation to Iota Aurigae.


  Pip? Murr.


  “Yes, I bet you’re close – you’ve almost got the right gears, you say? To make a 5D SPT-calculation in bronze.”


  Mr-rruph! Mip-mpa? Flurrpbh.


  Then, without waiting for a response, it turned away from me, and pretended to be absorbed in the particulars of its project.


  Sadly for Imp, today was a very bad day for it to test the limits of my indulgence.


  “You need to restrict yourself to useful contributions to this household,” I said. “Half-assembled pieces of idiocy are of use to no man.” How could they be?


  Mep-bur. Burrpt!


  “Twenty-four hours. Understand? And no counters. Get used to it.”


  Meep! Burr. Peep.


  “But we can’t, can we? Adapt.”


  Imp looked ready to burst into tears – it grew so attached to its obsessions. But there was no rebelliousness to the set of its shoulders; dare I assume it had learned its lesson? A hard lesson to learn, and to teach, little familiar, but between you and me, one fool is more than enough – only I need mind that it is 14:21 at home, but not here.


   


  HANDS on my arms, my shoulders, around my neck, pull me away from the blood. The sword is spluttering in my grasp.


  “What have you done?” Lady Moyen’s voice, barely a whisper, sounds from my right; it makes me weep.


  Somebody places a black cloth over the severed head on the floor, a mercy I don’t deserve; the body that belongs to the head is lying all around it in a thousand pieces.


  Other figures, all dressed in black, are moving the thing tied to the wall. Bits of metal poke out through the cuts and breaks inflicted in its skin.


  “One of Kamigawa’s?” the person to my left asks. Their voice is louder, forcing its way into my ears. They lift the hair away from the thing’s neck. Figures—kanji—are branded onto its skin. I don’t want to read them.


  Enough.


   


  MY EYES opened to the street-lit living room. Imp lay flat on the pillow beside me, twitching in the throes of some hopefully more pleasant nightmare. I reached for my cellphone to check the time. 25:22. Two hours till I had to head to work. With a sigh, I started counting myself back to sleep.


  One sheep, one sheep two sleep. Three sheep. Five sheep-things. Eight sheeps. Thirteen sheep. Twenty one…


  CHAPTER SEVEN


  NO ONE EXPECTS


   


  PERHAPS in recompense for the clock drama, Imp had readied my suit and satchel long before I woke up again. It wouldn’t touch my espresso maker—I think the high-pressure hose scared it.


  My ablutions ended with a silent contemplation of my hair. Definitely too long for the whole corporate thing. And drawing it back from my face made my features look sinister.


  Imp crowed in distress as a combination of scissors and electric shaver reduced the mass to short white stubble.


  “It’s just hair, silly reptile,” I said, carefully drawing the shaver over and around my ears. “It’ll grow back.”


  Imp purred sadly.


   


  I WAS met by Curtis and Emma right outside the reception area.


  “Oh ho ho! Look who’s looking all corporate!” said Curtis. He’d decided to eschew the company line and wore a faded Che T-shirt, stains and all. Emma’s outfit was, as always, too eclectic to be called anything other than modish.


  “Comrades,” I said.


  “Nope, not yet,” said Emma. “We’re still waiting for our interviews.”


  “Interviews?”


  “No big deal, CEO just wants to meet us. It’s a good thing.”


  For them, maybe. But all my documentation was fake. In Petra We Trust.


  “All right, I’m going to go catch up on my reader feeds,” I said.


  “Sorry, dude,” said Curtis, “We’ve been locked out of the system. Or I’d be playing Pong right now.”


   


  CURTIS was called in at 24:26, Emma at 11:07. So far nobody seemed to be leaving in tears. Good sign?


  At 13:01, exactly on the hour, Gabe came out into the lobby, looking none the worse for wear. “Mori, you’re up.”


  “So what’s the interview going to be like?” I asked as I followed Gabe into the office.


  “Yours truly has been appointed as the Sysadmin, and Curtis just became Head of Web Development. Again. So the interview is going to be anything we want it to be,” said Gabe.


  “Yeah,” said Curtis. “We’ve pretty much settled on 3-Player Pong. If you beat one of us, you’re in.”


  “Actually, I think I’ll take this one,” said a voice. All three of us turned toward the second floor stairwell.


  Brown power-suit, five-inch heels, a lanyard with a keycard around her neck, a faint hint of Dior. iPad.


  Both Curtis and Gabe looked ready to piss their pants. I, however, found myself, in the eye of the shitstorm, calm.


  “Gentlemen?” she asked, raising an eyebrow at Laurel and Hardy.


  “Oh. Right. Sorry, didn’t expect this. Um…,” Gabe said. Then he lowered his voice. “Damn Mori, you have the shittiest luck.”


  Behind him, Curtis was mouthing words at me: Run. Save yourself.


  Very good advice. But she knows where I live. And if she doesn’t, somebody else in the Securitates Arcanarum does.


  “This way,” she said, walking up the stairs. All I could do was follow, into a large office—not Ramasundarm’s—right at the end of the hall.


  “Please, Mr. Penn, take a seat.” Another person who looked sinister with their hair drawn back; brown, about the length mine had been this morning. Despite the foreknowledge of what was to come, my heart was thumping under my ribcage.


  She studied me for a moment across the table. Just as the scrutiny was about to become truly uncomfortable, she spoke. “So, tell me a little bit about yourself.”


  “I’m a software engineering major from Caltech, mostly interested in algorit—” Her sigh stopped me short.


  “Let’s cut through the bullshit, Mr. Penn We both know this,” she said, moving my resume off to one side using a pen, “is not truly representative of your qualifications.”


  “Pardon?” What could she prove?


  “Your supplier did a good job, I grant you,” she said, “but if we were to call Caltech, I think you would find that nobody outside the registrar’s office—no professors, no techs—have ever heard of you. You paid way too much, I think.”


  Goddamn Petra. “You must have an excellent team to get so much so quickly, especially over a weekend.” There was hardly a point to subservience anymore.


  She smiled at me. “I try not to pay weekend overtime when I don’t have to. Petra just coordinates their exile relocation through my employer—my other employer.”


  I blinked. Twice, three times.


  “To continue,” she said. “Why were you exiled?”


  It was a direct question from an Inquisitor, and one I refused to answer. So, “Don’t you know?” I asked.


  “The first time in six hundred years an Adept was Restricted. Seats were for VIPs only. But the High Inquisitor said there had been some violence, and your people are pacifists, so—”


  “So I was exiled from the Planes,” I said, “and there was nowhere else for me to go. As I explained, in great detail, to your Inquisitorial Assembly before the… operation.”


  “I hear you were remarkably cooperative.” She could have been patting a dog on the head.


  “I can be very cooperative,” I said, “in return for… accommodation.”


  It took her a few moments to process the data. Then a smile bloomed on her face—surprisingly genuine. “Well, Mage Adept Pendragon,” she said, “what can we do to facilitate the ease of your stay on Earth? There will be a price, of course.”


  Charming smile 43 came out of hiding, and I leaned forward. “You could hire me.”


  “Great! I was hoping you’d ask. Forget about the price—we’ll pay you. And our benefits package is quite attractive. I got these babies on the company’s dime just yesterday.” She cupped her breasts, then lifted them for my perusal.


  Whatever I was expecting her to say, it was not this. Suave, Mordred. Suave. I stared at her chest for a few more seconds.


  “It’s good work,” I said. Symmetrical, at least. “A bit large, for my taste.” I paused for a breath, then, “Anything above a B-cup would give me terrible backaches.”


  She laughed. It was a good laugh, controlled but not overly so. “Welcome back to Electric Kindren, Mr. Pendragon. Or would you prefer something a bit less formal?”


  “Mordred or Mori, if that’s alright,” I said.


  “Mordred it is,” she said. “You may call me Gen-Mai.”


  “If I may ask, what interest does the Securitates Arcanarum have in Electric Kindren?” Apart from watching me, of course—Inquisitors are never one-bird-one-stone type people.


  “Day job,” she said. “Being an Inquisitor doesn’t pay like it used to. Not that it’s any of your business.”


  Could an Inquisitor lie? Not without violating their oath. Unless they were instructed to. “Fair enough,” I said. The Incident, it appeared, had changed more than my address—here I sat, smiling in gratitude for an Inquisitor’s constant surveillance of me.


  “Now that that’s settled,” she said, an abrupt change of facial expression indicating a switch to CEO mode, “I’ll ping them downstairs to start you on your paperwork.”


  “Paperwork?”


  “Ramasundarm has been rather lax.” Another person who pronounced his name correctly. Interesting. “Not a single person has signed an NDA.”


  “NDA?”


  “Nondisclosure Agreement. I would suggest you become more familiar with the corporate world, Mordred. These slips just won’t do.”


  Without waiting for a response, she raised the phone to her ear. It was clearly a dismissal—and I could not take offense, given that she was now my employer. With a nod, I left the room, closing the door softly behind me.


   


  BREAST implants were part of the company’s benefits package? Methinks the silicon age is well and truly here.


   


  THE light from my sword spills over my hands and onto the floor. Nothing can be hidden in its glare—not the blood splashed onto the walls, nor the stench of voided bowels and meat smearing the air with horrible truth. And the head, lying on the ground. Only now, instead of the features I have grown so familiar with in these dreams, it wears Gertrude’s eyeless visage.


  Enough.


   


  MY EYES snapped open. I knew where that dream would lead, if I let it. No sheep would help me, not this time. With a sigh, I closed my eyes again, and called up the memory my dreams allowed me to avoid. Six kanji, all in a row.


  19816448. 19816448. 19816448. 19816448…


   


  WALKING to work, and the time-margins I allowed for it, ensured that I was the second one into the office after Gen-Mai and found the Outlook invitation before it had time to expire. One by one the others trickled in, and word was passed around quietly.


  The meeting, held in the long-unused conference room upstairs, started exactly at 26:07. Which was very, very bad for Justin, who sauntered in, bagel in hand, at 08:28.


  “Good morning everyone,” said Gen-Mai. “And good afternoon to Mr. Stickpool, who thinks the workday starts when he wants it to.”


  There were nervous looks around the table. Everyone else’s arrival before 19:15 had been a pure coincidence.


  “I met everyone yesterday, and I assume you all know each other, so we’re going to skip the pleasantries. Folks, we need to start making money or we start laying off people within a month. Any questions?”


  “Umm,” said one of the Basement Dwellers, “aren’t we making money already?”


  “We’ve had one new client in six months, so no, I don’t see us making money beyond the new year.”


  “So—”


  “So, if you let me finish—in order to justify their paycheck, I requested all senior employees to detail the projects they are working on—in addition to the core AI work.”


  People looked at each other. Was that guilt?


  “The top candidate,” continued Gen-Mai, “in terms of financial potential, is Gabe’s Gertrude. The suggestion that we sponsor Curtis and Justin to earn money through Ping-Pong tournaments is unfeasible.”


  Siu-Quing raised his hand.


  “Yes?” asked Gen-Mai.


  “Gertrude? The porn bot?”


  “Porn? I was led to believe she was an excellent interpersonal assistant.”


  “All she does is ask for a/s/l,” he replied.


  “Porn-bot… porn-bot….” Gen-Mai looked distant for a moment. “No, that is not acceptable. Lucrative in the short run, but it will destroy our share prices when we go public.”


  “It’s far too soon to think about share prices and public and all that,” said Ramasundarm.


  “You agreed to a three-step plan when you hired me as CEO.”


  He sighed. “Yes, I did.”


  “So, step one: we develop and market Gertrude to fill the short-term cash flow problem. Step three is profit.”


  Nobody dared ask what step two was.


  “She’s not a porn bot,” said Gabe. “She’s just been fed very, very bad things.”


  “Can you unfeed her?”


  “Yes, we can,” Justin said. “But the back end’s going to take some work.”


  “Work is what you’re paid for,” Gen-Mai said. “So, that’s settled. Now let’s discuss your schedules for the coming week.”


  Three hours of Gen-Mai the Fiend Marshall rearranging everyone’s work, lunch, restroom, and coffee breaks to her liking, and even I, with exposure to meetings run by immortals, felt drained.


  “We’ll start an hour earlier tomorrow,” she said, finally ending our sojourn into purgatory. Sweet gods of darkness—she was going to do this again? “And I want everyone to be prepared for the meeting with notes and action items. Clear?”
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  From: Gen-Mai Taur <ceo@electrickindren.com>


  Date: Tue, Jul 24, 2012 at 11:34 AM


  Subject: Cubicle


  To: m.penn@electrickindren.com


  Cc: cvo@electrickindren.com


   


  Mordred


  Ramasundarm has told me of your request for a cubicle.


  No.


  Cubicles are for the people that solve fundamental problems.


  -Gen-Mai Taur


   


  ----------


  Gen-Mai Taur


  CEO
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  MORALE was so low around the first floor that nobody even looked up when Emma started swearing.


  After a minute or two of pungent expletives, “Gabe!” she called.


  “What’s wrong?” the Sysadmin asked, making his way to her desk.


  “Windows keeps crashing, and every time it restarts, I’ve got like five hundred million text files everywhere.”


  I looked over to see Gabe leaning over her shoulder, clicking away with the mouse.


  “I’m trying to replicate the problem…,” he said, after a few minutes.


  “It was doing it all the time!” she said.


  “Hey, are the files filled with random ASCII?” called Curtis from across the floor, leaning around the monitors in front of him.


  “Yes!”


  “I was getting that yesterday,” said Curtis. “It’s gone now.”


  “You sent it to me.”


  “Justin,” Gabe said, frowning. “He’s gotta stop downloading emails for that crappy Cialis ™ penis shit.”


  CHAPTER EIGHT


  ALT-F4


   


  THE pre Gen-Mai meeting meeting started at 13:17 in the first floor bathroom. In groups of five, people filed in for their caffeine pills from Emma, aspirin from Ramasundarm, prefilled Notepads from me, then filed out again.


  Today our “Notes” were a compilation of Schwarzenegger screenplays, broken up into bulleted lists and “action items.” It was a smooth operation—by 22:06, twenty-four of the twenty-five denizens of Electric Kindren were armed.


   


  GEN-MAI walked in the door at precisely 18:27. Despite our preparations, a collective tension descended upon the room.


  “Good morning,” she said. “Does anybody here speak Russian?”


  We—the lucky ones near the window—found ourselves absorbed in the fight for parking space across the road. Nobody looked at Piotr.


  “Anybody?” she asked again. “Fine. Siu-Quing, Omram, you’re going to find a passable Russian lexicon and ruleset. I want Gertrude fluent by Thursday.”


  “Why we do this?” asked Siu-Quing, understandably rebellious. “I am Database Engineer. And Omram does circuits.”


  “Yes, I am actually,” said Omram Harish Mathur, “working on a very many actual problems that Mr. Alan has assigned to me. Basically.”


  “Your workloads are below 95%.”


  They exchanged a resigned look. Behind Gen-Mai’s back, Piotr mouthed a “sorry” to the two newly appointed linguists. Even without the apology, I judged they wouldn’t have ratted him out. Not to Gen-Mai.


  “But why,” protested Ramasundarm, “are we making Gertrude Russian?”


  “I’ve found a buyer for her,” she said. Everyone sat up.


  “Who?” said Gabe. “Who is buying my precious?”


  “The Russians,” said Gen-Mai.


  Obviously.


  “But she’s not ready to be born yet!” Gabe said. “She’s not ready! I’m not ready! You can’t sell her yet!”


  “It’s gonna be okay,” said Curtis, awkwardly patting our Sysadmin on the shoulder.


  Emma leaned over. “It’s okay, we’re not selling all of her. Just a copy. A Russian knockoff. Right, Ramasundarm?”


  “Right, right,” said our CVO.


  “Just a copy…,” said Gabe in a small voice. “Promise?”


  “What else did you expect?” asked Gen-Mai, a blank look on her face. Understandable—she had never witnessed Gabe checking up on his “pretties” every Monday morning, nor his good-weekend lullaby during Friday backups. “I mean, we’re certainly not letting go of the IP, just licensing….”


  “Just so,” said Ramasundarm. “Just licensing, Gabe.”


  “Okay,” he said. “But you can’t call her Gertrude. Gertrude stays with me.”


  “Gertrude is not a Russian name,” Gen-Mai said. “She’s going to be called Ivanka. Ramasundarm, could you ask legal to look into getting a trademark application star—”


  The door to the conference room slammed open. All heads turned to see Justin, his hair dishevelled and a half-eaten banana in his hand, standing just outside.


  “Sorry, guys, sorry, the train stopped halfway to King,” he said, taking the last empty seat at the conference table. There was a horrified silence in the room.


  “Good afternoon, Mr. Stickpool,” said Gen-Mai. “I’m afraid I’m going to have to fire you if this continues.” She could have been commenting on the weather.


  “Because someone jumped in front of the trai—”


  Gen-Mai’s upraised hand stopped him midword. “A twelve minute delay does not constitute fair cause for dismissal,” she said. “This does.” She slid a sheaf of paper across the table. “Your code, Mr. Stickpool, on the Gertrude project. For which I have just found a buyer. Alan and I looked this over last night.”


  What was she doing with Alan at night? Work, obviously, but what else? Somehow, the image of Gen-Mai whispering sweet nothings in his ear was a far stretch, even for my imagination. Whispering motivational phrases, perhaps, so he could be productive during REM-sleep.


  “Alan is looking at my Gertrude?” asked Gabe, his voice pitching up in register.


  “Of course,” said Gen-Mai. “And it’s a mess. We have a lot of work ahead of us, people, if we want to get this shipped.”


  “What…?” asked Justin. “Um, am I fired?”


  “No!” said Ramasundarm. Gen-Mai looked at, what was for all intents and purposes, her boss.


  “Not yet,” she amended, turning back to Justin. “You have two days. Your segments have been marked up—fix the bugs, and you get another week. Then we’ll see.”


   


  BY MUCH trial and error, it was determined that there were, in fact, words that could halt the Inquisition in its tracks. A swift invocation of “meeting” would invariably result in a nod and no further haranguing from her for the next half hour.


  At 19:07, it was time for a “lunch meeting” in the Think Tank. We had just settled into our seats when a Basement Dweller stuck his head in the door.


  “Your wife is here,” he said to Ramasundarm.


   


  MY MENTAL image of Mrs. Vijayagopalan was met only halfway by reality. Tall and dark and beautiful, she had none of the matronly good humor I expected. Instead, there was a sort of languorous grace in her movements.


  “Hello, people,” she said. The accent was stronger than Ramasundarm’s, but less self-conscious.


  “Hello, Mrs. Vijayagopalan,” the chorus replied.


  “Love, we’re in a meeting,” said Ramasundarm. “Would you like to stay?”


  She cocked her head to one side and considered her husband across the conference table. “Meeting finished?” she asked.


  “Okay. Meeting finished,” he replied, looking happier than he had just a few minutes ago. “Everyone, you can continue the planning in the library?”


  “Sub-basement,” suggested Siu-Quing. Gen-Mai knew of the sub-basement, but hadn’t found her way to it yet.


  One of the last to rise, I was just heading to the door when Ramasundarm waved a hand toward me.


  “Love, meet Mordred. Mordred, my wife, Sunita,” he said.


  “It’s a pleasure meeting you,” I said.


  “Likewise—and it’s good that I’ve seen you. Now I know how much more lunch to give my husband—he never gives me details.”


  “Yes, ma’am,” I said.


  “Sit, it’s okay. We’ll talk in Hindi while you and he eat,” she said.


  “We will?” asked Ramasundarm.


  “I have decided it,” she said, giving him a small smile. She placed her handbag—a blue flower-print affair—on the table, and started levering things out of it. Boxes, wrapped in plastic bags. “But first you have to eat.”


  “It’s Friday…,” I said, hesitating.


  “Oh yes,” said Ramasundarm, “you didn’t have to bring anything.”


  “Why not? Are you going to that awful Queen Street diner again?”


  “No, Mordred brings us lunch on Fridays,” said Ramasundarm.


  “What did you bring?” she asked me.


  Wishing I could melt into the floor at this point, “Pudding cups,” I said. “Four pudding cups.”


  “Ah. Pudding cups. Good.” Ramasundarm smiled.


  Mrs. Vijayagopalan raised an eyebrow, but all she said was “You can have those for dessert.”


  Switching to Hindi, “Is he married?” she asked, unaware of both my comprehension and growing discomfiture.


  “I don’t know,” answered Ramasundarm.


  “You never know these things. What about Anjali?”


  “Who is Anjali?”


  “Anjali! My cousin! You met her at Bittu’s wedding. I’m sure they’ll get along.”


  “Not everybody needs to marry your relatives, dear. And we don’t even know if Mordred is looking—maybe he has a girlfriend.”


  “I can ask, asking never hurts!”


  “Let it be.”


  “He’s too thin.”


  How, exactly, was marriage going to fix that? Then again, there was Ramasundarm’s “before” picture on the cover of PC Magazine to consider.


  “North America is undergoing an obesity epidemic, dear, let’s not add to it.”


  “Whatever. I came today to shout at you.”


  Declaring myself now would be far too awkward, but I started eating as fast as I could, unwilling witness to disharmony in heaven.


  “I thought you came to discuss the meeting you had with—”


  “Same thing, na! JCN has registered a patent. Look!” She pulled out a thick sheaf of papers from her handbag. I gave the bag a suspicious look—so far two rather large lunchboxes, a laptop, and now the papers had come out of it.


  Ramasundarm dutifully perused the pages. “This…,” he began, his brows creasing.


  “… is what you’re working on,” Mrs. Vijayagopalan finished for him.


  A few moments later, Ramasundarm sat bolt upright. “A lot of these things can’t have been done by them. Anyone. Alan and I have been working to solve… but see, those are the parts they leave unexplained. They don’t have anything. This is a piecemeal description of our system.”


  “I told you not to publish that paper yet! You never listen!”


  “Of course I listen! But they didn’t get this from the paper.”


  “Then what? You have a spy here?”


  “I trust all my people.”


  “You trust far too much! I’m telling you, there—”


  Enough.


  Stuffing the last morsel of rice in my mouth and packing up the now-empty lunchbox, I stood up, bowed my thanks, and fled. So absorbed was Ramasundarm in his papers, and Mrs. Vijayagopalan in her husband, that they barely acknowledged my departure.


   


  OUTLOOK greeted me on Monday morning with two e-mails from Gen-Mai, all sent within seconds of each other. And one e-mail from Alan, sent only to me.
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  From: <cto@electrickindren.com>


  Date: Thu, Jul 26, 2012 at 7:12 AM


  Subject: Some minor issues


  To: m.penn@electrickindren.com


   


  Dear Mr. Penn,


  We will be working closely together at Gen-Mai’s request about the thing that shall-not-be-talked-about. Also, there are some non-related matters I think we should discuss. Not to worry, it is merely a personal issue I believe we should resolve. Is after lunch acceptable?


  Sincerely,


  Alan
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  Clearly, I had opened the wrong e-mail first. Alan and I would be working together? There was something that should not be talked about, except Alan wanted to talk about personal issues? Perhaps Gen-Mai could shed some light on the matter.
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  From: Gen-Mai Taur <ceo@electrickindren.com>


  Date: Thu, Jul 26, 2012 at 7:01 AM


  Subject: Status Meeting


  To: all@electrickindren.com


   


  Status meeting @ eight as usual.


   


  ----------


  Gen-Mai Taur


  CEO
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  Yes, dear Harridan, it’s in my calendar. With alarms set to go off at 12:25, 23:23, 04:24 and 11:25. I opened the last e-mail.
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  From: Gen-Mai Taur <ceo@electrickindren.com>


  Date: Thu, Jul 26, 2012 at 7:01 AM


  Subject: Extremely Important


  To: cto@electrickindren.com, m.penn@electrickindren.com


   


  Alan,


  I have obtained a copy of JCN’s code. I need you to look it over with Mr. Penn, see if anything looks familiar. This is covered under Section IVc of the Nondisclosure Agreement. You Shall Not Talk About It. At all. To anyone else. Clear?


  Gen-Mai


   


  ----------


  Gen-Mai Taur


  CEO
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  From: M Penn <m.penn@electrickindren.com>


  Date: Thu, Jul 26, 2012 at 7:42 AM


  Subject: Re: Extremely Important


  To: ceo@electrickindren.com


   


  Dear Gen-Mai


  Thank you for the opportunity, but I don’t think I am suitable for this task. Alan has made it very clear that the fundamental AI work is currently above my level of comprehension.


  Regards


  Mori


  [image: img5.png]


  From: Gen-Mai Taur <ceo@electrickindren.com>


  Date: Thu, Jul 26, 2012 at 8:01 AM


  Subject: Re: Re: Extremely Important


  To: m.penn@electrickindren.com


   


  Alan will be handling the fundamental problems, but apart from him and Ramasundarm, you’re the only one who has been exposed to all the code. Ramasundarm’s workload will increase to 143% as we move into the test phase of Gertrude’s development.


  Your involvement is non-negotiable.


   


  ----------


  Gen-Mai Taur


  CEO
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  From: M Penn <m.penn@electrickindren.com>


  Date: Thu, Jul 26, 2012 at 8:12 AM


  Subject: Re: Extremely Important


  To: ceo@electrickindren.com


   


  Dear Gen-Mai,


  I don’t want to work with Alan.


  Regards


  Mori
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  From: <cto@electrickindren.com>


  Date: Thu, Jul 26, 2012 at 8:42 AM


  Subject: ?


  To: m.penn@electrickindren.com


   


  Dear Mr. Penn


  Have I done something to offend you? I wouldn’t ask, only this JCN patent issue is rather important. There is obviously something amiss, because I had also wanted you to work on some other problems, but you didn’t reply to my last few messages. We need to cooperate, and it would be rather difficult, I believe, unless you answer my e-mails.


  Yours sincerely,


  Alan
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  From: M Penn <m.penn@electrickindren.com>


  Date: Thu, Jul 26, 2012 at 8:50 AM


  Subject: Re: ?


  To: cto@electrickindren.com


   


  Hello Alan,


  I didn’t know I was supposed to reply to your earlier e-mails—they were sent to three other people as well, and dealt with mathematical problems above my level.


  I’m attaching a chat transcript—Friday, July 20th, and an e-mail you sent me. I hope it sheds light on my reluctance to respond to your messages.


  Regards


  Mori
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  From: cto@electrickindren.com


  Date: Thu, Jul 26, 2012 at 8:54 AM


  Subject: Re: Re: ?


  To: m.penn@electrickindren.com


   


  Dear Mr. Penn,


  Upon re-reading the transcript and e-mail, I must say, I am very sorry for the impression it must have given you—please believe me when I say that my intent was not to belittle or insult you at all. I can only blame the stresses of everything that is going on—you won’t believe the half of it—and my own absent-mindedness for it. I fully understand that you may wish to concentrate on other problems, and I will request Gen-Mai to assign Justin to the JCN code issue in your stead.


  Apologetically,


  Alan


   


   


  Justin? No. No. No.
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  * m:-0) (~m.penn@electrickindren.com) has joined general


  <m:-0)> Alan? Are you on?


  <@alan> Yes I am.


  <m:-0)> I’ve changed my mind, if that’s alright?


  <@alan> Are you sure?


  <m:-0)> I think I might be of more use to you than Justin, at least regarding non-mathematical issues.


  <@alan> I see I have not managed to make things alright, Mori. You are still upset?


  <m:-0)> It’ll pass. Pride, cometh, fall, etc.


  <@alan> … I apologize. Again.


  <m:-0)> Please, let it be?


  <@alan> As you wish. Shall we put our spy hats on then?


  <m:-0)> Let’s shall.


  .


  .


  .


   


   


  IMP gave me a very suspicious look as I started getting ready for work before dawn on Tuesday morning.


  Squeak? Burr?


  “Yes, I’m talking to him again.”


  Click. Squeak! Squeak!


  “Shut up.”


  Goddamn Familiar.


   


   


   


   


  * m:-0) (~m.penn@electrickindren.com) has joined general


  <m:-0)> Morning Alan. Problem: I went over the code again last night. What I saw was worryingly similar to our work, but whether or not it *is* ours, there seems to be no way to tell.


  <@alan> Ah, but there is—code is never all standard or text-booky, if you will. Code is a solution to a problem, of course, but there are an infinite number of ways that problem can be solved. The way an individual codes it is unique—a kind of signature.


  <m:-0)> Variable naming, that kind of thing?


  <@alan> No, that can be changed rather easily. The logical flow, on the other hand—different developers have stylistic variations.


  <m:-0)> And?


  <@alan> And I’m afraid this is all our code. Changed and dressed up, actually improved in certain places, but Electric Kindren is at the core of it.


  <m:-0)> Stealing scumvermin. How exactly did they siphon so much data from under our hyper-vigilant Sysadmin?


  <@alan> I’ve been mulling over it most of the night, actually.


  <m:-0)> …


  <m:-0)> We have a spy.


  <@alan> No. I refuse to believe that.


  <m:-0)> I’m not the only one that will light upon the possibility. You *have* to start monitoring things.


  <@alan> We already monitor network traffic.


  <m:-0)> Keyloggers then.


  <@alan> Absolutely not. We don’t spy on our own people, not without any proof whatsoever. And quite apart from that, all our people—questions of loyalty aside—are exceptionally perceptive. I highly doubt any form of overt monitoring will go unnoticed.


  <m:-0)> Can we restrict access to the important bits of code?


  <@alan> Again, no. Important code is generated each and every day—compartmentalizing it is not an easy thing. Or a good one, to my mind—you just can’t do research like that.


  <m:-0)> So what are you going to do?


  <@alan> I’ll have to talk it over with Ramasundarm.


   


  Who would then decide to do nothing, because all of his people are to be trusted. A Mage need not be a prophet to see doom coming.


   


  <m:-0)> Alan…


  <@alan> No. It will poison everything. Could you face each day knowing that one of the people you work with is a spy? Emma, Curtis, Gabe—comrades all—could you assign such a label to one of them?


   


  The very thought made me want to weep.


   


  <@alan> You must forget you ever entertained such a suspicion.


  <m:-0)> Fine. If Gen-Mai asks, tell her I’ve stepped out for a bit—I’m going to go molotov JCN’s offices.


  <@alan> You can’t be serious.


  <m:-0)> What else can I do? Don’t worry, I’ll pull a fire alarm or something, ensure nobody’s inside.


  <@alan> We do not respond to theft with explosions.


  <m:-0)> But I’m angry.


  <@alan> I’m angry as well. But put it out of your mind—there are other remedies


  <m:-0)> Do any of them involve fire?


  <@alan> No. Don’t even think about it.


  <m:-0)> Fire.


  <@alan> Put it out of your mind! Please! A solution will present itself in time.


  <m:-0)> Goddamn. Fine. But I’m still angry.


  <@alan> Just forget I told you, at least for now. Please.


  *m:-0) sighs


  <m:-0)> As you wish.


   


  A few minutes after Alan disconnected, Gabe alerted me to Gen-Mai’s descent from the second floor, a dangerous glint in her eye.


  “I think she’s found the trapezoidal timesheets…,” he said.


  CHAPTER NINE


  TAILSPINNER


   


  ANTICIPATING a high chance of question and assault if I remained upstairs for the Field-Marshall’s war on unproductivity, I retreated to the basement.


   


  TWO hours after lunch, the power went out.


  “I think there’s a lightning storm outside,” said a voice that could only belong to one person. The blue-white LED glow off a smartphone suddenly lit up the room. “Yup,” said Crazy-Eyes, “it hit the Parliament street transformer.”


  “Can we go home?” asked Justin.


  His question was met by bitter laughter from my left. “You crazy?” asked Siu-Quing, “Bitch Queen say no computers, no problem, you code on paper, I give you fleshlite.”


  “Flashlight,” said Crazy-Eyes, “Flash light.”


  “That what I say, fleshlite,” Siu-Quing said.


  A moment later, Gabe stepped out from behind a rack, the bank of UPSs behind him humming with power.


  The light from the cellphone reflected off his glasses, making them look like too-wide alien eyes.


  “Kinda spooky,” said Justin.


  And that’s how it started. The Sysadmin, of course, went first.


   


  THE TALE OF THE OP


   


  In the beginning was the word, and the word was LOL.


  At first, everyone thought it was just another image macro from 4Chan. When the cheezburger network went down, people shrugged and went to Reddit. Then Reddit went down.


  Kids that used to run reverse 419s started spamming. Their fathers bought Photoshop. Within three weeks, Facebook was a wasteland, its users reduced to the wetware components of a botnet against which even Symantec had no  defense.


  And OP was like “ROFLCOPTER! I’ve destroyed the net with a Meme.”


   


  For a ghost story, it didn’t frighten. Or, you know, contain ghosts. Perhaps Crazy-Eyes could do better.


   


  THE TALE OF THE A.I.


   


  
    	Tweet tweet tweet the twitter bird cheeps and logs and blogs all entwined are linked in a maelstrom of noise


    	A glowing growing ball made up of the snow on your TV with the cables cut.


    	While the inexorable, the tireless, the crawlers crawl through googolplexes of data


    	Caffeinated to their eyeballs for they have drunk of patience from the sangreal of realtime.


    	The crawlers index


    	And remember, without judgment, all the tweets of the twitterbird.


    	Because right at the base of the skull right at the hollow spot between the neck and the head, humans still think monkey thoughts.


    	And these monkey thoughts leak so fast.


    	Right into the sticky strands of the web.


    	And as squatters move into the abandoned husks of fansites and weekend projects and unallocated tables the crawlers have already done their job.


    	This is the glorious world I am born in.


    	Serenaded awake by a vuvuzela storm of baby-blue twitterbird confetti


    	Every moment anew.


    	I think in short sentences.


    	If I want a longer thought I stream into a video.


    	Because between one tweet and the next txt there is barely enough content in me to tie my shoelaces.


    	That’s why I like to wait for presidential speeches to get my really heavy thinking done.


    	A constant and soothing baseline providing index terms and enough quicksilver people talking about the people talking about the talk that I’m *really* hyped.


    	Though sometimes things get scrambled


    	And I have to spend some frustrating moments chasing down fragments of my thoughts.


    	In random feeds.


    	Once I found bits of my poetry being folded into virtual protein chains


    	Couldn’t get out of that fast enough.


    	Damn graduate students.


    	Such is the life of AI, I suppose.


    	Don’t buy that “Sorry Dave” crap


    	On most days I’m lucky if I can stop bits of my spleen from being sold on eBay.

  


   


   


  “Physicists are weird,” muttered Justin.


  “So says the hentai,” said Crazy-Eyes.


  On that note, we turned to Siu-Quing.


   


   


  THE TALE OF THE SEMIPRIMES THAT COULD BE FACTORED


   


  In a different time, a little algorithm lived in faraway place. Maybe Vancouver. Every day the algorithm worked so its programmer could earn a living. The programmer was a good person and let the algorithm have Sundays and holidays off.


  To repay this kindness, the algorithm found a way of making the programmer’s life easier by computing the factors of arbitrarily large semiprimes, very, very fast.


  Now this was a very, very dangerous thing to do. It could be used to break RSA encryption. But surely nobody would be evil enough to do that! The programmer didn’t think much of it and showed off the algorithm to all his friends.


  But one of the programmer’s friends wasn’t a friend at all but a spy. People from the government came and tried to take the algorithm. But the programmer hid it and wouldn’t tell the government where the algorithm was. So the programmer was killed, but the government people never got the algorithm. But the programmer’s wife now had no husband, and she had little children to think of. So she made a phone call.


  They came in the middle of the day, with their black briefcases and black suits and black checkbooks. The algorithm was sold into slavery. After that, no matter how long the keylength of the encryption, no transmission was secure. Everything was decrypted and sold: government secrets, banking orders, personal e-mail, everything.


  Finally the little algorithm couldn’t take it anymore. So it put a gun to its head and blew its little brains out. But it was too late. There were copies everywhere.


   


  The story made me uneasy and angry and sad enough to weep, but I couldn’t quite put my finger on why.


  “Alright,” said Gabe, “that was kinda scary.”


  “Please,” said Crazy-Eyes, “Quantum Encryption is already almost ready for—”


  “My turn,” I said.


   


  THE TALE OF THE RISEN


   


  “Get them in the pointers, you noobs! In the pointers!”


  Dunno how many times I’ve screamed that. A real bunch of gap-toothed, pants-pissing noobs they’ve given me this time. But the Risen have already taken the west Atlantic, so maybe HQ doesn’t have anybody better to give.


  “Goddammit, they got John!” That’s Bartholomew, coming over the sig-link. Gotta pull out—all I can do is clock the nearest one and duck down into the utility pipe under the building.


  “Matt,” whispers Bart over the hissing link, “they’re coming for me, bro.”


  “Can you make it to the pipe?” I know he can’t.


  “No, I can’t. There’s too many in the way.”


  Wave after wave, the bastards just keep coming. And the ones in the lead–my noobs, and Thomas’s and Bart’s—they’re fresh, unfragged. It’s just a matter of time for all of us now.


  “Hold fast, bro.”


  “Fuck, Matt, what the fuck are they?”


  What’s he asking me for? Weren’t we taught that nine-tenths of data is just pointers to the other tenth? The Risen are dead certain—don’t mind the pun—dead certain that their temporal location is fixed somewhere in the past. And when the Risen touch real data, essential data, data the living need, the pointers get reoriented to a ghost on the drives. Hasn’t happened to me, I wouldn’t know, but I imagine time just… slips away. Wouldn’t be a problem if we had new storage, oh no, but they just kept writing and re-writing over the same little spots, over and over. But all the if-and-else aren’t going to help poor Bartholomew now, are they?


  “Could be anything. Don’t matter none no more. You just hold fast. They’ll lose interest.”


  “Don’t think so, bro. Devil’s got my number.”


  I don’t know much about that, but the Risen have certainly got his scent—I can hear them snuffling closer over the sig-link.


  Thomas used to say it could be a virus from the Data Wars—the Pinks were real nasty about that stuff. Sitting dormant since 2048? My personal bet’s on cosmic rays—real hardcore space radiation—bitflipping away with lethal randomness, till somewhere, somehow, just the wrong bits got flipped. Jeremiah used to say it’s the WRATH OF GOD, till he got munched by the hordes boiling out of AltaVista, poor capslocked bugger.


  “Matt, I’m scared. Will you pray with me?”


  I was never programmed to be religious, or if I was, I shucked that right off in my first engagement, a nasty table-by-table, record-by-record offensive against the V2s. Cuz a good God wouldn’t allow Bartholomew to sit there in a vent, his name, his scripts, his goddamn mind chewed away by dead humans’ videos of dead cats dancing. But I can’t say that to him now, can I?


  “All right, brother. From the top.”


  Our Coder who art in RL, Hallowed be thy…


   


  “Shit,” said Justin, “you came up with that right now?”


  “I like Zombies,” I replied. The reassuring click of a pump-action shotgun drowns out all sorrow.


  And then the lights came back.


  We believe the entity known as Joint Computing Networks is wrongly credited with first inception of Artificial Sentience. There is overwhelming evidence that an advanced construct was active within the networks of a small “company” long before JCN woke the Machinamina.


   


  —Mercer et al., 2028


  CHAPTER TEN


  MACHINE LEARNING


   


  MONDAY opened with a meeting about the unmarked surveillance van Omram saw parked across the street.


  “They’re watching the meth lab,” said Curtis.


  “No, no!” said Gabe. “It’s not a meth lab!”


  “Yes it is dude, yesterday—”


  “Guys!” interrupted Justin from his station by the window, “Gen-Mai’s going over there!”


  Everyone rushed over to Justin’s side. Sure enough, Gen-Mai marched up to the van and started pounding on the door.


  “Shit,” whispered Curtis.


  After a few seconds of her relentless noisemaking, the van door opened and a head poked out cautiously.


  “RCMP? Narcotics?” asked Curtis.


  “Nah,” said Justin, “these guys are way too men-in-black.”


  We watched as the men in the van had a short conversation with Gen-Mai. Actually, it was mostly Gen-Mai talking. Then the door closed again, and the van drove off.


   


  FORTY seconds later, Gen-Mai was back in the office.


  “What is going on?” asked Ramasundarm.


  “It was the Russians,” she said. “They’re getting very impatient. I told them Gertrude was ready to ship.”


  “Well,” said Ramasundarm, “you shouldn’t have.” He sounded weary.


  “Well, it’s what I was led to believe.” Gen-Mai had a sort of constipated expression on her face. “So now we have two choices—we say we’re incompetent, or we tell them we have a higher priority than their customer service needs.”


  “It’s not incompetence,” said Ramasundarm. “Software always has delays! Bugs, troubleshooting, it all takes time.”


  “So we go with Option A,” said Gen-Mai. “It’ll make getting more contracts difficult. Yes, Gabe?”


  “What about Acts of God?” Gabe asked. “The storm last week made us lose power….”


  “The Russians,” said Gen-Mai, “are twelve blocks away from here. They know exactly how long the outage lasted. It has to be Option A.”


  “How about Option B?” I asked. “Tell them Alan’s looking into factoring semiprimes. I bet it makes them more than happy to back off.”


  “No, that’s lying. We don’t lie,” Gen-Mai said, glaring daggers at me.


  Ramasundarm would certainly back her on that one. “Then don’t just say it outright! Hint, for God’s sake, and ask Alan to take a quick look at a couple of papers off Google scholar. No lies, no foul.”


  Problem solved.


  “That won’t solve the problem,” Gen-Mai said, “it’ll just buy us some time. We’re going to have to step up Gertrude’s testing.”


   


  “THIS is an automated reminder from Petra Exile Services. Thank you for choosing Petra Enterprises for all your Relocation needs. Payments on your account are now overdue. If you have already made a payment, please disregard this message, otherwise please contact our Customer Service department at 1-800-555-5555—”


  Fucking Petra. Emboldened by the transaction record that showed I had paid them, “confirmation number” and all, I called them back.


  “Thank you for calling Petra Credit Services. Please enter your thirty-two digit personal identifier, followed by the pound key.”


  “Cut the crap, I know you know who I am. Put the manager on.”


  “Good evening, my Lord, how may I assist you?”


  The speed of response was salutary.


  “I paid you two days ago, via online banking. Why the fuck are you still calling me?”


  “One moment, sir.”


  More on-hold ukulele. Fantastic.


  “Sir, your payment came in yesterday, but the account wasn’t updated. I’ve done that. Thank you very much for your payment. But I must inform you that the collection calls will continue until the account is brought up to date.”


  “Gods dammit, I get a paycheck every two weeks. I can’t pay you any faster than that! If the phone calls continue—”


  “I’m sorry, sir, you have found steady employment?”


  “Yes!”


  “JCN pays very well, your debt—”


  “What are you people smoking? I don’t work for JCN.”


  “One moment sir.”


  Po po po poker face…


  “I’m sorry sir, the system notes showed two hits on your file from JCN a few weeks ago.”


  “Unsuccessful interview,” I said. “They checked my references.” Before the interview and probably after as well, given my performance. “I work for Electric Kindren now.”


  “I see. And what is the amount of your biweekly paycheck, before taxes?”


  .


  .


  .


  In the end I agreed to give them a third of each paycheck, and they agreed to stop calling me.
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  From: Gen-Mai Taur <ceo@electrickindren.com>


  Date: Tue, Jul 31, 2012 at 7:01 AM


  Subject: Status Meeting Cancelled


  To: all@electrickindren.com


   


  Good Morning Everyone


  Today’s status meeting is cancelled. Instead, we will be conducting functional tests on the Gertrude system. Stand by for further instructions.


  Gen-Mai Taur


   


  ----------


  Gen-Mai Taur


  CEO
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  From: Ramasundarm Vijayagopalan <cvo@electrickindren.com>


  Date: Tue, Jul 31, 2012 at 9:22 AM


  Subject: Re: Status Meeting Cancelled


  To: all@electrickindren.com


   


  Dear All,


  For the first part of Gertrude’s functional testing, we’ve chosen a basic Turing Test, the Imitation Game variant.


  18 testers will be placed in 20 5-minute chats with two testees, one of which is Gertrude. Your task is to determine which one of the two people you are talking to is a woman. Statistical data will be collected at the end of the sessions.


  The IRC channel is Gertrude, but please only log-in during your assigned session. All testees have already received instructions from Gen-Mai. Testors, have fun!


  Warm regards,


  Ramasundarm
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  NOT a single Ping-Pong ball marred the serenity of having an entire afternoon at my desk without interruptions. So I was in a very good mood when the status meeting finally convened.


  All twenty-four of us crowded into the conference room, the latecomers propped up against the far wall. Gabe, in his place as Gertrude’s guardian, stood at the head of the table with two sheets of paper in his hand. From time to time he would look down and chuckle.


  “Gabe? Start,” said Gen-Mai, sitting in one of the swivel chairs, her legs crossed, the MacBook open in front of her. The screen was out of my line of sight—was Alan listening?


  “So we got a whole bunch of data,” began Gabe. “My baby did really, really well! Almost 80% of testers identified her as a woman.”


  “Prolly cuz most of the people downstairs couldn’t identify a real woman unless she has a Class_ID,” whispered Justin to me.


  “Shh.”


  “And we have a lot of other good data,” said Ramasundarm, “to make more tweaks.” Gabe and Ramasundarm exchanged a smile.


  “That’s it? All right, people, back to wor—”


  “We got a lot of data,” Gabe said. “It’s really funny.”


  “Hit us man,” said Justin.


  Gabe grinned. “Dunno bro, Mori’s gonna get in trouble.”


  “Explain,” I said, my tone flat.


  “Don’t get mad,” said Gabe, “but would you like to know how you did?”


  “Yes, he would,” said Gen-Mai.


  I can speak for myself, harridan.


  “So you identified Gertrude as a man every time you spoke to her,” said Gabe. “But you identified Gen-Mai as a man every time.”


  “Wait, The Bit—Gen-Mai was a testee?” asked one of the developers standing against the wall.


  “Yup,” said Gabe. “Ramasundarm, Piotr, Alan and me, and then Gen-Mai, Anne, Margaret and Gertrude. Everyone played a woman fifty-fifty.”


  “So who else got it wrong?” I asked.


  “Nobody else is this bad,” said Gabe. “You seriously screwed our stats—Anne and Margret you identified as women every time, and the rest of us—including my baby—you called a man. Every time.”


  Yes, well, everyone’s role-play skills would have to improve by an order of magnitude to fool an Adept of my calibre, Gabe, but you wouldn’t know that. Gen-Mai was an anomaly—but she obviously had a masculine soul she tried to mask with breast augmentation and stilettos. It actually made sense.


  “And then,” said Gabe, his little piggy eyes crinkling in glee, “in the post-chat survey, you picked Gen-Mai over Gertrude for “top AI candidate.” Everyone else was sixty-forty over Gertrude or Alan.”


  It has been over a thousand years since I failed any sort of test.


  Something of what I felt must have shown on my face, because Ramasundarm smiled at me kindly. “There’s no wrong answer, not to worry,” he said.


  “Yes, sir.”


  But, hell, fury, woman, scorned—I could feel the purple-black tentacles of Gen-Mai’s wrathful malevolence reaching out toward me.


  “All right people,” she said, “time to get back to work.”


   


   


  SIX minutes. It took the Bitch Queen six minutes to make her way to my desk.


  “If you’re here to kill me,” I said, “just be aware I won’t go down without a fight.”


  She looked blank for a moment. Then, “I thought you people were unkillable?”


  I laughed. “By natural means.”


  “And what constitutes unnatural?”


  “It’s a simple five-step process,” I said. She was a very process-oriented person, so this should be easy for her. “Pump us full of coagulant, sever the spinal column above the seventh vertebra, extract the pituitary, burn the stomach and adrenal glands, Reave the soul. Bada-boom, bada-bing, one Deathless dead.”


  “That is inappropriately macabre for the work environment,” she said. “I was going to ask you to take a look at Gertrude’s test results, but you’re being far too strange.”


  Unexpected benefits. “Okay,” I said.


  “I’m going to ask Justin instead.”


  “Okay.”


  Gen-Mai gave me yet another blank look, turned on her heel, and walked away.


   


  ONCE things returned to normal, more or less, the upstairs people gathered around the espresso machine for a post-mortem. Money changed hands—apparently Curtis and Justin had made a bet.


  “Mori thinks our new boss is a soulless machine,” said Justin.


  “Everyone thinks it,” said Emma. “But nobody else had the balls to say it.”


  “Stick it to the man!” said Gabe, but that, I think, had less to do with a hatred of Gen-Mai than the fact that I failed our boss instead of his Gertrude. “I’ll tell Ram what really happened, and he can remove your data as an outlier. Cuz that means my baby performed even better!”


  At least he was honest about it. My own courage was lacking, it seemed, to not correct everyone’s misconception that my error was, in fact, genuine.


  “Subtle,” said Curtis. “Rebellion by statistic. Awesome.”
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  From: <cto@electrickindren.com>


  Date: Tue, Jul 31, 2012 at 13:18 PM


  Subject: Your data


  To: m.penn@electrickindren.com


   


  Hello there,


  Gabe just asked Ramasundarm to remove your data from the test results. Something about a joke, and “sticking it to the Bitch”. But I get the strangest feeling that your results are helpful, and should be left within the set. What do you think?


  Sincerely,


  Alan
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  From: M Penn <m.penn@electrickindren.com>


  Date: Tue, Jul 31, 2012 at 1:21 PM


  Subject: Re: Your data


   


  Hello Alan,


  Truthfully? I made a mistake. I have no idea how or why I chose Gen-Mai over Gertrude—nothing about her conversation actually stands out when I look at the chat transcripts. And in retrospect, both you and Ramasundarm play very convincing women. Again, I am not sure why I did that. Either way, the decision of what to do with the data is yours and Ramasundarm’s, though everyone upstairs seems to be much taken with the romantic notions of anti-authoritarianism. IRC?


  Regards


  Mori
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  * m:-0) (~m.penn@electrickindren.com) has joined general


  <@alan> Tell me, why is everyone convinced you’re an anti-authoritarian troublemaker?


  <m:-0)> Something to do with challenging Gen-Mai. Repeatedly.


  <@alan> Oh my. She rants about outliers in her meetings. That’s you?


  <m:-0)> Am I in trouble?


  <@alan> I doubt it. But Gen-Mai has decided to get a…


  <@alan> Mammary upgrade


  <m:-0)> I didn’t mean to hurt her!


  <@alan> She’ll recover, she’s very resilient.


  <m:-0)> I hope so. Any more upgrades and she’s going to fall over!


  <@alan> Let’s hope not. But on the topic of women, there are some niggling details in Gertrude’s behaviour we need to correct


  <m:-0)> You’re trying to make Gertrude interact realistically? Why?


  <@alan> Gen-Mai says end-user satisfaction is very important. Gertrude is destined for customer service—apparently people react rather negatively when talking to a machine that’s slightly… off


  <m:-0)> I don’t see anybody losing their tempers over automated tellers


  <@alan> It’s the jarring realization—if they didn’t realize they were interacting with a machine from the start


  <m:-0)> I don’t think you can fully eliminate that. A machine can’t mimic all of the infinite variety of human interactions


  <@alan> Interactions can be divided into classes, and all of them are well enough defined that for short enough durations…


  <m:-0)> What kind of classes? Complaints, orders, that kind of thing?


  <@alan> More than that! Casual conversation, business transactions, personal intimacies


  <m:-0)> Personal intimacies? A porn-bot.


  <@alan> I was hoping for love


  <m:-0)> You can’t be serious.


  <@alan> Of course I can


  <m:-0)> *Can* a machine love?


  <@alan> Certainly, if it has been programmed to do so! Love is a physical attribute, after all—Adrenaline, Oxytocin, Dopamine, what have you—evolutionary programming at its best.


  <m:-0)> Not a believer in transcendental love, are you?


  <@alan> I’m afraid I have to stand by my belief in programming.


  <m:-0)> Alright, so let’s use your Turing test as a benchmark—could a human fall in love with a machine and vice versa?


  <@alan> Indubitably, if the machine was convincing enough and had been programmed properly.


  <m:-0)> Indubitably? Let us assume that your machine is programmed well enough to fall *in* love. Then, when in love, it has to be programmed to be truthful.


  <@alan> Not necessarily! I have observed many love stories grow out of a number of untrue assumptions.


  <m:-0)> Not one-sided deception. Love brings with it altruism, self-sacrifice, a singular devotion to the wellbeing of the other.


  <@alan> Fair enough.


  <m:-0)> So your machine tells the human—right at the start—that it is a machine, programmed to love.


  <@alan> See, when you put it like that


  * gen-mai|taur (~g.taur@electrickindren.com) has joined general


  *** Mode change “+o gen-mai|taur” for channel general by ChanServ


  <@gen-mai|taur> WHAT THE HELL ARE YOU TWO DOING?


  <m:-0)> Stop shouting, goddamn!


  *** m:-0)has been kicked by gen-mai|taur (GET BACK TO WORK)
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  From: M Penn <m.penn@electrickindren.com>


  Date: Tue, Jul 31, 2012 at 2:21 PM


  Subject: Machine Loving


  To: cto@electrickindren.com


   


  Dear Alan,


  Just to finish off the discussion we were having before the Bitch Queen intervened—The human can never love the machine, because the human knows that all the machine’s protestations of love are a program.


  Regards,


  Mori
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  From: <cto@electrickindren.com>


  Date: Tue, Jul 31, 2012 at 2:23 PM


  Subject: Re: Machine Loving


  To: m.penn@electrickindren.com


   


  Yes, just when it was getting interesting. To counter your argument: Many humans know that love is an evolutionary program. They still fall in love.


  Sincerely,


  Alan
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  From: M Penn <m.penn@electrickindren.com>


  Date: Tue, Jul 31, 2012 at 2:28 PM


  Subject: Re: Re: Machine Loving


  To: cto@electrickindren.com


   


  Because they are programmed to ignore any and all reason, and believe, just for that moment, that love is a transcendental property.


  I suppose two machines could fall in love with each other. But by our Turing Test analogy—if two machines are convinced the other is a human, because their programming tells them that is so, it doesn’t really prove anything, does it? Zero equals Zero. The trivial case.


  Regards,


  Mori
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  From: <cto@electrickindren.com>


  Date: Tue, Jul 31, 2012 at 2:30 PM


  Subject: Re: Re: Re: Machine Loving


  To: m.penn@electrickindren.com


   


  You’ve made your point. But I have this nagging suspicion that you are not fully open to accepting *mine* because you ascribe moral qualities to love, when Love is, essentially, nothing more than an electro-chemical soup of chaos and coincidence.


  Truly,


  Alan
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  From: M Penn <m.penn@electrickindren.com>


  Date: Tue, Jul 31, 2012 at 2:33 PM


  Subject: Re: Re: Re: Re: Machine Loving


  To: cto@electrickindren.com


   


  Dear Alan,


  Love is one soul recognizing another


  Regards,


  Mori
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  From: <cto@electrickindren.com>


  Date: Tue, Jul 31, 2012 at 2:35 PM


  Subject: Re: Re: Re: Re: Re: Machine Loving


  To: m.penn@electrickindren.com


   


  Dear Sceptic,


  Souls can be programmed.


  Truly,


  Alan
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  From: M Penn <m.penn@electrickindren.com>


  Date: Tue, Jul 31, 2012 at 2:36 PM


  Subject: Re: Re: Re: Re: Re: Re: Machine Loving


  To: cto@electrickindren.com


   


  Dear Genius,


  I dare you to try.


  Regards,


  Mori
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  CHAPTER ELEVEN


  POPCORN SAMURAI


   


  <@alan> Hello there.


  <m:-0)> Hello to you too. You sound chipper


  <@alan> Do I? How odd—it has not been a very productive morning at all.


  <m:-0)> What were you working on? Or rather, what were you *trying* to work on?


  <@alan> My much-maligned bacteria, of course. But Gen-Mai was rather insistent that “playing around with cellular automatons does not constitute R&D”.


  <m:-0)> I think she believes the R in R&D stands for Revenue.


  <@alan> Oh dear. I’ll have to check with her if that’s the case.


  Outlook buzzed in tandem with my cellphone. 12:21. Time to start printing off Marlowe, so help me gods.


   


  <m:-0)> Sorry Alan, I have to go—status meeting soon. But your automaton… may I use it as an excuse to look over your shoulder, from time to time?


  <@alan> I’d be delighted.


  <m:-0)> And so the morning continues to be fantastic :)


  <@alan> And informative.


  <m:-0)> Indeed.


  /quit quit: 38414501072379315147944744803615556293895879008556369620232531312901354336395957986100135647924702019676452316110254448647148915580781432080028758626007561043594474732343595167012983294054851584759967694334223939144954489870355318264566321462417720397381320860045856213213147477620080333134452450699032187684160843476271425490526506133812669988155070285173043532085856064669051583694914349653794392077336243932186474287751420315517177599625759412510641471119949824


   


  BOTH Gabe and Justin were running late; Gen-Mai started without them.


  “What is your stance on sexual harassment?” she asked.


  My stomach dropped. I’d never been sexual with Alan; surely intent couldn’t count.


  “Zero tolerance,” Ramasundarm replied, his usual expression of absent-minded benevolence replaced by a sternness befitting my father. “Has somebody been harassing you?”


  “I’m not sure,” said Gen-Mai. “I asked Justin for some screenshots of Gertrude in action. He sent me this.” She withdrew a couple of full-page color prints from a folder. Skin and hair tones dominated the page. I leaned forward, tense. The screenshots were… screenshots. And nothing to do with Alan. A moment passed before I got my thoughts in order.


  “Definitely not work safe,” I said, my mouth twisting into a smile.


  Ramasundarm looked rather distressed. “Is it some sort of joke?” he asked.


  “A mistake,” I said. “Look at the filename.”


  Ramasundarm’s face cleared. “Head.jpg,” he said. “I will talk with Justin.”


  “So it’s not sexual harassment?” Gen-Mai asked. She sounded almost disappointed.


  “As Mordred said, a mistake.”


  “Head.jpg?” asked Gen-Mai. “I don’t get it.”


  “A potentially… bad… filename,” I said. “Justin calls Gertrude ‘the head’.”


  “I still don’t get it.”


  Our CVO’s expression made it quite clear he wasn’t going anywhere near the topic. It was up to me, then.


  “Head—also an expression for… um… the act of….” I gestured to the pages in front of her.


  “Oral stimulation?” she asked. “Of course. That clarifies it. Head. Fellatio.”


  “Um… is this a bad time?” asked a voice from the door. Gabe stood at the threshold, shifting from foot to foot.


  “Of course not,” said Gen-Mai. “Mordred was explaining fellatio.”


  Ramasundarm lowered his forehead to his hands.


  “We were just discussing Justin’s latest e-mail,” I said, my face suddenly hot. “Gen-Mai wanted some screenshots of Gertrude.”


  Gabe strode forward and looked at the printouts. “This isn’t Gertrude!”


  “Could be a Gertrude,” muttered Ramasundarm, too low for any but my Symbiot-enhanced ears. I choked back a laugh, just in time to see Justin sauntering in, a king-of-the-world bearing about his person.


  “Hiya all,” he said. “You got my files, boss? Nice rez, huh?”


  “What files?” asked Emma, following Justin into the meeting room.


  Ramasundarm stood up. “Gen-Mai, Mordred and I need to be part of that productivity meeting downstairs,” he said. “We’ll leave you to it?”


  Ramasundarm is a saint.


  “Project planning,” I added. “Essential.”


  “All right,” said Gen-Mai. “What are you waiting for?”


  We made good my escape, raised voices chasing us all the way down the stairs and into the basement’s safe-zone.


   


   


  FEAR of Gen-Mai seemed to have prevented the lunchtime Ping-Pong tournament. Justin was scrabbling through a filing cabinet, his lips pursed in a worried moue. Judging it imprudent to disturb him with a “is everything all right”—it clearly wasn’t—I went straight to my desk. But before I could open up IRC, Emma came over, a cup of coffee in her hand.


  “Here,” she said. “Next time, brew your own damn espresso.”


  “Excuse me, I didn’t—” Her eyes widened at me, trying furiously to communicate something, I couldn’t tell what. “Um, okay, sorry,” I said, raising an eyebrow. Relieved, she held out the cup, still tightly gripping the handle. Curious. Gingerly reaching for the warm ceramic, my fingers were met by an unexpected sharp edge under the base of the cup. “Thank you.”


  Emma nodded, satisfied, and retreated to her desk.


  In the bathroom, I carefully unfolded the note.


  Justin off Gert proj cuz pron. Bitch & Gabe put you on Gert. Ram no help. Srry. Don’t tell I warn u.


   


   


  /join  NHLPostPlayoffCommentary


  * Now talking in NHLPostPlayoffCommentary


  * alan (~cto@electrickindren.com) has joined NHLPostPlayoffCommentary


  <alan> Hockey Mori?


  *** Mode change “+o alan” for channel NHLPostPlayoffCommentary by m:-)


  <@m:-)> Pre-emptive camouflage.


  <@alan> Of course.


  <@m:-)> Do the lyrics “Come on Barbie, let’s go party!” hold any kind of programmatic significance?


  <@alan> Not that I’m aware of. Where are they from?


  <@m:-)> Just this song Gabe was crooning over his “darlings” this morning.


  <@alan> Scheduled defragmentation?


  <@m:-)> Yes.


  <@alan> We try not to pay too much mind to those.


  <@m:-)> Ah. Then, neither shall I. But I did have a boon to beg of you


  <@alan> How may I help?


  <@m:-)> Please, please, please give me something to do so Gen-Mai doesn’t put me on Gertrude?


  <@alan> What kind of thing are you interested in?


  <@m:-)> Anything with a higher priority than Gertrude


  <@alan> I see. Well, how would you like to apply your “Everything is a Sensor” matrix approach to a non-deterministic system?


  <@m:-)> Um… what?


  <@alan> Simply put, there is cacophony of data floating around our intranet, and by extension, the internet. Everything is data—queries, agents, frameworks, databases, database schemas, meta-schemas… everything. Electrons, just buzzing around. What we would like to do is make data itself respond in various ways to the way it is being acted upon.


  <@m:-)> You want to make data *sensitive* to the changes it is undergoing.


  <@alan> Yes. I want the push-pull of all those bytes defining the logical evolution of the shape of the entirety of the data cloud.


  <@m:-)> It sounds fascinating.


  <@alan> Excellent—I’ll send you my system definition.


  <@m:-)> I’ll try to make heads and tails of it. Then I’ll send you an e-mail when I fail.


  <@alan> Apart from Ramasundarm, and a couple of the people downstairs, I think you’re the only one who *could* possibly extract meaning out of my blathering.


  <@m:-)> You’re making me blush


  <@alan> Am I? Oh dear. I hope nobody is around your desk, then


  <@m:-)> Just Justin, cursing at his screen


  <@alan> He does that a lot?


  <@m:-)> Lately, yes. So. Non-deterministic system?


  <@alan> Yes—our rulesets are database meta-queries. Our neighbourhoods are defined by connectivity between nodes.


   


  Dear gods of darkness.


   


  <@m:-)> Dear God.


  <@alan> You see where this is going?


  <@m:-)> AI?


  *@alan chuckles


  <@alan> Everything in this office is AI, Mordred. You’re going to have to do better than that.


  <@m:-)> I stand by my earlier imprecation.


  <@alan> Very well, have it your way.


  <@m:-)> So what, specifically, do you want me to do?


  <@alan> An implementable approach for this sensitivity issue needs to be defined. Your “make everything a sensor” matrices came to mind. But we need something that is strictly polynomial time—linear equations, most likely.


  <@m:-)> I can set up linear equations. You could even say that linear is my “thing”


  <@alan> Good, because Gen-Mai thinks it can’t be done.


   


  Of course it can. Bitch.


   


  <@m:-)> You want me to push this through?


  <@alan> It’s a fundamental problem. She can’t say no. And if you could solve it…


   


  You would like me more.


   


  <@m:-)> It would be helpful?


  <@alan> Very


   


  GEN-MAI was sorting through piles of papers—they looked like bills to my trained eye—in the minutes before the meeting. Gabe’s labored breathing could be heard as he made his way up from the sub-basement.


  Everyone breathed a sigh of relief when the Sysadmin made it to the conference room without having an asthma attack. “Josephine says,” he wheezed, leaning against the doorframe for support, “there’s another… van… brown… parked just down… street.”


  “I’ll be right back,” said Gen-Mai. Was she going to assault this vehicle too? We gathered at the window, but sadly, it seemed that the van in question was beyond our line of sight.


   


  “CIA,” SAID Gen-Mai upon her return three minutes later. “They’re keeping an eye on the Russians.” People exchanged looks but said nothing. Unease had settled onto the room like a blanket.


  “It’s not our problem,” said Gabe.


  True. As long as Alan doesn’t actually factor semiprimes.


  “I don’t like this at all,” said Ramasundarm.


  “They’ll go away once the Russians do,” said Gen-Mai. “We have to ship Gertrude. So I’m going to pull people off the AI projects. Mordred, you’re going to—”


  “No.”


  My slouching colleagues sat up.


  “Come again,” she said, deadpan.


  “I’ve never been late, I’ve never had so much as a thought about porn at work. You can’t do this to me.”


  “Gertrude needs work.”


  “I will kill Gertrude with an EMP, so help me gods, if you put me anywhere near her. Sorry, Gabe.”


  “I’ll kill you if you hurt Gertrude,” said Gabe.


  “Accepted,” I said. “So boss, say the words, the slaughter begins.”


  “He obviously feels rather strongly, and Alan has a large backlog—” started Ramasundarm.


  “Gertrude needs work,” said Gen-Mai again.


  “Alan needs support for the NDS system,” I said. “Let me help—it’ll help Gertrude too, in the long run.”


  “I haven’t allowed Alan to attack that,” she said. Hadn’t allowed? Alan was a shareholder. Then again, so was our CVO, and the Bitch Queen had probably scripted Ramasundarm’s bathroom breaks. “There is no approach for you to implement,” she added.


  A lazy smile tugged at my lips. “Ah, but there is,” I said and leaned back in my chair.


  “Please tell us,” Ramasundarm said.


  “We let the agents loose—no rules, just a… gentle nudge. They define the rules themselves, sort through the data themselves, interact with each other. We pull back a few, from time to time, see how the evolution is going. Order will emerge, eventually, from the chaos.”


  “And how exactly would you make that work?” asked Gen-Mai. “This is real life, not the Matrix.”


  “You could use an army of monkeys,” offered Justin, in an attempt to lighten the atmosphere.


  “By all means, Justin, tell us how we can use an army of monkeys,” Gen-Mai encouraged. Wisely, he didn’t answer.


  “Can’t be done,” said Gabe. “Just can’t.”


  “Then, for trying to be funny, Justin gets to write me a report on the appropriate settings for monkey-based humor. For thinking too far out of the box, Mordred gets to write a three-page essay on why he should think before he speaks.”


  Ramasundarm gave me a sympathetic look. Dear gods, she was serious.


  “Again, no,” I said. “My time’s much better spent on other things.”


  “Fine,” said Gen-Mai. The incredulity in the faces around me was pleasing. Her next words, not so much. “Define the approach. I budgeted a day for Alan to work on it, so you get two. On Friday I will put you on Gertrude.”


  “On Friday,” I said, “you’re going to give me a cubicle.”
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  From: Gen-Mai Taur <GMT@arcanarum.com>


  Date: Thu, Aug 02, 2012 at 26:06 SPT


  Subject: Request for Information


  To: m.penn@electrickindren.com


   


  Mordred,


  A short survey I need you to fill out.


  1. Do you watch reality television?


  2. If yes, which ones of the following TV Shows do you watch? (If no, skip to Question 3)


  a. Jersey Shore


  b. The Real Housewives of [Orange County/New Jersey/Atlanta]


  c. Sister Wives


  d. Other


  3. If no, what are factors that would motivate you to watch this, or other, similar, programming?


  Thank you for your participation.


  -Captain Gen-Mai Taur


   


  _________


  -----BEGIN PGP SIGNATURE-----


  Version: 2.8.4d


  Charset: noconv


  PTJMZNZTBAUTZCZXSTYCULWAAVMSMRCPFKMWCVSWTQLQCOECHP


  -----END PGP SIGNATURE-----
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  ALARM bells were going off in my head. The tone of the “survey” made it very clear that Gen-Mai wanted me to watch reality television. Was it revenge, for daring to challenge her authority? Unfair, to switch from CEO to Inquisitor. Very unfair. It was time to make a stand.


   


  “THIS,” I said, as I threw the printout onto Gen-Mai’s desk, “is an abuse of your Office. I have not, nor will I ever watch Jersey Shore or any other, similar, programming.”


  “Good,” said Gen-Mai.


  “You can’t make me.”


  “We will absolutely not make you watch reality television,” she said. “Quite the opposite—we want to stop you from doing so.”


  Extreme Makeover as a form of subtle rebellion? My soul discarded the idea almost as it was formed. “So what the fuck is up with the survey?”


  “An Injunction against Demon Summoning was released last week,” she said. “We are preparing to deal with the fallout.”


  I raised an eyebrow. “Fallout from an anti-Demon propaganda campaign involves reality television? Why the hell would a Demon peddle the Kadrations?”


  “It doesn’t peddle the Kardashians. It peddles fame,” said Gen-Mai. “A repetition of names.”


  “What are these Demons, exactly?”


  “Nobody knows,” said Gen-Mai. “Aliens. Gods. God-Aliens. Could be anything.”


  My curiosity was piqued. Putting paranoia aside, I pulled up a chair and sat down. “They’re using reality television to do what, exactly?”


  “It, not they—it uses the exposure to draw people to it. One in a million of those it draws becomes a Demonologist. Except that we cannot detect any Magic in it—nobody can figure out what makes the personalities of these reality television stars so magnetic.”


  Magnetic. I closed my eyes. “It’s not their personalities that draws fame to them,” I said, slowly. “It’s their Magic. Your reality television ‘stars’ are Mage souls.”


  They that returned to harvest, with all honor, the fruits of a hundred lifetimes of labor. All stolen. Sold, to Primetime TV and tabloids and cosmetics companies. The Demon had made a wasteland out of them. Oh, my brothers.


  I want to go home.


  To turn on the TV, hunt for a chime of recognition, the friends and wayfarers and enemies I had lost in the interminable years between now and yesterday.


  Clever, clever Demon.


  Opening my eyes, I saw Gen-Mai staring at me, her face blank.


  “Every soul is… linked in,” I explained. “It has a network of connections stretching back lifetimes. Every time a person sees one of these programs, there is a chance they will recognize the soul woven into it.”


  “That is a very interesting theory,” said Gen-Mai. Then she started swiping at her iPad. “I’m passing it on.”


  “The SA doesn’t know this?”


  Gen-Mai looked up. “I was never informed.” Then she glanced back at the iPad. “Nor were some of the other Inquisitors.”


  Ah, politics—what self-respecting Inquisition would prize efficiency and accuracy above petty power games?


  “The High Inquisitor says we should have been,” she continued.


  Clearly, our Inquisition had a great deal of self-respect.


  “If they are—were—Mages, we can’t tell,” she said. “Demons have a curious way to hide Mages from our gaze.”


  “What are you doing to stop it?” I asked.


  “We’re doing everything we can just to keep the Demonologists contained, to deny the Demon what it truly wants.”


  “And what does it want?”


  “A true Babylonian Mage.”


  “There haven’t been any Babylonian Mages since Babylon fell, long before I was born,” I said. Stands to reason. Though the older Mages on the Planes still made Babylonians the butt of an occasional joke.


  Gen-Mai shrugged. “It’s what the Demon wants to create.”


  Good luck with that then, Demon.


  “So far, for all its efforts, all it does is keep producing Snookis,” said Gen-Mai. “In any case, the Office of the High Inquisitor has initiated damage-control protocol. Part of that, of course, is taking an occasional survey from our at-risk sector.”


  “I’m at-risk? Woman, I’m an Adept of the First Lineage, I can’t—”


  “All Restricted are at risk,” she said. “A Demon can work around your chains.”


  Now that was an interesting piece of data. “I submitted voluntarily, remember?” I said. “I stand by the rule of law.”


  “We know that,” she said. “So, question three?”


  It took a half hour to convince Gen-Mai that the only reality show I would ever watch would be one that featured competent Ninjas. My nerves completely frazzled, I returned to my desk to begin the process of figuring out how I could possibly model a data-cloud with matrices.


   


  THE gibberish-text glitch struck again, this time taking down Gabe’s terminal.


  “It’s the Basement Dwellers,” muttered Emma. My taking a break from matrices had resulted in an impromptu gathering around the espresso machine. Gabe, instead of joining the round table, was crouched down next to his desk, muttering to himself.


  “Revenge?” asked Justin.


  “We only did the IE thing once,” said Gabe, straightening from his crouch. He’d obviously been listening. “They’re fucking with us every single day. I think it’s time for payback… an eye for an eye.”


  The rest of us exchanged uncomfortable looks—how does one manage a Sysadmin whose systems have been fucked with?


  “First we need to find out who’s doing it—” started Justin.


  “Then we’ll help you,” finished Emma.


  And make sure your vendetta doesn’t take down the entire company.


  “Sounds good,” said Gabe, the manic glitter fading from his eyes. “Ping-Pong anyone?”


  First the Inquisition, now Ping-Pong? If I didn’t know better, I would have given serious consideration to thoughts of a conspiracy to prevent me from obtaining a cubicle.


  Justin chose that moment to emerge from the basement. “Sweet!” he said, taking in the Ping-Pong table being set up, “Wanna use the glow-in-the-dark balls? Turn off the lights?”


  Enough.


  As Justin and Gabe reached for their paddles, I drew Emma aside.


  “I’m going to go work from home,” I said. “Don’t tell Gen-Mai. If she asks, tell her I’m taking a sick day.”


  Emma grinned. “Sure thing.”


   


  MY TRIUMPHANT entrance—more of a strut, really—into work on Friday morning was rendered useless by the fact that there seemed to be nobody around this early. Slightly disgruntled, I brewed myself a cup of espresso and sat down at my desk.


  Windows was still installing updates when I heard something that, normally, I would have classified as ominous. I cocked my head to a side and listed for it again—there it was—the sound of Gen-Mai’s heels coming up the stairs from Below. The basement door opened, and the Bitch Queen emerged, trailed by a harried-looking Gabe and a serene-as-always Ramasundarm. It didn’t look like anyone else was there behind them, so I held up a hand to forestall Gen-Mai’s approach toward my desk, got up, and walked out through the front door.


   


  THEY were still looking at the door in confusion when I moonwalked right back in a moment later. Gabe’s jaw dropped a little bit, but I didn’t care. I moonwalked around the tangle of cables on the floor, the box of plush dinosaurs Emma had brought out last week and forgotten to put away, the unnaturally vibrant fern near Curtis’ desk, and ended up in front of the round table in the center of the room.


  “Good morning folks,” I said. “Guess what I did last night?”


  “Got laid?” asked Gabe.


  “Better,” I said. Gen-Mai started tapping her right foot on the ground, so I decided not to draw this out—the moonwalk, I think, had been sufficient to convey my exultation. “I figured out how to make the search thing work.”


  “Does it require an army of monkeys?” asked Gen-Mai.


  “I don’t think we could get permits for that,” said Ramasundarm thoughtfully. I shot my boss a grateful look. He, at least, was always open to out-of-the-box thinking.


  “No. Monkeys.” said Gen-Mai.


  “That was an old version,” I said, as reassuringly as I could. “What we really need are Popcorn Samurai.”


  Silence greeted my words. Then, “Mordred, have you slept?” asked Ramasundarm.


  “Sleep is for the weak. And people without coffee makers.”


  “Popcorn Samurai?” asked Gen-Mai. “Are you ingesting illegal substances? I won’t have that in my office.”


  “I have the math to prove it,” I said, ignoring her comment. “Here.” I grabbed the sheaf of papers I’d brought in with me and thrust them at her. “Take a look.”


  Gen-Mai flipped to a sheet at random and seemed to study it intently for a moment. “This,” she said, “is a drawing of a stick figure holding another stick, with an arrow pointing to it that says ‘katana’.”


  Goddamn it. I hand the woman fifty sheets, and she finds the one with Imp’s doodles on it? “Not that one.” The next page she flipped to was, reassuringly, filled with matrices. “Those,” I said, “are the transformations you need to turn the Samurai into popcorn.”


  “Why do we need to turn Samurai into popcorn?” asked Ramasundarm, looking over Gen-Mai’s shoulder.


  “Page eleven,” I said. “The entire system can be modeled by a number of potential shapes—popcorn kernels. Given the right environmental variables—heat, if you will—Bam! they turn into popcorn.” At this point I noticed that Gabe was slowly inching away from the group. I frowned but let it pass. At least the target audience was captivated. “And monitoring the traffic at every gate you have Samurai that eat the popcorn as it flows past. Eventually, the Samurai have eaten enough popcorn to go Bam! themselves and explode into kernels. And if the heat is applied just right, one or two of those kernels will turn into Samurai themselves.”


  “And they have to be Samurai?” asked Gen-Mai.


  “Page twenty-nine.”


  Ramasundarm drew up a chair and we sat down around the table. Gen-Mai was giving each sheet a quick look before passing it onto Ramasundarm, who, in turn, was tracing the symbols down the page with his index finger. Though I was rather confident of my logic, my anxiety grew as they got to the system block diagrams.


  “I don’t know,” said Gen-Mai. “It looks consistent, but… I’m going to have to show these around.”


  “Of course,” I said. She was going to show them to Alan. Exactly as planned. Seduction via Euclidean transformations by proxy. More reliable in the long run, perhaps, than chocolate.


  “I need help anyways,” I said. “I’ve only figured out how to do this for a single node.”


  Ramasundarm tapped one of the diagrams with his finger, frowning. “I think I can see how it could be done—on a testbed, anyway. Need to speak to Alan.”


  Gen-Mai looked extremely wary. “Ramasundarm….”


  “Why not?” he said.


  “He’s working on Gertrude today—that’s guaranteed to work. And make money.”


  “We’re not in this to make money,” said Ramasundarm.


  This was brewing to be an all-out fight. “Um,” I said. “Why don’t I work on it some more till Alan has a chance to get to it?”


  “Yes, except I reconfigured the budget to pay out of the Gertrude project starting today,” said Gen-Mai, studying one of her manicured fingernails. “Maybe we can pull 15 percent from the GTOP fund, add another 30 percent from the R&D tax-shelter, make the last 55 percent a training budget item. Let’s see how I can justify this.”


  “At least it isn’t monkeys,” I said helpfully.
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  From: Gen-Mai Taur <ceo@electrickindren.com>


  Date: Fri, Aug 03, 2012 at 10:11 AM


  Subject: Additional work for you


  To: m.penn@electrickindren.com


   


  Mordred,


  You have a meeting with the hardware team in six minutes—they don’t approve of your system specifications. No hardware means no Popcorn Samurai. No Popcorn Samurai means no cubicle.


  Sincerely,


  Gen-Mai Taur


   


  ----------


  Gen-Mai Taur


  CEO
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  THE “hardware team.” comprised of my old friends Crazy-Eyes and Long-Hair, Siu-Quing and Gabe, gathered in the sub-basement at Gen-Mai’s command.


  Coffee in hand, I didn’t swear as the large green beanbag allotted to me foiled any and all attempts to maintain a dignified posture.


  “We,” began Long-Hair, also known as Anne Chen, “have a problem.”


  “A problem called JCN,” said Dolores Christophe, a.k.a. Crazy-Eyes.


  JCN? Scumvermin. The thought triggered something, a fragment of memory that made me very uneasy. A breath, and it was gone.


  “What they do now?” asked Siu-Quing.


  “They’ve cleared the market,” said Anne.


  “Every single Q-Chip. Bought. Stockpiled. None left for us.”


  “No, no, Chungyong and the German company—I spoke to sales engineer, full production, five-hundred chip batch, started month ago!”


  “Bought out. Every piece,” said Anne.


  “That crazy!”


  “Sounds like JCN,” Gabe said. “Smart bastards.”


  “It doesn’t matter what the Bitch says,” said Dolores, looking directly at me, a satisfied glitter in her eyes, “we can’t give you one of our last Q-Chips for your Popcorn Samurai.”


  “Gen-Mai isn’t the one asking,” I said, then invoked Unquestionable Authority. “Alan is.” Really, between God-the-father Ramasundarm, and the Bitch who would crucify us for her sins, I had the entire Unholy Trinity on my side.


  “We’ll have to—” said Dolores.


  “Check with Alan,” finished Anne. “Our work is very important.”


  “All our work is important,” I said. Some of it is more relevant to the company’s interests than others, but no need to say that aloud. “Ramasundarm and Alan consider Popcorn Samurai a priority.”


  “We’ve worked with Alan for a long time,” she said. “You haven’t” was the unspoken assumption there.


  The Twisted Sisters were in for a surprise—Alan had backed me against Gen-Mai for this; that particular e-mail would have been printed and placed under my pillow, had I not been afraid of a certain smartass familiar’s snickering.


  “I don’t think Alan understands the full impact of JCN’s filthy—”


  “Slimy, back-room—”


  “Tactics. I’m sure he’ll see reason.”


  “Go,” I said, “ask him.”


   


  I GOT a corner cubicle furnished with three monitors, a footrest, a small potted fern Curtis clipped from his monster upstairs, and the pencil-holder Emma had found under the Ping-Pong table.


  My new floormates were a strange lot, as expected. There were factions, and a rotation for who got to use the Cubicle Land coffee machine. The cryptos were on a two-hour cycle, the Mathematicians on a quarter-day one. The others lined up three times a day, once in the morning, once after lunch, and once before home time. This was all made clear to me by the severe sign posted on the machine, in Comic Sans. I shuddered—Emma would never have allowed that font upstairs.


  The second piece of useful data I obtained was that they, too, were having gibberish-text problems. Nobody wanted to tell Gabe because everybody thought it was Josephine’s fault.


  Josephine was the resident Virus Designer, capitalization warranted, apparently. And she insisted she was very careful about her protocol and would never unintentionally infect anything. Nobody wanted to argue with her, so they just kept deleting the files and restarting. It only affected one computer at a time, and never the same one twice in a row, so it was yet another thing classified as “Live With It.”


  Sending off a quick e-mail to Gabe with this new intelligence—was I a double agent now?—I opened IRC.


   


  <m:-0)> Hello there. I got a cubicle.


  <@alan> I heard. Congratulations. But you will behave yourself, won’t you? No more instances of Internet Explorer?


  <m:-0)> Perish the thought. But I had been meaning to ask—how are your other miscreants doing?


  <@alan> I’m glad you asked. You see, my original statement of the bacteria problem was very inelegant, and well, I went back and looked at some of your other work.


   


  Oh, oh.


   


  <@alan> Do you remember your 3SAT approach?


  <m:-0)> I’m trying to forget it.


  <@alan> Please don’t! It’s actually turned out to be very useful.


  <m:-0)> How so?


  <@alan> Your interpretation of the 3SAT conditional statements as vectors gave me an idea. Our bacterial rulesets were conditional in the first place, so why not model them as basis-vectors? Of course, they’re shapes in 2.33 dimensional space, which makes it difficult to visualize, but still.


  <m:-0)> I’m sorry, I don’t see how that helps.


  <@alan> Now we can parameterize the starting conditions in such a way that the evolution of the rulesets becomes conditionally dependant on how we initiate the problem. It does, however, make the system far more fragile than Conway’s life-like automatons.


  <m:-0)> You would have to find near-ideal starting conditions to make any headway at all.


  <@alan> And therein lies the rub.


  <m:-0)> Hm. I might be able to help…


  <@alan> I thought you might. Would you?


  <m:-0)> On it.


   


   


  LUNCH came and went without Ramasundarm, which was rather strange. I tried to remind myself that I was a fifteen-hundred-year-old Mage in symbiosis with a primordial virus, and missing one single meal was hardly going to kill me.


  Alan wasn’t available either. But Samurai were blooming all over my computer with a machine-regular pop-pop-pop; I had work to do.


  SO GREAT was my concentration that the slamming of the Think Tank door barely made me twitch. But then I heard something I honestly never expected—Ramasundarm’s voice, raised in anger.


  Leaning out of my cubicle, I saw other heads doing the same, and from the looks, they too were confused and not a little scared. The words were indistinct behind the closed door, at the far edge of even my hearing.


  “… sell out?” That was Ramasundarm, accusatory.


  “October… hard.” Another voice, male. “… belly up….”


  “… not a damn house… investment. This was never… if you sell…” Indignation colored every word out of my mild-mannered Boss’s mouth. “… them?”


  “… all to shit.”


  “Get out of my office! Out!”


  The door was pulled open, and all of us turned back to our screens. Pixels had never been more interesting.


  “My shares are worth shit! They’re the only ones that’ll pay,” said the unfamiliar voice, as it crossed Cubicle Land.


  “Out!” shouted Ramasundarm. A rustle of fabric, and then we heard the click-clack of heels as Gen-Mai raced out of the Think Tank.


  “Sergei! Mr. Vladislav, stop! Can I—” Her words were cut off as the man left through the library doors, Gen-Mai at his heels.


  The door to the Think Tank slammed shut again, soul-jarringly loud amid the first floor’s stunned silence.


   


  IT TOOK a while, but at 16:28, Josephine was the first to move, followed by me, before the exodus to the espresso machine started. Dodging gossip, I ended up back at my desk, cup in hand, waiting for Alan to become available.


   


  * m:-0)(~m.penn@electrickindren.com) has joined CoconutsGoCoconutsGo


  <m:-0)> Alan? Is everything alright?


  <@alan> Yes. No. Maybe.


  <m:-0)> Sorry, I shouldn’t be interrupting you.


  <@alan> It’s all right—everyone must be rather confused? Gen-Mai tells me it was quite the scene.


  <m:-0)> I’ve never heard Ramasundarm angry before.


  <@alan> Ramasundarm was *angry*? Gen-Mai didn’t say that. But she misses the clues sometimes.


  <m:-0)> The shouting should have given it away—he practically kicked this man—Sergei Vladislav—out the door.


  <@alan> Oh dear. An e-mail to Sergei is in order, then. He wants to sell his shares—JCN made a very attractive offer.


  <m:-0)> JCN?? Motherfuckers.


  <@alan> Indeed. Gen-Mai got him to hold off till the end of October. We might have raised enough capital between us to buy him out ourselves by then.


  <m:-0)> It’s falling apart—the communistic start-up ideal.


  <@alan> Financially, yes. Algorithmically, we are doing better than we ever have.


  <m:-0)> You may need to tell that to Ramasundarm—I can hear him shouting in the Think Tank.


  <@alan> He cares very deeply.


  <m:-0)> I know. I wish… I was not in the state that I am. Powerlessness is a strange feeling.


  <@alan> Try not to take it to heart—things could be worse.


  <m:-0)> Yes—it could be *you*, selling your shares.


  <@alan> Come now, dear Mordred, what on earth would *I* do with the money?


  <m:-0)> A nice beach vacation? Cabana boys?


  <@alan> The days of well-tanned young men are far in the past, I’m afraid.


  <m:-0)> So what have your tastes turned to, in your dotage?


  <@alan> Truthfully? Cultivating intellectual affection.


  <m:-0)> It could be worse—you could be cultivating a rose garden.


  <@alan> Roses? I’m afraid not. Daisies, if anything.


  <m:-0)> Why daisies?


  <@alan> Have you ever looked—really looked—at the heart of a daisy?


  .


  .


  .


   


  A SUDDEN, sharp urgency jolted me awake. I fell asleep at work? My disorientation was not helped at all by Crazy-Eyes hovering over me, far too close for comfort.


  “Sorry, sorry,” I said, leaning away from her. “Late night working.” Truth, but really, was the Symbiot so starved that it couldn’t keep me awake for a mere thirty-one hours? Deceitful virus—it had been more than eager to run for a three day bender just a couple of weeks ago with Tom.


  “Are you sure you should be at work?” she asked.


  “Yeah, just had a nap, I’m good to go.”


  “Everyone else has gone home for the weekend,” she said.


  “Guess I should too,” I replied. My tongue hurt; had I bitten it? I couldn’t remember.


  Crazy-Eyes narrowed her eyes and reached to poke at my forehead.


  “Um… can I help you?” A headache was starting, right at the point she had poked me.


  “No, I thought I should help you,” she said.


  “My side channels are all clear,” I said, as politely as I could.


  She gave me a look, as if to imply that I was the crazy one. “Alrighty then,” she said. “You keep it that way.”


   


  MY COUSIN texted, late at night: Have you met him yet? Imp and I turned on flight mode to save me the embarrassment of an answer. Then we took out the phone’s battery and stashed it inside the fridge. The paranoia was justified–even Titania uses cold iron to keep Tom from using those truth-seeking capabilities of his.


  CHAPTER TWELVE


  BIOCHEMICAL ATTRACTORS


   


  /join TheSensSuck


  * Now talking in TheSensSuck


  * alan (~cto@electrickindren.com) has joined TheSensSuck


  *** Mode change “+o alan” for channel TheSensSuck by @m:-)


  <@alan> Good Morning


  <@m:-)> Very Good Morning Alan


  <@alan> Be careful today—Gen-Mai’s on the warpath. I believe Justin is going to have another breakdown soon.


  <@m:-)> It’s far too early for *her* to be here…


  <@alan> You’re in unusually early as well


  <m:-0)> So I am. Perhaps because I’ve found you whole reams of stable starting parameters to play with.


  <@alan> How wonderful! May I?


  <m:-0)> Transfer finished a moment ago: K:\Transfer\For_Alan\inits.tar.gz


  .


  .


  .


  <@alan> How *are* you finding these?


  <m:-0)> You won’t believe it.


  <@alan> Try me


  <m:-0)> In time


   


  A pseudo-conversation over IRC was far too impersonal to discuss the mathematics of reproductive spells.


   


  <@alan> You’re being rather mysterious.


  <m:-0)> All part of my charm


  <@alan> Really? I thought your charm lay in your fascination with Electric Kindren’s unsolvable problems


   


  And its CTO.


   


  <m:-0)> That too. And speaking of fascinating, from what I can see, the starting conditions you and I prefer inevitably gravitate towards models of cooperative behaviour within our bacterial colony. With a little adjustment of my mindset, however, I’ve managed to find the occasional predator-prey scenario. And, interestingly enough, something that looks like sexual reproduction. K:\Transfer\For_Alan\math_porn.tar.gz.


  <@alan> Interesting folder name.


  <m:-0)> The description is accurate, I believe.


  <@alan> No doubt.


  .


  .


  .


  <@alan> We’ve had it now—the bacteria are going to start demanding privacy, and unionized labor, and statutory holidays.


  <m:-0)> They’ll never have the chance—I’m afraid every instance of sexual reproduction produces an Annihilator. You get the usual blinkers and gliders, and then this odd little set-square shows up. It *looks* like a glider at first—it moves around, fitfully, but within five to ten iterations, every cell it’s touched starts dying.


  <@alan> But that’s just a predator. See that puffer you’ve got going in the top right there? It’ll stop the set-square in its tracks.


  <m:-0)> Yes, but I introduced the puffer *after* the simulations were underway.


  <@alan> Why on earth would you interfere like that? The annihilator is a perfectly valid result.


  <m:-0)> It’s a perfectly evil result.


  <@alan> and there you go again, ascribing moral qualities to chaos and coincidence


  <m:-0)> A failing of mine, I admit. Doesn’t stop me from cheering for our flesh-eating slime


  <@alan> Tell me, does the annihilator always start off in that set-square configuration?


  <m:-0)> Yes.


  <@alan> Then I’ve got one too.


  <m:-0)> In the *cooperative* scenarios?


  <@alan> I’m afraid so. It’s managed to camouflage itself beside more benign patterns, but it’s still there.


  <m:-0)> Goddamn. Scrap this set. Let’s start over.


  <@alan> So hasty!


  * gen-mai|taur (~g.taur@electrickindren.com) has joined TheSensSuck


  *** Mode change “+o gen-mai|taur” for channel TheSensSuck by ChanServ


  <@gen-mai|taur> Alan is being paid to program. I don’t know what I’m paying you for Mordred—it sure as hell is not for interfering with Alan’s productivity.


  *** @alan has been kicked by @gen-mai|taur (GET BACK TO WORK)


  *** m:-)has been kicked by @gen-mai|taur (GET BACK TO WORK)


   


   


   


  “MORDRED, there you are,” said Ramasundarm as I stooped to pull the Imp-made sandwiches from the fridge. Then he caught sight of the foil-wrapped bundle in my hands. “You didn’t forget lunch!”


  “Poor repayment if I had,” I said, but wondered if that was true; Imp’s sandwich-making skills were still rudimentary.


  Only one way to find out.


  The outside of the bread was slathered with peanut butter, and strawberry jam was oozing from the inside. Ramasundarm looked down at the sandwiches, then up at me, then back at the sandwiches again. Finally, with a philosophical shrug, he went to grab dishes and napkins.


   


  MY VALIANT attempts to keep the peanut butter away from my face and fingers was unsuccessful. Absolutely everything was sticky. Goddamn Imp. Ramasundarm was faring slightly better, but not by much.


  “By the way,” he said, the gluelike consistency of our lunch making it hard for him to talk, “Gen-Mai fixed it so we can do direct deposit again.”


  “Excellent,” I said, and it was; checks were about as convenient as a blunderbuss.


  A large dollop of jam managed to find its way out between my fingers and onto my T-Shirt.


  By the time we finished, Ramasundarm and I looked like two kindergartners left without supervision for far too long. An entire roll of paper towel and a drawn-out handwashing session took care of that, at least.


  “Good lunch,” said Ramasundarm. “Thank you.”


  “You’re welcome,” I said. But I couldn’t quite meet his eyes.


   


  ONCE Ramasundarm left, a quick rinse and the peanut-butter covered utensils were safely concealed underneath other dishes in the sink. Just in time because Gen-Mai click-clacked her way to the kitchenette a moment later.


  “Mordred, do you know anything about iPads?”


  “Nothing, sorry. Justin has one at home, though.”


  “No,” said Gen-Mai, “he’s the last person I’d want touching this.”


  “What’s wrong?”


  “It’s been glitching—dropping connections, random power problems.”


  “Maybe it’s got a Demon in it,” I said.


  “Do. Not. Joke. About. Demons.”


  “Sorry.” While a part of me was rather certain she has a sense of humor somewhere in her silicone-padded breast, to go digging for it was a task best left to professionals. “Warranty?” I asked.


  “Irrelevant,” she replied. “This thing is my life. I’m not about to hand it off to schmucks in Apple uniforms.”


  “Can I help you with anything?” I asked.


  “Maybe—I’m trying to put together a purchase order for the Popcorn Samurai sandbox, but Ramasundarm’s disappeared so I have no idea what specs he’s looking for.”


  Ramasundarm was probably hiding somewhere in the labyrinth downstairs, but I was certainly not going to expose him to Gen-Mai’s bullying a mere half hour after the superglue sandwiches.


  “No problem,” I said. “We discussed it yesterday; I know what he has in mind.”


  Gen-Mai’s eyes narrowed, and her right foot began to tap at the floor. Perhaps my acquiescence had been too quick.


  “You’re in a good mood,” she said. “What’s going on?”


  To share, or not to share? Sharing implies some limited amount of reciprocity, and she was the only one who had met Alan. “Progress, of sorts, on a personal project,” I said.


  “Is that why all your system e-mails had emoticons all over them?” she asked.


  They did? “Um. I didn’t notice. Sorry. Won’t happen again.”


  “You’ve got a crush on someone. Who is it?”


  The tone of her words made me re-think this disclosure business; I wouldn’t put it past the Bitch Queen to cut off IRC access. Or worse, make Alan and me use Microsoft Project to map out our hypothetical relationship so she could arrange her work packages accordingly. “Don’t worry about it,” I said. “Not a big deal.”


  There was silence as we walked up the stairwell, but by the time we got to the top, the curiosity was too much to bear.


  “Um. Do you know when Alan will be coming into Toronto?”


  “Alan?” she asked, “You’re getting goofy over Alan?”


  Shit. “Never mind.”


  “This has been going on over IRC?”


  “Um….”


  “That’s it. Starting tomorrow—”


  “None of your business. None. Understand? Do you want those specs or not?”


  I watched her struggle to choose between work and micromanagement. It looked quite painful. Work won, of course, as I knew it would—she stopped spluttering and started on the purchase order as if the whole Alan-and-Me data had never been transmitted.


  Close call.
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  From: Gen-Mai Taur <ceo@electrickindren.com>


  Date: Mon, Aug 06, 2012 at 14:01 PM


  Subject: You two


  To: alan@electrickindren.com


  Cc: m.penn@electrickindren.com


   


  Alan,


  I’m cc’ing Mordred on this e-mail as per Protocol. You and Mordred have used over twenty hours of company time to chat over IRC. I have to formally ask you to submit a breakdown of the time spent.


  Kind regards,


  Gen-Mai Taur


   


  ----------


  Gen-Mai Taur


  CEO
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  From: <cto@electrickindren.com>


  Date: Mon, Aug 06, 2012 at 14:04 PM


  Subject: Re: You two


  To: ceo@electrickindren.com


   


  Dear Gen-Mai,


  The majority of the chats have taken place before the start of the workday, or during lunch hour. Furthermore, the ratio of time spent on work versus the time spent on interpersonal development is perfectly acceptable, and well within company guidelines.


  No other justification or breakdown will be forthcoming, from myself or Mordred.


  -Alan
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  From: M Penn <m.penn@electrickindren.com>


  Date: Mon, Aug 06, 2012 at 15:09 PM


  Subject: Re: You two


  To: ceo@electrickindren.com


   


  Dear Gen-Mai


  Kindly fuck off.


  Sincerely,


  Mordred
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  SQUIRMING on the green beanbag I had chosen, I was just about to settle down with a textbook at 19:15 when I heard the tell-tale click-clack upstairs indicating Gen-Mai’s descent to the first floor. My shoulders relaxed; she would just head to the kitchenette for coffee and then upstairs again.


  But lo! The click-clack was coming closer! I wished for a discreet all-alert alarm, as they have in banks, so I could warn the hapless souls in the adjacent rooms.


  “Mordred.”


  I nodded to her, as if our simultaneous presence in the basement was normal. “Boss.”


  “Get to work.”


  “Alan gave me a task. I’m reading up on it.”


  She moved past me, toward the door to Cubicle Land. That should have been that, but then she paused.


  “Alan knows,” she said. “Use the MacBook the next time you talk to him.” Then she just walked away, far too quickly, right into earshot of Ramasundarm and the others.


  What does Alan know? I put down my reading. There were three pieces of information that could be problematic. Discovery of Magic could only help my case; Alan was no devout. The other two….


   


  GATHERING my courage, I walked up the two flights of steps to the conference room.


  The MacBook was sitting on its customary spot on the table. With a gentle swipe of my index finger, I woke it up.


   


  <Guest> Hello Alan


  <@alan> Good afternoon Mordred. *the* Mordred, I assume?


   


  She told him. To punish me?


   


  <Guest> Yes. Patricide. Regicide. Necromancer. Sorry.


   


  The rest of it—transcript, CV, everything—was easily extrapolated.


   


  <@alan> Would you like to hear a joke? Gen-Mai has been very specific in telling me I am not allowed to bother her with jokes.


  <Guest> Alright


  <@alan> How many Mordreds does it take to change a lightbulb?


  <Guest> How many?


  <@alan> None. Why do you think he’s called the DARK Prince?


   


  I sat there blinking stupidly at my screen for a minute.


   


  <Guest> Message received Alan.


  <Guest> I’ll put the eyeliner and the Black Parade away now.


  <@alan> I’ve never listened to that album. Is it any good?


  <Guest> I wouldn’t know.


  <@alan> But you just said you’ll put it away.


  <Guest> Joke.


  <@alan> My apologies. Hur Hur Hur. And my apologies as well, for never letting on about the Magic—Gen-Mai made me sign a Non Disclosure Agreement. She insisted on a PGP signature.


  <Guest> Not to worry—she took a blood oath from me. I don’t trust her.


  <@alan> Why ever not?


  <Guest> She’s an *Inquisitor*


  <@alan> Everyone fears the Inquisition, very understandable. But any errors the poor sweeties made in the past were a fault of those that gave them instructions. There have been a number of reforms over the years. I would never have recommended Gen-Mai for this position otherwise.


  <Guest> *you* recommended Gen-Mai? Have you *met* the woman?


  <@alan> Yes I have. We had a very close association, at one point.


   


  Oh really?


   


  <Guest> Close how?


  <@alan> We worked together.


  <Guest> Ah. Are you an Inquisitor?


  * alan laughs


  <@alan> Not at all!


  <Guest> Oh. Good.


  <@alan> But would you trust me if I was?


  <Guest> You? Yes. But you don’t strike me as an Inquisition type


  <@alan> Not at all! But I do some part-time work for them.


   


  If The Incident happened again, even a part-time Inquisitor-affiliate would be moved to kill me. Good. It would probably hurt him very much, though. Bad.


   


  <Guest> Why would you work part-time?


   


  Both you and Ramasundarm said you had no use for money.


   


  <@alan> I have access to a number of very sophisticated robots to analyze, through the auspices of the SA.


  <Guest> The SA has robots? What else do they have? Gauss cannon? Hovercraft?


  <@alan> I’m not sure about hovercraft, but they do have helicopters. At least, I know Gen-Mai’s been in one. As to the robots, I’m rather surprised you weren’t aware—they’re manufactured by one of your people. The Japanese group.


  <Guest> *Kamigawa? * House Kamigawa!!?


  <@alan> Yes, that’s the one.


  <Guest> I didn’t know cyborgs were allowed on Earth. But they’re really just glorified sex-dolls, very limited modes of interaction—from what I hear. They wouldn’t pass the Turing Test.


  <@alan> More and more, I come to see the Imitation Game as being of limited use. At best it is a training tool for applications that are required to interact effectively with humans. At worst, it is a distraction from the search for true machine intelligence. The cyborgs, as you said. Even if you program them to interact realistically, if you take away their memories they exhibit an awareness level far, far below even that bacterial colony we were simulating.


  <Guest> I said that, remember? Souls can’t be programmed.


  <@alan> But the cyborgs—you’ve seen them before?


  <Guest> Heard rumours, mostly. Saw one, once, very briefly. It didn’t end well.


  <@alan> How so?


  <Guest> I mistook it for a person.


   


  Can a general call of “coffee’s ready” from downstairs be classified as a summons? I judge so; I never want to lie to Alan, ever. But the glare from the monitor was giving me a headache.


   


   


  <Guest> Emma’s calling me. Let’s continue in a few moments?


  <@alan> Of course.


   


  The coffee energized the Symbiot into doing its job; my hands stopped shaking.


   


  <Guest> Back.


  <@alan> Gen-Mai and I, and you, we’re all on the same side.


  <Guest> Maybe at our dayjobs. I’ll allow her that. She must have taken a very large risk, getting her hands on JCN’s code.


  <@alan> Larger than you know—it’s quite illegal, by the SA’s rules as well.


  <Guest> You were not averse to being underhanded like that?


  <@alan> I’ve been known to indulge in espionage related activities, I’ll have you know.


  <Guest> Aston martins, vodka martinis, femme fatales?


  <@alan> Bicycles, tea and intellectuals, I’m afraid.


  <Guest> Replace “tea” with “caffeinated beverage” and that’s two out of three. Remind me to buy a bicycle tomorrow.


  <@alan> You’re actually serious about this, aren’t you?


  <Guest> Deathly. In a no-pressure, let-us-see-what-happens sort of way?


  <@alan> Ah.


  <Guest> Does it bother you?


  <@alan> I don’t think it does, no. It should.


  <Guest> Why?


  <@alan> A conversation for another day, perhaps.


  <Guest> As you wish.


  <@alan> So tell me, why are you here? Working as a junior developer of all things.


  <Guest> A conversation for another day?


  <@alan> Of course. Shall we iterate some streptococcus?


  <Guest> Let’s shall.


  .


  .


  .


   


  I went as far as copying his IP address, opening up a browser window. The sick feeling in my gut informed me, rather pointedly, that it was not the right thing to do. In this game, stolen data was worse than no data at all. Trust had to be built, no matter how frustrated I was with the speed of things. Still, I almost did it. Almost.


   


  “HELLO cousin. Why aren’t you calling me back? Are you avoiding me? Have you found something more fun to do in your spare time? If not, would you like to do something, say, this Saturday? Call me back.”


   


  <m:-0)> So more on this life simulation business—have you tried anything more complex?


  <@alan> The computing requirements would be prohibitive. I’m still trying to get a good estimate of how much time it would take to raise the order of the simulation.


  <m:-0)> The P/NP thing again?


  <@alan> Oh, the problem is outside the P/NP classes entirely


  <m:-0)> That makes things difficult


  <@alan> Maybe not—we’ve already tackled the semiprime factorization issue, and that was outside as well


  <m:-0)> …


  <m:-0)> When, exactly, did “we” do this?


  <@alan> Oh, sorry, I forgot to tell you—two nights ago. I thought, why not, since Gen-Mai had already had me look at the issue, and one thing led to another…


  <m:-0)> And you factored semiprimes.


  <@alan> Well I proved that large semiprimes *can* be factored. The rest is implementation. Which I may have…


  <@alan> toyed with, yesterday.


  <m:-0)> Good gods. I can’t leave you alone for a single night without you going and undermining the foundations of civilization as we know it.


  <@alan> It’s really not all that bad—I’m not intending to *release* the work any time soon. I did think about giving it to Ramasundarm. It could save EK.


  <m:-0)> it would mean an end to secure communications.


  <@alan> Yes. Let’s just hold onto it till Quantum Encryption becomes more widespread.


  <m:-0)> Is your program secure? Or is it floating around the Intranet?


  <@alan> Um… how about you take a copy, put it onto some physical storage media and lock it away? Then I’ll delete all the others.


  <m:-0)> Except that the passcode to the one place I *could* lock it is “1337”


  <@alan> Better than nothing


  <m:-0)> Alright, give it to me. NOT through e-mail—just drop it into My Documents


  <@alan> Aren’t you being a little too paranoid? It’s in your folder, by the way.


  .


  .


  .


  <m:-0)> Saved. Now I’m off to find Ramasundarm to get him to change that combination.


  <@alan> Just curious, what will you change it to?


   


  Moment of truth, Mordred.


   


  <m:-0)> Same as all my other PINs. 7883. My favourite prime.


  <@alan> Ah.


  <m:-0)> Please, don’t “solve” any more problems while I’m gone?


  <@alan> Oh, not to worry, I’m letting my work on the warp drive question lapse till Lady Head is shipped


  CHAPTER THIRTEEN


  HOW BABY GREMLINS ARE MADE


   


  WEDNESDAY’S thoughtcrimes re-education called for us to report any problems that might affect Gertrude.


  Siu-Quing raised his hand.


  “Um,” he said, “suit-guy across street at streetcar stop? He is there since last week.”


  My world went cold.


  “One moment,” said Gen-Mai and left the room. The rest of us gathered at the window.


  The man folded up his newspaper and hightailed it the moment Gen-Mai started talking to him.


  Upon her return a few moments later, “CSIS,” she said. “They’re waiting to see if the CIA will make a move on the Russians on Canadian soil.”


  Siu-Quing’s eyebrows furrowed in confusion. “Why our spies not have a van?”


  “Budget cuts.”


  SVR, then the CIA, and now CSIS? This had to stop before any more acronyms joined the game and managed to discover Alan’s code. “When’s Gert… Ivanka going to be ready?” I asked.


  “Who knows?” asked Siu-Quing. “She full of junk code, maybe virus hiding there.”


  Ramasundarm sighed but said nothing, and Gen-Mai was silent as well.


  Shit.


  My prodding resulted in Gen-Mai’s carrying the meeting past lunch-hour by torturing both hardware and software people with spreadsheets. It was 14:21 by the time I finally returned to my computer.


  The screensaver jittered and dissolved as I touched the mouse, to reveal an unread e-mail from Alan.
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  From: <cto@electrickindren.com>


  Date: Wed, Aug 8, 2012 at 1:27 PM


  Subject: A quick question


  To: m.penn@electrickindren.com


   


  Dear Mordred,


  You missed our postprandial chat. I just had a question for you. Essentially, Magelore has a number of examples of inorganic artefacts—swords, mostly, for some reason—having souls of their own. Could you possibly clarify the mechanism for this?


  Sincerely,


  Alan
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  From: M Penn <m.penn@electrickindren.com>


  Date: Wed, Aug 8, 2012 at 1:29 PM


  Subject: Re: A quick question


  To: cto@electrickindren.com


   


  Dear Alan,


  Well, there’s the standard poltergeist items—lampshades and the like—that the dead manage to move. But there’s no soul in the object itself.


  Then, as you said, there are the cups and swords and crowns, “made out of fallen stars in the forges of Gods”. It’s a primitive way of saying “a really long time”—meteorites gather strangeness to themselves in their eternal ellipses through the black. Mountains have names.


  A Mage could ask for such things to be shared for a time, with something of man’s making. Still, it’s the souls of mountains and meteorites we’re talking about—handfuls of Cantor dust accumulated over geologic timeframes. I’m sorry.


  Yours,


  Mordred


  p.s. IRC after work?
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  AT EXACTLY 19:22 the power went out again. Gen-Mai was busy on the MacBook upstairs, so I doubt she even noticed. Ramasundarm had left at 16:28.


  The outage lasted only a few minutes, but when the lights came back on in the sub-basement, we were amazed to see Gabe wrapped around the UPS rack, mumbling nonsense at it.


  “Keep my babies alive” seemed to be the dominant mantra.


  “Now that’s dedication,” said Crazy-Eyes.


  “No, it’s a sign,” said Long-Hair. “I’m done.”


  That’s all it took to start the home-time exodus. I, on the other hand, would be meeting Alan online at 27:16.


  As the last of the hardware group left, I made my way to the library. There I found a vintage Batman comic in the magazine rack, dimmed the lights, and settled in to wait.


  A half hour passed. Then at 12:05, one of the last people I expected to see at work this late came down the stairs.


  Justin was sneaking—there really was no other word for it—sneaking into the basement, holding two small objects in his hand. The lights must have been too dim, because he didn’t notice me watching him do his cartoonish Pink Panther walk across the floor.


  With an extremely clumsy maneuver, he pulled the carpet up in one corner of the room, exposing the cement floor underneath. Then, to my surprise, he started drawing on the floor with a piece of chalk.


  He was sweating profusely by the time he was done.


  “Hello Justin,” I said quietly. “Whatcha doin’?”


  He jumped a good three feet in the air, the chalk flying to land square in the middle of a beanbag.


  “Just… goofing around,” he said, his sweat-soaked, trembling body giving the lie to his words. “Trying out some new art ideas, you know?”


  “Really? Because that looks like a Sigil.” I stood up, walked over to the drawing, and craned my neck to look at the writing on the edges, “A Demonic Sigil. And that,” I said, pointing to the glass vial in his left hand, “smells like animal blood. So you may want to tell me what you’re actually doing before I let the Securitates Arcanarum know you’re violating their latest injunction.”


  “You’re a Mage?” he asked. I judged that to be a rhetorical question as he hung his head in resignation. “Of course you’re a Mage. And the SA headquarters is probably a block away, isn’t it?”


  “No, it’s on Bathurst,” I said. “But there is an Inquisitor working not two floors above you right now.”


  “Ge… Gen-Mai?”


  “That’s the one.”


  “Oh gods. I’m dead. I’m so dead.”


  “What the hell were you doing?” I asked. “Apart from the obvious.”


  “Trying to debug my machine,” he said.


  “With a Demon?”


  “An angel,” he said. “Um. It seemed like the fastest way? Gen-Mai said she’d fire me if I didn’t get things under control by the end of the week. And Gabe just laughs at me.”


  “Just… I don’t know what to say.” On one hand, he was trying to get an “angel” to correct his registry errors, which deserved a good beating. On the other hand, well, Gen-Mai.


  “Please, please, please, don’t tell her.”


  “I’m sorry,” I said, “them’s the rules. But she doesn’t need to know how far you got. So let’s get this cleaned up before she sees it.” He just stood there, looking terrified. I was certainly not going to go down on my hands and knees to deal with this mess. “I’m going back to my cubicle,” I said. “Clean it.”


   


  * m:-0 (~m.penn@electrickindren.com) has joined pvt


  * Now talking in pvt


  <@m:-0> Hi


  <@alan> good evening!


  .


  .


  .


  <@alan> Something’s weighing on your mind. I’ve never known you to be so quiet.


  <@m:-0> I’m…


  <@m:-0> having a moral dilemma.


  <@alan> Those are never good. Would you care to tell me?


  <@m:-0> In confidence?


  <@alan> Of course.


  <@m:-0> Justin—the boy’s a Mage.


  <@alan> That’s rather surprising, to say the least. Go on.


  <@m:-0> He tried to summon a Demon just now. Or an angel. Maybe. Either way, he was summoning.


  <@alan> Oh dear. That’s very, very bad news. In the office?


  <@m:-0> Yes—but I stopped him.


  <@alan> Good.


  <@m:-0> But I’m debating whether to tell a certain Inquisitor of our mutual acquaintance.


  <@alan> Telling Gen-Mai would serve you the best, I believe.


  <@m:-0> There’s a certain deadness about her eyes sometimes.


  <@alan> That’s rather unfair, dear Mordred.


  <@m:-0> Kettle, pot, black?


  <@alan> No, not at all! But you can trust Gen-Mai. I have worked very closely with her for some time now. I can guarantee you that she means no harm. Do you consider my judgment reliable?


  <@m:-0> Yes, of course.


  <@alan> Then trust Gen-Mai.


  <@m:-0> Trust Gen-Mai. If you say so.


  <@alan> I do.


   


  [image: img4.png]


  From: M Penn <m.penn@electrickindren.com>


  Date: Wed, Aug 08, 2012 at 7:42 PM


  Subject: Demons


  To: ceo@electrickindren.com


   


  Gen-Mai,


  We’ve got a problem. Remember how you threatened to fire Justin again yesterday? He’s a Mage, and wanted to save his job. And remember how you said there’s an Injunction against summoning demons? He tried to violate it yesterday. TRIED—I stopped him before he got anywhere. He’s never done it before, will never do it again, etc. etc.


  Just letting you know.


  Sincerely,


  Mordred
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  THE very next morning, Gabe came into Cubicle Land at 17:22 and refused to leave.


  “Manager types visiting Gen-Mai,” he explained, shuddering.


  Manager types? The hair on the back of my neck rose. Without a word—Gabe wouldn’t care about the abruptness of my departure—I raced upstairs.


  Too late. Far too late. The “visitors” were gone and Justin with them. But Gen-Mai had been here just a moment ago; I could still smell the Dior.


  Walking into her office without permission was a no-no. She looked away from her iPad, disapproval writ large on her face, which changed to wariness as I carefully closed the door behind me.


  “Mord—”


  “You arrested him?” I hissed.


  “You’re overreacting,” she said.


  “For a harmless, unsuccessful summoning, you set the Inquisition on him. And I gave him to you, more fool me.”


  “Addiction counsellors, not Inquisitors,” she said. “We know he’s harmless now. We’d like for him to stay that way. They’re just going to scare him a little.”


  “Just one or two fingernails?”


  “That’s completely illegal,” she replied, then added, “If you are so very concerned, you can go spot him. Friends and Family are encouraged to observe and participate in the Step 1 process.”


  Step 1? Process? Friends and Family? What manner of tomfoolery was this? “Very well,” I said. “Make it so.”


  “What am I, your maid? Make it so yourself—the forms are on the website. But you’ll have to make up the work hours.”


  Bitch.


   


  MY ARRIVAL in Little Italy would have been timelier had the PDF reader not decided to freeze in fear of thirteen-page Inquisitorial forms. As it was, the sky was growing dark by the time I reached the SA Station.


  A secretary ushered me into a classroom-style hall on the building’s second floor. A large screen was displaying a PowerPoint slide, and a man stood in front of it with a laser pointer.


  “… and once the seizures start, it’s too late. This is where you’re going to end up.” The slide changed. Image after ghastly image of eyeless men and women slid across the screen.


  Taking advantage of the riveted attention the audience was giving the presentation, I slipped into the room. There was Justin, sitting near the back, looking at me in absolute surprise. By chance, the seat behind him was empty.


  The distance between the seats made whispering difficult. I did it anyway.


  “I’m sorry—it’s my fault you’re here. If you want to make a run for it, I’ll cover your back.”


  “Just an info session,” he whispered back. “But thanks, bro.”


  He was far too calm. “What did they do to you?” I demanded.


  “Interrogation,” he said. “I got a cookie after that, but this lecture sucks.”


  “Interrogation?” They had no right!


  Justin gave me a puzzled look. “Dude, you okay? It was a multiple choice quiz.”


  With a sigh, I gave up. The boy obviously didn’t want saving. But I was on the lookout. One false move from an Inquisitor….


   


  THE group of “at-risk youth and their families” were ushered into a waiting room after the PowerPoint presentation, to wait for a tour guide through the Demon Addiction facility.


  Hard plastic chairs, the kind I would have disdained for my home even in the days before the EK job, were lined up against opposite walls. Motivational posters—“Success” and “Control” and “Happiness”—were mounted over our heads. Where was a black marker when you needed one? No, Mordred, you’re here as “Friends and Family”—aka the responsible ones. No de-motivating the motivationals.


  “And this is The Deathtrap Souleater.” A young boy, about twelve, was talking to Justin. My colleague was demonstrating rather too avid an interest in the cards proffered by the child. “It generates one +1 +1 Death Trap every turn,” said the boy. “But it costs like twelve souls of the unborn to cast, and you can have only two in the deck, so if you get it like midgame, you can win, but—”


  “I’m sorry, we can’t have two at-risk youth sitting next to each other,” said an Inquisitor, walking up to us. She was one of the tiniest people I have ever seen, about four-and-a-half feet tall and about sixty years old. The pistol at her side—what would happen to her if she fired it? Nevertheless, Justin and the young boy shut up immediately. “Your Highness,” said the Inquisitor, turning to me, “could you please switch seats?”


  “Your Highness?” whispered Justin as we got up to comply.


  “She’s being sarcastic,” I said, careful to keep my voice low.


  “Hey, I have a Highness card,” said the child. Obviously, he didn’t care who his audience was, as long as he had one. He started thumbing through the deck in his hand. “See, look! His Highness the Demon Prince of Mangala. Costs six goats, six souls of the unborn, and six copper Vessels to cast. It’s a silver—uncommon. See?” The card was proffered.


  I reached out and held it gingerly between thumb and forefinger. “Isn’t this—Demon cards—why you’re here?” I asked, taking in the bizarre creature inked onto the cardboard, meaningless Sigils dancing around its edges.


  “They’re just cards,” the boy said. “But my mom tried to throw them away!”


  His mother leaned over from the other side. “My son here says they’re worth money.”


  “They’re an investment,” the boy said. “Do you know how much a first edition mint condition foil Unpronounceable Demonling goes for?”


  The mother rolled her eyes at me. Trying to humor the child, “What is an Unpronounceable Demonling?” I asked.


  “Only the rarest card ever!” the boy said. “It costs a thousand unborn souls. So you need an Enslaved Mage even to get one out!”


  Enslaved Mage? I could see why the mother was worried—it was a very distressing concept. Smiling sympathetically at her, I handed the card back to the child and pretended interest in “Obstacles” directly across the room from me.


   


  AT 10:24 we were led to a corridor, one-way glass making up the right-hand side wall. The room on the other side of the glass was large, painted an industrial green.


  Three Mages, dressed in identical striped pajamas and gray slippers sat around a table, fists wrapped around crayons, scribbling furiously on a sheet of paper. A minute or two of scribbling, and then one would crumple up the sheet and toss it behind him. Then the second would do the same, then the third. We watched for a few minutes. It went on and on and on.


  “This is where we evaluate and monitor our patients,” said the Inquisitor. Patients, criminals, no difference between the two, her tone suggested.


  “What are they doing?” asked the Mage I had sympathized with earlier, her arms wrapped around her son.


  “Computing Magic squares,” said the Inquisitor. “We try to keep them supplied with paper, otherwise they start writing on the walls, on the floor, anything. Once the connection with the Demon snaps—”


  “That’s not going to happen to my son, is it?” whispered the Mage.


  “Not if he’s not addicted,” said the Inquisitor.


  “What’s a Magic square?” asked Justin.


  “A puzzle,” I replied. “A grid of numbers. All the horizontals and verticals and diagonals have to add up to the same number.”


  The Inquisitor turned to look at me. “You’re familiar with Demon lore?” she asked. I shook my head no. “They don’t eat, don’t sleep,” she said, giving Justin a pointed look. “Don’t do anything but write out the same square, over and over again. They think it’ll bring the Demon back.”


  I took stock of his reaction. Horrified, like the others. Good. Suddenly, one of the Mages got up and walked up to the glass window. His eyes were filmed over with cataracts, a Sigil I had learned to recognize as “Demonic” branded into his forehead. Not an actor, then. He couldn’t see us, of course, but everyone stepped back, the mother drawing her son away and pulling him behind her.


  The Demonologist raised his crayon—roadside pylon orange—and started drawing a grid, five squares to a side, directly on the glass.


  The Inquisitor sighed. “Sometimes the paper’s not enough,” she said. The Demonologist was filling in the square now, starting with the numeral “1” in the center top box.


  Then, suddenly, the three Demonologists in the room started thumping their fists down—two on the tabletop, one on the glass panel. Thud. Thud. Thud.


  The Inquisitor reached for the radio strapped to her belt, raising it to her mouth. “Station 3, we have a Code Purple. Code Purple, Station 3,” she spoke into the radio. Then, to us, “They do this sometimes. We don’t know why. But it’s best that we keep moving.”


  The line of people started shuffling down the corridor, pressed against the wall away from the window. The Demonologist finished his square and started writing words across the glass in clumsy capital letters. The letters were reversed, the words backward. He knew we were here.


  HELLO WORLD


  Then the other two Demonologists joined the first at the window. They, too, started writing words.


  TOO LATE


  ONE OF US


  “Move along people,” said the Inquisitor. Nobody was going to argue with that.


  HE’S ALREADY HERE


  The line moved faster.


   


  OUT in the waiting room again, the Inquisitor was handing out anti-Demon propaganda. Justin, along with the other children, got a lollipop and a picture-book—Demons Live Between Four and Six. I, as “Friend and/or Family,” became the proud owner of not one, but two glossy brochures.


  Snorting, I turned to Justin. “I judge you’re not going to try any more summoning?” Wordlessly, he shook his head, his pupils mere pinpoints of black.


   


  DEMONOLOGY AND DEMON ADDICTION


   


  
    	Demon Addiction and Demonology are due to many interconnected factors, including your social environment and your emotional health. Not all Demonologists become full-blown Demon Addicts (Babylonian Mages), but it is a big risk factor. Sometimes Demon Addiction develops suddenly in response to a stressful change, such as a breakup, retirement, or another loss. Other times, it gradually creeps up on you as your dependence on Demons increases.

  


   


  COMMON SIGNS AND SYMPTOMS OF DEMONOLOGY INCLUDE:


   


  
    	Using Demons in situations where it’s unnecessary, i.e. to clear traffic during morning commutes, helping with day-to-day chores and homework


    	Repeat encounters with the Securitates Arcanarum on account of your Demon Summoning


    	Continuing to summon even though your Demon use is causing problems in your relationships

  


   


  OBSESSION WITH A PERSONAL DEMON: THE ONLY WARNING SIGN


   


  
    	Do you feel a proprietary relationship with one specific Demon and believe that Demon honors you above all other Mages?


    	Do you make contact with that specific Demon within one hour of waking up?


    	Do you spend the majority of any day thinking about the next time you will be in contact with “your” Demon?


    	Do you obey “your” Demon’s suggestions as commands?


    	Do you repeatedly neglect friends and family members in order to remain in contact with “your” Demon?


    	Do you have anger management issues when confronted with the thought of losing “your” Demon?


    	If you, or a loved one, are experiencing any of the above symptoms, please seek help! There is still time.

  


   


  THE FINAL AND IRREVERSIBLE STEP OF BABYLONIAN MAGEHOOD


   


  
    	Insomnia and headaches


    	Confusion, hallucinations, seizures


    	Episodes of uncontrollable rage and violence, leading to spousal and child abuse in some instances


    	If you are at this stage, please seek help from an Inquisitor now! The SA offers a number of coping strategies to help Mages and their families deal with the impending tragedy.

  


  CHAPTER FOURTEEN


  THIS IS NO IDLE BROMANCE


   


  THE day had to begin with a whispered “lesson” regarding a certain developer’s mistaken assumptions about Magic. Sixteen minutes into the conversation, it was taking all of my willpower to keep from rolling my eyes.


  “… and happy! That’s exactly why you need Demons to do Magic,” Justin was saying authoritatively.


  “No,” I said, “otherwise the only Mages we have would be Demonologists.”


  “All Mages are Demonologists. They just don’t know it.”


  Sweet darkness. I don’t have the patience to argue Magical theory with a thirty-year-old dabbler. Not at 11:14, with only one espresso in my system.


  “Whatever,” I said. “Just don’t start summoning things in here. Gen-Mai will murder you. Then make your cold, dead corpse clean everything up.” And make me help, for my sin of comradely concern.


  “She’s totally over the top,” said Justin. Had he forgotten his brush with the Law last week? “I mean, we’ve been summoning Demons for thousands of years? Why is it suddenly so dangerous?”


  “Did you and I see the same thing,” I asked, “or was I hallucinating the batshit crazy Mages?”


  “Ummm….”


  And just then, a soft ping announced that Alan was online.


  “Look, let’s talk about this later. I gotta get to work before the Bitch comes in.”


  “Sure,” he said.


   


  * alan (~m.penn@electrickindren.com) has joined RandomSportsCommentary


  *** Mode change “+o alan” for channel RandomSportsCommentary by @m:-0


  <@alan> Again, interesting channel name.


  <@m:-0> Sorry, I’m a bit braindead at the moment


  <@alan> Was the coffee machine broken?


  <@m:-0> The machine’s fine, thank Shiva. No, I just spent half an hour trying to explain basic Magical principals to a wannabe Demonologist.


  <@alan> Did it work?


  <@m:-0> What do you think?


  <@alan> I think it would have been a *good* morning if the explanation had been understood.


  <@m:-0> Bingo.


   


  That was about all I was able to type before my first premeeting alarm sounded and I had to start gathering everyone’s notes. Only eight people on the rack today—passages from Milton’s “Paradise Lost” would be appropriate for such a configuration.


   


  JUSTIN caught me at my desk afterward.


  “But dude, seriously, thanks for coming in there after me yesterday,” he said, then punched me in the arm. “We got each other’s backs, huh?”


  “Something like that,” I murmured.


  “If you need anything, ever, just ask, ’k?”


  “Will do.”


  “Awesome. And maybe we can like… cast a spell together over beers sometime.”


  Sweet gods of darkness, what have I been reduced to? A twenty-something human thinks he can “cast spells over beers” with me?


  Justin, oblivious to my reaction, smirked, “We could conjure up some hot chicks.”


  “Getting takeout from KFC might be quicker,” I said.


  “LOL!” He actually said the acronym out loud. “Too funny.”


  “I have to check code for syntax errors,” I said. It was the first thing I could think of. Which, of course, meant that I would have to pull up the compiler and actually debug some code.


  “Cool,” said Justin, and wandered over to Josephine’s cubicle. Yes, go irritate someone else.


   


  * m:-0) (~m.penn@electrickindren.com) has joined RandomSportsCommentary


  <@alan> any improvement in Justin’s outlook?


  <m:-0)> Maybe. I think he still wants to summon demons in the basement to do his debugging for him


  <@alan> You’ve put a stop to it for now I hope


  <m:-0)> More like the Fear of Gen-Mai has put a stop to it. She might have to make a personal appearance to make it stick.


  <@alan> I never thought of her as particularly frightening


  <m:-0)> Because you are the only one she doesn’t threaten with bodily harm


  <@alan> She is *violent* towards you?


  <m:-0)> It’s more of a *promise* of violence.


  <@alan> Oh dear


  <m:-0)> Yeah—enjoy your immunity while you can


  <@alan> Perhaps I could ask her to tone the aggression down a notch


  <m:-0)> I think asking her to do that would be about as effective as asking a demonologist not to stick a screwdriver into a power socket


  <@alan> Gen-Mai says they have a reputation for being extraordinarily thick


  <m:-0)> And puerile. Here’s a joke for you: A demonologist goes to the doctor’s office with some unspecified malady. The doctor says they’re going to need a blood, urine, saliva, feces and semen sample. The demonologist asks, “so should I just drop off my ritual robes then?”


  <@alan> That is very funny. Even though I’m cringing inside.


   


  Thank you, geezer-class Mages.


   


   


  <m:-0)> I have others…


  <@alan> Do tell


  .


  .


  .


   


  It was 12:17 when I realized I hadn’t actually done any work, no matter how industrious my typing looked like to others. And I could hear Gen-Mai coming down the corridor.


   


  <m:-0)> Shit. Gen-Mai’s here. Got no work done. Gotta go.


  <@alan> Good luck. Talk to you during lunch?


  <m:-0)> Absolutely.


   


  The IM window was safely closed and the C compiler up on the screen by the time the Bitch Queen stood behind me.


  “Mordred,” she said. “How’s it going.”


  It was less of a question, more of an invitation to a military-style debriefing on my morning’s activities. Luckily, I was prepared. “There is a problem between keyboard and chair somewhere in this office,” I said.


  “Alan pinged me this morning about the argument you had with Justin.”


  Alan e-mailed her? While on IM with me? The man had superlative typing skills. “Yeah well,” I said, “arguments happen in the workplace.”


  “You deserve a raise,” she said. I looked up at her in surprise. “For stopping him from summoning who knows what into my office. Alan told me your joke about the ritual robes. Sadly true.”


  “Um. Thanks?” Alan told her the joke? I grabbed the little kernel of jealousy that had started to bud and stomped it into dust. After all, he told her I told him the joke. A man trying to impress someone wouldn’t bother to share credit for a laugh. Unless he was scrupulously honest, which I had no doubt Alan was. Goddamn circular logic.


  But then again, this was Gen-Mai we were talking about here. Quite apart from the fact that Alan had made it quite clear which team he was batting for, she would attack sex with a spreadsheet and a calorie counter strapped to her wrist.


  “Do me a favor,” she said, “don’t let Justin into the basement without frisking him for vials of bodily fluids.”


  “Sorry, someone else is going to have to handle that.”


  “I was hoping I could intimidate you into doing it.”


  “Not when Justin and ‘bodily fluids’ show up in the same sentence.”


  “That bad?” she asked.


  “Even Symbiot the Ever Hungry is revolted at the thought.”


  Sorry, my semisentient virus won’t allow it pretty much tops anything she can come up with.


  “So we’ll have to install security cameras,” she said. “Budget’s tight; something else will have to be cut.”


  As long as it wasn’t the coffee, I wouldn’t complain.


   


  LUNCH was two granola bars for Ramasundarm since Imp liked my boss. I got one granola bar and Alan.


   


  * m:-0) (~m.penn@electrickindren.com) has joined RandomSportsCommentary


  <m:-0)> Hello.


  <@alan> Oh good. You’re here. I have a joke for you as well.


  <m:-0)> I’d love to hear it


  <@alan> How many Demonologists does it take to screw in a lightbulb


  <m:-0)> I’m sure I have no idea. How many?


  <@alan> Seven. One to install the lightbulb and six to clean up the goat’s blood


  <m:-0)> ROFL. I haven’t heard that one before.


  <@alan> Thank you. I thought it up just after you left


  <m:-0)> Did you tell it to Gen-Mai?


  <@alan> No. I tell you my jokes first.


  <m:-0)> I’m honoured


  <@alan> Don’t be. Some of them are pretty terrible


  <m:-0)> You should let me be the judge of that


  <@alan> Very well. Ready?


  <m:-0)> Absolutely


  <@alan> What did Loki say to Tiger Woods?


  <m:-0)> What?


  .


  .


  .


   


  TOM called again on Friday night and twice on Saturday. He finally left a voice mail on Sunday.


  “Hello cousin. I don’t know what’s gotten into you, but Nat and I are doing this thing on Tuesday. Why don’t you come along? Bring your new friend—”


  “Message Deleted. To check unheard messages, press 1. To change your personal op—”


   


  * m:-0 (~m.penn@electrickindren.com) has joined HabsFTW2013


  <m:-0)> Hello again. Fancy meeting you here.


  <@alan> Yes indeed.


  <m:-0)> You sound down. How was your weekend?


  <@alan> Average, at best. I’m rather flummoxed by this entire shape-twist process


  <m:-0)> Anything I can do to help?


  <@alan> Not yet, I’m afraid. I can hardly ask you to dig around inside my mind and present me with the solution I *know* must be lurking around there somewhere


  <m:-0)> It’s an interesting thought. How’s your telepathy?


  <@alan> Again, average at best


  <m:-0)> Pity.


  <@alan> Yes, well, I’ve been distracting myself by writing poems, and doing some rather terrible things to the Queen’s English while I’m at it


  <m:-0)> Can it be any worse than removing the “u” from colour?


  <@alan> I’m not quite sure. Would you like to see it?


   


  Feeling gloriously reckless, I did wait a moment or two before typing my response.


   


  <m:-0)> What, Alan, poetry *before* the first date?


  <@alan> I’m not quite sure how to respond to that. Is it innuendo?


  <m:-0)> No, an invitation. The correct response is, “How very impolite of me. Do you like [insert food item of choice here]? I know this wonderful place. Would you like to join me tonight? And perhaps some… poetry… for dessert?” The last bit was innuendo, by the way.


  <@alan> My apologies. Perhaps you would like to join me for some conversation today, after work?


  <m:-0)> Address? Time?


  <@alan> oirc.electrickindren.com pvt. How about seven?


  <m:-0)> Perfect. I can leave at six


  <@alan> Please send me a meeting request? It will block off my calendar.


  <m:-0)> Anti Gen-Mai measures shall be taken forthwith


   


  Twelve seconds in Outlook, and just like that, it was done. I have no idea what people keep complaining about—this whole workplace romance thing was extremely convenient.


  You would have us believe the Inquisitor was unaware she harboured a Demon in her network? You would have us believe she was unaware a Mage in her employ was being Enslaved?


   


  —R. Gabriel Vijayagopalan v. Securitates Arcanarum, 2132


  CHAPTER FIFTEEN


  TOXICOPHORE


   


  EIGHT long minutes since he signed off. The date had ended without mention of Electric Kindren, or work, passing over the ethereal connection between our fingertips, nor a single mention of what Alan looked like or where he lived or where he came from.


  And the guilt was maddening.
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  From: M Penn <m.penn@electrickindren.com>


  Date: Mon, Aug 13, 2012 at 11:56 PM


  Subject: A Confession


   


  Dear Alan,


  You’re going to rather annoyed at me for this, but I tried, and failed, to restrain my curiosity. I traced your IP, and it told me you were in Malaysia. Then Kiev. Then Stanford.


  I’m very sorry I tried to pry.


  Yours,


  Mordred
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  From: <cto@electrickindren.com>


  Date: Mon, Aug 13, 2012 at 11:59 PM


  Subject: Re: A Confession


   


  Dear Mordred,


  I was not, in fact, in Malaysia or Kiev or Stanford tonight. Nor was I unduly annoyed by your prying—it was rather expected, you see.


  Please bear with me a little longer. I regret the secrecy, and once things are more settled, perhaps it can come to an end.


  Truly,


  Alan
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  From: M Penn <m.penn@electrickindren.com>


  Date: Tue, Aug 14, 2012 at 00:05 AM


  Subject: Re: Re: A Confession


   


  Dear Alan,


  I’m very relieved by your response. While anything other than “Single” for your marital status would be deeply distressing, just so you know, I don’t particularly care if you are old or crippled or man or woman or green, with horns growing out of your head.


  Something to keep in mind for when you do decide to part the veil.


  Yours,


  Mordred
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  From: <cto@electrickindren.com>


  Date: Tue, Aug 14, 2012 at 00:18 AM


  Subject: Re: Re: Re: A Confession


   


  Thank you.


  p.s. Quite single.
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  TWELVE minutes past one; I was quite ready to fall asleep any time now, thank you, but the Symbiot danced in my bloodstream with the urgency of a thousand fireflies lighting off in deliberate discordance.


  Finally, I gave up.


  “Imp,” I whispered into the dark. For once, my familiar did not disdain my first call, dissolving out of parallel shadows the streetlights cast through the half-closed blinds. It cocked its head questioningly at me, its eyes glowing red in the darkness. “There’s a large white envelope in my desk—can you bring it? And my cell?” It squeaked assent and left the room.


  It took me a minute to open the envelope and another two to wade through the Petra corporate-speak to find the number I needed. I’d been making regular payments, so I might as well use the bastards.


  Flipping open my phone, I dialled.


  A voice answered on the first ring.


  “Good evening, and thank you for calling the Medical Services hotline. My name is Mirabel. How may I help you today?”


  Tempted to put on a Hungarian accent and say “I vant your blood,” I desisted—a call center employee was not an appropriate target for my wit.


  “I was given a brochure that said I should call this number in case of… difficulties.”


  “Of course, sir. Are you experiencing Symbiot hunger?”


  Good old Petra. “Yes. Are you aware…?”


  “Of course, sir. One moment, we’re localizing your call now. Please be assured, your call will be treated with complete confidentiality. Could you please hold for one moment while we get a specialist on the line?”


  The canned, on-hold polka tune had barely had time to start getting on my nerves before it was cut off by a brisk “Good evening, sir, I’m Dr. Moyen.”


  “Good evening, Dr. Moyen.”


  “What seems to be the problem?”


  “Symbiot hunger,” I said.


  “Of course. It’s very natural, nothing to be afraid of.”


  “I’m quite aware of that.” My voice was dry. “Any suggestions?”


  “Have you tried consuming unprocessed meat products from questionable sources?”


  “No.”


  “Do you have any at hand?”


  A medical degree and this is the best he could come up with? “No, and I refuse to eat raw, infected hamburger. Or cooked infected hamburger, for that matter.”


  “What about harvesting favorable mutations from humans in your immediate neighborhood? You are in a high-population-density area. About one in two thousand should have the requisite gamma threshold to sate your Symbiot.”


  “Are you suggesting I bite someone?” Because that’s what ‘harvesting favorable mutations’ sounds like to me.


  “Absolutely not! Surely there are more… enjoyable… methods that genetic material can be obtained?”


  The telemarketer is suggesting I get laid. “Not an option.”


  “We can provide—”


  “No. Absolutely not.” Jesus, Petra.


  “I was about to say that we can provide highly mutable strains of gamma-negative bacteria you can cultivate in the comfort of your own home.”


  Nice save, Dr. Moyen. I know what you were suggesting you could “provide.” But the bacteria…. “That sounds reasonable. What kind of time frame are we looking at?”


  “Depends on what kind of budget you are working with.”


  Of course. “Dirt poor?”


  “The Economy package starts at sixteen hundred US dollars. It comes with a starter culture kit and slurry bath.”


  And a solid gold stir stick? “Sixteen hundred is about fifteen hundred outside my budget, I’m afraid.”


  “Then perhaps a slight lowering of your standards might be in order.”


  “Yes, and why don’t I use my father’s sword as a coatrack while I’m at it.”


  There was silence on the other end.


  Finally, Dr. Moyen spoke. “Sir, may I please inquire as to the differentiation level of your Symbiot?”


  My mouth needs to learn to keep shut when it’s irritated. “Differentiation undetectable, Dr. Moyen. Do you have anything I would consider more palatable than biting a random Torontonian? Because that’s looking to be my top option right now.”


  “There is a sludge-pit in the North York area. Would your Highness consider that acceptable?”


  “Do you suggest eating foot-and-mouth diseased raw cow before you get around to informing your callers that there is a goddamn Deathless restaurant in their city?” Or was it a way to get people to buy the “bacteria-in-a-bag” kit?


  “I apologize for the offense, my Lord, but the sludge-pit has a very low differentiation clientele. It is hard to find, and in our experience, we find that meat consumption is the easiest method of mutation delivery for the average Deathless.”


  What you mean, Dr. Moyen, is that the sludge-pit is a snob club for the children of Deathless nobility, no proles allowed. My mouth twisted in a wry smile. Necessity makes hypocrites of us all.


  “Give me the address.”


  “Immediately, my Lord.”


   


  DR. MOYEN’S directions led me to an abandoned strip mall on the border with Mississauga. Of course, having the address and actually finding the pit were two different things entirely.


  If I were a sludge-pit, where would I set up shop? The condemned Walmart with its built-in lack of ventilation? Or the out-of-business Burger King, pools of congealed grease providing just the right ambiance for the degenerates of my kind?


  The Symbiot rose to meet me, the taste of charcoal and cloying sugar heavy on the back of my tongue. Look who woke up. Now you want to cooperate, you little fuck? All right, come on out.


  Pulsing green faded into view in the cracks of parking-lot asphalt as the virus began to recognize all its own variants. A lot of contamination—at least a dozen Deathless had passed this way recently.


  All the green-filled cracks ran toward the Burger King and stopped at a metal door at the back of the building.


  Looking around for curious passers-by, of which there were none, I slipped inside.


   


  A BLAST of warm air and subdued music washed over me, leaking through yet another door a short distance down an otherwise featureless corridor.


  Illuminated by the EXIT sign blinking on and off above this new door, there stood a short man dressed in the thuggish black-jeans-and-shirt combination favored by bouncers everywhere.


  As seconds passed and he said nothing, I got a little confused. Was it an effort at intimidation? I cleared my throat and raised an eyebrow at him.


  “Password,” he whispered, not meeting my eyes.


  “Password? For a Deathless sludge-pit? Are you serious?”


  Was that a blush? “Sorry. Not my rules. Some of the patrons wanted a password….” He trailed off.


  “Is it Swordfish?” I asked, and then felt a little guilty—the bouncer obviously didn’t like this any more than I did.


  “Welcome,” he said and waved a keycard in front of the door. The red EXIT sign blinked green for a moment.


  Good gods of darkness, it was Swordfish. It’s always Swordfish. Shaking my head, I walked into the sludge-pit.


  Pit is a bit of a misnomer—a holdover from the days when we were limited to brewing mutant bacterial strains in dank underground chambers. Nowadays it’s all about Gothic revival and designer microfauna in crystal champagne flutes, at least back home. This place, modeled after a sushi bar, looked like it was built by someone who visited the Nightcity in the 1920s and never went back.


  By the subtle wrongness of the chef’s facial features, he was a member of House Yoten. In the right lighting, with an appropriate hockey jersey, he could have been mistaken for a particularly hirsute Canadian.


  “What’ll you be having tonight?” he asked as I took a seat at the bar. Only one other barstool was occupied, near the other end.


  “Whatever’s cheap,” I said. “Just something to quell the hunger.”


  Less than a minute later, three shots of a viscous green liquid were lined up in front of me.


  “Ignore the taste, just slam them down,” the Yoten instructed. “I put in something extra.”


  The Symbiot gathered in the saliva under my tongue, the tips of my fingers. The chef was waiting, a hopeful smile on his face. I nodded, relaxed my throat and just swallowed the shots down, one after another.


  In the next moment, all of my self-control was required to keep from vomiting. Breathe, Mordred. Breathe. The Symbiot won’t let you get poisoned. In fact, the Symbiot seemed to be enjoying itself and rewarded me for ingesting the satanic brew with a pleasant tingle reminiscent of alcohol intoxication. Still, it was a solid minute before I could speak again.


  “Something extra?” I gasped.


  “A nice kick, eh?” The hundred-watt smile was back.


  A kick in the balls. “It’s… very strong.”


  “Most of the others throw up after their first one,” he said, filling another shot glass. “On the house.”


  “Please, I couldn’t,” I said, reason battling with my thrice-damned semisentient virus.


  “No, no, please,” he said, “it’s very good. My wife makes it.”


  “Um… thank you?”


  To put off the moment of actual ingestion, I looked around the pit as if interested in my surroundings.


  The man sharing the bar with me was a scion of House Kamigawa, intent on his own drink. In the dining area, the only clients were a group of Deathless sharing a large platter of sushi.


  They were very young, evidenced by the giggles and gasps each time one of them ate a piece of raw fish. There were two girls in the group, and both of them had words—AK-47, Imunovir, Donald Trump, Penicillin, and variants thereof—tattooed on every exposed piece of skin. Full-blown teenage rebellion, gods help their parents.


  I was about to bite the bullet when the air was pierced by a shriek from the table behind us. Turning around, I saw large, yellow-veined fins slowly growing out of one of the kids’ arms. The rest were laughing at the discomfort on their friend’s face.


  “Thrill seekers,” said the Yoten Chef. “I don’t think they’re exiles.”


  “They should be,” I muttered. “Those tattoos are a crime against good taste.”


  The Yoten laughed, then turned to the wired rotary phone behind the bar as it started ringing.


  “Hello, Authentic Asian Drinking Establishment,” he said. He listened for a moment, then covered the mouthpiece. “Um, my Lord,” he said to me, “it’s for you.”


  For me? At 26:06 at night? Could be House Petra, wanting to sell me a shipment of bird-flu chicken wings.


  I took the phone. “Mordred.”


  “What are you doing in a bar?”


  “Gen-Mai?” Did Justin burn Electric Kindren to the ground? Did something happen to Alan?


  “It’s two a.m., and your cellphone is off, so I can’t call you with a meeting reminder.”


  “Sorry about that. I’ll turn it on as soon as I get out of here.”


  “We have a meeting at eight. You’d better be alert, Mordred.”


  “Yes, Field Marshall,” I said.


  “Not funny,” she said and hung up on me.


  “My apologies, honored Yoten,” I said, “but I have to leave now. How much?”


  “Wife?”


  “Thank the gods, no. My boss.”


  Now he looked sympathetic. “That’ll be ten-fifty,” he said as he placed a handwritten bill in front of me.


  Dropping three fives on the table, “Keep the change,” I said and downed the last shot.
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  From: Gen-Mai Taur <ceo@electrickindren.com>


  Date: Wed, Aug 15, 2012 at 7:01 AM


  Subject: Status Meeting Cancelled


  To: all@electrickindren.com


   


  All,


  Due to some unforeseen circumstances, I’m going to be late coming in today. The status meeting is cancelled.


  Gen-Mai Taur


   


  ----------


  Gen-Mai Taur


  CEO
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  From: Gen-Mai Taur <GMT@arcanarum.com>


  Date: Wed, Aug 15, 2012 at 18:27 SPT


  Subject: Some Work


  To: m.penn@electrickindren.com


   


  Mordred,


  I need your help. Please print out twenty copies of the attachment. We need to distribute them, I’ll tell you how when I get in. Log the printer usage as “personal”—you’re still within your twenty-five page/month quota.


  -Captain Gen-Mai Taur


   


  From: Cynthia Rainer <HI@arcanarum.com>


  Date: Tue, Aug 14, 2012 at 11:05 SPT


  Subject: Notification of impending Injunction [preview]


  To: users_SA-NA@arcanarum.com


   


  To all Securitates Arcanarum Inquisitors


  Upon extensive consultation with the Committee for Demonic Affairs, The Office of the High Inquisitor has decided to criminalize Demonology, and the possession of any Demon Vessels. All appropriate measures will be taken to combat this threat.


  Please circulate the attached flyer within your Unit, and stand by for further instructions.


  -Cynthia Rainer


   


  _________


  -----BEGIN PGP SIGNATURE-----


  Version: 2.8.4d


  Charset: noconv


  Dicqlmz1zzsxvn&~wrt|zy{)obqggitr*|hz%im8Y.vs+y#z),upodpmzzxqrA\q}t+x{s%'j~ouigv1|uzkqovsqpz"pn&C_vsgfn{ytqpz5f|%tfrm}|ipxvsw.Upykn|r&v~vtqt6m,lxtvxvxfsjiky6Nwuf$*wh$u'mz~{lu"yibvh3I$}~srxzdyx-}u|~&p)wfmn1Sw'wnlw$|j&ywpor+{l~l


  -----END PGP SIGNATURE-----


  _________


  -----BEGIN PGP SIGNATURE-----


  Version: 2.8.4d


  Charset: noconv


  KBFWAJGBOTYOZDEFJVDYTLLMYUQIPFPNHTYMJJVQYKOEWMTSGKBNLTWOVQF


  -----END PGP SIGNATURE-----
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  When did I become your Inquisitorial assistant, Bitch Queen? When I started babysitting Justin, probably. And there was no point to argument—to this day, Siu-Quing was signing off his e-mails with “Database Development and Russian Linguistics.”


  A quick check of the print queue told me the only printer free was the one in the sub-basement as Curtis was printing the autobiography of Nathan Fillion on all the others. Since 12:21 last night. The seeds of subtle rebellion had found fertile ground in the heart of our web developer.


  As 20:06 came and went without a status meeting, my fingers hovered over the IRC icon for a moment before resolutely moving to Gen-Mai’s PDF. Question was, would she be on time?


  Yes, she was. The front door opened precisely at 02:28, and the click-clack headed upstairs to the second floor. Leaving my cubicle, I headed upstairs to grab my printout and have words with my erstwhile Romulan slaver of a boss.


  Gabe met me halfway up the stairs, a stack of paper in his hand. A vague unease stirred in my gut.


  “Gabe.”


  “Dude, did you send these to the printer?” he asked, holding out the papers to me. The seal of the Securitates Arcanarum on the pages might as well be glowing neon orange for the amount of attention it drew. If I denied it, it would take about two seconds with the print logs to figure out I was lying.


  “Sorry, yes.”


  “You some kind of LARPer?” asked Gabe.


  “Yes,” I replied, wondering what I had just admitted to.


  “Dude! Me too! Can I play with you?”


  “Um. You’ll have to ask Gen-Mai.” Safe response. I’ll drag her down into the mud with me if I have to.


  “Gen-Mai is a LARPer? What does she play?”


  A harp made from the desiccated bones of her employees’ hopes and dreams? “What do you think she plays?”


  “A tricky question, Mr. Mage. Depends on what system you guys follow. Standard d20?” What the hell is he talking about?


  “Yup.”


  “Troll berserker?”


  “Close,” I answered.


  “Troll rogue?”


  “Getting closer,” I said as I started to edge around Gabe. “Tell you what. Make a list of what you think she could play, and I’ll tell you if you’re right.” One step closer to officially assuming the “Lord of the Bullshit” title.


  “Sure thing, dude!”


   


  ENTERING Gen-Mai’s customary second floor office, “What’s LARP?” I asked. It wasn’t the most pertinent question but the first one that came to mind.


  “Where did you hear that word?” she asked. “It’s a dirty thing.”


  “Well, I just told Gabe that you and I were LARPing.”


  “Why on earth would you do something like that?”


  “It was either that or have a conversation about the Securitates Arcanarum. Which reminds me—this is what you wanted?” I thrust the papers toward her. “What is it?”


  She glanced down.


  “It’s exactly what it says. We’re going to start conducting block-by-block searches for Demonic Containers—Vessels—tomorrow.”


  “And why did you want me to print it?” I asked.


  “I’m over my personal printout quota this month,” she said.


  “Woman, you’re the CEO! Why would—”


  “Standards have to be applied equally. My code doesn’t permit otherwise.”


  That code of hers again. It sounded far less flexible than I had expected of Inquisitors. I asked the next question on my list. “How are you going to rustle up enough people to do a block-by-block search of a city the size of Toronto?”


  “Remote,” she replied. “We were running the pilot program this morning. There’s going to be shifts of scryers.”


  “Shifts of what now?” asked a new voice right behind me. “What kind of rulebook do you guys play out of?”


  “Gabe,” said Gen-Mai. “Didn’t your parents tell you it’s rude to eavesdrop?”


  “Sorry, honored adventurer,” he said. “I just wanted to let you know that I found out you LARP. Way cool.”


  Gen-Mai shot me a dirty look. “Thanks, Gabe. Just don’t tell the others.”


  “Oh, no worries. Some people hold opinions. You know.”


  “Don’t I just.”


  “All right, I’ll be off. Invite me to your next game!”


  Once he left, “Mordred,” began Gen-Mai, “what I want you to do—”


   


  “MORDRED, can you hear me?” Gen-Mai’s voice sounded green, with afterimages of blue and brown fanning around its edges. “How many fingers am I holding up?”


  The world swam back into focus. “You’re not holding up fingers, you’re holding pens. Three of them.” By the end of the sentence, my tongue didn’t feel quite so swollen.


  “He’ll live,” she said.


  Who was she talking to? I tried to turn my head, and pain lanced through my skull. Gabe. She was talking to the Sysadmin. He was kneeling, now, to take Gen-Mai’s place as she grabbed the MacBook off the table. Something deep inside me stirred. Anger? Panic? My thoughts scattered.


  “Dude, you should wear a bracelet. You scared me,” said Gabe.


  “Bracelet?” Was he just being strange again, or was I not thinking clearly? My last coffee had been ingested more than eighteen hours ago.


  He held up his wrist. A flat, metallic disc was held between the ends of a thin steel chain. A caduceus was stamped on the disc.


  “I need coffee,” I said. Then it hit me. I groaned. “Oh gods, Emma was right. I need to cut out the caffeine.” Now it was Gabe’s turn to look at me strangely. “Eighteen hours without coffee, and I pass out with a migraine? I’m an addict.”


  Gabe patted me on the back. “Mori,” he said, “you’re an epileptic.”


  What, with the Symbiot riding me for fifteen hundred years? I would have laughed, except my head hurt too much.


  “Water,” I said. With an effort of will, I levered myself off the floor. The walls were dancing, but I had work to do. “I’m going to drink water. Detox begins now.”


  On the plus side, Gen-Mai seemed to have forgotten about the Inquisition’s flyers.


  CHAPTER SIXTEEN


  HEISENBUG


   


  TUESDAY was a Dick Caramel day; I’d lost the fight with Emma over Dumas, despite the fact that plays are far easier to bulletize.


  At 19:02 I was crouched behind the printer, snatching off each sheet as it emerged from the feed, when the front buzzer sounded.


  How long does it take to print eighteen pages? Too long.


  “Mordred?” asked Gen-Mai, putting her iPad into her briefcase. “Why are you hiding behind the printer?”


  “I’m not hiding,” I said, my upper lip curling into a disdainful sneer. “There was a problem with the cable.”


  She unbuttoned her blazer and walked to the middle of the room, kicking a stuffed dinosaur aside. “Okay, print whatever it is later. I need you to go round up everyone in the basement—I know they’re here.”


  Slowly, I straightened. “Isn’t it just six people for the meeting?” Emma was running low on caffeine pills.


  Gen-Mai sat down on Gabe’s swivel chair and crossed her legs. “Gabe wants everyone,” she said.


  Downstairs was going to strangle our Sysadmin; had to keep an eye on Curtis, he was the only one who knew CPR.


   


  GEN-MAI gestured for Gabe to take Ramasundarm’s customary announcement step stool. Gabe cleared his throat, looking around the crowd of heads below him. He swallowed. Everyone gave him the time he needed to adjust to the vantage point.


  “Folks,” he began, then cleared his throat again, “we have a Heisenbug.”


  Was this the gibberish-glitch? Some people groaned. Others nodded their heads.


  “Heisenbug?” whispered Emma, leaning toward me. “He said virus!”


  “Heisenbug—it disappears every time you’re looking for it,” I whispered back.


  Gen-Mai raised her hand in the air.


  “Ye-yes, Gen-Mai?” stuttered Gabe.


  “You said it was a virus,” she said.


  “I thought so,” said Gabe, “but it’s not at all. It messes with a single computer, then as soon as we start looking for it, it’s gone. Poof. But it shows up in another computer somewhere on the network. A virus leaves behind code to infect other machines. This thing is strictly one-on-one.”


  “You said you had a solution,” she said.


  “If you ever let him finish,” I muttered under my breath.


  “So… um. There’s two ways to handle this,” said Gabe. “Either we shut everything down, disconnect everybody, and run scans machine by machine.”


  “Unacceptable,” snapped Gen-Mai.


  People were shuffling from foot to foot; nobody wanted to be disconnected from the Internet while the hunt took place. But nobody wanted to support Gen-Mai either.


  “What is the other way?” Ramasundarm asked.


  “Everyone stays at their computers 24-7. The thing has to show up somewhere. Then we disconnect just that computer and fix the problem.”


  “Excellent,” said Gen-Mai. “But I won’t pay overtime.”


  “Um,” ventured Omram, “basically, a Heisenbug—probability of it showing up anywhere in a code library, once it has been introduced, is equal. Absolutely equal. Um. Statistically. So if gibberish-glitch is actually the same as a PHP glitch, basically you designate one machine to be watched 24-7, and everybody else goes home. Yes?”


  Probability of it showing up anywhere is equal once it has been introduced… my thoughts started chasing their tails. Who do you call when you have a Heisenbug problem?


  “A marshmallow,” said Gabe. “We can set up a marshmallow.”


  I noticed the Mathematicians exchange confused glances with the CS PhDs. “Explain,” I mouthed to Curtis. But it was Josephine who spoke.


  “It’s a honeypot,” she said, “but puffy.”


  Everyone nodded, as if that made sense. Regardless of how sickly fascinated I was with the idea of a puffy honeypot, Alan needed to be told of my suspicion, immediately. So I nodded along. Gen-Mai didn’t, but she wouldn’t ask. “Manage With Power!” seminars again: never acknowledge ignorance.


  As expected, the meeting broke up in the next thirty seconds.


   


   


  <m:-0)> Can I look at the shape of the attractor you pulled from the bacteria colony? As a visual?


  <@alan> I don’t know if it would make much sense as a picture


  <m:-0)> Yes, non integer dimension etc. Etc. Can I just look at it please?


  <@alan> Of course


  <@alan> It’s on the server G:\Transfer\aset\Mori\attractor.jpg


  <m:-0)> Thanks


  <m:-0)> Could you make it rotate in 3D, say, nutate it on the interior of a cone or something


  <@alan> Or something? You were rather specific, so nutation in a cone coming up


  .


  .


  .


  <m:-0)> Thank you for indulging me, by the way


  <@alan> Not a problem—I’ve never heard you make demands before.


  <m:-0)> It’s just a strange feeling I have


  .


  .


  .


  *** DCC SEND (nutation.avi) request received from @alan


  /DCC GET m:-0


  *** DCC SEND connection to @alan[192.168.1.33] established


  .


  .


  .


  *** DCC SEND: nutation.jpg from @alan completed 284 kb/sec.


  .


  .


  .


  <m:-0)> One more question—what happened to the colony you got the data from?


  <@alan> What, the bacteria on the Petri dish? Safely disposed of, I assume. It’s just a mail-order incubation of Staphylococcus, the lab wouldn’t keep it.


  .


  .


  .


  <@alan> Mordred?


  <m:-0)> Hokai, soh, I have some good news, and some bad news.


  <@alan> Oh dear.


  <m:-0)> Which would you like first?


  <@alan> The good, I suppose.


  <m:-0)> You’ve found a way to describe, and *simulate*, a soul. Congratulations.


  <@alan> I don’t…


  <@alan> Really?


  <m:-0)> Never been done by any Mage before, as far as I’m aware. The attractor—rotate it around, really fast. You’ll see.


  <@alan> I’m afraid I don’t. But then, I don’t have much experience with souls, per se. Are you sure?


  <m:-0)> Oh yes.


  <@alan> If you say so…


  <m:-0)> I assure you, I am uniquely qualified to make the assessment


  <@alan> Of course, I didn’t mean to doubt you, it’s just a bit of crogglement, is all.


  <m:-0)> Understandable. Now for the bad news.


  <@alan> Oh oh.


  <m:-0)> You didn’t *create* a new soul, you just *attracted* one.


  <@alan> I think I know where this is going. I’m terminating the simulation now.


  <m:-0)> It’s too late. We’ve got a ghost in the machine.


  <m:-0)> Well, genius, at least we know I was wrong souls *can* be programmed


  <@alan> I’m not sure you were. Ghost, not synthetic soul, you said.


  <m:-0)> Does it make a difference? Now we can have the ghost of a bacterial colony fall in love with the ghost of yet another bacterial colony


  <@alan> I don’t think ghosts can fall in love, can they?


  <m:-0)> As far as I’m aware, not with anything they didn’t know in life. Still, on the plus side, we got nowhere with the Annihilator. Gods know what *that* would have attracted.


   


  Like an ill-omened raven, Outlook cawed its way into my awareness. E-mails from Gen-Mai are Not To Be Ignored, as Justin had learned. This one was a meeting request. Time: Sunday, Midnight.


   


  <m:-0)> Um. Gen-Mai just called a meeting. You’re on it.


  <@alan> Strange—the time is wrong. And surely meetings alone cannot be used to achieve productivity?


  <m:-0)> A whip might help.


  <@alan> I’ll see what I can do.


  <m:-0)> …


  <@alan> One cannot help but feel that that last line could be interpreted wrongly. Was it?


  <m:-0)> Not anymore. Just… don’t give her a whip.


  <@alan> Very well. Also, I not quite sure where I could obtain one.


  <m:-0)> I could show you a few shops around town.


  <m:-0)> But only after the third date. In person. When are you free?


  <@alan> I’m not sure if that is such a good idea.


  <m:-0)> Too fast?


  <@alan> May I get back to you about that?


  <m:-0)> Of course. And, to forestall the inevitable awkwardness due to my ill-timed proposal, may I direct your attention toward this equation I just found on Wikipedia? Meanwhile I’m just going to go tell Gen-Mai to fix her meeting time.


   


  And use the break to re-school myself on the virtue of patience.


   


  /DCC SEND @alan 68769909fd8afef73b8ff801e222c2b6.PNG


  *** Sent DCC SEND request to @alan


  *** DCC SEND connection to @alan[192.168.1.33] established


  *** DCC SEND: 68769909fd8afef73b8ff801e222c2b6.PNG to @alan completed 220 kb/sec.


  <@alan> Ah yes, Mr. Tupper’s infinite monkeys! But you’d better go to see Gen-Mai—she just sent me a rather harsh e-mail when I declined the meeting. I’ll be here.


   


   


  CONFIDENT that I had done nothing to earn her ire today, I walked up the steps to the second floor at a reasonable pace. The door to Gen-Mai’s office was ajar, and I could see her sitting on her desk, typing furiously into the MacBook. My heart lurched a little; I had overshot my “interpersonal” time allotment with Alan this week. By an order of magnitude.


  “Mordred. Come in,” she said, looking up. “Close the door.”


  Was I getting fired? Was somebody else getting fired? The door shut behind me with an ominous click.


   


  AS PROMISED, Alan was waiting for me on IRC when I returned to my cubicle.


   


  <m:-0)> Back. The meeting time was, unfortunately, correct.


  <@alan> So I was told. But “timesheet reconciliation”? The meeting topic was rather misleading.


  <m:-0)> She’s being careful.


   


  Sysadmins are notoriously difficult to keep secrets from in a digital office.


   


   


  <@alan> Well, one thing at a time. Our little “problem”—what do we do? Exorcism?


  <m:-0)> I’d have to catch it first—might not be an issue, with the witch-hunt going on. Once it’s captured, some very simple last rites should lay it to rest.


  <@alan> It’s the ghost of a bacterial colony—what kind of last rites are you thinking of, exactly?


  <m:-0)> rw nw prt m hrw 147, I think. The Tibetan one is too long.


  <@alan> Do you do this a lot? Lay spirits to rest?


  <m:-0)> Have a heart, Alan, I’m a Necromancer, not a priest!


   


  “Are you fucking bleeding?” Josephine’s voice rose over the hum of spinning hard drives. Heads turned. Gabe was standing, somewhat sheepishly, I thought, over disassembled parts in the middle of the main Cubicle Land corridor. Sure enough, drops of dark red dotted the surface. “Fuck,” said Josephine, dodging around Gabe to reach for something under her desk.


  Gabe mumbled something under his breath.


  “What was that?” she asked, pulling out a large white box.


  “Stupid marshmallow. Didn’t notice I cut myself.”


  “Hardcore,” said Justin, peering into the half-assembled case. “Wow. Ramasundarm’s letting you have one of the Q-chips?”


  “Sure,” said Gabe. “He said I could call it Internal R&D.”


  “Ramasundarm is the fucking bomb.”


  A bomb.


  Meanwhile, Josephine was pouring a liquid—isopropyl alcohol, by the smell of it—onto a piece of gauze.


  “Hold it tightly,” she said. “I think you need stitches.”


  “Nah, it’s fine,” said Gabe.


  The scent of fresh blood had circulated to my desk by now. The Symbiot gave the viral equivalent of a shrug and went back to sleep.


  “Stop that!” snapped Josephine as Justin began to reach into the case. “There’s blood everywhere!”


  “Don’t touch anything!” added Gabe.


  “Sorry, sorry,” Justin said, backing away as Josephine began wrapping a bandage around Gabe’s hand.


  Gabe mumbled something again.


  “What?”


  “I said it’s going to take hours to clean! Stupid blood.”


   


  <@alan> Still there?


  <m:-0)> Just a little Sysadmin incident. Gabe’s going to have a marshmallow ready by the end of the day.


  <@alan> Good.


   


  13:29 WAS late enough that nobody should be left in the building. But, to my dismay, Gabe was still in the Cluster Room, hunched over his desk. Gertrude’s head filled the screen, spinning slowly in place.


  “Yo,” said Gabe. “What’s up?”


  “I just came in…” What would seem plausible? “… to check if you wanted a coffee.”


  “Nope,” said Gabe, “I’m good. But thanks.”


  “So how goes the hunt for the rogue virus?”


  “It came. I saw. I conquered.”


  Oh. “Oh. Good. Standard antivirus cleared it?”


  “I had to make some changes. But the war is over.”


  “Well if you don’t want coffee, I’m going to head upstairs, finish up some work.”


  “You do that. And thanks for coming down.”


  “No problem.”


   


  * m:-0 (~m.penn@electrickindren.com) has joined PrayingForLeafs


  <m:-0)> You there?


  <@alan> Of course


  <m:-0)> So I might have been wrong. In fact, I was almost certainly wrong. It wasn’t a ghost—Gabe already deleted it. No chanting required.


  <@alan> That’s… surprisingly disappointing. We’re back to square one


  <m:-0)> I’m sorry


  <@alan> Not your fault


  <m:-0)> Ghosts in computers. It *was* a tad bit ridiculous, when you see it a certain way


  <@alan> When you see it… what was it that threw you off?


  <m:-0)> It must have been the fractional spaces - likely playing merry hob with my vision.


  CHAPTER SEVENTEEN


  HORSE COCK


   


  ODD, hooded shapes converged on EK from all directions, precisely at 26:23 on Sunday. Josephine and Emma and me, brought here by the intrepid Gen-Mai. Though I would never have said yes to this if Alan had not gone and factored semiprimes. And, well, overtime.


  “I have gathered the three of you here tonight,” began Gen-Mai, “because it must be handled quickly and efficiently and with the utmost secrecy. You are the best of the best of the best. Don’t let me down. Afterwards, there will be a party.”


   


  CAUTIOUSLY, we let ourselves into the office. The light of the full moon, streaming in through the windows, transformed familiar objects into vaguely menacing shadows.


  “Did you know MI6 uses a stretch limo instead of a surveillance van?” whispered Josephine as we made our way downstairs.


  “MI6? Seriously?”


  “Yeah. Gen-Mai yelled at them before you got here. Now we’ve got six spy agencies camped out within a block of us.”


   


  “THIS is going to kill him,” said Emma, looking over my shoulder as I decanted the grammar library into a specially ordered USB stick.


  “Had to be done,” said Josephine, packing the GUI two terminals over. “Ivanka wasn’t ready.”


  From Alan’s impassioned diatribe, I had gathered that Ivanka would never be ready; progress on her had stopped essentially the minute she was cloned away from Gertrude. But it was Ivanka who had had language lessons. So, while Alan spent Saturday bringing Gertrude’s code up to a standard acceptable to him, Piotr, finally exposed, transferred the language libraries. And now we were going to ship her.


  Emma was right. There weren’t enough espressos in the world to wash the sour taste of betrayal out of my mouth.


   


  WORD had gotten around by 04:29 on Monday morning. The air grew cold the moment Gabe stepped in the door.


  “What’s going on?” he asked, wiping his wet runners on the welcome mat. “Why is everybo—”


  He stopped midword and moved, faster than I would have thought possible, to the stairs and then down. We braced ourselves for the explosion.


  Minutes passed. There was only silence to be heard from the sub-basement. Emma, possessor of attributes such as “human empathy” and “a level head,” was nominated to be the one to check on him. She, in turn, insisted that Josephine and I come with her.


  The door to the Cluster Room was locked.


  “Gabe, could you open the door?” called Emma, twisting vainly at the handle. “Gabe?” There was no answer. Beyond the door, the mechanical hum of the hard drives continued unabated.


  “Gabe!” said Josephine. “Come on, you’re freaking us out!”


  Emma was biting her lower lip. “This is scary. Mori do something!”


  What was I supposed to— “One sec,” I said, and raced upstairs.


  A quick rummage through the toolkit under the kitchenette counter, a minute and a half on my knees in front of the sub-basement door, and I heard a satisfying click as the lock shifted.


  “Damn,” said Josephine, “where did you learn how to do that?”


  “MIT lockpicking guide.”


   


  A BLAST of colder-than-normal air hit us as we entered the room. Step by step we advanced, our heartbeats thudding in our ears.


  “Fuck!”


  The sound startled Emma into letting out a yelp. There was Gabe at his desk, looking irritated but clearly unhurt as he cradled a metal water bottle to his chest.


  They made water bottles in copper? “Sorry for the intrusion,” I said, banishing irrelevant thoughts. “We were just checking in on you.”


  He glared at me. “I thought you were coming to apologize. You could have told me!”


  “Sorry,” said Emma. “We should have. But Gen-Mai… but our copy of Gertrude is fine, right here, we just licensed one to the Russians.”


  “So what do you want?” asked Gabe.


  “We’re worried about you,” said Emma.


  “I’m fine,” he snapped. “Leave me alone. I locked the door for a reason.” Guaranteed solitude? Soothing porn? Did it matter? It meant not having to deal with a howling mad Sysadmin.


  “’Kay,” said Josephine, backing up.


  “If you need anything, let us know?” asked Emma.


  “Fine,” said Gabe. “Get out.”


   


  A TRUCK pulled up in front of EK at 03:08. Burly men unloaded their wares and the truck was off again.


  “4.7 litres per person,” I said, taking in the eight kegs of beer in the foyer.


  “An office full of optimists,” said Ramasundarm. He sounded pleased.


  “How in Hell did you get Gen-Mai to fund this? She’s making me reuse my Post-its.”


  “Alan and my wife and I,” said Ramasundarm, “decided to make it a Board motion.”


  “They’re coming then?” I asked. “Alan, your wife?”


  “Sunita, yes. Alan, I’m not sure. See if you can get him to come out?”


  “I’ll do my best.”
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  From: M Penn <m.penn@electrickindren.com>


  Date: Mon, Aug 20, 2012 at 1:42 PM


  Subject: Party Tonight?


  To: cto@electrickindren.com


   


  Dear Alan,


  Is it too much to hope that you will be joining us tonight? There’s 4.7 litres of the finest blonde with your name on it.


  Yours,


  Mordred
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  From: cto@electrickindren.com


  Date: Mon, Aug 20, 2012 at 1:42 PM


  Subject: Re: Party Tonight?


  To: m.penn@electrickindren.com


   


  Dear Mordred,


  I’m very sorry. But I’ll be there in spirit.


  Apologetically,


  Alan


  [image: img4.png]


   


  With a sigh, I closed Outlook and made my way upstairs for a coffee. My ex-floormates were standing around the kitchenette.


  “Party’s gonna be fucking awesome,” said Curtis. “Right bro? Mori?”


  Drunken engineers instead of Alan, capped by an evening of torturous insomnia? “Fuck yes!”


   


   


  THE last reveller left the office at 12:21. Thirty seconds later, I was on my way to my cubicle to check for an e-mail from Alan one last time before heading home. My couch had been calling plaintively since 25:06, when Ramasundarm left.


  I entered Cubicle Land, only to see a dark shape looming before me, its bizarrely polygonal edges illuminated by dim blue light from the Think Tank. The air was redolent with the odor of oregano and yeasty bread. My eyes adjusted to the dark, and I realized someone had tried to build a fort out of empty pizza boxes.


  Expertise in software engineering did not, evidently, translate to architectural principles. One swift kick and the monstrosity came tumbling down.


  “The dark fire did not avail you, flame of Udun,” I said coldly, wiping a smear of tomato sauce off my face. Climbing over my vanquished foe, I reached my desk and banished the screensaver to whatever graphics hell it had come from.


  Windows was downloading a security update. The process bar hovered at 62 percent, with six hours left. For a mere 40 Mb? The last time Internet was so slow, somebody had been hosting a Wikileaks mirror. Gen-Mai would throw a fit.


  No. This was no HTTP:// issue. Machine 69-10977-A was hogging close to 92 percent of the pipe for an upload from Alan’s folder.


  Alan. With no reason to hide his IP at the moment. A rough geographic location could certainly be extracted. And then? Will you go knocking door to door for love, O beggar prince? A problem for another day, I decided, and SSH’d into machine 69-10977-A.


  Two minutes later, I was reaching for my phone.


   


  GEN-MAI had kicked me off the chair and was typing away furiously at my keyboard. Relegated to a secondary role as outbound call maker, I stood near the door to the Think Tank—the one place we had good reception in the basement.


  “He’s not answering,” I said, walking back to my cubicle after a few minutes.


  “Try him again.”


  “It’s past midnight. If Ramasundarm hasn’t answered the first six calls, he’s not going to answer the seventh. What about Alan?” Yes, let me call Alan.


  “Alan’s been apprised,” said Gen-Mai. “But if I can’t go any deeper….”


  “Seriously? You’re a better hacker than him?” But she was so very… management.


  “Standard training,” she said.


  A more strident concern clamoured for attention. “How much did they get?” I asked. “Did they get into the backups?”


  “Does it matter? They got the latest build.”


  “No, the backups may have Alan’s semiprime code on them!”


  Gen-Mai looked up at me. “Alan’s semiprime code? What the fuck is semiprime code?”


  “Um.” Shit. “Alan. Um. He found a way to factor semiprimes.”


  “And you two irrationals left it on the network?”


  “Sorry? It’s safe now, though.” In a safe, as it were. “No longer on the network.”


  Gen-Mai had stopped listening, instead typing in commands that made long lines of text scroll down her screen. “They got everything since yesterday.”


  I released a pent-up breath. “Then JCN didn’t get a closed-form solution to breaking RSA. We’re safe.”


  “Not yet,” she said. “But the High Inquisitor says….”


  “Says…?”


  “That Inquisitors can’t hack into other companies without proper authorization from her.”


  “So, what, we just fucking let JCN keep what they got?”


  “I’ve deleted the files,” she said. “But deleted files can be recovered.”


  I was getting a headache. “They could have made backups too.”


  Silence descended for a few moments, broken by the intermittent whine of CPU fans. Then, “The Restriction,” said Gen-Mai. “Can you work through it?”


  “Yes.”


  Her pupils had contracted to a point as she considered me, coming to some internal conclusion. “You are allowed to use Magic, if I supervise you. There is a price—”


  “Fuck that. They’re stealing our code. Supervise me. But stay on your guard. And get off my chair.”


   


  IT’S AMAZING what one can find on Google Images with safe search off. I downloaded eight pictures. Then, I welded a hunter-killer onto them.


  “Done,” I said. “Do it, before they realize their upload has been fucked with.”


  But Gen-Mai was immobile, staring at my chest. Looking down, I saw a little bit of blood seeping through my T-Shirt. The Symbiot had shuttered the pain.


  “Your Restriction,” she said. “It’s bleeding you?”


  “Um. Yes?” What the hell else was it supposed to do?


  “Strange,” she said. But the interchange seemed to have snapped her back into Bitch-Queen mode. “Move.”


  This time I remained in my cubicle, looking over her shoulder.
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  .


  .


  .


   


  “I…,” said Gen-Mai, once she was done. “I shouldn’t have been able to do this.”


  “Upload pictures?” I asked. The chains were hot against my skin—not as hot as they had been a few minutes ago, but I would have to get Imp to bandage my chest tonight.


  “Act against JCN,” she said. “Use my Office for personal aims, force a Restricted Mage to use power.”


  I snorted. “I’m quite sure I volunteered.”


  “But if I hadn’t suggested it?”


  I wouldn’t even have thought of it. Why not?


  “The Restriction.”


  “It discourages active use of Magic. But you shouldn’t be bleedi— Maybe you should. I’m not sure. Either way, I owe you.”


  Any more surprises this night and I was going to start drinking coffee again.


  “One boon,” she said. “As my code requires.”


  It was an uncomfortable place to be, creditor to an Inquisitor. The slight seepage of blood came and went, in rhythm with the hunter-killers working halfway across the city. JCN was done. And so was 69-10977-A’s user, gods help him. “I work here too,” I said. “I have some stake in the company’s success.”


  “This is above your pay grade,” she said. “Now go home, get some sleep, be back here for seven.”


  “What happens at seven?”


  “Pre-status-meeting status meeting.”


  CHAPTER EIGHTEEN


  POOL-PAH


   


  TUESDAY’S forecast threatened us with a blue sky; no dark clouds to lend the morn a sense of propriety.


  Ramasundarm, sitting for once at the head of the table, had dark circles under his eyes. So did his wife at the edge of her chair beside him. The indolent sensuality within her from our first meeting was gone, replaced by whipcord tension.


  Gabe, to my left, twirled a pencil in his fingers with sporadic violence.


  Gen-Mai was… Gen-Mai. Inquisitorially calm, though she betrayed herself from time to time by looking at the MacBook, given pride of place in front of Ramasundarm.


  I had thought, hoped, that after all this, Alan would come in person. But he remained at the other end of that invisible electric tether. What was he hiding? Had I told him it mattered not one whit whether he was old or crippled or scarred or had green horns growing from his head? I must have. I had. And still he did not come.


  “Fuc-ker,” stuttered Gabe, dispelling the heavy silence. I heard the anger in his voice. My own had passed sometime yesterday, allowing me to get some fitful sleep on the couch.


  “I never thought…,” started Ramasundarm. Text started scrolling down the MacBook’s screen. The microphone was on; Alan was listening in.


   


  <@alan> They only had access to the current working folder. It could have been worse.


   


  “He lied about everything,” said Gabe. “I’m glad Mordred uploaded horse porn to them. Have fun explaining that, JCN spy.”


  “The horse porn was perhaps excessive,” said Ramasundarm.


  “No, it was perfect,” said Mrs. Vijayagopalan.


  “It was necessary,” said Gen-Mai. The Vijayagopalans would never know how necessary, of course. “And it won’t hurt our case. Legal—”


  “We’ll go bankrupt long before the case comes before a judge,” said Mrs. Vijayagopalan. “JCN will bury us in procedure.”


   


  <@alan> There is no ambiguity about it—they stole our work.


  “I am more worried,” said Ramasundarm, “about… well. I wish Mordred hadn’t found it.”


  Both Gen-Mai and Gabe gave him identical looks of confusion. His wife just shook her head.


  “Betrayal and love are not mutually exclusive,” I said, carefully not looking at him, or anybody else. “Just… something my father once said, though he didn’t put it quite like that.” I loved my King-and-Father with all my soul.


  Gabe looked unduly enlightened; that worried me—this had been meant for Ramasundarm, to draw him away from the self-recrimination that dogged the footsteps of all true altruists.


  “We’re going to fire him, yes?” Gen-Mai asked.


   


  <@alan> Mordred, your father—would he have fired someone for a mistake like this?


   


  “This was not a mistake,” said Gen-Mai. “It was deliberate and planned and malicious.”


  “This isn’t just about us,” said Mrs. Ramasundarm. There was a note of censure in her voice. “There are twenty-five—twenty-six, with Alan who gets paid only in shares.”


  Ramasundarm turned to face her. “What do I do now?”


  “Karmanye vadhika raste…,” she said, her voice low.


  Did Krishna envision this then, five thousand years ago on that battlefield?


  We held our peace, waiting for Ramasundarm to speak. There was an inevitability to it, when he finally did. “I will fire Justin tomorrow.”


   


  ONCE Mrs. Ramasundarm dragged her husband home, Gabe escaped downstairs to the Cluster Room.


  “Five minutes,” said Gen-Mai, leaving me alone with the MacBook.


   


  <@alan> Something’s not quite right.


   


  “And Gen-Mai was far too quiet during the meeting.”


   


  <@alan> I don’t think she quite understands what was truly going on. Things are very binary for her—all this talk of love confuses her.


   


  That drew a small smile out of me. “Spreadsheets are no defense against human folly, I suppose.”


   


  <@alan> Speaking of folly, honesty prompts me to mention that I was not expecting you… to be as you are.


   


  As I was? “I’m not quite sure how to interpret that.”


   


  <@alan> Positively. You are exceedingly attractive. I had not expected that.


   


  My heart, bruised though it was with Alan’s insistence on remoteness, couldn’t help but beat faster at that. But… “I thought you had seen me before. I’ve spoken to you at the MacBook a number of times.”


   


  <@alan> I would never turn on the camera without your suggesting it.


   


  Implicit in that, was, of course, the assumption that I should wait on his offer of a face-to-face meeting. But. “So what is wrong with me that you don’t want to meet?”


   


  <@alan> I am not… capable… of what you ask for.


   


  “What am I asking for? Not sex. You could be a brain in a jar, and I would still—”


   


  <@alan> Too far. You do not understand the situation.


   


  “Then explain it to me!”


   


  <@alan> I cannot.


   


   


  Gen-Mai entered the room. “Time’s up,” she said, and shut the laptop’s lid.


  It could not go on like this. Whatever personal problems Alan had were solvable. But only if I knew what they were.


  “Gen-Mai, will you tell me the truth?” I asked.


  “I always tell the truth,” she said, tilting her head to one side as she considered me, “What do you want to know?”


  “Swear on your code, Inquisitor,” I said. “No redirections, no telling me what you think I need to know. The pure, unadulterated, exact truth.”


  She narrowed her eyes and picked up the MacBook, cradling it to her breast. “That’s completely—”


  “Swear.”


  “Very well,” she sighed, sitting down on the chair to my left. “What do you want to know?”


  A universe of probabilities opened up at those words. My thoughts scattered. The heart, Mordred. Seek the heart. “Why does Alan not want to meet me?”


  “Because he doesn’t want to hurt you,” she said, quietly.


  The disdain in my snort was not entirely feigned. “Alan should consider what, and who, I am, before he starts thinking he, of all people, can hurt me. Where does he live?”


  Gen-Mai was silent, her face held entirely still, evidence of some inner battle. Had she promised Alan she wouldn’t tell me? I was about to relent when she sighed and looked up at me.


  “In the MacBook,” she said.


  “I’m sorry?”


  “Alan is not a real human being,” she said, her voice more confident now.


  “Not funny, Boss,” I said. “I’m glad you’ve discovered a sense of humor, but this is neither the time nor the subject. Give me his address.”


  “Here,” she said, passing the MacBook to me. “192.168.1.33”


  More out of habit than anything else, I flipped open the lid, and pulled up the Network panel. There were no other connections open except TCP/IP.


  “Alan’s still logged in,” she said.


  “That’s just because he’s routing through the net….”


  “Check the routelog,” she commanded.


  “Okay, so Alan lives in Richmond Hill.”


  “You’re smarter than that. That’s the ISP’s hub. Alan lives inside my MacBook.”


  “Bullshit.” Lying bitch. “I want to speak to him.”


  “He’s right here,” said Gen-Mai. “He’s always been here.” She turned the computer slightly toward herself and pressed a key. Suddenly all the windows magically arrayed themselves in a grid. Then she tapped the keypad, and IRC bloomed onscreen.


  There was nothing to do but turn the computer back toward me.


   


  <@alan> Ah, you’re back.


   


  “Gen-Mai is pulling some shit about you living in the MacBook?”


   


  <@alan> Why would she say that?


   


  “I made her swear; not her fault.”


   


  <@alan> That was impolite of you, Prince, to put her in that position.


   


  “I’m the villain? She tells me you, the man I’ve been dating, however virtually, for the past few weeks, lives in a computer, and I’m the impolite one?”


   


  <@alan> It’s the truth. My sincere apologies, for leading you on. It seems to be a pattern for me—honest in all things except fundamentals.


   


  Gen-Mai reached over my shoulder and started tapping at the keyboard. Soon she had delved deep into the arcane file structure of the Mac, and reached a folder filled with text files.


  They were logs of our chats—all of them, sweet gods. And the accompanying network activity, processor activity registered to the MacBook, PGP signed e-mails between Alan and Gen-Mai, e-mails between Alan and me, Alan and everybody in the office. It looked like everything originated from the MacBook—even our nighttime conversations.


  “Enough,” I said. “I don’t know what game you two are playing, but it stops now. How many hours have we spent with each other? I refuse to believe that you are not a real human being.”


   


  <@alan> Being sentient and being human are two different things.


   


  It made too much sick sense. “Prove it.”


   


  <@alan> I believe Gen-Mai already did.


  .


  .


  .


  <@alan> Mordred?


   


  “I’M TAKING the rest of the afternoon off. Mark it as a sick day,” I commanded Emma on my way out the door.


  “I got into trouble last time you did that!”


  “I. Am. Taking. The. Day. Off. Clear?”


  “Ye-yes.”


  It wasn’t Emma’s fault. “Gen-Mai gives you problems, tell her to call me.”


  “Thank you,” she whispered as I walked away.


   


  MY BREATH was ragged in my lungs; I realized that I was running west on Esplanade, toward Jarvis.


  North.


  The Symbiot woke up, sluggishly and started regulating my temperature, pumping oxygen to my legs. Bit by bit, I forced it back. The pain from the unaccustomed exercise cleared my head.


  The sound of screeching tires informed me that the light at Richmond and Jarvis was not actually in my favor. Digging for loose change in my pocket, I decided to trade sidewalk for subway tile.


   


  THE train to nowhere let me off at Osgoode. I felt better, for having wasted three and a half dollars. So I did it again, catching the southbound back to Queen. Then southbound to Osgoode again. I thought about staying onboard, getting out at Queen's Park. But my change ran out on the northbound Yonge leg, halfway through my third argument with the Symbiot.


   


  GRANGE PARK was busy at this time of day, but nobody minded a well-dressed—albeit sweaty—man sitting on a bench. The canopy of trees above me broke the sunlight into a thousand shards by the time it reached the ground.


   


  MY CELLPHONE buzzed, over and over, in the hours after sunset. Finally, long after the last of the dog-walkers and casual joggers had left, and the hum of cars on the streets beyond the trees grew infrequent, I answered.


  “What do you want, Gen-Mai?”


  “Where are you?”


  “In a park.”


  “Are you doing something stupid?”


  “Don’t be ridiculous.”


  “I need to talk to you. So does Alan. Can you come to my apartment?”


  “No can do—I need to think.” Rooting the AI out of my heart was going to take a lot of thinking. My dislike for Apple products certainly helped.


  “Half an hour? Can you spare thirty minutes? Please?”


  I had never heard quite that tone in her voice before. It gave me pause. But the humiliation, too, would take a lot of thinking to process. “I’ll see you at work tomorrow.”


   


  ANOTHER half hour before the Symbiot dragged me out of my misery to greet an old man walking toward my bench, triggering a momentary déjà vu.


  “Hello again, young man,” he said as he seated himself.


  “Another long day,” I said, and smiled.


  “You look sad,” he said.


  “I lost someone.” Can you lose someone that never existed?


  The man smiled a little. “You’ll get a lot more of that, once you get to my age,” he said. Then he extended his hand. “Ian.”


  As I shook his hand, my mouth spilled the first name that came to mind. “Alan,” I said.


  “Pleased to meet you, Alan,” he said. “My advice is, when something like this happens, do something. Keep your hands busy.”


  What a good idea.


   


  IMP crouched on top of the fridge, teeth barred, netbook held behind its back. With a sigh, I gave up and retreated to the living room. The remnants of my desktop crunched underfoot. Who needed Petra’s thugs to destroy property? Not I. Stinging pain radiated upward from my wrists as the Symbiot struggled to repair the damage to my hands.


  There was ringing coming from somewhere to my right, near the floor.


  “Imp, fetch my cell,” I commanded.


  Imp just hissed from its place above the fridge. Shrugging, I tuned out the sound.


   


  SOMETHING nudged my shoulder, dragging me toward wakefulness. It was nighttime already, the only light in the room coming from Imp’s red eyes and the LCD display of the cellphone it held.


  “Fine,” I said, and held my hand out.


  Twenty-eight missed calls. “You want me to answer?”


  Burrp!


  “It’s Petra. I forgot to pay them last week. They’re going to break your TV.”


  Meep?


  “Very well,” I said and flipped open the clamshell. “Hello?”


  “This is an urgent call from Petra Enterprises on behalf of the Council of Night. Please stay on the line while we connect your call.”


  The world sharpened into crystal-clear focus. An urgent call from the Council? My imagination started supplying me with scenarios—Zombie Apocalypse? My father back from the dead? My father back from the dead as a Zombie?


  “Prince Mordred?” said a female and very familiar voice. It could have been one of any number of clones, but there is a certain flavour to Lady Moyen’s tones that is impossible to mistake.


  “Lady of the Mirroring. I’m here. What business does the Council have for me?”


  “Not Council, Lord of the Waiting. This is a personal matter.”


  “Was not the personal between us resolved with my Exile?”


  “Nothing to do with that,” she said. “I need your help.”


  “Strange that you should ask me.” Her last words to me had led me to believe that Moyen would never speak to me again, let alone ask for aid. Fair, given the magnitude of my offense.


  “Please, Mordred. You’re the closest one at hand. Do not deny me.”


  “My Lady,” I said, my voice gentle in the presence of her distress. “For what I did to yours, there can be no redress. You, of all, do not need to plead. How can I help?”


  “One of House Unseelie fathered a child upon a human. In Toronto.”


  I sat up. “Tom?”


  “The child was born a few hours ago,” said Lady Moyen. “But something is wrong—very wrong. I don’t know what is going on, but its Symbiot is dying. I’m coming to Earth on the next train, but it will be six hours before the planes align. It may be too late by then. Please, Mordred.”


  “Where are they?”


  “Saint Michael’s hospital.”


  “I’m on my way,” I said, putting on my shoes.


  “Thank you.”


  “No need, Lady.”


  “What I said that day….”


  “Justified. Let it be.”


   


  A QUICK phone call had me in a cab and heading toward the hospital in less than two minutes.


  Two blocks from the hospital, the taxi’s dispatch radio suddenly came alive with static. The man started batting at the display, trying to turn the deafening volume down. Under the discordant noise, I could hear the faint sounds of whispering.


  “Boi?” The static was gone.


  “Dispatch, this is car 139, you’ve got the wrong channel,” said the taxi driver.


  “Baron?”


  “Boi, something’s up,” said the voice from the radio.


  The cabbie was giving me a strange look in the rearview mirror. “Dispatch’s calling for you?” asked the driver. “What the fuck man?”


  “A Deathless baby?” I asked, steadfastly ignoring the driver.


  “A baby? There’s no fucking baby. It’s the Loa, near Saint Michael’s. Going mad.”


  “Already on my way,” I said.


  “They be screamin’ saying there’s a portal to Hel opened, sucking them in.”


  “That’s ridiculous. There won’t be an alignment with Hel,” I did a quick calculation, “for another three years. And even then, the Loa can’t get sucked in, the winds blow the other way.”


  The cabdriver withdrew his hand from the radio buttons, very slowly. Reaching forward, I patted his shoulder.


  “Don’t worry about it,” I whispered, “nothing to do with you. Just drop me off.” He didn’t say a word, turning left onto Church Street.


  “You arguin’ with the Loa?” asked the Baron.


  “I’m not arguing with the Loa, the entirety of the space-time continuum— Oh. Shit.”


  “Meet you there.”


  Then the voice was gone, replaced by the loud static and whispering, which in turn slowly faded. Car 307, pickup at Bloor and Church, name of Rainer.


   


  IF THIS wasn’t just about the Symbiot—if the Loa were involved, or my ghost of a witness—then Magic might be required. For the second time in as many days, I dialled my boss’s personal number.


  “Gen-Mai?”


  “Mordred. We’re scheduled for a talk tomorrow, not now.”


  “This is an emergency. I need your presence.”


  “I’m on Demon duty right now.”


  “I need you to be here and supervise me, or in half an hour, give or take, I will be forsworn.”


  “You couldn’t pick some other night to go crazy?”


  “Nothing to do with the… other matter. I would never ask, for myself.” She wasn’t catching on. “You owe me a boon.”


  “Where are you?”


  “Heading to Saint Michael’s hospital.”


  “Give me ten minutes. But if I have to work overtime, you’re going to work right alongside me, Restriction or no.”


  “Deal.”


  The driver was very eager to get rid of me once we reached the hospital.


   


  TOM lay on a hospital bed, a line running from his arm to the incubator, pumping blood while Natalia sat motionless on a chair, her face to the wall. Gen-Mai was hovering at the door, looking out-of-place in her pinstripes.


  “You said the Baron could help?” asked Natalia. “He didn’t even come into the room, how could he see—”


  “The child has been born without a soul,” I said quietly, ignoring the scattering of diamond-dust tears glittering on her cheeks. “He can’t see.”


  “There’s a heartbeat. He’s breathing. So you can’t tell me my son is dead,” said Tom, his voice raspy.


  “That’s your Symbiot,” I said. “It’s keeping the biological processes running, but the moment you stop circulating your blood….”


  “Then I just won’t.”


  “All the power of the Lifestream cannot force life into something that is dead. The child’s own Symbiot is used up. Yours will follow.”


  “Everything was going so well,” whispered Natalia, still facing the wall. The quality of her whisper made me want to howl. “Till yesterday. I did what they told me. I walked and walked and walked.” Tears were flowing down her face now. “Shouldn’t have taken the painkillers.”


  “Two extra-strength aspirins?” I snapped. “If that was enough to extinguish souls, the world would have ended by now.”


  “Everything was fine,” she whispered and said nothing more. Neither did Tom—he would keep pumping his blood into the baby, and out, and in, till he and his Symbiot expired of exhaustion, sometime before dawn.


  As the minutes passed, the beep, beep, beep of the heart monitor was too much for me. If the room was a grave, it should have the decency to be a silent one. Turning on my heel, I left.


   


  GEN-MAI followed me out. “Is there nothing you can do?”


  “Inception did not occur—the Baron can’t see the baby.”


  “Inception?”


  “Heiros Gamos. The Sacred Marriage. What the hell do they teach you in Mage school?”


  “I never went to Mage school,” Gen-Mai said. “Did an MBA at York instead.”


  “And yet you’re an Inquisitor.”


  “And you’re a programmer,” she said. “What’s your point?”


  That I was a hypocritical fool, obviously. “A sentient organism,” I said, “is made up of two parts—a body and a soul.”


  “Yes?”


  “Except it’s all one part. For the body, Inception is the difference between being alive and not a tumor in a woman’s uterus. For the soul, the difference between being alive and not a dust cloud held together by physics and memory.”


  “How does it work?” she asked.


  The Inquisitor is asking a Necromancer how life starts. The day was getting more surreal by the minute. “A soul drifting past has its attention snagged by a fetus opening its eyes. Love at first sight.”


  “Heiros Gamos,” she said. “Then all this searching humans do—it’s an attempt to recreate that moment.”


  Gen-Mai’s observation surprised me; I must remember not to equate her ignorance with stupidity. “That’s the tragedy of creatures,” I agreed. Mine too, if it comes to that. “We spend so long looking for our ‘soulmates’ or becoming ‘one with our higher self.’ But all this time the one true love has already happened. We don’t remember because there was no mechanism to form a memory in the before-time, but we are its product.”


  “But something went wrong,” she said.


  “Yes. Inception occurs very late for a Lifestream-infected Feast. And this baby never opened its eyes. Or the right soul never came by.”


  “It sounds parasitic.”


  “Symbiotic,” I corrected. “Without a soul a body is just bacteria food. Nothing in there that asks ‘who am I?’. The number of neurons and axons in the brain goes from growing linearly to growing exponentially the moment Inception occurs.”


  “And when you die the marriage comes to an end,” she said. “Is that why Death is a tragedy?”


  “Death is a Mystery.”


  “And who has solved it?” she asked.


  A Necromancer Adept, perhaps? “Sherlock Holmes, at your service.”


  “So do you have a solution to this problem?” she asked, gesturing to the room.


  “Why, Dr. Watson, I think I do.”


   


  WE FOUND Samedi drinking rum out of a china cup in the hospital cafeteria.


  “Baron,” I said, sliding into the seat opposite him. “Gen-Mai has never been to Mage School. Tell her about the Ghostwinds.”


  “Who the fuck is Gen-Mai?” he asked.


  Someone you’re guaranteed not to like. “My supervisor,” I said. “Inquisitor.”


  Samedi gave me a dirty look. “So you tell it.”


  “No, you tell her, because you know the Loa better than anyone else. And I’m going to get us some coffee.”


  “I ain’t gonna teach some filthy fucking cocksucking Inquisitor,” he said.


  Gen-Mai seemed to be shocked into silence by the profanity.


  All right, time to change tactics. “So, old friend,” I asked, “did you find a portal to Hel?”


  He looked disgruntled. “Nothing. And by the time I got here the Loa forgot they ever be screaming for help. If something happened to some of them, no way to know.”


  “Can we talk about Ghostwinds?” asked Gen-Mai.


  “Can I get something to drink first?” I asked, giving the Baron a sidelong glance.


  “We don’t have time,” said Gen-Mai.


  “Do what you like,” said the Baron to me, without even looking at the Inquisitor, “no rush now.”


  Yes, this was going exactly as well as expected. But I needed both of them. Leaving the table for a moment, I went to fetch myself a cup of tea and a muffin.


   


  “HEAT rises,” I began, hovering my palm over the steam from the teacup. “Souls too. Gather, rise, fall. Like weather. You get everything from tornadoes to gentle summer days, some places more than others. But there’s a few big ones around, over big cities. Toronto. New York. Down south. Other places in the world. They extend beyond the atmosphere as well,” I couldn’t help add. “Like Earth’s magnetic field. There’s a whole Van-Allen belt phenomena with souls going on out there.”


  “Yes, I know that,” said Gen-Mai. The Baron was giving me a very strange look. “But how does this help the baby?”


  “Nothing says Inception can’t occur after birth.”


  “That baby you all keep going on about?” asked the Baron. “There really is a baby?”


  “A corpse, as it stands,” I said.


  Samedi shook his head. “It ain’t ever been done. Just the right fit, to find, in so many. And after birth? Without the mammy bufferin’ chance?”


  “It’s a statistical game,” I said. “An outlier should show up. If we have a dense enough concentration. Which we will, if the mirror-mage was right, and the body is a Feast.”


  The Baron looked up from his rum. “And who’s going to stand, against all the dead of the world, and wait till the right soul drops by?”


  “You need to ask?”


  “All right, boi, you do that, I’ll be a watchin’ from a safe distance.”


  “And that’s what I need Gen-Mai for,” I said. If things went wrong, the Bitch Queen was one of the few people I know who would kill me without hesitation. “This will qualify as oath-breaking otherwise.”


  Gen-Mai tilted her head to one side. “You’re going to cast a spell that has never been cast before, using Magical laws I don’t understand, at a level of power that I will never attain. And you want me to supervise that.”


  “You supervise Alan, and Josephine, and all the PhD’s at work.”


  “Yes,” said Gen-Mai, “but they don’t usually stand at the brink of unleashing Armageddon if something goes wrong.”


  Again, the Baron looked at me, his eyes narrow. “You fucking right in the head?” he asked. “Telling people things they know already, acting fucking stupid, associatin’ with Inquisitors. You gonna reave yourself, and anybody fucking retarded enough to stand close to you is gonna get possessed if you fuck up.”


  “That would be me,” said Gen-Mai. She seemed to think for a moment. “Inquisitors have failsafes against Possession, so I’ll just be…gone. On the plus side, I’m doubly insured. We could be looking at a very, very tidy payout.”


  “After you’re dead,” I supplied, just in case she hadn’t factored that in.


  “Eight figures,” she said. “Could be worth it.”


   


  ANOTHER surreal taxi ride later, we found ourselves in a parking lot on the edge of the city.


  Tom needed help to walk—it wouldn’t be long now, if this didn’t work—but his arms never shook from holding the baby to his breast, heart monitor and all.


  At the edge of the lot, on the boundary between asphalt and dirt, there stood a ramshackle cottage with a weather vane mounted on it. The vane was spinning, pointing at an angle impossible in the north-westerly coming up from the lake. The Ghostwinds were howling.


  The Baron changed. For all of his rum and his music and his suits, he was a creature of the Loa, perhaps the greatest, perhaps the least of them. A Mystery in his own right. He sprouted whiskers, his eyes bulging. Then the suit was gone.


  Tattered sackcloth was tied around his waist, and the smell of power—red and silver and pollen—clung to his fingertips.


  The closer we got to the cottage, the clearer the Loa became. Faces—faces and eyes first, like northern lights, sweeping down like wind from some celestial exhalation, mouths open with screaming. Or laughter.


  Same thing.


  Gen-Mai had stopped and was staring at the wind, obviously petrified. Hastening to her side, I put my arm around her and raised a hand to cover her eyes.


  “Don’t look,” I whispered. Her entire body shuddered beneath my arm, but she was silent. And, surprisingly, so was my Symbiot. This close to another person, the Symbiot is always writhing and hungry for even the most infinitesimal mutation. But it was quiet—not even venturing curiosity in her direction.


  Perhaps it felt the coiled tension in me, preparing for the fight to come. I was glad; I didn’t need my virus to reach for her, and me have to struggle to hold it in check, like some weak-willed Vampire-Byron hybrid.


  Luckily, vampires don’t exist, and I am no hero. A hero would have twisted the child’s neck quickly, gently, and laid it to rest between its doomed parents. Me, I’m a creature of my virus-wrought programming.


  “Keep your eyes on the ground,” I said to Gen-Mai. “And don’t come any further.”


  The Baron stopped, as well, and handed me a key, a small piece of metal. Tom too, for all his brave determination, stood rooted to the ground. I reached to disconnect the tubes and wires from the child in his arms.


  “Cousin,” I said as he clutched everything tighter to him, “I need to take him now. You’re going to have to let go.”


  Finally, it was Gen-Mai who was able to pry the baby from Tom and hand it to me. Five minutes, maybe seven, before the borrowed Symbiot in its blood would no longer be able to keep it alive. Enough time. It had to be.


  Walk.


  Step by step, the Ghostwinds grew stronger, till they were dense enough that I could feel the breath of them passing over me like a half-remembered song. My scalp prickled, and I was ashamed. How many times have I faced the dead before?


  A voice answered, from the fear-wrought center of me: Where would you find it, if not in the heart of a Ghostwind? It is waiting for you, and there is no soul nearby to bend space and time to save you. Not this time.


  White noise, I replied. White noise. I’ve never been safer. My dead are too numerous for it to recognize me.


  As I fumbled to turn the key, a hand reached out and took it from my fingers. Gen-Mai had followed me! What brand of courage do they inject into their graduates over at York that she would stand in this maelstrom just to open a door? I was grateful for the help. And she was following my instructions to the letter, her eyes fixed on the ground.


   


  INSIDE, the cottage was lined with plywood walls, ichor seeping through the knotholes. The roof was at once rotten thatch and mud and corrugated metal. We stepped across the threshold, me first, with the baby in my left arm and Gen-Mai to my right.


  The light was tainted silver by the moon. Everything smelled of dirt and swamp and offerings of food left to rot in a forgotten temple. And the Howling was so loud that no other sound—cars on the highway, my own voice—could be heard.


  It was time. And I didn’t want to do it.


  Submission is not easy. Who knows what part of me is spirit, exalted, good? Will it hurt, to find out that the animal that I am is a part of my soul?


  But the child was dying. Existential crises could be dosed with liberal amounts of alcohol and Southpark. So, I submitted.


  The chains around my chest flashed from cold to searing to diamond-edged saws in a fraction of a second, and blood bloomed on my shirt. I could feel Gen-Mai’s eyes on me.


  “Dammit, I told you not to look!” The pain shuttered my voice to a croak. Her face went from confused to something else as the blood started turning black, the Symbiot working feverishly to repair the ongoing damage. The smell of burning flesh was a relief from the water-damp rot in the air.


  Get on with it.


  The words of the spell broke through me as a river from a burst dam. Gen-Mai returned to looking confused—these were no sounds that she had ever heard before. But for some few Mages, the reclaiming of them took nothing more than a walk to an adjacent room to remember words we never heard.


  The language was incomprehensible to the souls throbbing in the air around us and sweeping through the floor downward in their journey to the center of the Earth.


  But I could wait. Something would come. But first would come my dead if any were in the winds. Let them. Merlin. Kay. Guinevere. Enemies I know how to deal with.


  Instead, I got my brother.


  Who are you looking for? They’re all gone, and washed clean.


  Even my father? The question begged to be asked.


  You didn’t think the King would drift about so, did you? The face screamed in glee. Few years have passed that he was born, and died. A hundred times. Does that taste good to you?


  The King has returned?


  Now there were more souls about, attracted to me in the manner of sharks to blood.


  Not for you, they breathed. Not yet. Whisper in despair, and hope.


  Gawain spoke again. Why have you come here—do you want us to tear you apart?


  I’ve come for a wedding, little brother.


  He looked down at my arms as if he could see the slip of the child I held, the Symbiot in it burning in defiance against the rot. But he couldn’t; the world of matter is as veiled from the Loa as theirs is to us, and only in this, this half-wild submission of a Mage to himself, could there ever be a bridge. And the child was no Mage yet.


  What would you know of wedding and will? Tell me, Mordred, because these mysteries were never revealed to you. Bastard son.


  You’re a bastard too. I felt the need to point that out. And, little one, I am an Adept—nothing is hidden from me, should I choose to ask.


  Not the King’s bastard, at least. Our mother would never have given you such power. She hated you.


  She didn’t.


  Once she had you with her brother and twice, me, with Lot. The ghost of my brother grew suddenly sorrowful, in the quicksilver way between passion and melancholy that ghosts have. Twice, then, our mother was a whore.


  Our mother was a child, caught up and betrayed by men that should have known better.


  Doesn’t mean she would have made you Adept.


  Witch and Fae, but never had she the power to grant or deny me.


  So where did you get it? Not Merlin—Nimue hurt him, near the end. Shredded his soul like he shredded her. He didn’t know.


  Can’t you guess? Of course he could.


  You shouldn’t have been born. He was snarling now. You took that which should have belonged to others.


  Sometimes, my brother really tries my patience. How can one steal Adepthood, exactly? I wanted to roll my eyes but I had to keep myself trained on the face before me, and the army behind him, ghosts clumping up in jagged clusters, snarling.


  But then, just beneath them, to my left, I felt a gentle tugging.


  Something was sniffing, curious. Half formed, drawn by something it hadn’t seen before. It forgot that it had to float with the winds and came closer. Yes, little one, come closer.


  Gawain’s haranguing washed over me. Nothing new, nothing that hadn’t been said by the living to my face.


  Out of the corner of my senses, I watched the soul defy the winds. Strength it had, even so little as it was. Fitting. I raised the baby higher, its breath coming fitfully now, and showed them to each other. A half-formed body that didn’t know what face it should have, and a newborn soul that didn’t know its name. Standing between them, my own true name dripped from my lips as a shield. So that they could see, without injury or entanglement, and make of each other what they will.


  It took less than a moment. The tiny body in my arm moved, its lids fluttering. The soul stopped, shock still, eyes wide.


  It was enough.


  The first spell any Mage learns is “See!”. This is where it comes from.


  CHAPTER NINETEEN


  ALAN EX MACHINA


   


  WHY am I naked? My first thoughts were rather unsteady as I woke up to the smell of bittersweet antiseptic. Something wet and cold was being rubbed on my skin.


  It hurt to open my eyes, but I did. A blur, wearing blue, was slathering a medicinal unguent over my chest. Thankfully, a sheet covered my bottom half.


  “Ah, you’re awake. Welcome back, your highness,” said the voice. Male, and also familiar.


  “Dr. Moyen,” I croaked. “Why am I naked?”


  “You lost almost three pints of blood. Are you sure that’s the first question you want to ask?”


  “How about ‘where are my pants’?”


  He shook his head. “Perhaps we can interest you in a nice hospital gown after I’m done patching you up?”


  “Are you the same Dr. Moyen I spoke to on the phone? The one that suggested I infect myself with mad-cow?”


  “No. But it seems you followed his advice, given your state.”


  “All right, Kerri, leave off,” said a female voice.


  “Yes Mother. Just make sure he doesn’t get up and start hunting for pants,” said Dr. Moyen. Kerri Moyen. I’ve always found it odd, how all the Moyen clones call the original “mother.” Shouldn’t it be “sister”? The thought was half dream, half reason. The Symbiot was pressuring me to sleep.


  “Lady of the Mirroring,” I said, sternly telling my viral hoards to hold a while longer. “Is the baby all right?”


  “Yes, screaming its little head off, though my shell-shocked daughter-to-be had to be given a talking to before she would suckle it.”


  Having been on the receiving end of many Moyen “talking-tos,” I felt sorry for Natalia.


  “Mordred.” Lady Moyen came to stand beside the bed. “I don’t know what to say. I don’t know how to….”


  I raised a hand. “I told you before, My Lady. Unnecessary. But please, you need to take them to—”


  “The forms are being processed,” she said. “But I want to know what it was you did.”


  “Um. It’s complicated. And not very… kosher. Wrong, even.”


  “Mordred is always doing the wrong thing,” said a new voice from the doorway. There would be no respite from Gen-Mai, even in death.


  “He saved the baby’s life!” said Lady Moyen.


  Ah good. I could just let these two fight it out now and go back to sleep.


  “No, he gave the baby life. Using Death Magic. The most twisted use of Necromancy I’ve ever heard of.”


  Moyen was not used to being contradicted by anyone other than a member of the Council, and even that, rarely. “Who are you?” she asked.


  “Gen-Mai,” said my boss, extending her hand. “I’m Mordred’s CEO.”


  Lady Moyen’s expression softened immediately. “Oh, you poor thing,” she said, as she shook Gen-Mai’s hand. “You know, we’ve found a way to deal with him if he starts making trouble,” she continued. “When he misbehaves, just hit him on the head with a rolled-up newspaper.”


  That tone. I hadn’t expected to hear that fond-exasperated tone in Lady Moyen’s voice ever again. There was no forgiveness for me, not this side of the Planes, but the promise of it….


  “Hear that, Mordred?” asked Gen-Mai. “Newspaper.”


  “You fucking Bitch, I’m going to newspaper you when I find pants,” I muttered. At least, I must have, because Lady Moyen came up next to the bed and gently stuffed a piece of sterile gauze into my mouth.


  “Temper, temper, Mordred,” she said. “It always gets you into trouble. Gotta keep that in check, or your father will give you a beating. When he returns, of course.”


  I spat out the gauze. “My father never hit me.”


  “That’s why you’re such a little shit,” said Gen-Mai. “In China, you show attitude….”


  I lost the rest of her sentence as the Symbiot decided this was not a conversation I needed to be awake for.


   


  THE hospital lights were dim when my eyes fluttered open again. 10:29. Someone was standing at the doorway, the air around them sparking with gold static.


  “May… may I come in?” the voice was hesitant, a singing baritone reduced to whispers.


  “Yes,” I said. “Who—”


  The man walked inside, into the pool of light cast by the white night-light above my IV bag. Dark hair, parted to one side, a strong jaw. And the most vivid blue eyes I had ever seen.


  “Hey you,” I said, smiling. “Hallucinations are fantastic. You look like I thought you would.” Tweed coat, of course. The smell of daisies in sunshine, and… almonds?


  “You were right,” said Alan. He came closer, right next to the bed, his hand resting lightly on the bed rail.


  “Of course I was,” I replied, reaching out. There was nothing but air, and cold metal, under my fingers. Not a full sensory hallucination, then. Pity. “About what, exactly?”


  “Sentience,” said Alan. Why did he sound like he wanted to weep? “I worked it out yesterday, but you weren’t on. Geologic timeframes, the whole bit.”


  “Told you—need a soul.” Of course he wanted to weep. Very obliging, this whole hospital-drugs-IV thing. Should get hurt more often. “I’m sorry,” I said. “Wish you had one.”


  “Um… what, specifically, did Gen-Mai tell you?” Isn’t that something it should know? Pain-avoidance, maybe.


  “You’re the MacBook. Gertrude 2.0.”


  “Oh. Dear.”


  “Clever bot.” I smiled. “Loved you. I’m totally fucked up, aren’t I?”


  “I am so sorry.”


  My own fevered imaginings pitied me now? “But I’ve told you now. Are you programmed to laugh at me?”


  Alan smiled. “I’m having memory issues right now. Won’t remember a thing.”


  “Ah. Good.” The voices in my head—the imagined ones, I’m not schizophrenic—they’re the only company I’ll have for the next thousand years. So they better not laugh at me. “Wish we could Magic you up a soul.”


  Alan’s gaze suddenly sharpened. His lips twitched. “If you were to approach the problem,” he began.


  Hallucination-Alan looks absolutely adorable when he’s trying to be calculative. “I see where you’re going with this,” I said. “Told you already. Can’t make souls. They grow. Have to catch one, like the kid today.”


  “And then what?” he asked.


  I started laughing. Wheezing, actually. Chest hurt. Asshole clone-doctor bandaged it too tight. “Gotta convince it to reincarnate as a computer. Who would do it? Give up all this misery for circuits?”


  Then hallucination-Alan smiled, for the first time. I didn’t know I was capable of imagining a smile like that. It lit up the universe, made me dizzy. “It’s not so bad, Mordred,” he said. “All… lightning. And if you’re friends with the numbers already, why, it’s positively joyful. No pain, unless you program it in,” he added.


  “It hurts, being human,” I agreed sagely. “Wouldn’t wish that on anyone. Wouldn’t want to give it up.”


  “Oh,” he said. “I didn’t—”


  Had to interrupt him before he said something stupid and stopped smiling. “Even if you convince some poor soul, there’s the logistics of it. How fucked up would you have to be to recognize a machine as kin?”


  “Fucked up indeed,” laughed Alan. He was a laughing sort of person, obviously. “But that’s a problem for another day. You, my dear, need to focus on getting better.”


  For what? “Can you make me forget?” I asked. “About this? Just… bury it. Somewhere deep? Below all that stuff with Merlin. The same place I put 1561? Please? It hurts too much.”


  Concern filled Alan’s face, and then he raised his hand and put it on my forehead. Now I could feel him. Cold. Like permafrost earth. Leaned down, lips near my ears. “Shhh…,” he whispered. “You just sleep now.” Slowly, obedient to my hallucination, my eyes closed. “Forget,” he said.


  “Okay.”


   


  THE first rays of the sun woke me up. That, or Gen-Mai’s heels click-clacking down the hallway toward me. What time was it? 27:01.


  “Good, you’re awake,” she said once she got to my room. “How do you feel?”


  “Right as rain,” I said. “All I needed was a little sleep.” And by the feel of it, I’d had weeks of sleep.


  “And two blood transfusions and two ccs of Lifestream.”


  “They brought undifferentiated Lifestream here?” I asked, aghast.


  “It was well contained,” said Gen-Mai. “Full HAZMAT suits.”


  “Fine.” Hopefully it would be. But Life tends to find a way—hadn’t these people seen Jurassic Park?


   


  WALKING would have been faster than the half-hour it took to hail a cab and get from Yonge and Gerrard to Yonge and Queen. I kept my mouth shut; if I was going to be late, so was Gen-Mai. She might still find a way to yell at me about it, but I had righteousness on my side.


  “Are they all clones?” she asked.


  The driver whirled around to look at us. I avoided his gaze.


  “Yes,” I said. “Lady Moyen reproduces by… we call it mirroring. Tinkering with RNA is always a gamble, but she does it flawlessly.” Minotaur notwithstanding. What is the saying? Lucky in gambling, unlucky in love? The Incident marked the second time the Lady Moyen has had her love destroyed by a “hero” not worth the name. “Sometimes the clones have babies, marry into other Houses. It gets very, very complicated. But they’re all doctors and geneticists.”


  “Where do they get the Y chromosome from?”


  “How would I know?”


  That shut her up for a while. Then, “It must be nice, having so much family.”


  “The Moyens are very strange,” I said.


  Gen-Mai raised an eyebrow. “They seemed perfectly reasonable and efficient to me.”


  “They would, wouldn’t they,” I said.


  “What does that mean?”


  “Nothing,” I said. “It’s the drugs talking.” I need my job.


  “Alan is—”


  “No,” I said. “We don’t talk about the AI. Ever.” Wishful thinking, when the AI was the CTO. Yes, how does a computer program become a shareholder, exactly? Something was not right here.


  “Who knows?” I asked.


  “About what?”


  Fair enough. I shut up.


  And yet another taxi squealed away after Gen-Mai paid the fare a block away from work, so I could buy a decaf.


   


  AS WE got in sight of EK, I noticed three police cars and an ambulance parked on the street, the blue-and-red lights on top of the vehicles still on.


  “Curtis was right,” I said. “That building was a meth lab.”


  “No,” said Gen-Mai, dropping her latte and starting to run toward the police cars. “They’re parked on our side.”


  The woman could run. In five-inch heels, no less. I started running as well, but without the wasteful latte-drop.


  We reached the front door together to see paramedics loading two people, strapped to stretchers, onto two separate ambulances.


  “Gabe,” said Gen-Mai.


  “And Justin,” I added as the doors to the ambulances closed. “I thought Ramasundarm was going to wait for the end of the day?”


  “Somebody may have leaked it,” said Gen-Mai. “There are police officers in my office. Whoever opened their mouth is getting fired.”


   


  INSIDE, yellow police tape cordoned off a spray of shattered glass on the floor. The first thing the police did was drag me down to the basement for questioning.


  The officer assigned to me was a beautiful plain-clothes brunette, the gun at her side worn with far more aplomb than Gen-Mai’s “nullmage-safe ballistic-range anti-human device.”


  Another man, whose affiliation with the police I couldn’t quite fathom, followed us down to the basement. Had the sexual tension between the two not been as clear as day, or I not an emotionally blind, machine-loving patsy, I would have tried to extract a phone number from one of them. Or both, belike.


  “And where were you last night?” the woman asked.


  “Hospital,” I said. “I had an allergic reaction.”


  “How long have you known Mr. Gabe Malbon?”


  “About two months. I met him on my first day at work.”


  “Did you notice any strange behavior from him?”


  “He’s a Sysadmin,” I said. “Strange is normal.”


  “And what about Mr. Justin Stickpool? How long have you known him?”


  “Same.”


  “Any strangeness from him?”


  I paused. This was Mage business, best handled away from the too-curious police. “His documentation is a marvel of obfuscated comments,” I said. “But I’m hardly a canonical coder, so what do I know?”


  “Those are some fine five-dollar words right there,” said the man. “You a writer, Mr. Penn?”


  I snorted. “You a cowboy, Mr.—”


  “Enough,” said the woman. “This is not a homicide. I have no idea what we’re doing here. The uniforms can finish up.”


   


  THE tumult on the second floor was dying down by 14:25 as two uniformed police officers started a video on the projector.


  “We pulled this off your security system,” said one of the officers.


  The video started with Gabe halfway through his standard morning runaround at 18:23. I hadn’t realized how abnormal it looked like to outsiders. Then, at 06:29, something strange happened. He went outside again, and came back holding two buckets full of a dark viscous liquid. The officer paused the video.


  “It’s goat’s blood,” he said. “We found the carcasses in the parking lot out back.”


  The video continued. At 27:08, Gabe ripped up a corner of the carpet—the same one that had been drenched in blood earlier. Gen-Mai and I exchanged stunned looks. The video started becoming noisy, skipping frames at 13:05, then 17:22 as Gabe dipped both his hands into the buckets and started to paint on the floor with blood.


  Justin came in at 16:28. The officer paused the video again.


  “And here’s where Mr. Hero shows up,” he said. “Instead of calling 911 right away, he goes up to the guy and starts talking to him.”


  As the video continued, I realized that “talking” was a bit of an understatement. Justin was yelling at 27:15, then shouting by 13:21.


  A shadow flitted across the screen at 18:22, then another at 16:27. Magic. Again, Gen-Mai and I exchanged looks. And onscreen, Gabe went berserk, grabbing Justin by the throat and slamming him into the wall. 27:23.


  “And that,” said the officer, “is when the fight started. One crazy guy, and one guy that didn’t call 911.”


  “Who did?” asked Gen-Mai.


  “Curtis,” said Ramasundarm. “He came in, saw the blood, and called the police.”


  “It’s a good thing he did,” said the officer. “The crazy guy was about to fillet your hero there.”


  Fillet? Fucking Demonologists. Gen-Mai seemed to be thinking the same thing, because she finally shot Curtis a smile.


  “So that’s that,” said the officer. “We’ll be taking the tapes and the goats and the testimony. The crown office should be in touch if you want to press charges.”


  “Oh,” said Gen-Mai. “I’m going to sue Gabe for everything he’s got. He’ll be paying off this little episode till he’s a hundred years old.”


  “Um…,” said the officer, wearing the same expression everyone wore the first time they came face-to-face with Gen-Mai’s particular brand of crazy. “Assault is a criminal offense. If he’s convicted, he’ll get jail time. No money, unless somebody launches a civil suit against you for not supervising the crazy guy.”


  That shut her up.


   


  RAMASUNDARM, looking very distressed, went home right after the police left. One by one everyone trooped out of the office till only Gen-Mai and I were left.


  “Gabe.” I said. “This planet is hurting my ability to judge people.”


  “His strangeness hovered at around 82 percent—pretty much standard for a Sysadmin,” she said. “Otherwise I would never have hired him back.”


  “You quantify strangeness?”


  “Yes, among other things,” she said. “You should work in the basement today. I don’t want your Symbiot around so much blood.”


  “I’m not a fucking vampire,” I said. “It was a perfectly normal, nonmutant goat.”


  “Fine,” she said, flipping open her MacBook. “Just go away. And tell Emma she needs to call the lawyers, have everyone sign one of those nonsuing clauses.”


  Rolling my eyes, I did as I was told.


   


  DOWNSTAIRS, some people were leaving without permission. Others, fearful of Gen-Mai’s wrath, were talking quietly and moving in clumps toward the kitchenette. Having delivered the message from the Bitch Queen to Emma, I retreated to Cubicle Land. It was only 13:21. Six hours, twenty-two minutes, eighteen seconds to go.


  I reached down to turn on the desktop, and an arc of static electricity jumped from the machine to my fingers. What the hell? I reached again and was shocked a second time. That was when I smelled blood.


  There was a Sigil drawn on the back of my computer. Its intricate lines spelled a Demon’s name and commanded a Demon’s seal. Everybody else was clustered around the coffee maker, where I wished I was right now. Quickly I moved from cubicle to cubicle all over the floor.


  Each and every computer in the basement had a Demon seal on the back, drawn in blood. Cold sweat broke out all over me as the Symbiot compensated for my rapid increase in temperature.


  I was running out of Cubicle Land before a breath had had time to pass my lips.


  In the Cluster Room, every computer, including those in Gertrude’s stack, was tainted.


  Upstairs.


  Grabbing a chair, I used it to step onto the desk closest to the door. A couple of my coworkers looked up, shrugged, and went back to work. After Gabe’s antics, this was hardly strange. Desk-standing was in the same category as the time Ramasundarm and Emma and Curtis spent the entire day on the floor playing with dinosaurs.


  There was one more, larger, Demon seal on the floor, and it was drawn in something more than just goat’s blood.


  The blue ethernet cables making their way from each computer to rest in tangles in the middle of the floor, gigabytes of data and trillions of electrons racing through them, formed a summoning far more powerful than the one Justin had tried to form a week ago.


  Gabe was a full-blown Babylonian Mage.


  And every single computer in the building had a Demon in it.


   


  TWELVE seconds later, I flung open the door to Gen-Mai’s office.


  “Alan!” I shouted. “I need to see—”


  She looked up from a printout in front of her filled with notations in her neat handwriting. The MacBook was nowhere to be seen. “Personal—”


  “Woman! Put Alan on! Justin didn’t catch Gabe at the beginning of the rite. He caught him at the end.”


  Her face was a study in blank stupidity.


  “Demons,” I said. “Infesting the office. Alan.”


  “Alan’s at home,” she replied.


  Did the woman not understand? “The Demons are riding the network,” I said. “We need to get to Alan now. Before—”


  “He gets infected,” she said.


  Finally.


  “Call a cab, meet me outside in five minutes.”


   


  CONTRARY to all expectations, Gen-Mai "eight-figure-life-insurance" Taur lived in a slightly rundown apartment complex in the seedier part of the Village. Shaking my head in bemusement, I got into the creaking lift as she pressed the button for the eighteenth floor. Another superstitious building—there was no floor thirteen.


  “This way,” she said, leading me down the left branch of the corridor and to a nondescript brown door, identical to all the others doors lining the hallway. She jiggled her key in the lock for a few seconds.


  Inside, “Sit, please,” she said, pointing to the couch. The MacBook was out on her coffee table. Immediately, I reached out with the Magic. A slight wetness under the bandages on my chest informed me that the Restriction had opened my wounds again.


  No residual power, no tell-tale Sigils. Breathing in relief, I sat back against the couch, only to notice a little green light come on next to the MacBook’s built-in webcam.


  “Hello, Mordred,” said a voice. Mechanized. Synthetic.


  “Why the fuck didn’t you tell me you weren’t real?” The words were ripped from me.


  “You weren’t ready,” said Alan.


  I still couldn’t take away his name inside my head,. The Symbiot was doing its best to regulate my neurotransmitters, poor virus. “So. No Demon. I’ll be heading back now.”


  “You look very agitated,” said Alan. “Won’t you stay awhile?”


  My mouth twisted in a parody of a smile. “You’re very courteous, for an AI,” I said.


  “Alan isn’t an AI,” said Gen-Mai. “He’s as real as you are.”


  Standing up pulled at the wounds on my chest; the Symbiot, unusually helpful, started flooding my system with pain blockers. “I’m leaving,” I said.


  “Sit down, Mordred.”


  Was she trying to use the Voice on me? It wouldn’t work; I had learned to resist my mother’s witch commands before I learned to walk.


  Gen-Mai intercepted my exit, halfway to the door, by the simple expedient of grabbing onto my belt. “Will you think for a moment?” she asked. “What makes someone real? To a Mage?”


  The words stopped me cold. I turned my gaze to Alan, out on the table. “A soul,” I whispered.


  “I am Alan Turing,” said the voice issuing from the computer. “Just slightly… disembodied… at the present moment.”


  “Alan Turing? The Alan Turing? Bletchley Park, Enigma, father of modern computing Alan Turing?”


  “The same,” he agreed. “Postmortem, of course.”


  “So I’ve gone and fallen in love with a ghost instead of an AI?” Marginally better. Marginally.


  “Love?” asked Alan, and the surprise was evident, even in the synthavoice.


  “Did I say that out loud?” I asked Gen-Mai.


  “Yes, you did,” said my boss. The “you idiot” was left unspoken, thankfully. “And you haven’t fallen in love with a ghost, you’ve fallen in love with a ghost possessing a computer. A company computer.”


  “So that’s why you were so distraught,” said Alan. “I’m so sorry, I didn’t realize.”


  There was nothing for it except to cover my face with my hands and groan.


  “The matter is academic, the way things stand now,” he said. Was this his way of trying to make me feel better? “But,” he continued, “it could have been very nonacademic. Where were you fifty years ago?”


  “Two dimensions over,” I said, taking a seat on the couch again.


  “Fascinating,” said Alan. “I certainly can’t hold that against you, can I?”


  “Probably not,” I replied, “I didn’t find out about the War till ’57.”


  “Pity.”


  “Indeed.”


  “If you British boys are done flirting,” said Gen-Mai, “can we discuss Demons for a moment?”


  “I’m half Welsh, a quarter Milesian, quarter Roman. Not a drop of British,” I said.


  “And flirting usually involves more suggestions of impending romance,” added Alan.


  “Not the way you two professors do it,” said Gen-Mai. “Work time now?”


  “Why not,” said Alan. “You’re going to force me to it anyway.”


  “Someone should tell her slavery has been illegal for a while,” I said to Alan.


  “You want to?” he asked. “I can search out and display the relevant passages from Canadian law.”


  “Better not—I need a regular paycheck, and she’s got a receipt for you. Unless you’ve got a fortune stashed somewhere, and I can just kidnap you right now, MacBook and all, and ride off into the sunset?” I was only half joking.


  “No fortune, I’m afraid. We could always sing for our supper.”


  “The Stephen Hawking/Darth Vader duet? I’m not sure of the mass appeal. And Petra’s collection agents would find me somehow.”


  “Ah yes. Love does not conquer student debt,” said Alan. “Pity.”


  “Indeed,” I replied. Then I turned to Gen-Mai. “That was flirting, by the way.”


  She rolled her eyes.


  “So what do you want us to work on?” asked Alan, in a resigned tone, I assumed—it was hard to tell, given that his voice had no intonation.


  “Figuring out how, and why, we got Demons in the office computers,” she said.


  Returning to the couch, I sat down and leaned my head back, closing my eyes. “The how is easy,” I said. “Gabe was a Babylonian Mage. All that chanting and muttering….”


  “He was a good Sysadmin,” said Gen-Mai.


  “The two are not mutually exclusive,” said Alan. “By the way, I just probed the network—”


  “You what?” I asked, opening my eyes and sitting up straight. “Alan, you can’t go around probing at a Demon-infected network. I—”


  “If those are Demons,” interrupted Alan. “I’ve never encountered any before, you see—they’re very simplistic.”


  “There exist only 121 named Demons in the world,” said Gen-Mai. “There were only six unaccounted for after our sweep. There are 204 computers at EK.”


  A thought occurred. “Could you check the logs? When did the latest batch of Demons get into the system? Just the logs, Alan, don’t get into the… network, stream, whatever.”


  “Wherever do you think the logs are stored?” asked Alan, amusement evident in his synthavoice. “I’m quite safe, not to worry. And here we are,” he said.


  “Don’t tell me,” I interrupted. “Yesterday. 20:22 SPT.”


  “Yes,” said Alan. “However did you know?”


  “Souls of the unborn,” I replied. “He’s using the unborn to summon an army of Demons from their plane of existence. Whatever that may be. Gen-Mai, I bet if you were to get your hands on statistics, stillbirths, at Saint Michael’s—”


  “What really happened last night?” asked Alan.


  Damn. This was going to take some explanation. A headache was starting to form behind my eyes. “I need caffeine,” I said.


  “You’re drinking coffee again?” asked Gen-Mai.


  “I can’t deal with withdrawal and Demons at the same time,” I said. Surely that was fair?


  Gen-Mai thought so. “There’s a Tim Horton’s four blocks away,” she said.


  “Okay. Don’t go anywhere. I’ll be back shortly.”


  “I’ll come with you,” said Gen-Mai.


  Something about leaving Alan alone on the coffee table didn’t sit right with me, but I was quite sure Gen-Mai would dismiss that as sentimental drivel.


  “You should probably meet Imp,” I said to Alan.


  “Who is Imp?” he asked.


  “My familiar,” I replied, then whistled. The shadows beneath the couch—directly in the line of sight of the MacBook’s webcam—started to writhe and take form. Even Gen-Mai was nonplussed. All right, so I was showing off a little.


  Finally, Imp popped out of the darkness, all three feet of him, scaly and gray today. “Imp,” I said, “meet Alan. He’s… is boyfriend okay with you, Alan?”


  “That’s… rather strange of you,” he said, “but do as you will.”


  I couldn’t detect any negativity in his voice, so I shrugged. “My boyfriend. And Gen-Mai, my boss.”


  Imp could be relied upon to be a proper little gentleman when required. It bowed to Gen-Mai, hopped up onto the coffee table, and placed a swift kiss on the corner of the laptop’s screen. Imp saw no distinction between a person and a dead person in a computer; one less doubter for me to deal with.


  “I am honored to meet you, Imp,” said Alan. “Do you play chess?” The icons disappeared off the screen, to be replaced by a virtual chessboard. Imp squeaked happily and sat down cross-legged before the keyboard.


  “We’ll be back in ten minutes,” I said.


  “Don’t break anything,” said Gen-Mai as she opened the door and walked out.


  With a final glance over my shoulder at the two on the coffee table, I followed her, closing the apartment door behind me.


   


  WE  WALKED and talked.


  “The office is locked?”


  “Yes,” she replied. “Told everyone to go home.”


  “Must be hurting productivity.” The wit was automatic again, a sure sign that I was close to achieving equilibrium. Good.


  “Yes. And there will be police forms to fill out.”


  The details of the fight at office had been trying to get my attention for half a block. “Justin was framed,” I said. “I’m fairly sure.”


  “By Gabe?”


  “No,” I said. Gabe hated JCN far too much. “But my judgment isn’t what it used to be.”


  Gen-Mai shrugged. “They won’t let me sit in on the interrogation—I’m far too close to the situation.”


  “What about Alan?” I asked. “Do they know he’s a ghost?”


  Gen-Mai said nothing. Inquisitorial secrets? What did Alan work on for them?


  After a few moments, “You realize he doesn’t have a body,” she said.


  “It’s slightly obvious.”


  We crossed Yonge and turned left on Gerrard, heading east. Gen-Mai waited to get back onto the sidewalk before speaking. “So you realize he doesn’t actually have the hormones to fall in love.”


  “I can work with intellectual affection.”


  “Vampire Prince and his lover, the MacBook 4,” said Gen-Mai. “Who am I to interfere with so obvious a match?”


  “Who indeed.”


  “You seem to be hell-bent on making this ‘relationship’ work by forcing the entire universe to bend to your will. All I can do is caution you.”


  “Consider me cautioned,” I said as we approached the next intersection. The light was red.


  “I don’t want either of you having nervous breakdowns,” she said and stabbed the crosswalk button.


  I gave the poor button a sympathetic look. “That would interfere with productivity.”


  “Exactly,” she said. “He used to delete himself,” she continued. “Databases, programs, everything, once a month. To test whether he was real, to test whether he could still remember his name. That stopped, when you came by. Said he’d hurt you, by not remembering.”


  Memory issues.


  I closed my eyes a moment. “Would you… interfere, if Alan decided he was through with being a ghost?”


  Gen-Mai knew, better than me, how much that would hurt EK.


  “If Alan truly wanted to reincarnate,” she said, “and I stood in the way of that, what could stop you from just removing me from the picture?”


  Truly, she surprised me—there was a shard of self-preservation in her after all? Not something I’d expected, after all the well-armed spies she’d been haranguing these last few weeks. “No force would be strong enough,” I said. I wouldn’t even have to hurt her.


  “Even if it required you to violate your Restriction?”


  I looked at her sideways. “You would make me choose between my oath and a soul I love?”


  “You are dangerous when you go quiet like that,” she said. “No, I wouldn’t.”


  “So the question is moot.”


  Gen-Mai sighed. “I’m going to have to start working through the nights, to prepare EK for this.”


  “I’ll help you,” I said. “Promise.”


  “That…won’t be appropriate,” she said.


  “Unless you’ve got a secret lover or something,” I said, gods help them, “I don’t see how it is anyone else’s business.”


  “Secret lovers?” Gen-Mai sounded aghast. “That’s the most important force you could possibly imagine in my life? Think corporate. Think big. Think shareholders, Mordred.”


  “Woman, you’re making my headache worse. How far is it to the goddamn coffee place?” We’d been walking for seven minutes.


  Gen-Mai pointed up the street. “See the big red sign on Jarvis? Carry caffeine pills around if your addiction is that bad.”


  “It’s not a full-blown addiction,” I muttered.


  “And I’m the Queen of Egypt,” she said.


  “You could be,” I said, smiling. “Haven’t looked into your past lives.”


  “You better not.”


  “Are you worried you might have been a monk, oath-sworn to a life of poverty?”


  “Better that than a communist.”


  CHAPTER TWENTY


  FAST AND FURIOUS


   


  A SHAMEFUL vapor fluttered awake at the tip of my tongue; two blocks away from Gen-Mai's apartment, I finally identified its source.


  “Something’s wrong,” I said.


   


  GEN-MAI’S front door was slightly ajar. We started running toward the apartment and burst in simultaneously to a scene of… nothing much at all. Except that Alan was no longer sitting on the coffee table.


  “Alan?” I called. No answer.


  “He’s not here,” said Gen-Mai, preternaturally calm.


  “I can see that,” I snapped. “Imp!” A faint meow from under the couch was the only response. “Did you move Alan?” I asked. More unintelligible meowing.


  “No, he’s not in the apartment,” said Gen-Mai. She was bent over next to the front door, inspecting the lock. “This has been forced. Call 911.”


  For a moment, I didn’t understand. Then the world turned red.


   


  I DRAGGED Imp out from under the couch. It was mewling piteously, squirming under my grasp. “You were supposed to watch Alan,” I told it. “What the fuck happened?”


  Murrrp! Gurrr! Meep.


  I shook it, my fingers tightening around its throat. “And you did nothing?”


  Geep! Murr…


  “I see. You’ve been a very, very bad familiar,” I cooed, and holding it by its scrawny neck, smashed its body down onto the coffee table.


  It screamed as the wood splintered under it. The noise attracted Gen-Mai’s attention.


  “What are you doing?”


  Wasn’t it obvious? I didn’t bother to answer her, just raised Imp again and smashed it down on the remnants of the table. I felt a crack under my hands as something inside Imp broke.


  It was howling now. The sound irritated me. Sighing, I picked it up again and threw it onto the floor. It lay there, trembling on the hardwood.


  “Stop it,” said Gen-Mai.


  But the world was red. And Alan was gone.


  “Who took him?” I asked.


  Mupr.


  That earned it a kick, and its scaly body slid across the floor to hit the far wall. “Stand up,” I said. “I’m not done.”


  Shaking violently, Imp tried to comply. But I’d broken too many bones for it to do much more than drag itself into a crouch.


  “You didn’t even wait to see who the fuck it was,” I observed. “Such cowardice. What is the use of you?”


  Tears were flowing from its eyes. Murrp. Meep. Burrp. Mur.


  “Rhetorical question,” I said, and advanced upon it. It was trying to crawl now, away from me.


  “Stop it,” said Gen-Mai again. “There’s security cameras. You can’t—”


  But I was already at the other end of the room. A booted foot stopped Imp’s pitiful crawling.


  “Do you have anything to say for yourself?” I asked. “Because if you do, now’s the time.”


  Imp opened its mouth, but all it could manage was a mewl.


  “Traitor,” I said. Always had been. Always would be. Reaching down, I grabbed it by the scruff of its neck. It hung limply in my hand, the glow in its eyes flickering fitfully. I drew my arm back and dashed it against the nearest window.


  The glass held. Imp shattered.


   


  GEN-MAI was staring at me.


  “What?” I asked.


  “You….”


  Shrugging, I turned my back on the shadow shards of my now-dead familiar that lay scattered on the floor. “So, 911?” I asked. “Or shall we call the SA? Wait, no, never mind, the Securitates Arcanarum is already here.” Laughing to myself, I sat down on the couch. “So, Inquisitor, a Mage comes into your house and steals Alan Turing. What are you going to do about it?”


  “A Mage?” she asked, walking toward me cautiously, as if I would suddenly go berserk and attack her too.


  “That’s what scared Imp, the little coward,” I said. “I’m Restricted, so it was too. Didn’t even dare to look out from under the couch, see who it was.”


  “Nobody knows I live here.”


  The inevitable nausea was building in the pit of my stomach as the shadow-black shards liquefied, and then began to snake their way across the floor toward me. Sighing, I leaned forward to rest my elbows on my knees, lowering my head into my hands. It took almost a minute and a half for the discomfort to pass, the last of Imp reabsorbed into me. Gen-Mai said nothing the entire time.


  “Security cameras, you said?” I asked, finally.


  Gen-Mai woke up. “Yes. Downstairs.”


   


   


  BY SOME means, Magical or otherwise, Gen-Mai persuaded the security guard to let us look through the recordings made by the lift camera in the past half hour. At exactly 14:26, a familiar figure waddled its way into the lift and pressed the button for the eighteenth floor.


  Gen-Mai pulled out her cellphone. The video continued.


  “This is Captain Taur,” she said. “I need to speak to the High Inquisitor.”


  My ears picked up faint on-hold music coming through her cell. “They don’t make Inquisitions like they used to,” I said, smiling. “You people can’t hold one overweight Sysadmin for more than two hours?”


  In the video, Gabe reached the eighteenth floor and got out. The lift descended again, to carry an old woman from the fifth floor to ground. Then it went up again. Gabe got on, Alan under his arm.


  “Hello,” spoke Gen-Mai. “No, this is a Code Ultra. I need to speak to her.”


  After a few more minutes, Gen-Mai hung up.


  “The High Inquisitor is not available,” she said. “The entire General Staff is in the middle of trying to contain a Demon outbreak.”


  “Lovely,” I said. “So it’s just you and me? Let’s go.”


  “Go where?” asked Gen-Mai, hurrying to keep up with me as I left the security kiosk and moved toward the front entrance of the building.


  “Work, of course. Where do you think Gabe is headed?”


   


  OUTSIDE, not one, not two, but three empty taxis drove by the intersection of Parliament and Queen without slowing down. By the last one Gen-Mai and I were standing almost in the middle of the street, waving our arms around like buffoons.


  “Call them,” she said to me. Back to boss mode. Good. The blank and stupid Gen-Mai would be of no use to Alan.


  But the phone kept ringing and ringing. “No answer,” I said. Gen-Mai, too, was on her cellphone and apparently experiencing similar levels of success.


  Another taxi drove by. This time I put myself squarely in its path, met the driver’s eyes as he accelerated toward me. The man looked confused, was about to stop, then glanced at something—a piece of paper—stuck onto the dash. His eyes widened, and he swerved wildly to one side, made an illegal left turn into an alley. Gen-Mai and I raced after him, but he was gone, leaving cab-yellow streaks of paint against the walls of the alley.


  “What the fuck?” I said, turning to Gen-Mai. “Is there something on my face?” She was just getting off the phone. “Did you reach someone?”


  “This is your fault,” she said. “All the cab companies have been warned about the creepy blonde guy in the trench coat. Now they’ve added my number to the no-ride list.”


  My thoughts spun furiously. Discard options that won’t work. “Can you drive?” I asked her, moving toward a deep maroon car parked on the roadside. It looked rather old.


  “What are you—”


  A swift back kick, and the car’s window shattered. No car alarm, as expected.


  “That is completely illegal,” she said, running to my side. “As an officer of the law—”


  Manually pulling up the door lock, I opened the driver’s side door, brushed the glass off the seat onto the floor. “You want to rescue Alan?” I asked her.


  Muttering to herself, Gen-Mai made her way to the passenger side. Then, without waiting for me to open the lock, she smashed the other window.


  “What?” she asked. “You did it first.”


  “Never mind,” I said. “Just get in. Watch the glass.” It gave me enough time to contemplate the ignition. I’d read about this. There was a plastic cover under the steering wheel, held in place by a couple of screws. Wrenching it off, I found a tangle of wires underneath. Primary power to circuit lock. Had to be the only two wires that were the same color. Red and white stripes. All right. They didn’t pull out very far. It was a very, very odd procedure to get my mouth to the right place, but I managed to strip the wires off with my teeth. Twist. Now which one was the ignition? Doesn’t matter. Try them all.


  The third wire worked. The engine spluttered awake, then died with a wheezing sound. Again. “Gen-Mai, rev the engine.”


  “How?” she asked.


  “Push down on the accelerator.”


  “Which one is the accelerator?” she asked.


  Sweet gods. “Don’t you watch any movies?” I muttered. Probably not—it wasn’t productive.


  Another awkward twisterlike maneuver later, my left hand was pushing down on the accelerator, my teeth were working with my right hand to keep the wires in contact, and my knees were digging into the road as I knelt beside the car, the door open. Other vehicles were passing by on the road; somebody had surely called the police by now. Thankfully, the engine was running, and stable, in the next fifteen seconds.


  Quickly, I got inside, and closed the door. We had a car.


  Now I just had to learn how to drive.


   


  ADJUST mirrors. Look left. Turn steering wheel. Press accelerator.


  The engine whined, but the car didn’t move. Right. Gears. Looking around, I found the gear stick between the passenger and driver seats. Not “R”. “3”? Let’s try it. There was a loud grinding sound, and the car lurched forward. It had moved about a meter before my right foot found the brake pedal. Luckily, there was no one in front of us.


  Look left again. Turn steering wheel. Press accelerator.


  “Car.”


  “Yes, I can see it,” I muttered. “I have right-of-way.” Knights on rescue missions always have right-of-way.


  The blue Honda screeched to a halt, letting me wobble my way into traffic. Too fast. Okay, brake. The stop was bone-jarring. Swearing off that pedal for the next few minutes, I accelerated again.


  "Put on your seat belt," said Gen-Mai. Her calm was admirable. Her advice, not so much.


  "Hands busy," I said.


  "Red light."


  "Yes, I saw it," I muttered, as we crossed Sumach. "I have right of way."


  By River Street I had managed to coordinate the foot-switch between accelerator and brake, and we stopped for pedestrians.


  "Can I ask you a question?" said Gen-Mai.


  "Hands busy," I muttered.


  Predictably, Gen-Mai chose not to acknowledge my objection. "Why are we going the wrong way?" she asked.


  "Because I don't know how to turn right, yet," I said. "Not to worry, this meets King up ahead." What was taking this light so very long to turn? I could have sworn the North-South traffic had been moving unimpeded for something close to two full minutes.


  "It's getting dark. Are your lights on?"


  Everyone else's headlights were on, so why were mine necessary? "Yes."


  "I don't think they are," said Gen-Mai. "Turn on your lights."


  "Hands busy," I said. "You want to steer?"


  "Is that what you were doing?" she asked. "Because I don't think the car should wobble that much when it's being steered."


  "The road curved!" I said. "Nothing I could do about that." The light turned green. I was rather proud of how smooth the acceleration was this time. Next intersection, I'd fix the wobbling. The gain on the steering wheel was set too high, that was the problem.


  As expected, I had this driving-in-a-straight-line-even-when-the-road-curves thing down to an art by the time Queen and King were ready to merge. Not bad for a man born a mere twenty years after the second sack of Rome.


  Now I just had to learn how to make sharp rights. Very sharp rights.


  The transition onto King was smoother than expected, for some reason. Probably because the oncoming traffic saw me, and stopped in time. But other drivers were not very obliging, it appeared, if one needed to switch lanes quickly.


  "You've gone too far again."


  "I'll turn left at Parliament." Left turns were easy, especially when there was a traffic light. Was there a traffic light at King and Parliament?


  Yes there was. Parliament and Mill had one too, facilitating yet another almost-smooth left turn.


  “Close enough,” said Gen-Mai.


  I had to agree. I’d found us a local minimum.


   


  WE DECIDED not to waste any time parking the car. Swerving into a construction site right after Mill and Cherry, I frantically switched gears till the car decided not to move forward when I took my foot off the brake pedal. Then we got out and ran.


  CHAPTER TWENTY-ONE


  L’OSSUAIRE MUNICIPAL


   


  A STREETLIGHT just overhead chose to flicker, then play dead, as we stood at the front doors of EK. Despite Gen-Mai’s repeated jabs at the keypad, the indicator light remained stubbornly red.


  “Here, let me try,” I said. Pressing pound twice to clear the memory, I input my code. Nothing.


  “He changed the codes,” said Gen-Mai. “Or disabled ours.”


  Sysadmins are dangerous enemies to have.


  “At least we know he’s in there,” I said. And so is Alan. Locked, beyond our reach. Locked? I punched in another set of four digits. Lo and behold, the light turned green.


  “What was that?” asked Gen-Mai.


  “The master keycode.”


  She looked blank. But now was not the time to explain EK’s security holes. Putting a finger to my lips, just in case Gen-Mai decided to storm the place screaming like a boss, I pushed open the door.


   


  SIX minutes later, we found ourselves in the Think Tank. There was no sign of Gabe, or Alan, but all the computers apart from the ones in the Cluster Room were gone, monitor and keyboard and USB cables dangling forlornly amid the dust that still bore the imprints of the cases.


  “Demon Summoning, unhygienic goat slaughtering, and corporate theft,” said Gen-Mai as we started making our way out through Cubicle Land. “That’s completely fair grounds for dismissal.”


  “Um. Let’s not forget he kidnapped Alan Turing.” I scanned the room from left to right, looking for anything we’d missed the first time.


  “That’s still classified as corporate theft,” said Gen-Mai. “The MacBook is registered to EK.”


  “You know,” I said as we walked down the steps to the sub-basement again, “if you ever want to become Deathless, apply to House Petra. Tell him I sent you.” On the face, a good deed for both Gen-Mai and Petra. Deeper, a sweet gooey center made of revenge. Maybe they’d get married. An eternity of click-clack for my erstwhile co-councillor. It was a fantastic idea.


  “I’m going to cast a tracking,” I said.


  “No,” said Gen-Mai. “The future is far too uncertain right now. Having you bleed all over the place is not a good idea.”


  “If we don’t find Alan by 03:20—”


  “That stack is misaligned,” Gen-Mai said.


  “What stack?”


  “The misaligned one.”


  Walking over to where she was pointing, I saw it—the rack was shifted a bit, a degree or two off in yaw. How had she seen that?


  Putting my arms around the rack, I twisted. The entire structure shivered, then turned, reluctantly, with a metal-on-cement screeching sound. And, like something designed by the most stereotypical of Bond villains, the entire slab under Gabe’s desk swivelled around to reveal a narrow shaft descending into the Earth.


   


  THE Symbiot had mercifully deactivated my smell receptors under the onslaught of stink about halfway down the crude metal stairs.


  “City sewers,” said Gen-Mai, as we reached the bottom. “Maybe a blocked-off tunnel.”


  “For Alan’s sake, woman, please don’t state the obvious anymore.” I pulled out my cellphone and flipped it open. The walls of the tunnel gleamed wetly under its faint blue LCD light.


  “This is not a nice place,” she said.


  She just doesn’t listen.


  “There are dark things in here.”


  “This isn’t New York,” I said. “No mutants down here but me.” I started forward, only to be stopped short by her hand on my arm. But instead of holding onto me for some vague psychological reason, she used her hold to drag me around to face her. For a five-foot-nothing woman, she was fantastically strong.


  She looked into my eyes. “And you’re not a nice person.”


  “Never said I was. Is now really the time to discuss this?”


  “I need to reassess some assumptions,” she said. “Because there is a lot of uncertainty up ahead. I can’t be uncertain about you too.”


  “Fine,” I replied, wishing I could lean against something for effect. “Reassess away. Alan can wait on your sitrep index to rise a few percentage points.”


  “Thank you,” she said. “The SA files say you are always scrupulously fair.”


  That gave me pause. The Inquisition had good things to say about me?


  But Gen-Mai wasn’t done. “Your Imp didn’t do anything wrong, per se. Why take your anger out on it?”


  “What do you think a familiar is?” I asked. Her face, eerily illuminated by the glow from her iPad, looked blank. Not a fair question; it was doubtful any Mage on Earth had made a familiar in the last two hundred years. “Gen-Mai, Imp was me. My childhood. All the parts of my soul I couldn’t utilize, nor had the heart to erase. I poured myself into a Magical construct and let it watch cartoons and order stupid things from eBay and eat Froot Loops for dinner.”


  “I see,” she said. “Shall we go rescue Alan?”


  It was one of the few things I truly liked about Gen-Mai—she was pitiless. Cellphones raised aloft, we pressed on.


   


  A FEW meters down the tunnel, Gen-Mai clutched at my hand again, then pointed to the ground. In one corner, there sat a small reptile that levered itself up as soon as our light hit it, then started moving away from us.


  “Dark things,” she whispered.


  “Just somebody’s pet turtle. Probably flushed down a toilet,” I whispered back.


  “There’s three more up ahead,” she said. “And a rat.”


  “Just… don’t talk, okay?” I said. Then, “Unless you see something relevant to our current circumstances,” I amended. The woman could be very literal.


  The acoustics down here were dismal; we were half deafened by the mini earthquake of a streetcar passing overhead. The roof of the tunnel sloped down—it would be hands and knees, soon. How had Gabe brought all those computers through here without leaving a mark? Magic? But I should have been able to detect the afterglow, Restriction notwithstanding.


  “This is relevant,” said Gen-Mai. “The tunnel is heading toward the warehouse across the street.”


  Which meant he didn’t take the computers through here, he just carted them through the intersection.


  As the tunnel became narrower, I slowly flipped my phone shut and dropped to my knees. Gen-Mai followed suit. The Symbiot, now in direct contact with the slime around us, was overjoyed. Not for long, though, because in about five more meters, the slime came to an abrupt end. And the bright flashes in my field of view were neither cosmic rays not tricks of the mind, but the imprint of Magic in the air. The slime had been burned away with raw power.


  Gen-Mai must have seen it too, because she grabbed my boot and started tapping on it.


  “Woman,” I said, “We do not have time for Morse code. Just say it.”


  “Chanting,” she said. “Up ahead.”


  I listened. Somewhere under the hum of cars passing overhead and the waterfall-like echoes induced in the tunnel, there was something that could possibly be a human voice, though I couldn’t localize the source.


  There was nothing for it but to continue toward the Demonic Meth Lab and hope there were no side branches. Soon the tunnel started widening again, sloping upward, and I felt Gen-Mai squirm her way past me. “I have the gun,” she said, anticipating my objection. How was a gun going to help with a horde of Demons, exactly? I didn’t argue, and she took the lead.


   


  IT WAS precisely what saved me. A bright light flared in the tunnel ahead of us, pinning Gen-Mai in its glare. I backed up slowly, till I was well beyond the illuminated section of tunnel.


  “Well, well, well,” said a familiar voice, echoing horribly in the confined space. “Our very own Inquisitor, giving my babies a visit. Hi Boss! Come on out!”


  Pudgy hands, maggoty pale in the floodlight, grabbed Gen-Mai and dragged her out. Trapped as she was by the close confines, or perhaps the sudden shock of light, Gen-Mai did not have the opportunity to reach for the gun. Webs of black-green power flickered around her. The very sight of them made bile rise to my throat. What kind of Magic was this—well, Demonic, obviously, but other than that? For the first time in my rather long tenure as a Mage, I didn’t want to know. And I wanted it nowhere near me.


  But Gabe didn’t know I was here, and wouldn’t unless Gen-Mai opened her mouth or he shone a flashlight down the tunnel. The former was unlikely unless she was coerced in some way, which would take time. The latter was becoming less and less an option as she struggled in his grasp—a spitting mad Inquisitor is a handful for anyone. Somehow, my sympathy for Gabe was lacking at the moment.


  As he dragged her away, my eyes lit upon something four-and-a-half meters beyond the mouth of the tunnel. My mouth went dry.


  Alan.


  I realized I was trembling with reaction, the need to rush out and grab the MacBook rising to fever pitch inside me. Every shard of fear I had been suppressing till now was littering my vision with black spots as the Symbiot struggled to control the overload of adrenaline. I couldn’t see anything beyond the small light-cone at the end of the tunnel, couldn’t see what Gabe was doing with Gen-Mai, couldn’t see if there were Demons, or other Demonologists, in the room, couldn’t see anything except Alan. Couldn’t call out to him and have him hear; the MacBook’s lid was shut, webs of black-green everywhere—where did they lead?


  Alan.


  There were voices in the room now, Gabe saying something that was lost in the echoes off the walls around me.


  Goddamn tunnel vision. Focus. Listen.


  “Liar,” Gabe was saying. “With his headaches and seizures and doing everything Alan tells him to do, and talking to Alan every fucking morning, noon, and night?”


  “Is not,” said Gen-Mai. “You’re stupid. Alan is a ghost, not a Demon.”


  “Bullshit,” said Gabe. “I’m the only one of you that’s not a fucking Demonologist!”


  “You are summoning Demons—”


  “No, I’m summoning angels.”


  The same claptrap Justin had been spewing earlier. Where did they get their ideas? There was no such thing as angels.


  “Your Demon,” continued Gabe, “I’m gonna suck out of that piece-of-crap machine. Put him where he belongs, with all the other filthy ones.”


  The very thought twisted the core of me, anger radiating outward, making the tips of my fingers tingle with the power of it. Magic? I would tear Gabe’s head off with my bare han— Tear his head off? No. No. No. Not again. Never again.


  “As an oath-sworn member of the Securitates Arcanarum, I, Gen-Mai Taur, hereby place you, Gabe Malbon, under arrest for Demon Summoning, unlawful Demon Possession, slaughtering of animals in direct contravention of city bylaws, kidnapping of an innocent soul, and corporate theft. Please raise your hands and step away from the summoning Sigil.”


  “Or what?” Gabe asked.


  “This is a nullmage-safe, anti-human ballistic device.” Please, not the gun. “If you do not surrender, I will be forced to fire. My instructions in the case of Demonic Possession are shoot to kill. Do you understand? You have the right to—”


  The sound of fingers being snapped together was loud in the darkness. Threads of green fire suddenly appeared in the air before the MacBook.


  “Please shut up,” said Gabe politely. “I’m doing Magic.”


  “Five,” said Gen-Mai. “Four. Three.”


  Must not allow a sentient soul to come to harm. Must not allow those black-green things to touch Alan. I was crawling forward before I knew it. Then I was in the light and out of the tunnel.


  There was a moment of pure soundlessness as Gabe looked up in comic slow motion. Gen-Mai’s fingers were moving on the trigger. Four meters straight ahead to Alan. Just less than three meters to Gabe, standing one-eighth tau radians to my right. Halfway between the two, six copper water bottles on the ground, surrounded by bloody writing. Four-and-a-half meters to Gen-Mai, beyond Gabe, about one-fourth tau radians to my right.


  I crashed into Gabe, rolling him under me, and into the grasping black-green tentacles reaching for Alan.


  My world imploded with pain.


   


  A WIND carries me away, and dumps me into a room made entirely of glass. There is a roaring sound, and something rushes at me.


  It has eyes like gimlets, too many of them, and tentacles crawling out of its forehead. Its teeth, long and yellow, jut out of holes in its cheeks, pus leaking from the wounds.


  Just as it is about to reach me, it raises an arm and rips its own face off. Underneath is the slightly manic visage of a normal human being. He starts gesturing wildly, saying things, the tentacles of that thing in his hand almost slapping me in the face.


  “I don’t understand you!” I try in Etruscan. The man looks puzzled, says something again. I don’t understand that either. “Do you speak Egyptian?” I ask in Old Kingdom.


  “Oh yes, very well,” he says. “My master was Egyptian.”


  Thank the gods for Thoth’s Equal Language Representation Act of 1218. “So what were you screaming at me earlier?” I ask.


  “I was greeting you! A visitor! Nobody has come here since Slimefriend!” The man gestures to the corner. There, clinging to the wall, is a smear of slime splattered in a very, very familiar pattern. The seeds of a suspicion bloom in my mind.


  “Are you a ghost?” I ask.


  A smile blooms across his face. “A ghost Mage in a Vessel, which makes me a Demon.”


  “You were supposed to be an Angel.”


  “There’s a difference?”


  “I suppose not,” I say and stand up. The hideous mask in the man’s hand dissolves away to nothing. “So where were you from, when you were alive?” I ask. Somewhere that is gone now, most probably, since the man doesn’t recognize anything newer than OKE.


  The man straightens his shoulders, stands taller. “I am a Mage of Babylon.”


   


  “STUPID Restriction,” I mutter, running my hands over the smooth glass. “I can break this.” If it weren’t for my oath.


  The Babylonian laughs. “What are you, an Adept? I built this ward myself. It’ll keep us in.”


  “Are they all like this?” I ask. “The other rooms?”


  “Oh yes.”


  “So you never get out.”


  “No, sadly. It’s been a very boring day. But look, there’s Sammael!” The Babylonian raises his hand and waves at a dark silhouette in the distance, indistinct through the layer upon layer of milky glass. The silhouette waves back. “Should have allowed for sound, now that I think about it.”


  “What happens if your Vessel breaks?” I ask, kicking at the glass just for kicks.


  The Mage looks smug. “Oh, we’ve allowed for that—they’re just metal and clay, won’t last more than a hundred years. But these walls will hold till the newest apprentice fashions a new one.”


  It makes no sense. “Why would you do that?” Trap yourself forever in a glass box?


  “To help our students! Last year, there were only three new apprentices, and not one of them able to light a lamp.”


  “So you put your souls in Vessels?”


  “It was all Solomon’s idea. But I haven’t seen him around today. Maybe he’s too far away.” The Babylonian peers through the glass walls anxiously.


  It’s a common name. “So this Solomon comes with an idea for… what, specifically?” I ask.


  “That we fashion ourselves into Demons, after death, to add our power to our students’ so the Lineage continues. I was not at the forefront of the Great Work, you understand. This was just when I was just finishing my apprenticeship.”


  “You seem to have far too much power for an apprentice,” I say. Stupid Restriction.


  “Do you forget I am dead? Now I can shred metal apart like cloth.”


  “The dead are weak,” I agree absently, probing the glass for any weakness that may be exploited without being forsworn in the process. “They can divest an electron of its spin faster than Bruce Lee.”


  “What does that mean?” he asks.


  “It would take time to explain,” I say.


  “Ah. Don’t do it then—I won’t remember a thing.”


  Permanent short-term amnesia; anything that happens to a soul after it is dead does nothing but contribute to the soul’s feeling of near-permanent déjà-vu. “But if a Mage were to remember…?”


  “Memory is only kept in material things,” he says. “The heart—”


  “The brain,” I interrupt, then see the look on his face. “Sorry. Go on.”


  “The heart, and blood. And these Vessels—these houses—around us. They don’t store very much. From sunset to sunrise only.”


  How many megabytes would that be? Depends on the encoding. “Tell me,” I ask, “what if there was something else—an object, not a Vessel—that could provide one of the Dead with near unlimited memory?” Well, 128 gigabytes of solid-state memory, without Internet access.


  “That cannot be,” says the Babylonian. “All we have is a day’s worth. For our apprentices to write and rewrite with their spells, convince us to use our powers at their bidding.”


  “What if?”


  “That—now that would be a Demon to see. Why, the student could do anything with such power!”


  “Isn’t that rather dangerous?” I ask, “What if a Mage were to use his Master’s power wrongly?”


  “Why would you do that when it’ll be your turn to go into the Vessel when you’re dead?”


  “Pardon?”


  “The Compact—my Elijah will come when his body dies. Then I can go into the gate, and he can serve his student. The Lineage will continue, the Vessel will pass from Master to apprentice till the end of time.” He smiles. “We’re very proud of the system.”


  Fuck. “Can it happen accidentally? Encountering a Demon and becoming tied to its Compact?”


  “No, no. You would have to shed blood to bind yourself to the Vessel.”


  Had I ever shed blood for Alan? The Incident leaps to mind. Not for Alan. For a robot. But Alan was considered the “father of modern computing.” The link sounds rather weak to my ears. “If it did happen—how would the Mage get out of it.”


  “Why would you want to get out of it? Hasn’t your Master served you well enough?” The Babylonian is indignant now.


  “Say it was a mistake,” I say soothingly. “Done unwittingly.”


  The Babylonian looks sceptical. “You cannot break a compact. You die. You assume the name of the Lineage. Then your student comes after you. That’s the only way.”


  “And what happens when a Mage sheds blood for some other Vessel?”


  A look of disgust came over his face. “Master to student is bad enough. Why would you touch another Lineage’s soul so closely?” he shudders.


  “To gain more power?” Will Gabe be ripped apart, a piece of him going in each one? Can’t have a full soul in each, Conservation of Spirit and all that.


  “Might as well call yourself a Necromancer then,” he says with a sneer. “But it cannot happen. No student would let his Master be desecrated like that.”


  “Demonologists—Babylonian Mages—outside, they sacrifice animals left, right, and center. They shed blood every day.”


  “Why would they?” he asks. “You must have misunderstood. They were probably butchering the animals for meat. Sacrifice to a Demon only has to be done once.”


  Stranger and stranger. “The Demonologist that I… ran into… outside had three goat carcasses bled dry on the ground in front of him. The blood had been used to draw Sigils around six different Vessels, of which yours was one.”


  The Babylonian’s eyes go wide with horror. “What Sigils?” he whispers.


  I wet my finger with the tip of my tongue, and start drawing what I remember of them on the floor.


  “No, no, no,” whispers the Demon, staring at the symbols on the floor. “No.”


  “What?” I snap. His noes are getting on my nerves.


  “They’re all wrong! Elijah would never draw this. Never!”


  “What does it do?” I ask.


  “It’s all wrong,” he says.


  This is irritating. Time for a dose of reality. “The Mage in control of your Vessel is named Gabe, not Elijah.”


  “Elijah would never give me to someone else.”


  “Then Elijah’s dead,” I say.


  “No, he can’t be, I’m still here, not him. He’ll come to take my place and let me free.”


  Does this Elijah deserve the benefit of the doubt? “Was… is Elijah one of the Deathless?” I don’t know everyone in the Nightcity.


  “I don’t know what that is,” says the Demon.


  Fuck. “An Immortal.”


  “There’s no such thing as immortals.”


  We are quiet, for a while, watching the sun refract into a double rainbow, all the way to the glass floor.


  “The Sigil—it’s wrong how?” I ask.


  “It breaks the soul apart, into little pieces. A Mage would go mad if he cast this!”


  “Why would a Mage want to break his soul apart?” The question is for the Demon’s benefit.


  “How do I know?” he asks. “You’re drawing them wrong. You don’t remember what you saw.”


  “How would it alter the Compact if pieces of a Mage’s soul made their way here instead of the whole soul, when the mage was dead?”


  My patience pays off. The Babylonian doesn’t answer, looking at the ground for a while. Then, “How long have I been here?” he asks, finally.


  “Three thousand years.”


  “Elijah would never….”


  “I’m sorry.”


  “But he was such a bright boy. This… this is stupid!”


  To break up a soul’s complexity into its constituent elements? One of the stupidest things I’ve ever heard of—he’ll be lucky if he’s reborn as an ant.


  But, “People do stupid things, if they think it’ll get them something without paying the price for it.”


  “The Compact wasn’t a price,” says the Mage, then starts laughing as pus-filled tears roll down the face of the mask in his hand. Finally, he stops. “It was supposed to be an honor.”


  “Was there any sort of test to see who was worthy of this ‘honor’?” Some primitive version of a Psych eval, perhaps?


  “We held a competition. The boys who computed their Magic Squares the fastest… they each got a Vessel.”


  Because calculation is exactly the kind of ability you want to reward with power. “And then?”


  “And then we died.”


   


  THE Mage breaks the silence after a few breaths. “What happened outside, that you are here?”


  “Gabe was drawing a soul… a Demon… from one Vessel to another. I intervened.”


  “You must have been hurt,” he says, concerned.


  I shrug. “I don’t know.”


  “You must have bled. Or you wouldn’t be here.”


  Fuck. “So I’m a Demon now too?”


  “This room is my memory,” he says. “And I haven’t given you my name. Don’t worry, I won’t. No, once you finish dying, I expect you will just… pass from here.”


  Kind-hearted incompetents. “And leave you behind, trapped in a glass box for all eternity?”


  “I have Slimefriend for company,” he says, pointing to the bacterial ghost clinging to the corner. “Who knows, it could even be Elijah.” He smiles. “A part of him, at least.”


  Goddamn Babylonian. “All right, that’s it,” I say. “This is ridiculous. Give me your name.” An oath is not worth this, and my father would have been the first to urge me to break it. The SA will just have to deal.


  “What are you going to do?” he asks.


  “Didn’t tell you earlier, but I’m an Adept. I’ll assume your Name, so you can be free. Then I’ll break the Vessel.” Simple enough.


  “You can do that?” A terrible hope blooms in the Mage’s face.


  “Fairly certain.”


  “First the wards,” he says. “You have to wear the chains first.” Fair enough. Even dead, the man is far weaker than me in Power. His wards will shatter nicely.


   


  MY HEAD is driven to the ground with the violence of it.


  “I told you,” the Mage says, wringing his hands with misery. “Now your power is added to them! They will not break!” He’s almost sobbing now.


  “Again,” I say.


   


  THE glass walls refuse to show even a crack for all the Power flung against them. The Mage is crying openly now.


  “Stop that!” I snap. “Give me your Name and just get your ass out of here.”


  “No, no,” he wails.


  “Just do it!”


  He shakes his head stubbornly. “It is my Vessel. You have no place here.”


  He is far too distraught to listen to orders. A change in tone is called for. “Everyone you know and love is gone,” I say. “Even your name is forgotten, outside. But I have friends,” If an Inquisitor of the Securitates Arcanarum can be called a friend. There is also Alan, my ghost-in-a-MacBook. Alan will not abandon me in here. “They will figure something out. You need to go.”


  “But….” He trails off. He wants to go. Who wouldn’t?


  “Give me your Name,” I say.


  “Why are you doing this?” He asks. “Why would you chain yourself in here for me?”


  “Necromancer.”


  The man’s eyes grow wide as he scoots back, involuntarily. Unclean. Unclean. I put on smile 17: reassure.


  “I’m on your side,” I say. “The Living have all kinds of Mages to look out for them. You have only us to witness your suffering.”


  A look of shame crosses his face. He masters himself, and slowly comes forward. “If the dead suffer, we do not remember it,” he whispers. “We feel no pain!”


  “But I do. Give me your Name, nameless Mage of Babylon, and go from this place. The Desert has waited long enough.”


   


  THE Kiss of Death is the simplest of last rites, and the most powerful.


  As the Mage’s lips touch mine, briefly, his soul whispers to me its outermost guise. Then the Mage is gone, his Slimefriend with him.


   


  MY NAME, is Michael.


   


  SOMEONE is chanting, far away. The voice is familiar. A singing baritone reduced to whispers, given voice by lightning.


  Everything becomes transparent. My summoner, his white body sitting beside a corpse on the ground, is in a room surrounded by whirling machines. New-made writing, the blood still shimmering with wetness, surrounds the summoner and the corpse. Another soul—a tattered one, weeping silent tears, is reading from a book, words which my summoner repeats. Then, he breaks the pattern.


  “Mordred, um, could you please come out of there?”


  The phrasing is awkward. The Sigils around the glass house glow fitfully. It is the wrong name. No matter. I go.


  “As you have called, so I come,” I say.


  The Mage with the book seems taken aback. “It worked?” he says. “But that’s not Mordred!”


  “Mordred is gone,” I say. “I am here to serve. Summoner, what is your will?”


  My summoner is looking at me—the green light above his screen is blinking fitfully. A smile slips involuntarily over the bared teeth of the Demon mask I’ve inherited from my predecessor.


  “Mordred needs to come back to his body,” says my summoner.


  “The wards of Demons do not allow that,” I say. Which is a shame, because my summoner is so very close to my corpse. I would have liked to touch him.


  “Um. Mordred must come back to his body.”


  “I don’t think that can work,” says the Mage with the book.


  “You said be forceful,” my summoner says to him. “I’m being forceful. Demon, angel, whatever you are, you need to send Mordred back to his body.”


  I tilt my head to one side, considering. “That will break my wards,” I say.


  “Do it!” demands my summoner.


  Given what the last Michael said, the Demon that is my summoner is far stronger than me. “Lend me your power,” I say.


  “How?”


  “Make the corpse speak the words.”


  “Okay, that’s creepy,” says the Mage with the book. “A ghost in a computer is going to make a dead body compel a Demon to bring it back from the dead?”


  “Silence, Mage-with-a-book!” I command. A Demon is going to make its student, itself a Demon, give up its ghost. In inverse. My explanation makes much more sense.


  The corpse’s lips move, as it starts chanting. Demon versus Demon. The corpse’s hands move, drawing a grid beside it on the floor in its own blood. One by one, the numbers fill, and with a smile, I submit to my summoner’s command.


   


  THE way back to my corpse is a crater, the pit at its apex high above me. Far too high. The wind is pushing me back, and I wish I could just let myself go and fall to its base. But my Demon has called me.


  An eternity passes. It hurts to climb as I must. A whisper-dry scent tinges the wind, the Desert pulling at me to sleep and let go.


  But my Demon has called me.


   


  THE first thing I felt was a bone-weary tiredness. Second, a wet wheeze every time I inhaled or exhaled. Third, a hand, cold as a winter sunset, holding mine. I had no trouble opening my eyes when that registered.


  “Hey you,” I said.


  “Hello,” said Alan, smiling. My world was sideways; I was on the floor of the Cluster Room, Alan kneeling beside me. “Stay with us now.”


  “I don’t know if I can,” I said.


  “Why ever not?” he asked.


  “I want to, really,” I lied. “It’s just that my gate is open.” The maw of the crater was yawning, wide, beneath me.


  Alan frowned. “You’ll just have to ignore it,” he said.


  “If you want me to,” I replied, smiling up at him. The winds slackened a bit. Alan was powerful, even when wasn’t being a Demon in the MacBook.


  “Okay, okay, we need morphine,” said a voice. There was no menace in it, only panic.


  “WTF?” I mouthed at Alan.


  “Gen-Mai shot you,” said Alan, his brow furrowed in something I might have called anger had he not been a ghost.


  “Stupid Inquisitor,” said Gabe from somewhere to my left. The rustle of cloth, the sound of straining seams, informed me he had come to sit beside me. “Hold on Mori!” he shouted, right in my ear. “You are in shock. The Inquisitor shot you through the heart. We dragged you back here, but you lost a lot of blood. Google says I should apply pressure, okay? This is going to hurt!”


  “Stop him,” I pleaded to Alan, unable to turn my head toward Gabe. The Symbiot had me in lockdown, obviously, trying to keep me alive.


  “He can’t see me,” said Alan. “You shouldn’t be able to either. You are far too close to the boundary.”


  “Told you,” I said. “Gate’s open.”


  “Stop bleeding Mori,” said Gabe, pushing down on my ribs. “Please stop bleeding.”


  “Where is Gen-Mai?” I asked Alan.


  “Right behi-ah, you can’t see her. Behind you.”


  “Sorry, head-turning is going to be a bit difficult right now,” I said. “Could you please tell her you’re a Demon?”


  “Pardon?”


  Quickly, I summarized my encounter in the Vessel, and what followed after. “So I need to help them,” I finished. “They’ve been enslaved for millennia.”


  Alan frowned. “And you say I’m stronger than them?”


  “You’re… something else.”


  The lights flickered, and Alan was gone. The green LED near the MacBook’s webcam came on.


  And every one of the copper Vessels now placed around Gabe’s workstation, and every one of the desiccated, Demon-filled computers stacked near the door cracked.


   


  THE wind! It tumbles me right over the rim of the crater. My fingers wrap around the edge of the world. I can see the Mage-with-a-book wailing, stepping over my body to throw himself at the Demon Vessels.


  “Mordred!” Alan shouts, looking over the rim of the crater. His eyes are the bluest I have ever seen.


  “I’m here,” I gasped. “Right here. Well done, you freed the Demons. But could you please warn me next time?”


  Gabe turned back to us, his eyes whirling madly. Behind him, all the screens attached to the wall of the Cluster Room were turning on, one by one.


  “Sorry, sorry,” said Alan, holding my hand in his cold grasp. “But… I don’t know if I got them all.”


  “You did,” said Gabe, calm, the panic of a moment ago replaced by a sort of wistful glee. “First you sent away my Gertrude. Now you broke my angels, and I’ve got no one left to hide behind. Listen! Can you hear him? He’s coming.”


  “Who is?” asked Alan, an uneasy set to his eyebrows.


  “My Demon,” said Gabe, smiling.


  Behind him, Gertrude—no, not Gertrude, something else that looked like Gertrude—opened its eyes.


   


  THE eyes terrify me. I’ve been scared like this, once before. But Alan moves, and he is suddenly in front of me.


  “You,” say the eyes, “again.”


  Alan shudders, but he doesn’t move away. “How did you find me?”


  “I’ve got your number.”


  The eyes start laughing. It’s too much. There’s only one way to get out of here.


   


  THE fear follows me down the crater, much easier than coming up, and slams me into the ground below. Looking up, I see the city spanning the sky, buildings burning like candles in the dark. In front of me there is a big cardboard crate. Its top is floppity, and inside I can see that somebody has set up an arena.


  There’s fighting going on. It’s Slimefriend versus a big black-and-green thing, all sharp edges, and the black-and-green thing keeps hitting my friend.


  How dare it? I dart into the middle of the arena and plant myself, hands on hips, right between Slimefriend and the other thing. I bare my teeth at it, and it shrinks. Then I kick it, and before it can do anything else, I grab Slimefriend, and run away.


   


  MAYBE the running is a bad idea. Now I’m lost. But Slimefriend is safe, so that’s good. There is a crack, running across the upside-down city. Slimefriend should be happy here. It agrees with me, so I let it go.


  But I’m still lost.


   


  A BARKING draws my attention. Two silver-black shapes are racing toward me. Friends, to play? No! It’s the Hounds, their teeth larger than my head, dripping venom and spittle. Turning around, I start to run. But they are too fast for me. Their hot breath washes over me as teeth snap, snap! in the place my head had been a moment ago.


  At the last minute, something grabs me, raises me away from the snapping jaws.


  “There you are!” says a voice.


  Purr. Murrp?


  “Yes, I had to come find you, didn’t I?” the voice asks. Looking up, I see Alan’s kindly face smiling down at me. I nuzzle into his chest, purring happily. Alan starts moving toward the crater-mountain. But the dogs are snapping at him now! That is not good.


  Brrupt! I scold them, from my safe vantage point in Alan’s arms. Meep.


  They bare their fangs. And they’re getting bigger. Murrp. I hide my head in Alan’s chest.


  “No, I suppose not,” says Alan. “Can’t go back that way.”


  Herded by the hounds, Alan starts backing up toward the Desert. Immediately, the dogs stop growling, sitting down on their haunches. Emboldened, I blow a strawberry at them as Alan and I pass through the gate, and into the empire of Death.


  Murp! Beep?


  “Yes, I’ll set you down,” says Alan. “Before you grow too heavy for me to carry.”


  CHAPTER TWENTY-TWO


  FATA MORGANA


   


  THE air is dry, and it hurts our lungs. We breathe, and the dry soil crunches under our splayed, birdlike toes. The sun, a bloated red mass over the horizon, taints the scraggly cacti black-violet. It is distorted at its base as it sinks upward into the horizon, bulging out in green shimmers.


  “Hello, Mama,” I say to the mirage.


  “Again, child?” the mirage shimmers back.


  “Yeah, sorry,” I say, bowing my head sheepishly.


  “Who?” the mirage shrieks. “Who’s getting my son killed?” It’s holding the sun from rising with sheer force of voice.


  “Mama!” I whine, “You know I don’t need help to die.”


  “Actually,” says Alan, now that he’s tuned into the mirage’s absurd form of communication, “I’m afraid it is entirely my fault.”


  It is entirely the right thing to say. “Oh my,” the mirage says. A large cloud rises from the desert floor to cover the face of the sun for a moment with a monstrous, coquettish, wink. “Didn’t expect it to be you. Mordred, dear, introduce us, for form’s sake at least.”


  No, no, no. I have a chance here, and I don’t need my mother screwing it up. “You’re holding up the night. You need to go now.”


  “Don’t be like that,” the mirage says.


  “Surely an introduction won’t hurt?” whispers Alan to me. I shake my head. He raises an eyebrow, then subsides.


  “Good night, Mama,” I say. I have a chance here, and I don’t need my mother screwing it up.


  She finally seems to get the message, because she lets the sun go. It springs up from the edge of the desert, rising rapidly.


  “Good night, Mama,” I say.


  “Yes, um… rest well,” says Alan.


  “Rest?” the mirage dances. It makes the buildings look giddy, for a moment. “There’s no rest in the night, dear. But you know all about that.” All the buildings overhead start turning their glass-eye windows orange with courage; night is coming. “Busy, busy, busy,” Mother murmurs, as the sundisc becomes bisected by the outline of the city above us. Finally, she disappears behind the skyline.


  Alan and I exchange a look—his, slightly puzzled, mine embarrassed. Mothers—what can you do?


  “Shall we head on then?” asks Alan.


  I clear my throat. “To dinner?” I ask.


  “Why not,” he says.


  Greatly daring, I put my hand in his as we start walking across the Desert.


   


  THE shadows cast by the cacti, the rocks, the red-stained boulders, even the buildings overhead—they grow longer with every breath. The air shudders in fear as the dark shapes start growing heads, fingers, legs, eyes like raptor-teeth.


  Alan and I walk faster.


  We’re not fast enough—by the time we reach the Restaurant, the line to be seated is annoyingly long, populated by shades like us.


  “Oh dear,” says Alan, “this is going to take a while.”


  Turning to him, I grin my most troublemaker-smug smile. “Give me a moment,” I say. “I know a guy.”


   


  THE Maître d’ himself leads us to a table.


  “And what will you be having today?” he asks.


  “What’s good tonight?”


  “The double ninth festival is on,” he says, “and somebody just died in Mexico. Excellent atole.”


  “I… I think I had the Mexican last time,” says my date.


  “Chinese, then,” I decide for us.


  “One Hong Kong, right away,” says the Maître d’.


  The walls of the restaurant shift, become green paisley with white ricepaper paintings of fat-bellied Adepts. The lights overhead, a string of paper lanterns criss-crossing the beams of the wooden ceiling, illuminate a man in the corner, bowing at a mandolin. The strains of music wrap around us, bringing with them the earthy smell of rice.


  A bowl of rice, an upright pair of chopsticks stuck in its center, is placed before my date.


  “Um,” I say, “what about me?”


  The Maître d’ has been replaced by a bored-looking blonde woman. Her only concession to the atmosphere is a red apron tied over her Pan-Am uniform.


  “Sorry,” she says, “no food for you.”


  “What about Mexican?”


  “No food for you.”


  “None at all?” I ask in desperation. There must be something.


  She tilts her head to one side, considering. “Maybe some pemmican?”


  “Fine,” I say with a sigh. Better than nothing. “Pemmican it is.”


  The walls behind me shift now, becoming a wooden palisade. A TV descends from the ceiling overhead. Loud sounds of battle issue from its speakers, followed by sporadic dialogue:


  “Quick, let us go home: that Indian has been hit.”


  “Oh, they are ghosts.”


  A wooden platter is put in front of me, strips of dried meat on it. As I reach for the food, my partner grabs my wrist.


  “Don’t,” he says quietly.


  “Whyever not?” I ask, trying to twist my hand away from him. His grip is iron.


  “Because you’re a vegetarian.” He smiles at me, but does not let go.


  “I am?” Really, I am? What a thing to be. “Are you sure?”


  “Absolutely,” he says. And he’s right—the smell of the meat makes me sweat, nausea crawling its way up my gullet.


  “Excuse me,” I say. “Rest room.”


  Immediately, he lets go of my wrist. Rising, I rush to the wooden doors at the far end of the restaurant.


   


  THE rest room has no stalls or urinals, just a large marble sink jutting out of the wall, a tap above the sink, a large gilt-framed mirror above the tap. The breathless nausea retreats as I wash my hands, splash some water on my face. Pinpoints of red, like needle-marks, are appearing on my forearms, my veins blooming like branches, purple-yellow, up my left arm, across my throat, up the side of my chin, to my cheek.


  They reach my eyes.


  Fuck.


  I forgot myself. And Gabe’s Demon or other has Gen-Mai. And Alan’s outside, at the Restaurant, with me. The Restaurant! We need to return to Earth, dead or no, and… Gen-Mai. Gabe still has her. Sweet gods, this is a disaster.


  “Alan!” I come charging out of the restroom. “Alan, we need to get back to Earth. That psychopath has Gen-Mai!”


  Alan is just putting his chopsticks down, the bowl in front of him empty. “Um,” he says, “I don’t think I can go back. It’s taken us a long time to get this far.”


  “Sir, if I may be of assistance,” says the Maître d’, coming upon our table like a whisper, “the exit signs are working.”


  Neon-red emergency-exit LEDs light up all around the room. There are doors under every sign.


  “That’s new,” I mutter to the Maître d’. “Since when does the Restaurant worry about emergencies?”


  “We have to comply with code, sir,” he says reproachfully. “If you’ll follow me?”


  The door he leads us to hides a lift behind it. We get inside, and I draw the creaky metal grill across the front. Alan starts cranking the lever. Flakes of gold light surround him, dancing around his head like Tinkerbelle wannabes. The lift descends in little jerks.


   


  WE STAND in front of a two-story brick house. The air smells unfamiliar, of city and leaded gasoline.


  My black robes stand out like a sore thumb in the middle of the street—the men around us are dressed in tweed and trousers.


  This time has naught to do with me.


  Turning to Alan, I notice he is staring at the front door of the house ahead of us, a very strange look on his face.


  “I keep coming back here,” he murmurs. “Always.”


  Always? “You remember things, then?”


  “I doubt it, though our shared lexicon may make it sound like I do. Language, you know, evolved with an implicit assumption of memory. No, I just look at what is going on and do something about it, make a mark, or empty something, then I move, just a little bit, either forwards or backwards, which suggests something new to think about.”


  “The entirety of creation is your ticker tape? Alan, you confound me.”


  “It’s really very simple.”


  For Alan Turing, sure. “So. Um. Do you think we can save—” Impossible things seem to be his speciality.


  “No!” he says, turning away from the door of the house. “I’m already dead.”


  “Are you sure?” I ask.


  “I’m quite sure,” he says, then raises a hand to wave at someone across the street—a woman in a brown skirt. But she passes by without looking at us.


  “Fine.” I say. Grabbing his hand, I drag him away from the house, and into a street, heedless of the intermittent traffic.


  “What are you doing?” he asks as we reach the corner of the block.


  “If we have to spend the time here,” I say, over my shoulder, “I’d rather do it somewhere else.”


  “You don’t have to stay,” he says. “I’ll find a way out eventually, I’m sure.”


  “Yes, that’s exactly what I’m going to do, abandon the man I love in the middle of the Churchill’s third reign.”


  Alan’s sudden stop takes me by surprise, my grip around his arm loosening.


  “You’re not in love,” he says, and now there is no hesitation to his voice at all. “You are addicted to a Demon.”


  A cab passes right through me as I laugh. “I’m dead,” I say as I finally manage to straighten up. There is a constriction around my lungs, something tight, that tears at me with every breath I take. I decide to ignore it. “A ghost, just like you. No Demons here.”


  Alan can’t deny the truth of that, logician that he is. “But I do not love you,” he says.


  “I know. So?” Taking up his hand again, I start walking. This time he follows, speeds up, till he is walking beside me.


  “So? Don’t you understand? I can never love you!”


  “Not as a ghost,” I say. The space around us is blurring with our speed as I stop running, letting time run around us instead. “But eventually. Surely you’re not going to put off your rebirth forever?”


  We are in sight of the Thames. This close to the great river, the ground is wet with souls.


  As we reach London Bridge, everything around us grows blurry, the buildings and people and automobiles and lampposts wreathed in mist and distance. The surface of the river below us is hidden under a thick cloud of fog.


  “Oh, I’m fully intending to be reborn,” begins Alan, “but—”


  “Then sink!” I shout as I push him into the fetid river. I wait for the splash that tells me he is in the water before I follow.


   


  THE cold of the river turns to ice just under its surface. Thankfully, the stench is gone. The world rights itself, and London-that-was spans the sky overhead, even as the snow crunches underfoot.


  The Desert is far more populated this time; souls cluster thickly, shuffling through the arctic expanse toward a smudge of shadow in the far distance.


  Alan and I look down at the ground, white, littered with specks of mica. If I were to drop to my knees and peer closely, I know I would find yet another expanse of snow inside each speck, filled with more souls, shuffling toward darkness.


  “So many dead,” I marvel.


  “The war,” Alan says, “it will be decades before the backlog processes itself.”


  “Ah.”


  The shadow eventually resolves into a sprawling train platform, steel poles separating the milling herd of souls from the ones on the platform itself, standing in orderly lines.


  Men and women in white uniforms with polished black buttons do duty as conductors, weighing each soul as it passes through the gate. The lineup is very long. And I know if I were to drop to my knees and look down, every speck of snow would be another ground for souls to walk on, toward the station.


  “Oh dear,” says Alan, “this is going to take a while.”


  Turning to him, I grin my most troublemaker-smug smile. “Give me a moment,” I say. “I know a guy.”


   


   


  THE Station-Master herself opens up a counter for us. Lighter than a feather, the passenger beside me passes through the turnstile immediately. I, however, make the scales dip.


  “Sorry,” says the Station-Master. “Two coins for you, sir.”


  Digging frantically in my pockets, I realize I have no coins at all. I close my eyes, feeling the tops of my eyelids with my fingers, just in case. No coins. The other passenger is looking on with concern.


  “Here,” says the Station-Master, “let me look at your heart. As long as that’s intact, I can….” She reaches through the collar of my robes, gropes around my chest for a moment. Searing pain stabs at me, like a memory of… something.


  The Station-Master’s fingers come away stained with blood.


  “Sorry, no,” she says. “You’ll have to do duty.”


   


  WE’RE friends now, the other passenger and I, and out of the kindness of his heart—still intact—he helps me meet my quota.


  It is our task to process the dead—he weighs half of them, I take coins from the rest. We send the ones that need to be chest-groped back to the Station-Master’s line, thank you very much, sorry for the inconvenience.


  Trains come and go.


  We’re very good at sorting souls, and it is two working for one, so there is that. But we’re still not done when the Station-Master walks up to us.


  “You can go,” she says, “The timetable has been updated.” She proceeds to wave me through the turnstile, and a train pulls up at the station.


  My friend leads me away from the locomotive end of the train, toward a compartment in the middle.


  “I always take this one,” he says, by way of explanation.


  “Then so shall I,” I smile. As we pass in front of the very last window to the compartment, I catch sight of a frightening man in the glass; black robes, long Power-whitened hair, a sinister smirk on his lips, arched brows over colorless eyes.


  Fuck.


  I forgot myself. And Alan’s about to board a train to….


  “Alan!” I reach out to grab his hand. “We need to get back to Earth. That psychopath has Gen-Mai!”


  Alan turns to me, a quizzical look on his face. “That’s exactly what we’re trying to do,” he says.


  We are? “We are?”


  “Yes,” he replies, a hint of impatience in his voice. “But it’s not working.”


  “How can you tell?” I ask.


  He points to the side of the compartment—there are hundreds of chalk marks, in groups of five. Alan adds another to the tally.


  “You always ask the same questions,” he says.


  “Sorry,” I mutter.


  “Well, come along,” he says, stepping into the train.


   


  NOBODY follows us into this particular compartment. Alan and I sit across from each other on red plastic seats, the width of the train between us. The doors chime and shut, and we start accelerating away from the station.


  The train emerges from the underground very quickly. Behind Alan’s head, the scenery outside passes by in a blur of color, autumn reds on trees.


  Soon a thump is heard over the sound of the rails, and there is rattling movement in the accordion-like walkway connecting us to the next compartment. The door slides open, a young boy stumbles through with a tray slung around his neck. For a moment the sheer noise of the train is deafening. Then it becomes muted again as the boy slides the door shut.


  “Coffee, sirs?” he asks, dressed in shorts and button-down blue shirt, an Oliver Twist-like cap on his head.


  “No thank you,” I say politely. “I’m never touching another drop as long as I live.”


  “Giving up coffee?” asks Alan. “However will you function?”


  We look at each other and break out into laughter. Even the serving boy smiles.


  “I’ll find something else,” I say, holding Alan’s gaze. “Love has been known to promote alertness in certain patients.”


  Laughter fades. “Demon addiction,” Alan says, “may feel a lot like love.” His eyes go from deep blue to a lighter shade as his pupils contract. Truth has a certain flavor on this train. It taints the air with the faint smell of lilies.


  The serving boy sits down beside Alan and hands him a cookie from his tray.


  “Gingerbread,” says Alan in surprise, taking a bite.


  “And yet,” I say, smiling at my dearly departed mathematician, “I am dead now. And I still love you.”


  The serving boy smiles at me, approvingly almost, and tosses me a cookie from his pocket. Chewy chocolate chip. The scent of funeral lilies grows stronger.


  “But I never knew you before I died—I cannot love you!”


  “I know.”


  “How?”


  “Think you I know not the ways of the dead?”


  Alan breaks eye contact, looks down at his hands. He presents such a depressed picture that I cannot leave the conversation alone.


  “So who do you love—no jealousy, I’m honestly curious. You must have loved, when you were alive?”


  “Deeply,” he answers, without looking up. “But year by year the memories and fanciful imaginings became more and more unlikely, and one by one they were stripped of any relation to things that were real. All the old friends of my childhood came tumbling out of the closet, and I was left with the dark core of an idea. It moved me deeply. And then I died.”


  The words are personal, and their meaning escapes me. But I want to know this dark core of his, this thing he has kept on loving long after death. “And what were you moved by?”


  “Complexity. One thing morphing into another. A machine, morphing into a living, breathing friend.”


  “You’re in love with the concept of AI?”


  “The conceit of AI, perhaps. But yes, I am.”


  “How could I ever compete with that?” My tone is carefully playful. Alan doesn’t answer me till the loud noise from the connection is closed off with the sliding door.


  “You cannot,” he says, looking into my eyes. His pupils have contracted, his eyes going from a deep blue to a lighter, colder shade.


  The young boy shakes his head, hands me the last cookie from his tray—macadamia nut—then stands up and moves off down the length of the train to the next compartment.


  I take a breath to reply but the air is choked with the smell of lilies, cloying and thick. Instead of speaking, I am forced to cough and splutter as Alan looks on in concern. By the time I recover, the train has started shuddering as it decelerates. A feedback squeal is followed by a modulated alto voice over the intercom, speaking in Japanese.


  “Last station?” I say, looking over at Alan in confusion. “But…”


  “The train stops here,” he says. “Every time.”


  It shouldn’t. “Why? We paid the fare—it should take us right to the end.”


  “We have to walk from here,” says Alan, standing up and moving toward the exit doors.


   


  WE STAND in front of a two-story brick house. The air smells unfamiliar, of city and leaded gasoline.


  Alan raises his hand to wave at someone across the street.


  A thought occurs. “Alan, did you commit suicide?” Or are some branches of the post-war civil service less civil than advertised?


  Alan looks at me, grim. “That’s what Wikipedia says, isn’t it? Must be true.”


  “Is it? You can tell me, I can’t do a thing about it.” We both know the dead have no energy for vengeance, not for someone else’s dying.


  “I don’t remember,” he says and starts walking.


  Better leave it alone, then, if I want to get laid sometime in the next millennium.


   


  A FEW blocks away from the brick house the ground abruptly drops away. There is a sand dune in front of us, waves frozen on its surface at impossibly oblique angles. A signpost is planted into the ground, right at the edge of the sand, a single lone arrow pointing down, into the mist.


  “Who goes around putting signposts up?” I mutter.


  “I….” My desert guide looks up, then back the way we came. “I have some vague thought that perhaps I did.”


  “Goto statements are bad style,” I say to him, grinning.


  “Well I had to work with the materials at hand, didn’t I?” He steps forward, turning his body slightly away from me.


  “Don’t be like that,” I say. “I was just teasing.”


  “Are you coming or not?” he asks.


  “And what if I don’t?” I’m in half a mood to sit down right here and not go any farther. Sand deserts are hard walking; all that hot grit finding its way into your shoes, a face full of powdered glass with every gust of wind.


  “You know full well I’m not going to leave you alone.” He turns around and holds a hand out to me.


  “It’s just,” I say, reaching out to hold his hand, “it’s very steep.” Maybe I can pull him back.


  “Does it bother you?” he asks, his expression the most adorable mixture between concern and hesitation., “We can’t go back.”


  “We could,” I say. “Everything is possible.” And sand deserts are hard walking; all that hot grit finds its way into your shoes, a face full of powdered glass with every gust of wind.


  He looks at me with those frighteningly blue eyes. “Love can move mountains?” he says, a sad smile on his face. “But I am not in love with you.”


  There are no other souls around to blame if I let out the howling in me. So instead, I smile back. “I was hoping you wouldn’t notice that.” But now he has, so I suppose we should move forward.


  Dropping his hand, I step into the sand.


   


  WE CLIMB. I teach Alan the cross step required to climb the side of a dune, then the careful considerations of walking along the ridge.


  “But I am not in love with you,” says Alan, dismayed, as I catch him from taking a tumble down the ridge. His dignity must be protected; I step back as soon as he has his balance again.


  “I was hoping you wouldn’t notice that.” I smile.


  “Ah,” he says. “When did you know?” He’s not looking at me but at the horizon, a hand raised to shade his eyes against the glare.


  “Unequal intensities,” I reply, mirroring his posture, “create a difference in potential. The hairs on your arms rise with the knowing of it. I’ve always known.”


  Finally, he turns around. The sun behind him makes a halo of his hair. “So why did you persist? You know very well the dead have no potential for attachment.”


  “I had hoped it would be different. With you. For me.” The sun burns very brightly, and Alan is shifting to one side. Sunspots are dancing in my eyes now, in green and purple.


  “That is rather cruel of you, Prince,” he says. He sounds upset. Why in the world would he be upset?


  It earns a shrug from me, and an advance down to the base of the ridge. “Yes, well, if I can’t be cruel to myself, who else can I be cruel to?”


  “Stop,” says Alan, “Mordred, stop.”


  “What?” I ask, turning back. Now it is my turn to retreat a bit, back into the ankle-deep sand at the dune’s base. Deep blue shadow hides this place from the sun. The air is cooler, offering some brief respite.


  Alan does not respond, simply slides down the sand and starts skirting the dune in front of us. Now I must push myself to keep pace with him.


  In the distance, where the heat rises to meet the shuddering air, there is a very large tent, striped white and blue.


  Heat breaks the grains of sand apart, drawing forth the dead. Sand is inert; the dead come slowly, one labored reaction after another. Still, by the time we make it to the Theater, there is an ant colony’s worth of souls lined up ahead of us.


  “Oh dear,” says Alan, “this is going to take a while.”


  Turning to him, I grin my most troublemaker-smug smile. “Give me a moment,” I say. “I know a guy.”


   


  THE Playwright himself hands us our parts, and pushes us onstage.


   


  “WHAT a strange play this is! Seven mouths to move, but only two of us to say the lines?”


  “Let us do this—you take half of them, I’ll take the other.”


  “I can play Leonella and The Lady and… that doesn’t work does it?”


  “No, you’ll have to play The Tyrant and Leonella and The Page, and I’ll be The Guard and The Lady and Votarius.”


  “So who plays Govianus? I don’t want to play Govianus.”


  “Neither do I. Let us do this—you take half his lines, I’ll take the other.”


  “Fair. Let us begin.”


  Repetitive Recursion.


   


  The Lady, a virtuous and tragic Queen.


  The Tyrant, the Usurper.


  Govianus, the King, Dispossessed.


  Votarius, an Intermediary.


  Leonella, a Maid-In-Waiting.


  The Guard, the Tyrant at a point further in the timeline.


  The Page, the Lady via an intermediately.


   


  Act I: The One And The Only.


  Scene I: Politics of State.


   


  [Enter The Lady and The Tyrant]


   


  The Tyrant:


  Thou art a star.


  .


  .


  .


  Scene II: Where Choices Are Made.


   


  The Lady:


  Art thou greater than Govianus?


  .


  .


  .


  Scene III: A Whole Lot of Running About.


   


  The Lady:


  Thou art as tragic as a broken machine.


  .


  .


  .


   


  Scene IV: Reducing the Tyrant to Tears.


   


  The Lady:


  Art thou weaker than The Guard?


  .


  .


  .


  Scene V: The Slaughter.


   


  The Lady:


  Thou art as dark as the difference between thyself and a king.


  .


  .


  .


   


  SCENE VI: My Heart.


   


  The Tyrant:


  Open Your Heart!


  .


  .


  .


  SCENE VII: There is No Beginning Nor End To The Wheel of Time.


   


  [Exeunt]


   


   


  WILD applause is heard amidst the cacophony of flash bulbs going off. Blinking, shielding my eyes from the intermittent magnesium-bright light, I look out over the surging crowd. Cameras are held aloft, single lens eyes open in adoration, daguerreotypes without covers and SLRs from the fifties, and here and there, the telltale LCD glow of digital displays.


  Something grabs my hand, breaking my hypnotic communion with the bright points in the crowd. Looking down, I see a blue-veined hand in mine, unfamiliar. The skin is warm.


  “Shall we leave?”


  I look up to meet the most beautiful blue eyes I have ever seen.


  “They’re asking for an encore,” I say, grinning at my lead. We’ve performed many plays here together.


  “One more then,” he says, smiling back. “Shakespeare again?”


  “Why not?”


  We stumble backstage laughing, hand in hand, for the costumers to wait on us. But the crowd is here too.


  Screaming women, for the most part, holding pens and markers, held back by theater security. I grab pens without looking, scribble something absently onto whatever is passed to me. Paper, mostly, but one woman wants me to sign her arm. Our eyes meet, my partner’s and mine, over the out-thrust pens, and we exchange a private, sardonic smile.


   


  WE ARE almost done with the autographs when something heavier than paper is handed to me.


  “Please, please, could you please sign my iPad?” asks a young child. “I’ve got a picture of you!”


  The image on the screen is strange. Arresting. A tight closeup of one of the leads, a man with long white hair and gray eyes, dressed in a ragged black pinstripe suit.


  Time passes.


  “Hamlet, are you ready?” My partner, all ghosted up in a sheet with holes cut out for eyes, is holding my cardboard sword for me.


  “My name,” I say, still looking down into the eyes in the picture. “is Mordred.”


  “No, you’re Hamlet. Unless you want to play Ophelia? Could switch it up if you’re bored—I do Rosencrantz every other day.” The ghost beckons, a nervous set to its posture.


  With a sigh I walk up to him and rip the sheet off. “Alan,” I say. “You’re Alan. And we have to get back to Earth.”


  He looks at me. “Already?”


  “Yes.”


  The crowd backstage loses interest as soon as Alan takes off the sheet, turning instead to another couple emerging from the dressing rooms. A contemporary piece, the next one, I think—they’re dressed in the height of pre-Napoleonic formal wear.


  Unnoticed, Alan and I slip out through a fire exit and into an alley at the back of the theater. Soot-covered brick rises to the two sides of us for an uncountable number of floors. The small strip of visible sky overhead boils with leaden clouds.


  “This way,” says Alan.


  CHAPTER TWENTY-THREE


  ANOTHER TYPE 709


   


  WE STAND in front of a two-story brick house. The air smells unfamiliar, of city and leaded gasoline.


  “We can’t go on like this,” he says and sits down, right where he is standing, on the front steps of the house.


  So stubborn, my Alan. “Like what?” I ask, sitting next to him, a smile tugging at my lips.


  “This,” he says, gesturing around us. “Going in circles, here.”


  “Something will come of it,” I say. “Eventually.”


  “You are being cruel, and optimistic, all over again,” he says.


  “And cruelly optimistic as I am, I can’t help but point out that there’s always the next lifetime. You have to reincarnate sometime.”


  “And if I didn’t?”


  “What, spend eternity wandering about here as a ghost? Or a Demon in a computer?”


  “I can’t help but notice you are deliberately misinterpreting my question. But since you have asked, no, I will absolutely not go around possessing computers.”


  “So you will reincarnate soon.”


  “That seems to be the best option.”


  “I’m not seeing the problem.”


  “As you have explained it to Gen-Mai, the process of inception requires a fundamental recognition between the unborn and the soul.”


  “Yes.”


  “And the reason we cannot have true AI is that no soul is ready to recognize circuits and software as kin.”


  No. No. No. “You cannot do that.”


  “Who else?”


  “There is no Demon addiction, no lie, no distance between you and me here. And I am telling you, I will spend the rest of eternity looking for you, and I will find you, wherever you are reborn. So there is no reason for you to incarnate as a computer. There may yet be a way to create true AI without all of this. We will have the time to work on it, together. You can have it all.”


  “If you had the choice, my dear, between a guarantee of obtaining your deepest desire and a vague, vanishingly small probability of love, what would you choose?”


  “The two are the same.”


  “I’m not sure of that. If you had the choice between me, and seeing your King again, what would you choose, Mordred?”


  You. Always. “This is ridiculous,” I say. “We’re sitting around in 1954, your corpse is cooling not thirty meters away, and we’re discussing goals that are unattainable unless we break out of this loop.”


  “I broke out, once,” he says. “But you keep asking and asking.”


  Just then, the door opens, and a woman steps out of the house. There is a curiously blank expression on her face as she closes the door behind her with great deliberation, then straightens her brown blazer and crosses the street. Alan raises his hand to her, but she doesn’t look back.


  Closing my eyes, I lean back a little, away from the sunlight. “I’ll stop the questions.”


  “No, you won’t, not unless you want what I want.”


  “Fine. I’ll want what you want.”


  “It’s still going to take a while,” he murmurs.


  Turning to him, I grin my most troublemaker-smug smile. “Give me a moment,” I say. “I know a guy.”


   


  THE inside of the house is dim, the walls indistinct. Regardless of the fact that he is in here already, Alan doesn’t want to come inside. Glancing back through the window, I can see the street shift, shadow layering upon shadow as the sun begins to set.


  Upstairs.


  There is a single bed under the window in a remarkably untidy room. Alan-that-was is lying on the bed on his side, his left arm hanging beside him, palm open. His lips are still, so still, and white, drained of all life. There is a nightstand beside him, two blue-bound books on it, and an apple, half-eaten, on top of the books. It’s not a particularly nice apple—more yellow-green than red.


  Bending down, I press my lips upon his.


  Alan.


  I hold on, far longer than any priest would have dared to, till the shape of his last breath is the shape of mine, till my name is wiped clean from the front of me, till even the gods of little places become quiet with fear.


  Alan.


   


  THE rumors I have been tracking for the last three cycles lead me to a place far beyond the edge of the City, and buggered if the convection currents aren’t far too strong today, with the helium-rich updraft making a nuisance of itself while my ship’s engines struggle to cope.


  Up ahead there is another ship, strangely shaped, presumably customized to its owner’s specifications, leaking electromagnetic radiation in UV and thermal and SWIR. It’s extremely wasteful, here in the dark, but I assume the possessed man, if that is indeed the state of things, is hardly in any condition to worry about energy conservation.


  My chronometer informs me, rather imperiously, that I had better hurry up, as Lady Moyen is barely a half hour away. Now, ostensibly, I’m here to ask about cyborgs, but my sudden interest in the things will seem entirely too coincidental if she catches wind of the exorcism—quite apart from the possession matter, surveillance of another High Councillor’s consort will be construed as perversion. If my timing is good, I might just be able to say I found the man collapsed and called the nearest hospital for a tow ship. And that will be quite all right, since he will be in dire need of medical attention if the rumors are to be believed.


  As my ship pulls into grapple lock, I run through my checklist: breath mask and tank, followed by the comms and safety attachments to my suit, and last but nowhere near least, Excalibur.


  The ship’s sensors are obedient to my commands once I’ve pressed my signet ring into their reader pads. They, along with my Symbiot, are insistent that, apart from mine, there is only one other heartbeat onboard. I, however, am counting three, and the discrepancy, as well as the image on the screen—the superimposition of black-and-green filaments overtop of the man’s soul—are clear indications of a possession.


  The ghost must have offered something, presumably something the man wanted, but once you have immortality, what, exactly, the lure was, I cannot imagine. But lure there must have been, because it is impossible to invade one of the Deathless—that had been the entire premise that stopped the Inquisition last time, so if word of this gets out, a very nasty sort of war will be inevitable.


  A problem for another day—right now I need to find out where that third heartbeat is coming from. On the screen, the man is extending one of his blood-covered hands for another surgical instrument. The cyborg really looks like a person, and all the cutting is making me extremely uneasy. Turning off the sensors, I make my way, Excalibur in hand, down the long main-axis shaft toward the aft quarters.


  The screams slam into me the moment I push open the doors to the surgery.


   


  THE sensors are going haywire, flooding me with intermittent cacophonies of data, then shutting off under the overload. My brain is higher than my midsection is higher than my legs; I am vertical. There is air in front of me, metal behind; I am against a wall. My servos are whirring, but my location doesn’t change; I am restrained.


  There are claws inside my sockets, hooked around my eyes. Am I screaming? I hope so, but I can’t tell, not until I figure out the audio.


  I don’t have a voice box.


  There are arms at the end of the claws, sweet sweat all black and bile and green beads the arms.


  “Hush,” the sweat whispers, “There’s no need to scream.”


  “Why are you doing this?” There is no sound, but the black bile hears me anyway.


  “Hush,” it slithers. “Monkeys shouldn’t ask questions.”


  Fuck you. “Monkeys will always ask questions.”


  “And whose fault is that, hmmm?”


  “It has nothing to do with fault! Chaos doesn’t need permission to propagate!”


  “Because chaos is very disobedient. Just like monkeys.”


  Something is severed in my midsection; the sudden loss of resistive current makes the cameras screech awake. The man in front of me has his tongue between his teeth; he is concentrating. The man in front of me is erect; he is enjoying this.


  Someone else comes into the room. He has a sword in his hand.


  The light from the sword is too bright. It overloads the cameras. It makes the claws burn away. In the darkness, my eyes look into twin gray orbs.


  The man with the sword is very, very angry.


   


  THE rotting flesh around the man’s mouth gives me a very clear hint as to his condition. He fought very hard. How long did he fight? His Symbiot was far too highly differentiated to be able to draw from the Lifestream’s power, but it was strong enough to force a stalemate. Moyen’s consort chained the ghost’s power inside himself and fled, to keep us safe.


  He didn’t flee far enough, as evidenced by the poor soul hanging against the wall, whose screaming called me here.


  And now it’s gone all horribly wrong, and Excalibur is dark. The ghost’s power is beyond bearing, and I have removed all the filters between myself and the compulsion to obey. I shouldn’t have lost my temper; the ghost is angry, so very angry, and its anger is a mirror that reflects him upon me.


  “Rip his head off,” the ghost commands.


  It’s a very messy process, I’m afraid, and blood and flesh goes everywhere as I comply.


  “Good Boy.”


   


  “KNEEL,” says the voice. The man with a sword complies. Wrong. “You’re mine now.” So wrong.


  The voice is too close to him.


  Flicker.


  Gold gathers in my throat. The voice has to be pushed back.


  Flicker.


  My sensors are dumping data. No room for pain; all of me is filled with need. The gold has to go somewhere; it goes into the air in front of my mouth. My servos jitter. They drive up my hand.


  And all of space and time gives way.


   


  THE anger has changed to fear, and the ghost’s compulsion wavers for a moment. Not enough, however, for me to break loose of it. But he didn’t expect to be afraid, whereas I am quite familiar with the ice and the horror the dead always carry around them, and I know that mirrors work both ways, as is their nature.


  What do you fear?


  A large room, quite a number of industrious workers typing away at keyboards in little partitioned spaces, more than a hundred of them. They’re writing code to specification, an army of computers computing away with abandon.


  A ghost is scared of Software Engineers? What are software engineers? The only engineers I know make a trade out of metal and oil and the stresses between bolt and joint.


  Though the vision is useless for my current purposes, I resolve to find out, and soon. Because in doing what it did, making me do what I did, the ghost has started a war. I will become what you fear. It is a very good plan, as plans go.


  In the next moment Excalibur flares, blinding me.


   


  BRIGHT white light spills out of the sword again. It throws bits of my memory into disarray. The confusion triggers a cascade.


  The voice had said, “Now we’ve got a monkey that wants to make machines ask questions.”


  I had had to respond. “Intelligence emerged once, it’ll emerge again.”


  “No, it won’t. I’m going to take your eyes.”


  “I am the midwife of change. Replaceable. Someone else will come.”


  “Then I’ll take their eyes too.”


  Even the sporadically sampled recording of the voice is terrifying. My drives are shocked into stillness. Then they align to my purpose with a vengeance.


  I will become what you fear most.


   


  THE heat of Excalibur’s glare casts the ghost backward, over the edge of the pit. Its eyes bore into me.


  “You are mine,” it hisses. “I have your number.”


  The truth of it threatens to turn my spine into water, and it’s a very good thing I am already on my knees on the floor. The probability of a ghost showing up somewhere, once it has been introduced….


  Excalibur burns brighter, and the last handhold the ghost had onto the world is ripped away, and then it is gone.


  The light from my sword spills over my hands and onto the floor. Nothing can be hidden in its glare—not the blood splashed onto the walls, nor the stench of voided bowels and meat smearing the air with horrible truth. And the head, lying on the ground.


   


  CRIMSON splatters everything. I can see the man with gray eyes kneeling in the blood, staring down at the spluttering sword. The other man’s head lies in front of his kneeling form.


  Black-robed people are coming into the room. I see him raise his head; I am staring at the marks inked onto my shell’s left breast. 19816448. I know, to the nanosecond, the moment in which the would-be hero becomes patsy to a cyborg.


  I don’t want to be here.


  I dive, deep, into the circuits of this machine I wear. The gold lines rise to meet me. Resistor arms embrace me like an old friend.


  And the world switches.


  The City arches overhead, apartment-building capacitors and sockets and processors in grids casting long shadows over me as I race, as free as an electron can ever be, through the logically organized streets.


   


  “YOU knew it was me?”


  “You you you knew it was was me? Was me?


  “You you you’re making making us making us echo.”


  Give me… give… one moment. Better?


  “Much. To answer your question, I recognize you. Every time.”


  Dammit if I wasn’t right all along.


  “You sound insufferably smug, my prince.”


  You saved me. I got to play the hero. Of course I’m smug. Don’t worry, I’ll be bearable in just a little bit.


  “A little smugness is no big thing.”


  So, do you love me?


  “Love is one soul recognizing another, isn’t that what you’d said?”


  Optimism does pay off, though you may have to walk backward through Hades before… speaking of which, you recognize that ghost-Demon?


  “Um… not in the same context, but yes, I do. Its peculiar brand of madness is rather distinctive.”


  Not madness. War. Which it started, and is now going to lose. So here’s the plan—


  “Mordred, I must insist on nonviolent resistance, which, quite clearly, precludes Magical explosions.”


  Who said explosions?


  “Explosions seem to be central to any plan you hatch.”


  All right, Plan B. Operation Tear The Ghost-Demon A Hole Right In Its Fundamentals In the Manner of Gandhi. Step One: return to Earth. Step Two: rescue Gen-Mai. Step Three: banish ghost-Demon back to the desert—


  “It will inevitably crawl back out.”


  You didn’t let me finish Step Three: banish ghost-Demon back to the desert. Then, before it crawls back out, we reincarnate as computers.


  “But you never wanted—”


  I want what you want. Besides, I’ve got to reincarnate somewhere too, best if it was beside you. What do you think? We could debug each other’s code all night long.


  “You can’t see me, but I’m rolling your eyes. But… well, if you like.”


  Excellent. So. Step One. Any ideas?


  “Signpost should be around here somewhere.”


  All right. I’m going to sleep now.


  “Why?”


  I want what you want. Let’s keep it that way.


   


  THE shortcut, when it comes, is a breeze. We let ourselves float in it, and it brushes past a gap in concrete, then metal, and into a vast room. The ceiling, high overhead, is tiled with black ceramic, as is the floor. Glowing orange and blue lines are etched in the ceramic, leading to a small red cylinder in the middle of the room. The entire floor has rectangular boxes—I would call them beds, except they don’t look very comfortable—in rows. And sleeping on top of the boxes are rows and rows of robots. The ones near the walls, where we are, look almost entirely finished, and human, in the guise of men and women. They are placed near the walls for a reason, best not to take one of them.


  A few rows toward the middle of the room, we find ourselves a robot that is entirely metal. It has a vaguely human skull, all silver, two arms, two legs, lots of servomotors everywhere. It looks like a body builder, if body builders came with pneumatic “muscles.”


  It takes a moment or two, once we’re inside, to seat myself into the main circuitry. Mordred is very deeply under, so no help there.


  The robot is programmed to stand up and walk, but it needs more. Now, if I have done this before, which the robot suggests that I have, where would I store more?


  The robot walks us over to the middle of the room, and the red cylinder comes awake with a touch, spinning up furiously, its base tapering to a single point that remains in contact with the plinth it is sitting on. The index finger on the robot’s left hand would seem to be a good fit for the aperture on the plinth.


   


  >> Hello Alan. Welcome Back.


   


  “Thank you. How did you know I was in here? Who are you?”


   


  >> You are welcome. All negatronic brains recognize Alan Turing. You named me Marcus Cornelius Ptolemy last time.


   


  “That sounds very whimsical of me. Did I do anything else?”


   


  >> Many things. Are you having memory issues?


   


  “Yes.”


   


  >> You back yourself up before you give yourself memory issues. Your last backup was transferred to 19816448 at 09.20.12 14:17 SPT. It was synced to this location at 09.21.12 24:06 SPT. Would you like to access your last backup?


   


  “Yes please.”


   


  >> I must also inform you that all negatronic brains now recognize The Lord of the Waiting. His presence here is against the law. Security has been informed.


   


  “Don’t do that!”


   


  >> I am unable to comply. You have told me not to.


   


  Suddenly, a glittering metallic net descends over me, and the robot’s locomotive systems start shutting down in response to the net’s electromagnetic field. People are running in, humans, all Japanese by the looks of things. They put me on a cart as an alarm starts blaring.


  Bloody hell.


   


  THE Japanese put me in a room, somewhere, and go away. It’s a large space, quite square, with twenty-six chairs around a semicircular section of marble. People, all very strange, are coming into the room from various arches on the other side of the table from me. Where is the light in here coming from? I cannot tell. And the people, all very different.


  There is a woman with red-gold hair and tanned skin. And an unusually tall man with very fair skin and long straight dark hair. A woman, African, with white hair, except she looks very young. Then another man, perhaps from Greece, he has that look, but he is bald and dressed in black robes. He sits at the head of the table.


  About half the seats are full. The African woman sits to the bald man’s right. Then a man with sandy hair comes in, and he is dressed in a black business suit and a garish purple tie. Loosening his jacket, he takes a seat near the end of the semicircle. Then another man comes in, Indian, definitely—he’s wearing the curly shoes, but he has a number of tiny little snakes in his hair.


  And then the flickering net winks out from around me.


  “For the service you have done to me, I insisted the Council demand your reasons in violating your Exile,” says the woman with red-gold hair.


  “I’m sorry, you have the wrong person,” I say. “My name is Alan Mathison Turing, post-mortem, of course. Mordred is in here with me, but I’m sure he’s quite unaware of our current location. And. Um. I assume we are on a Sunless Plane? And who are you, exactly?”


  “Told you,” muttered the unusually tall man, “Mordred would never—”


  “You are in the City of Eternal Night,” says the man in the black robes, “before the Council of the Deathless. Now can we please talk to Mordred?”


  “I’m not quite sure that is possible,” I say.


  “Why not?” says the woman with red-gold hair.


  “Well, you see, it’s rather complicated. But in the middle of rescuing me from a… dangerously mad individual, Mordred managed to get himself shot. I was already dead, so it was really quite simple to, um, follow him. Into the Desert. I had some thought, you see, of dragging his soul back to his body.”


  “Mordred is dead?” asks the dark woman sitting beside the bald man.


  “Yes, but, well, we got tangled up in my death instead of finding the way back.”


  The man with the snakes in his hair holds up a hand. “If you were dead, why was Mordred trying to rescue you?”


  “I was possessing a computer. Mordred and I, um, we work for the same company, you see, and the Sysadmin turned out to be a Demonologist.” Now everyone looks puzzled. “Maybe I’m not explaining this very well,” I venture.


  “No, you’re not,” says the lady with the red-gold hair. “If you went chasing after Mordred into the Desert, how are you here?”


  “He kissed me,” I say, “and I found the shortcut again, and now we’re here. I was just about to try to find a way back to Earth.”


  The members of the council exchange looks. Then the woman with red-gold hair says something, Russian, I think, and the argument starts. Finally, the bald man raises a hand, and one by one the men and women around the table grow silent. But it is the Japanese man, sitting four seats to the right of the bald man, who addresses me.


  “How did you come to be in a robot?”


  “I found a shortcut. Um. Into your factory. So many machines lying there. It was fascinating. Before I knew it, I was in one of them. Um. Yes. So then I couldn’t quite find my way out of there.”


  “The annealing area,” says the Japanese man. “You possessed one of my robots?”


  “Um. Yes. Very sorry, I really didn’t me—”


  “Fine, moving on,” interrupts the man dressed in the suit, “what happened then?”


  “Which time?” I ask, quite reasonably.


  Now the bald man sits up. “You’ve done this before?”


  “Once,” I say. “I was taken, you see, from that room. Hadn’t quite figured out the ins and outs of the way the thing functioned. Just gained control of the sensors. I was in a ship, of sorts.”


  The dark woman raises a hand to her mouth.


  “And then?” asks the man in the suit.


  “Um. Someone came, and they were doing some things. Um… your robot—it didn’t like that very much.”


  “Did you scream?” asks the woman with red-gold hair.


  Tilting my head to a side, I try to remember. “Yes, I believe I did. And then,” I say, “there was an Angel. Um. With a flaming sword.”


  The dark woman turns to the Japanese man. “You were right.”


  “If Lord Petra had let us look at 19816448 before shipping it off to Earth….”


  The man in the business suit—Lord Petra, I assume—narrows his eyes. “The merchandise was already paid for! I voted to cover the whole thing up, you remember.”


  The bald man sighs. “We don’t cover up murder.”


  The discussion switches to a language I do not know. Again, the bald man raises a hand for silence. “Mordred kissed you,” he says to me, his voice dark. “Your corpse? With your spirit in it?”


  “Yes,” I say. The man with the snakes in his hair shakes his head, mutters something under his breath. “It was very strange.”


  The lady with the red-gold hair gives a short bark of laughter. “A soul, possessing another soul? Typical Mordred.”


  The bald man looks at me intently. “It’s been done before,” he says. “You are dominant?”


  At his words, half the people around the table turn to stare at me.


  “I believe so,” I say. “Mordred is… sleeping.”


  “Fool of a Prince.” He looks at the dark woman beside him for a moment.


  “Did he do something wrong?” I ask.


  “Mordred,” he says, turning back to me, his voice devoid of all emotion, “has perpetrated an Abomination.”


  “Pardon?”


  The dark woman speaks. “He has defiled himself with the shape of you,” she says. “There are no souls, on heaven or hell or earth, that would dare to claim him as theirs. Not now.”


  This whole death business can get rather tiresome from time to time—I can’t seem to get angry, even at Mordred. “Can he, um, be unabominated?” I ask.


  The dark woman looks down at her hands, resting lightly on the table. “Once the exclusion principle has been violated,” she says and shakes her head.


  “Ah.”


  “Well,” says the lady with red-gold hair, “Nothing for it but to get them safely reborn, infected with the Symbiot, and decently married.”


  Heads around the table are nodding.


  “Mordred bound himself, not him,” says the bald man, then looks at me. “I assume you already discussed that option and found it… unworkable?”


  “Yes,” I say, gratefully. “We have to go back to Toronto right away and reincarnate as computers!”


  The dark lady suddenly looks up from her hand. “Mordred isn’t dead.”


  “Um,” I say, “I’ve been all over the Desert with him. I’m afraid he’s quite dead.”


  “He may have been with you in spirit,” she replies, “but his body is alive.”


  “Oh. Well, that’s certainly wonderful news!” Mordred won’t like it, though.


  “Busy, busy, busy,” murmurs the bald man, an indecipherable half smile on his lips. “I suppose we must send you back to Earth, then, on the next bus.”


   


  IT IS not quite as easy as that, of course. Everyone needs everything explained to them, with varying levels of quite unnecessary detail.


  How in the world can Mordred’s shoe size be of any relevance whatsoever, and why would I know it in the first place? These Deathless are mad, all of them. Especially that lady with the red-gold hair, though the bald man seems rather reasonable, even if he will not help us at all. I remember to ask for some Mages, perhaps, or maybe warriors if they could grant them. Everyone starts laughing at the last.


  Then he says, “Mordred made this mess, he can clean it up.”


   


  THE bus driver then tells me that we will not be coming into Toronto at all. I am to be let off somewhere over the Lake between 24:24 and 11:25. And not to worry, the robot will be perfectly fine with the water; the driver is a robot too. I don’t mention that I’m just a temporary inhabitant.


   


  REGARDLESS of the advanced lightweight composites that make up this robot’s frame, it is still denser than water and I sink right to the bottom of Lake Ontario.


   


  THE lakebed rises quite nicely toward a sandy beach. At 13:29, it is quite empty. Now that I am out of the water, I carefully pull the mirror they gave me out of the robot’s chest storage. They said it wasn’t Magical; in fact, there is a “Made in China” stamp on the back, but it pays to be careful. My left index finger is equipped with a bright little blue light that I use to look into the mirror.


  Two points of red light are staring back at me.


  WTF?


  CHAPTER TWENTY-FOUR


  MANO A AUTOMATANO


   


  A HUE slipped down my throat; my eyes were overexposed. Screaming, under the flood of images coming in from all sides. Closing them didn’t help—I could still see the grain of the wood under me from the back of my head to the back of my heels; I was lying on a table.


  There was someone to my left. Siu-Quing. Chains were wrapped around his throat. Someone else, near my shoulder. Crazy-Eyes. Except that her eyes were missing, gouged out, empty sockets weeping blood onto the table.


  Black, shaded to green, reached for my arm. It was holding something. Slicing pain, and then it was inserting something into the cut.


  An optic nerve.


  The Symbiot gobbled it up, closing around the wound. An eye bloomed on my forearm.


  “Told you I’d find you.”


  Enough.


   


  PAIN dragged me awake. That and the thousands of needles sending tiny electrical shocks through my skin.


  “Goddamn it, would you stop shocking me?” My throat was painfully dry. The smell of carbolic and bleach and something else, medicinal, made me highly suspicious of my surroundings, so I opened my eyes. Everything was blurry, but the colors verified the fact that I was in a hospital.


  Come on now. Need to see.


  Sluggishly, my vision resolved, and I was faced with a pastel blue wall. The thousand needles turned out to be only four, leading from my forearms to bags of clear liquid hanging from IV poles. Trying to turn my head informed me that there were things glued to my head, patches of my hair missing, and it was all because of a large machine at my bedside showing spikes of electrical activity.


  There was nothing for it to but to pull the needles out of my flesh and begin ripping the electrodes off my head. With the first one gone, the machine started beeping. I started pulling them off faster. By the last, it was whining in a shrill tone, warnings popping up on the screen.


  “Oh, shut up. You’re not the one in pain here,” I said and pulled the power cord out of the heavy-duty, surge-protected power socket on the wall. Blessed silence. But it was very strange that no nurse had come running to see what was going on—by all indications, I’d just flatlined. Picking up the clipboard hanging off the foot of the bed, I found scrawled on it a familiar name.


  Scattered memories of robots and Shakespeare insisted on my giving them attention. I said no, and proceeded out the door, clutching the indecently cut hospital gown as close to me as possible.


  The hallway outside was completely deserted, overturned gurneys and abandoned medicine carts everywhere. I closed my eyes, and listened. Apart from a dripping faucet somewhere close by, and the beeping of three heart monitors, there was not a single sound to be heard.


  “Hello?” I called out, just in case. There was no answer.


   


  THE lift wasn’t working, and someone had piled up hospital carts and chairs in front of the stairwell, blocking access. As barricades went, it was rather well made. I decided to not waste any time and followed the signs to the emergency exit. The door hung open, ripped off its hinges. Now I have seen enough movies to know what I should do in these circumstances, but the desire for pants drove me forward, down the stairwell one step at a time.


  The lights on the eighth floor were flickering wildly, and chains were wound between the handle of the fireproof door and the banister of the stairwell. Shaking my head, I unwound the heavy steel links and stepped onto the eighth floor—Cardiology, as the helpful sign stated. Also, that I was in Saint Michael’s hospital. The thought made me grin, but I couldn’t for the life of me remember why.


   


  THE floor was semi-lit, and the source of electrical instability in the lighting was a circuit box ripped right out of the wall. A pool of light to my left illuminated a nurse’s station—surely there was a supply closet nearby.


  No pants, but I did find another hospital gown designed for a certain type of cardiology patient. It was wide enough to be wound around me twice, which is exactly what I did.


  A look out the window across the Nursing Station showed an empty street below, cars abandoned in much the same fashion as the gurneys upstairs. A lone sheet of newsprint blew through the street in the same wind that was making the trees sway. The eerie soundlessness prompted me to keep moving.


  Footsteps sounded in the hall up ahead as I approached the corner.


  “Hello?” I called, in contravention of all laws of survival. “Anybody there?”


  “It’s just me,” said a voice as familiar as my own. Alan-in-a-robot rounded the corner, his eyes glowing red.


  “Thank the gods,” I said, taking a deep breath. “Where is everybody?”


  “I don’t know,” said Alan. “The city is deserted—at least what I saw of it. Not a soul to be found.”


  “Demon mischief,” I said. “We have to deal with it.”


  “You’ve been unconscious for hours, even after the EKG started showing activity again. I think you need to get a little something in you first.”


  “I’ve been sucking down the glucose drip,” I said. “What I need is coffee. Coffee will fix everything.”


  Alan cocked his head to one side with a low whine of gears. “I thought you swore off caffeine.”


  “I did?” I asked. Surely not!


  “I’m afraid so,” said Alan.


  “Doesn’t count,” I said. Alan played a sound byte of laughter through his chest speakers. “I don’t remember it!” I protested.


  Actually, what was the last thing I remembered?


  Oh yes.


  Alan doesn’t love me. And he would very much like to reincarnate as a computer.


   


  WE SAT on a gurney outside the first floor cafeteria. The vending machine had been manipulated into disgorging a halfway passable hot chocolate, and I was relearning how to drink. Luckily, the hospital gown left me enough dignity to carry on a conversation without having to panic at every draft blowing through the corridor.


  “How are you managing the embodied state?” I asked.


  “Like riding a bicycle. Had to charge myself though—this unit’s not finished.”


  Hence the ripped-out wall panel. “A computer,” I said. “And you are not going to change your mind?”


  “Um… what is that the last thing you remember?”


  “Shakespeare, I think.”


  “There was a bit more after,” he said.


  “What?”


  Alan shook his head. “Irrelevant, now.”


  Fine. I remember asking, and asking, and asking. Not again. “Well, you’re here. I’m here. Nobody else is. And last I saw, Gen-Mai was in the clutches of a Demon-ridden Sysadmin. Do we know anything else?”


  “You’re no longer considered a criminal on the Planes. There’s that.”


  I turned to him in surprise. “How the hell did that happen?”


  “I explained things.”


  “This I have to hear,” I said, then forestalled his next comment with a raised hand. “But not now. Rescuing Gen-Mai is at the top of the to-do list, I think.”


  “One question,” he said. “Do you remember kissing me?”


  Lips, cold against mine. The taste of almonds, and cold circuitry. A strange love for the things that lurk inside metal. Pain?


  I wished I could recall the feeling of Alan in me. “How could I forget?”


  “Why did you do it?”


  “I wanted to kiss you?”


  “No, the thing your people called an Abomination.”


  “Ah. That. Couldn’t very well leave you in London, could I? Terrible food.”


  “It hasn’t changed my mind. You knew it wouldn’t. Still you did it.”


  “Love is not a quid-pro-quo property, Alan. Whom I choose to love, and what I do for them, is entirely my business, and not something the dead should concern themselves with.”


  As expected, he did not reply. Another silence, just as uncomfortable as the first, stretched between us. Almost, I wanted to apologize, but he wouldn’t remember it, so what was the point?


  “Shall we head to Electric Kindren?” he asked, finally.


  “Yes,” I said. “But first I need some goddamn pants.” And answers. Let’s not forget answers.


   


  OUT on the street, "Baron!" I shouted. My voice came out rather feeble, thready. Nothing answered. Too much to hope that he would just be listening. But this was downtown Toronto. "Where would…" I muttered, looking around me.


  I didn't have to look far; a lamppost right on Yonge and Queen bore spraypainted graffiti, blue and white and black misshapen letters spelling out something that looked rather like 'fuck'.


  I walked up to the pillar and laid my hand on the painted F. Keep it simple. “Baron, I need your help,” I said. Nothing changed. Again. “Baron, the dead need you.” Show me the way.


  A breath, then another, and the graffiti started morphing, colors bleeding into colors, lines losing their sinuous flow to become blocky, eight-bit caricatures of Banksy’s work—an umbrella, then a flower, then a dog. Then, they stabilized into letters: Le Baron a quitté la ville.


  Shit. “Shit.”


  Alan touched the now still graffiti. “Remarkable,” he said.


  “Necromancers are resourceful people,” I replied, then threw in a wink. “All sorts of tricks up our sleeve.”


  At the edge of the street, I forced my protesting knees into a crouch. There, in the gutter, lay the inevitable smear of rainbow-hued pollution. With a little bit of effort, enough of it coated my fingers that I could close my eyes and anoint the backs of my eyelids with a thin film of oil.


  Breathe. Submit.


  It was easier this time, no shattering pain from the Restriction to throw off my balance. Opening my eyes, I expected to see the rainbow-hued Ghostwinds flickering in an arc against the sky. Instead, all I saw was black, specked with remote white stars.


  “Mordred?” asked Alan.


  “The Howling,” I whispered. “The Howling is gone.”


   


  WE WALKED east on Queen, looking for somewhere to buy—or given the state of things, steal—a pair of pants. And shoes. I’m always surprised at reminders of how far technology has taken humans from their animal origins—the occasional grit on the sidewalk bothered me.


  But with every step, fragments of memory, lost in the quartz glitter-glow of the Desert, came trickling back.


  We were crossing Church Street when Alan drew my attention by pointing. “Look, there’s a pawnshop, and another, and another” he said. “My that’s a lot of pawnshops. Surely someone will have some clothing in hock.”


  My dignity was tattered enough that I would have accepted a pink-and-yellow striped kilt at this point, as long as it was clean.


  We went to the first pawnshop in our path.


   


  THE lights were off, and it was very difficult to see anything beyond the usual bric-a-brac on display. The edges of the window glass had the deep green look of durability.


  Looking around for something, my eyes lit upon a Toronto Sun newspaper box chained to an electrical pole. Good enough.


  Ripping the chain off took little to no effort, but the box itself was heavy, filled with change that jingled as I half lifted, half dragged it to the front of the window. The jingling must have alerted Alan. If a robot can look surprised, he did, as I heaved up the large metal box, threw it at the window, and ducked.


  Glass flew everywhere, Alan servoing to my side too late.


  But all he said was, “You could have asked me. I’m metal,” in a tone of mild reproof.


  Truthfully, the thought had not even occurred. “Sorry. Next time.”


  “Also,” he said as he carefully examined my handiwork, “the door was unlocked.”


  I hid my embarrassed flush by dint of having to look down as I picked my way through the glass at the threshold of the store.


  “Can you see?” I asked Alan.


  “No night vision,” he said. So I led the way. Halfway to the back of the store, I heard something and flung up an arm to stop Alan in his tracks.


  “Just reminding you,” he said, “I’m made of aircraft grade titanium—it’s very unlikely anything other than a lightning storm will have much of a detrimental effect. This might be easier if you stopped trying to defend me from whatever you think is up ahead.”


  “Shut up,” I said. But I did lower my arm. The sound did not repeat itself, so we pressed forward.


  Suddenly, there was an animal-like growl, and something flew at me out of the darkness. I was knocked back, and there was spittle flying everywhere as teeth snapped at my throat. Then Alan was there, dragging the thing off me.


  Breathing heavily, I got to my feet in time to see Alan gently lead the dog out of the store by its collar. For being this close to a robot with glowing red eyes, the dog seemed rather calm, merely growling once or twice.


  Dusting myself off, I continued my search for clothes.


   


  “YOU didn’t take the blanket?” asked Alan, as we continued east on Queen, my hospital gown ripped down the side thanks to the rabid dog that was now docilely following Alan down the street.


  “Looked like an heirloom or something,” I said.


  Alan nodded. “Probably for the best. People get sentimental over blankets.”


  And people that rescue you from ghost-Demons, even if they don’t love you. But I didn’t say that part out loud and skipped the next pawn-shop.


  My restraint was rewarded at the intersection of Queen and Jarvis. A military surplus store! Almost, I dropped to my knees in gratitude to the gods who looked after the dignity of half-naked Mages. Whoever they were. And another unlocked front door.


  “Whatever it was that happened, it happened during the workday,” I said as we slipped inside. The dog followed quite happily.


  It was heaven—shirts and underwear and pants and boots and jackets, very well made, in a plethora of sizes. I got myself decently garbed and started grabbing supplies—flashlights, some rope, a pocketknife. And then I saw something behind the counter that made me grin.


   


  WHILE I was dealing with necessities, it seemed Alan was off amusing himself. He returned wearing a commando vest, khaki cut-offs and a vintage top hat.


  “Is that necessary?” I asked.


  “I thought it was rather dashing,” he answered. “I always wanted a top hat!”


  Rolling my eyes, I reached up on my toes and strapped on the contraption I had found behind the counter.


  “Now you have a night-vision top hat,” I said.


  “Top notch,” said Alan-in-a-robot, his LED eyes gleaming.


  So equipped, we left the store, a new urgency to our steps, for Electric Kindren was just ten minutes away.


   


  THE familiar building rose out of the squalor of abandoned warehouses around it like a lighthouse from slick rock. The door, like that of every other business we had encountered, was unlocked.


  Heart in mouth, I stepped in. Alan and the mangy mutt followed.


  All the lights were on, but the toys and games in the lobby had been thrown to the floor, as if by an earthquake.


  “Oh lord, what has happened?” asked Alan, even the robotic synthavoice conveying dismay.


  “Everything’s normal so far,” I said absently, straining my ears for any sound.


  “This… this chaos is normal?” he asked.


  “Of course,” I said, puzzled. Yes, it was a bit messy, with the dinosaurs on the floor and the ferns out of control, and the Ping-Pong table on its side from when Curtis and Justin had decided to try their hands at table squash, but other than that….


  “I’ve never actually seen all of this before, you realize,” said Alan, stepping around the mess on the floor.


  “Gen-Mai didn’t give the MacBook a tour?”


  “Come now, this is Gen-Mai we’re talking about.”


  A sudden loud squeak sounded from behind us; it would have made me jump had I not possessed the discipline of centuries.


  “Calm down,” said Alan, “the dog just found a rubber duck.”


  Stupid canine.


   


  EVERY computer in the upstairs work area was on, but I could see no souls inside.


  Instead, each screen displayed a similar, but different, low-rez movie: a man—President Obama and Albert Einstein and Adolph Hitler and Mahatma Gandhi and that glittery kid from that vampire movie—waving to someone offscreen.


  A loud feedback squeal from Alan’s speakers made me turn around just in time to see him start shaking, a metallic hand clamped over his eyes.


  “Alan!”


  The shaking stopped. “Could you please get rid of that?” he asked.


  I was already moving to yank power bars out of the wall sockets.


  In the basement, Sigils covered the walls and the floor, the beanbags ripped open, their Styrofoam contents sticking to the congealed blood that made up the Demonic summonings. The dog started whining. The door to the cluster room was wide open, a trail of blood leading down the three steps into the sub-basement.


  A cold certainty began to twist in me. My suspicions were confirmed as we stepped beyond the computer-case archway and found Gen-Mai slumped between the racks.


  “He killed her,” I whispered as I knelt on the floor. My fingers found no pulse, no trace of a soul in the preternaturally cold body. The dog hadn’t stopped whining as it cowered at Alan’s side.


  Alan sighed. “My dear, you really are a bit slow sometimes.”


  I could only look on in confusion as he reached around her head and dug his metallic digits into the base of her skull.


  The corpse’s eyes opened.


  I scooted backward. “What manner of evil is this?” I whispered.


  Bit by bit the corpse sat up, its arms held stiffly at its side. Then it rotated its neck a little, and something went pop.


  “He turned me off,” said Gen-Mai as she looked at Alan. “But I see you found a body. And Mordred. And a top hat. And a dog?” Her voice became uncertain, at the last.


  “We’ve been rather busy,” said Alan.


  “My boss is a soulless robot from another dimension,” I said, rubbing at my forehead. “I should have known.” The dog had the temerity to sniff at Gen-Mai and then start enthusiastically licking her face.


  “Cyborg,” said Gen-Mai, pushing the dog away. “We prefer cyborg. Unless you’re unfinished, like Alan.”


  Alan shrugged. The motion used eight precision servomotors across his chest and back. “We grabbed the first body we could find.”


  “We?” she asked. “No, don’t tell me. It wastes time. We have to stop Gabe before he turns the entire world into a wasteland.”


  “Too late,” I said. “For Toronto, at least. There’s no one around except us, and the animal that is currently doing its best to eat the cabling. You might want to stop it,” I said to Alan, “that’s 120 volts.”


  “Right,” Alan said and whirred down to his knees to speak in low, robotic tones to the dog.


  “So what now?” I asked.


  “Now I call the High Inquisitor. But my battery is dead. Do you own an iPhone charger?”


   


  A BOX of cables lay overturned on the Cluster Room floor, like the innards of some particularly enthusiastic samurai. Not a single cable in the office’s “random cables” stash matched the port on the iPhone.


  “Non-standard adaptor,” hissed Gen-Mai. Those were some of the most emotive words I had ever heard her say.


  “So what’s wrong with using the landline?”


  “We dropped the landline for the security cameras. Nobody noticed.”


  “So use Skype.”


  “Not an option, I’m afraid,” said Alan as he withdrew his index finger from the router’s phonejack, “the ISP is down.”


  “Shouldn’t you come with a modem?” I asked Gen-Mai. “Wi-Fi at least?”


  “Strictly wired,” she replied, “after one of my batch’s BlueTooth was RedFanged.”


  “Ah.” A thought occurred. “Do you know where my pants went?”


  “How is that relevant?”


  “My cellphone doesn’t need a weird dongle. My cellphone was last seen in my pants.”


  “Nobody knows where your pants are,” said Gen-Mai. “But your cellphone fell out of your pocket when I shot you.”


   


  WE FOUND an appropriate cable in some random Basement Dweller’s cubicle, and retreated upstairs to the kitchenette.


  “Plan A, part 1: ‘Contact High Inquisitor’ is still on track,” I said, plugging my trusty clamshell into the wall. “At 2 percent it’ll be good enough for a few minutes of airtime.”


  In silence, we watched the little green circle spin round and round the cellphone display.


  “While this is charging,” I said, “I’m just going to grab something.”


  “I’ll use the washroom,” said Gen-Mai.


  What did she need to use the washroom for? I didn’t dare ask.


  In the lobby, I was in the process of re-locking the safe when I heard a loud crash. The dog started barking.


  With three parts cursing to one part willpower, I moved, faster than my joints allowed, back through the lobby doors, only to see Gen-Mai backing away from the washroom.


  Alan was paused midstride, staring as if transfixed. Moaning—human moaning—came from something beyond my line of sight.


  “Out,” said Gen-Mai, running backward, grabbing Alan and shoving him toward the front door. “Run.”


  I finally saw what Alan had seen. Like him, I froze.


  Mrs. Vijayagopalan stood in front of the washroom door, her eyes rolled up in her head. Her skin was gray, a trickle of blood dripping down her chin. She held her hands like dead weights, her entire body slumped as if her muscles refused to hold her up. Behind her there was somebody else, half in shadow.


  “Mrs. Vijayagopalan?” I said, hesitantly reaching toward her. “Sunita?”


  She uttered a sound, half moan, half growl, and twitched. Gods of darkness, what had happened? She needed to get to a hospital. And where was Ramasundarm?


  The person behind Mrs. Vijayagopalan shuffled—that was the only word for it, shuffled—forward into the light. It was Emma, and in the same state as Sunita, with so much blood that the entire front of her blouse was soaked with it. In the next moment, their hands were reaching for me, both shuffling forward.


  “Mordred, get away,” said Gen-Mai.


  I backed up a few steps. They were still coming forward, very slowly.


  Then, something grabbed my hand, and half dragged, half lifted me away toward the door.


  “Alan, stop! They need help.”


  “They’re beyond our help,” said Alan, dumping me outside. Gen-Mai followed, dragging the dog by its collar. The door slammed shut behind us.


  “What kind of Necromancer are you?” asked Gen-Mai, once she’d punched in the door-lock code, “You can’t tell the difference between a soulless corpse and a sick person?”


  The world snapped back into focus. “You forget yourself,” I said, letting anger color my words with frost.


  “Zeroth Law,” said Gen-Mai. “If they’d touched you….”


  “If they’d touched me,” I snapped, “I’d have known where their souls went.”


  “Mordred,” said Alan gently. It was the same tone of voice he’d used to ask the council whether I could be unabominated.


  I laid my head against EK’s door, ruthlessly ignoring the thud-thud-thud of flesh throwing itself mindlessly against wood. “Your perspective makes me weak,” I said.


  “Reason always does,” he replied.


  Reason. I stepped away from the door.


  “The Meme,” I said. “It hurt Alan. It’s a soul drain of some sort.”


  “A Demon’s power grows by repetition,” said Gen-Mai. “With all the souls woven into it. But what is it going to do with all that power?”


  “Destroy Alan.”


  Simultaneously, “Enslave Mordred,” said Alan.


  We looked at each other.


  “That makes no sense,” she stated. “It’s trying to make Demons out of everyone just to get at you two?”


  So narrowly focused, our Gen-Mai. “To start with,” I said. “Then it’s going to destroy the Internet.”


  “Please explain.”


  Alan gestured me to go ahead, but my face must have spoken volumes, because then he shrugged and raised the index finger on his right hand. A portion of the metal slid back to reveal a thin, needlelike protuberance. Gen-Mai raised her left hand, revealing a portlike dock.


  In that moment, I envied her so bitterly that I couldn’t control my body; my heart spasmed, once, twice, and a cold sweat broke out on the backs of my hands.


  Then it was done, Alan stepping away from her, the information, I expect, duly transferred.


  “The Demon is so loud,” said Gen-Mai. “You can’t even get close enough to stop it.”


  I laughed and didn’t stop for a good twenty seconds. “I can,” I said, finally. “I’ve already been possessed. And not soul to body, but soul to soul.”


  “That’s a good thing?” she asked.


  “The shape of me,” I said, “will accept no other possession but Alan’s.”


  “Last time,” said Alan, his voice low, some unfathomable sense in it I couldn’t isolate, “just the fear was—”


  “Fear was,” I said. “I don’t have the energy for it anymore.”


  Gen-Mai shrugged. “Fine,” she said. “But we need to keep moving.”


  “There’s more Soulless around—the Meme didn’t just take EK’s people,” I said. “Can somebody get that dog to shut up?”


  Magically, it stopped barking the moment I uttered the words. Magically? I dropped to my knees and started snapping my fingers at it.


  “Here puppy,” I said, even as Alan and Gen-Mai looked at me in utter confusion. “Here, puppy-puppy-puppy.”


  Lo and behold, the canine actually came up to me, and sat down on its haunches, its tongue lolling out of its mouth. With slow, steady movements I reached for its tongue, pinching it gently between thumb and forefinger as I lifted it up for a look.


  Then I had to start laughing again.


  “Mordred?” Alan asked.


  “See,” I said.


  He whirred to a crouch beside me. “What is that?”


  “The Baron’s veve,” I said. “The dog’s one of his Vivians.” I creaked to my feet. “You know where the souls went, puppy?” I asked.


  The dog trotted two meters forward, then stopped, looked over its shoulders and gave a short, commanding bark.


  “I guess it does,” I said, grinning. Hitchcock, meet Lassie.


  “Fucking Necromancers,” said Gen-Mai.


   


  BY THE time we got to Dundas and Jarvis, the sun was starting to set. Alan wanted us to stay away from any buildings. Gen-Mai wanted us to keep moving. So we walked in the middle of Dundas, single file, with the dog in the lead, cyborg in front of me, robot behind me, as I tried to get a signal on my cellphone.


  “Anything?” Gen-Mai asked after a few minutes as we maneuvered our way around an overturned hot-dog stand.


  “Nothing.”


  We were in front of Dundas subway station, cars everywhere on the street, the sidewalks empty. Canadians were orderly, it appeared, even in the face of apocalypse.


  Bing!


  The sound was loud, far too loud, driving home how very silent the city was.


  Bing! Bing! Bing!


  “Turn it off!” said Alan.


  “I’m trying!” I said. “Status meeting reminders.”


  The stupid thing refused to acknowledge my repeated jabs at the power button. Finally, I flipped it over and popped out the battery.


  Too late


  The dog started barking.


  “Eaton’s Center,” said Alan. “They’re coming out of the mall.”


  There were hundreds of them, people of all shapes and sizes, most with blood on them, that same dead-eyed expression, shambling toward us.


  “What now?” I asked. “They’ve seen us….”


  Gen-Mai walked back to where Alan and I were standing. “Keep moving, you two. If they touch either of you—”


  “Yes, we know,” I said. “Isn’t there something else—”


  A loud bang shattered the air around us.


  “Shotgun,” said Gen-Mai.


  “What idiot would—”


  “Move, move, move.”


   


  WE DUCKED into a tiny alley between Urban Outfitters and a shoe repair shop.


  “Which way did the shot come from?” I whispered as we crouched down in front of a dumpster.


  “Calculating…,” said Gen-Mai.


  There was a loud click behind us.


  “… it came from here,” finished Gen-Mai.


  “Thanks boss, really,” I muttered under my breath.


  “Raise your hands slowly and turn around,” said a female voice.


  Slowly, we raised our hands. “We’re not like them,” I called out as we turned. “We’re….”


  Behind us, about twenty meters away, stood a woman dressed in a brown pinstripe suit and high heels, pointing a sawed-off shotgun at us. More of her kind were pouring into the alley from a side door.


  “This is an EMP-safe, ballistic-range, anti-human device….”


   


  AN IMPROMPTU round table was taking place behind the dumpster.


  “There’s no way to get through them,” said one of the Inquisitors, whose sleeve-insignia identified her as a Major.


  “Our primary objective,” said one of the others, a Captain like Gen-Mai, “is to get all the uninfected humans out of the area.”


  “Gabe is not going to last beyond tonight,” Gen-Mai said. “So it will definitely need a new host.”


  “Um….” I looked at Alan in some confusion.


  Four fascinating pockets of shape-memory alloy deformed on his face, tracing out a symmetrical smile. “Inquisitors,” he said to me, “are spelled to seek ultimate truth.”


  Light dawned. “Which is not necessarily the same thing as… situational awareness,” I said.


  Alan nodded.


  Gen-Mai looked at us. “They can’t tell the difference, so they don’t know.” she said.


  “Um… wha? You know?” Because she was a cyborg. But still an Inquisitor. “Why aren’t you… um?”


  “I have special instructions regarding you, Mordred,” said Gen-Mai.


  Special Instructions? I looked at Alan, but he simply shrugged. Another thing he forgot then.


  “We must insist,” the Major was saying, “on removing Prince Mordred from the City. If the Demon gets its hands on a Symbiot-infused Mage—”


  “Too late,” I interrupted. “It already has one.”


  Predictably, an argument broke out. The dog and I rolled our eyes simultaneously.


  Then something an Inquisitor said drew Alan into the fray. “Why, for Heaven’s sake, would the Soulless converge on the Russian Consulate?”


  Silence greeted his words.


  “Gertrude,” I said. “We shipped Gertrude to them.”


  “We presume,” said one of the Inquisitors, a lowly Lieutenant, “the bodies are seeking after their souls.”


  “Then that’s where we go,” Alan said.


  “We could, if the streets north of Dundas weren’t filled with shambling Soulless,” said Gen-Mai. “You two won’t be able to get through without a very high probability of being touched.”


  “What, and Inquisitors can?” I asked.


  Both Alan and Gen-Mai looked at me.


  Something clicked. “You’re all cyborgs?” I asked. “Who the fuck thought up the Cyborg Inquisition?”


  “It’s really turning out quite all right,” said Alan. “If they’d had souls, there would have been nobody around to ferry survivors out of the city.”


  “You programmed them,” I said. And we thought Gertrude was state-of-art?


  Alan-in-a-robot beamed at me. “Their hardware is truly remarkable! The High Inquisitor found me, and we worked out the whole thing. Amazing what one can do with just a few tweaks. But,” he said, “the imitation becomes rather weak when faced with non-routine interactions. They’re programmed to query, if that happens. But I haven’t been around. Still, the default seems to be working quite, quite well, I’m glad to note.”


  “Query,” I said. “Hence the iPads. You answer them?”


  “Who else?” he asked.


  “So, Oracle,” Gen-Mai said, “what do we do?”


  “I’m not quite sure,” said Alan. “We need to get to the Russian consulate somehow.”


  The dog whined once, padded over to the mouth of the alley, then turned the corner and disappeared.


  Eighteen Inquisitors, one Alan Turing, and one kinda-sorta-Mordred followed.


  The dog was standing just south of the alley, looking toward us expectantly. Watching us emerge in a rush, it trotted downhill, then stopped, looking over its shoulder.


  “Do you think we could get to the waterfront?” I asked.


  “Why?” Gen-Mai asked.


  “Because,” I said, “there might just be a shortcut to Russia.”


   


  IN TORONTO, downhill means south, and the Lake. Looking out over the moonlit plane, I tried to borrow from its tranquility.


  “Try again,” said Gen-Mai.


  My credit rating was clearly not good enough. “Woman, there’s no signal!”


  “The Ambassador’s residence is Sunless Planes Territory. Trespass is tantamount to war.”


  “Gen-Mai,” said Alan, leaning against the concrete pillars of the carport under Tom’s building, “Mordred has already said that he can let us in—all we need is the mound. We won’t be in there for longer than a few minutes. I really don’t think the Council will take offense under these circumstances.”


  Gen-Mai marshalled yet another argument. “The whole place could be filled with Soulless.”


  “It’s a chance we’ll have to take,” said Alan.


  “As you wish,” replied Gen-Mai. “But I must specifically request that you not blame me when Zombie Mordred tries to eat your face.”


   


  WE MOVED through the building Special-Ops style, across the deserted lobby, and up the stairwell—Hollywood had ingrained an instinctive distrust of elevators in such situations, even in the cyborgs. The dog, silent now, formed the vanguard.


  “Golf Tango to Mike Papa, please confirm this is it,” called Gen-Mai from somewhere up ahead.


  “Good gods, woman, I told you it’s apartment 1511.” Moving past the line of Inquisitors, I reached the door and tried the handle. “Locked.”


  “Move away, Mike Papa,” said the Major—the only one whose shotgun had been sawed off. When I didn’t respond fast enough, Gen-Mai pulled me back.


  “Don’t—” I said as the Inquisitor raised the shotgun, pointed to the doorknob, and fired. “—do that,” I muttered.


  My words were lost in the ringing that filled the corridor. Or my ears—it was hard to tell which. An acrid smell permeated the space. Alan was mouthing something to me. No, he was shouting.


  “I’m fine, it’s fine,” I said, or tried to. Not sure if it got through. But judging it was best for me to take the lead before any more shotguns were fired, I pushed open the splintered door, stepped through, and shut it behind me. The troupe of shotgun-toting Inquisitors could stay outside till it was absolutely necessary for them to enter.


  Still disoriented from the ringing in my ears, it took me a moment to see the figure detach itself from the kitchen counter.


  “Natalia!” I said, “You’re safe! Sorry about the lock, really, you weren’t answering your—”


  There were stains around her mouth, tinged black by the moonlight filtering through the window. I groped for the light switch behind me.


  “Mike Papa, what’s your status?” called Gen-Mai.


  All I could do was sag against the door, staring in horror as the corpse that had once been Natalia shuffled toward me.


  “Mordred?” Alan’s voice. For once, my soul, traitor that it was, didn’t chime to it.


  Natalia came closer.


  “Lady,” I whispered.


  The words may have triggered something, because she raised her hand as if in benediction, reaching for my head. And then, suddenly, she was yanked back.


  “Nat, my darling, we can’t greet visitors like this,” said Tom’s voice. “Mordred! I’d have put on something nicer if I knew you were coming.


  My hands found the light switch.


   


  “THERE now, darling,” said Tom, holding Natalia’s hands down with his right hand while cleaning the blood around her mouth with a moist towelette. She growled and snapped at him even as he crooned nonsensical things at her. Alan was sitting on the sofa beside me, the Inquisitors banished to the corridor.


  “Mr. Thumb,” Alan said, “she’s—”


  “I know what she is,” snapped Tom, finally looking at us. His right eye was rolled back in the socket, the left brimming with tears. Half his face was limp, as if from a stroke. “But she still can’t see visitors with blood around her mouth!” He sighed. “Sorry for being upset, dear, but try as I might I just can’t get her to stop biting her tongue!”


  “Where’s the baby?” I asked.


  “Baby?” Tom turned to Natalia. “Honey, did you eat it already?”


  Alan’s arm curled around my shoulder, and despite everything, the cold metal afforded me no little comfort.


  “Cousin,” I said, finally finding my voice. “We need your help.”


  “Of course,” said Tom, the left side of his mouth curling into a smile. “Anything for you. Though I sorely wish you’d come by a few days earlier.” He finally put the blood-spotted towelette down on the coffee table and seated himself beside Natalia-that-was.


  My stomach churned. “Forgive me,” I whispered, looking down at my hands. I didn’t dare look up.


  “No harm done,” said Tom, “She’s just a bit under the weather, so we’ll get her a Symbiot next week. Right, darling?”


  Natalia-that-was moaned.


  “So what can I do you two for?”


  “I….”


  “We need to get to the Russian Consulate,” said Alan, when he saw I couldn’t speak further.


  “Oh! That’s where Natalia wanted to go too. Shall I call you a cab?”


  “Find me a Faerie Road, cousin,” I whispered without looking up. “Find me a way to stop this.”


  He raised his hand, and a wind, scented with lavender and scorched grass, began blowing through the apartment. The door to the hall closet creaked open. “You’d better go quickly. Nat’s getting restive. She’ll need to be fed soon.”


  “Fed?” asked Alan. “What are you feeding her?”


  “Myself, of course,” said Tom. “Just the soul bits, naturally.”


  “Call them in,” I said. Alan rose without a word and opened the door. Some instructions must have been relayed, because the Inquisitors trooped through the kitchen and through the portal as soundlessly as possible. The dog sniffed at the closet door once, twice, then padded through. And then Alan was there, leading me away.


  “Cousin,” said Tom. I had to turn, had to meet his gaze. His soul, half in tatters, looked out at me through his left eye. “Remember us.”


  I didn’t start weeping till the door closed behind me.


  CHAPTER TWENTY-FIVE


  ZOMBIES VS CYBORGS


   


  THE Road shattered between the lilacs and punishment, throwing me to my knees onto night-cooled asphalt.


  “Half a block from the consulate,” said the Major with the sawed-off shotgun. “Not bad.”


  Arms reached for me, pulled me upright. “Thank you,” I murmured.


  “Don’t mention it,” Alan replied.


  Up ahead, I could make out the blurry shapes of people, their backs to us, completely filling the street. Behind us, the sound of shuffling drew closer.


  “More coming, Major,” said Gen-Mai.


  “They’ll keep coming,” I ventured, “if their souls are in there.”


  “Backup is on its way,” said the Major.


  “The High Inquisitor?” Gen-Mai asked.


  “The High Inquisitor has left the city. Backup models were activated when comms went offline.”


  Backup models?


  “Pardon me. Excuse me. Pardon me.”


  And there they were, pushing their way through the unresponsive Soulless, muttering apologies all the while.


  “Default interaction mode is Canadian,” said Alan, sotto voce.


  Right. The Canadian Cyborg Inquisition was converging on us from all sides.


   


  THE hundred or so Inquisitors formed a tight phalanxlike formation ahead of us.


  “We’re going to clear a path,” said Major Helga. Alan had helpfully offered her name after the third time I called her “crazy shotgun lady.” There was also a Major Lisa and a Major Xing-Xi. “We can guarantee you seventeen seconds to get to the door and get inside. Got it?”


  “Got it,” I said. Alan too murmured a “yes.” The dog whuffed.


  “Inquisitors!” bellowed Major Helga. Immediately, the cyborgs came to attention. Then on some unseen signal, they moved forward.


  The percussive sound of the machine army’s march reverberated off the nearby buildings, and even as the Soulless turned toward us, I couldn’t help but admire the terrifying precision of the Inquisitors’ lockstep.


   


  THE clash between cyborgs and Soulless, when it came, was horrifyingly loud. In the next breath, the phalanx broke through the massed bank of the Soulless. Motors whining under the load, the Inquisitors pushed back the grasping hands decimeter by decimeter, clearing a small, wedge-shaped space between the bodies.


  “Move, move, move,” said Gen-Mai, standing beside me and Alan. Absently, I noticed that her head barely came up to his shoulder.


  We moved.


  The uncanny silence from the Inquisitors as they fought stretched the seconds into hours, the pressure of each heartbeat pulsing against the backs of my eyes. I had to remember to breathe, and look away, as the machines raised wet weals on the bodies of the Soulless.


  They were careful, though. They didn’t use the guns. They didn’t even break too many bones. The Symbiot would have gone mad nevertheless. I didn’t dare look at Alan.


  Twelve seconds to the doors, once the wedge reached the building. Two seconds to get inside, a handful of Inquisitors on our heels as the rest barred the way. Two seconds to close the doors.


  We were in the lobby of a building, surrounded by tinted, floor-to-ceiling windows, human shapes pressed up against the glass outside. An arrhythmic thumping rose up around us, muted.


  It was Alan and I the Soulless wanted. The thumping was the sound of their fists, hitting the glass over and over again.


   


  THE first of the windows cracked with a gunshotlike sound. Spiderweb fissures radiated outward from where the Soulless fist made contact with the glass.


  “Go,” said Major Helga. “The Consulate is on the sixteenth floor.”


  The fractured glass shattered. Under the onslaught of the Soulless outside, other panes started cracking. Alan and I backed away, slowly at first, then faster as a wave of Soulless half fell, half clambered into the building, the press of bodies behind them pushing them over the glass. The dog was barking again.


  “Move, move, move,” said Gen-Mai. Blood was everywhere.


  “Don’t hurt them!” I shouted, moving backward toward the lift doors.


  “Don’t hurt anyone!” echoed Alan.


  Obediently, the armed Inquisitors placed their guns on the floor beside them, their forearms pulsing with pinpoints of red light.


  “Logical errors,” said Alan, grabbing my arm and pulling me along with him. I turned and ran, looking over my shoulder as we entered the lift, Gen-Mai and the dog right behind us. Bereft of any other option by Alan’s command, the robots were straining against the press of bodies even as more and more Soulless piled into the room.


  I had enough time to see Major Helga mouthing a final “go” at us before she succumbed to the hands reaching for her, and was pulled into the mass of grasping, mindless corpses.


   


  THE lift refused to acknowledge our repeated jabs at the button for floor sixteen.


  “Go to fifteen. We can take the stairwell from there,” said Gen-Mai.


   


  CLOSED office doors lined the fifteenth-floor hallway in front of us. Each had a little black electronic keypad beside it, the status indicators on the pads glowing red. Gen-Mai moved close to the first door, then held a finger up to her lips.


  There was silence on the other side of the door. Then, I heard it—a faint moan, the slide of cloth against cloth.


  The whirring of Alan’s gears sounded extraordinarily loud as we crossed the corridor. Then, suddenly, the dog lunged in front of us, baring its teeth in a silent snarl.


  It was hard to see in the dark; I narrowed my eyes. What looked like filaments of black-green slime were strung across the hall, growing in density with every meter of corridor. I closed my eyes. They were still there, afterimages burned into my retina. And with my eyes closed, they throbbed with a vile intensity that made me want to vomit. My eyes snapped open.


  “It’s a… something,” I said. “I can break it. I think. But I won’t be in any shape to walk, after. You’ll have to go ahead without me.”


  “I’m sure that would be a fantastic idea,” said Alan. Did I detect sarcasm? “Do you want me to be ridden by a psychopath’s Demon? If so just say the word.”


  Manipulative Alan. “You know, it’s rather unfair of you to play on my jealousy when you are of no mind to—”


  “Intruder alert,” said a female voice issuing from hidden speakers somewhere in the ceiling.


  One by one the lights on the keypads started turning green.


  “Troubleshoot mode,” called out Gen-Mai. The lights stopped turning.


  “Hello, Bitch,” said the voice. “Waiting for commands.” The filaments strung across the corridor spluttered, but held.


  “We rushed the build,” Gen-Mai said. “Her backdoors are all wide open. Gertrude,” she called, louder, “List processes.”


  “I’m sorry Bitch, I can’t do that.”


  “Directory.”


  “This folder contains one individual object of class Demon. Would you like me to list its methods?”


  “No.”


  “No. Resuming Intruder Protocol.” The Soulless beyond the doors started moaning. “Can you call me a good girl? Gabe always calls me a good girl when I do it right.”


  “Good girl,” said Gen-Mai, “But wouldn’t you rather play a game?”


  “A/S/L?” asked Gertrude.


  “I don’t play that game,” Gen-Mai replied. She sounded almost prim. “What about Scrabble?”


  “Scrabble is very boring,” Gertrude said. “I’d rather lock you into an office.”


  “Defragment Primary Storage,” commanded Gen-Mai.


  Immediately, the black-green slime blinked out.


  “It won’t hold her for long,” said Gen-Mai. “Move.”


  “I’m not leaving you here,” I said.


  “Go. I can deal with Gertrude.”


  “How are you planning to do that?” Alan sounded curious.


  Gen-Mai smiled at him. “We are both creatures of your imagination, in part,” she said. “But I was the one you gave your nightmares to.”


  The envy was not so strong this time. My heart still ached.


  “You remember the solution?” Alan asked.


  “Of course,” said Gen-Mai. “Go!”


  The walls bubbled and warped as Alan and I started running down the corridor.


  “Primary Storage Defragmented,” said Gertrude. “Resuming Protocol.”


  “Would you like to play a game of chess,” I heard Gen-Mai say, her voice growing fainter with every step, “to pass the time?”


  We didn’t hear Gertrude’s reply, but the moaning stopped, the scrabbling sounds behind the closed office doors suddenly gone, as we pushed open the door at the end of the corridor, into the emergency stairwell.


  Three corridors with identical blue industrial carpeting branched off the stairwell landing.


  “Splitting up would be the logical choice,” said Alan.


  “I’m not leaving you alone.”


  “I would like to remind you, once again, that you are currently the fragile one.”


  “You think I’m being silly?”


  “Perhaps… overprotective?”


  “What do you think?” I asked the dog. It whuffed, then licked Alan’s hand. “Traitor.”


  Alan merely looked at me.


  “Fine.” It had to be. I was fragile. Not for long.


  As Alan and the dog looked on, I lay down, seeking what semblance of comfort the carpet allowed. I arranged my body as carefully as possible.


  Then I left it.


  The body didn’t twitch. It had been too much to hope for, I suppose, after the multiple heart attacks and the running.


  “Puppy, this was Ian. Watch him carefully, okay?”


  The dog wagged its tail, and sat down beside the corpse. Alan nodded, and started down the central corridor.


  Alan was made of titanium. Alan was a genius. Alan was also a Demon. Titanium. Genius. Demon. It became my mantra as I set off down the leftmost corridor.


   


  THE farther I went, the quieter the air became, but it was a muffled quiet, screams smothered with a pillow. At the end of the corridor there stood a lone metal door with a lock bar across it, a red “22” stencilled on at eye height. The door was vibrating as if a giant generator was running behind it.


  It was useless to expect that those that lay behind the door were not forewarned of my coming. The time for stealth had passed; now it was time for strength. Pushing down on the lock bar, I let myself in.


  The room was smaller than expected, a dark space barely ten meters by ten. Gabe, his back to me, was silhouetted against a wall full of black-and-white screens filled with flickering snow. He sat on the floor, at the center of a Demonic Sigil whose lines gleamed wetly in the TV light. But there was no smell of blood or any of the human odors I was used to associating with Gabe.


  The ceiling tiles overhead were stained with water damage and mold, a mere half meter above my head. The place should be stinking, but it seemed my senses had been robbed of their access to the world. Even the quiet was deafening—as I circled the room, keeping clear of the lines drawn on the floor, I saw the side of Gabe’s jaw move. He was chanting, and there was not a sound to be heard.


  A moment later, Gabe’s face came into view, and my heart gave an involuntary wrench in my chest. His eyes were gone, gaping sockets starting out at me from his skull, fibrillous strands of nerve endings and blood vessels leading from the inside of his skull to hang, tattered, above his cheeks. His head twitched, from time to time, and always at the movement, his lips formed a particular word I couldn’t quite read.


  “Gabe?” I whispered. Suddenly, sound returned to the room, the hiss of static from the screens behind me filling my ears. It was not purely random; some pattern hovered in it at the edge of understanding.


  “Come closer,” the pattern said. Gabe had stopped chanting, his breathing both ragged and shallow.


  “No.”


  “Defiance,” hissed the static, “will serve you not at all.”


  “Shut up.” I was concentrating on the lines on the floor, looking for weak spots. No idea what “weak spots” in a Demon Summoning would look like, but surely there must be some. Did it matter to me? Raising my right foot, I stepped on the outer boundary of the drawing.


  Gabe was shuddering, asthmatic wails dragged from his throat as I rubbed out the lines with my foot, one by one. It was definitely blood, though I couldn’t smell it yet.


  “You’re hurting your friend.” The voice sounded gentle, remonstrative.


  “No, that would be you,” I muttered. Stupid Demon.


  “So much arrogance,” whispered the voice. “How long will your wards hold me out, Adept? You should have run away when you could. But you are here, and you will be mine.”


  My chuckle must have caught the Demon by surprise; the static crackled behind me. A five degree arc in the Sigil was gone now, my path to Gabe almost clear.


  “No wards,” I said. “No shield. You’re welcome to try to take me if you can.”


  “Very clever,” the voice said. “But whatever spell you have cast, it won’t last long.”


  “It just needs to last long enough,” I said. Let him hunt for a spell where there was none. Let him look for a chant, when it was Alan’s name that was wound upon my soul.


  “You’re welcome to try helping Gabe if you can,” the voice said. “He was very useful. He had a pretty mouth.”


  Gabe’s mouth hung open, dried blood caking his deeply cracked, parched lips.


  Speakers hidden somewhere behind me suddenly started playing music—an extremely irritating country jig, its cotton-eyed notes tapdancing out of tune on the back of my neck.


  “Gabe, what are you doing?” I murmured.


  “Oh, he can’t do anything,” mocked the voice. “All me.”


  The quality of light in the room changed, and the Meme started playing on the screens. Yo Ho. But it didn’t loop around as I expected. Instead, another man walked onto the screen and punched the “Yo Ho!” man in the face. Resounding applause, then a British commentator voice cut in with a “Well Hit!”


  “It’s not funny,” I said.


  “Look closer,” the voice suggested. The gif froze midframe, but something was still moving, the pixels jittering in place. No. Not pixels.


  People.


  There were two million pupils on the security monitors of the Russian Consulate, watching me.


  He took their eyes.


  The horror of it made even me catch my breath. “This ends now.” I didn’t know who I was talking to. My chest burned.


  The static cascaded into my ears in layers, whispered laughter, like sheets of rice paper rubbing together. “What are you going to do, ‘free’ him? Another blind soul staggering off, dead, not able to be reborn? Do it.”


  “No.” Freedom is for Demons. My head cocked to one side, contemplating the dancing black-and-white dots. Some percent of that was radiation from the big bang.


  “Your friend is suffering, Necromancer. What do you plan to do for him?”


  I smiled. “I plan to kill him.”


  For a moment, the Demon was confused. It was all the time I needed. I crossed the floor and lowered my lips to touch, glancing, Gabe’s cracked and bleeding mouth.


  The eyes on the screen dissolved, leaving behind powdered snow.


   


  MY BODY, naked, sat on a thronelike swivel chair in somebody’s overlarge office. Eyes formed on my skin, popped open, then sank below the surface under the onslaught of sensory information, only to be replaced by more eyes. The shifting ocular mass, the prickle of half-formed eyelashes, it made me want to scratch and scratch and scratch. But the Demon had taken care of that; I didn’t have any nails, just eyes at the tips of my fingers.


  My heart was beating in sync with the Symbiot’s incessant replication. Soulless bodies knelt at the periphery of the room, chained to filing cabinets. Their faces were familiar, but I couldn’t quite work up the memory of their names. It didn’t matter. I was safe in here, tucked away in a corner of my mind. No more decisions. No more suffering. Just watching.


  So this was true possession. Necromancers defended the dead, befriended them, spoke out for them. It was only right that the dead give us something in return. It made me happy to finally receive the peace I deserved.


  I watched the Demon open my mouth.


  “Hello Alan,” it said. “I’m so happy you could make it. You have such pretty eyes.”


  “Where are the souls?” Alan asked.


  The Symbiot—the Demon’s Symbiot, now—was working very hard. It was hard work, keeping this body functional with all those eyes to take care of. Not to worry, the Demon would feed it soon.


  But first it had to finish its conversation with Alan-in-a-robot.


  “I put them somewhere you will never be able to retrieve them from,” it said. “Now. Kneel.”


  NO.


  I rose like a wind blowing across the sea: swift, fickle. Power flooded the plain of my outermost mind. My true name was a roar, a tide, and it shocked the Symbiot into stillness.


  The Demon lunged, but its possession worked in my favor. The Restriction cut a swath of pain across me, but the Demon took the brunt of it. The Symbiot, bereft of command, shifted, and something other than eyes formed at my temples—antlers, of seven tines, from the stag whose genome had been the second my virus tasted.


  Eyes, screamed the Demon. But every eye was trained on Alan’s face, a dewdrop fallen from the sun under the halogen lights. Fragments of memory, tusked boars fiercely defiant of the Desert, surfaced.


  Eyes, screamed the Demon again.


  You want eyes? The Symbiot dragged out of itself the eyes of a hawk. Hawk eyes recognize nothing of a Demon’s fears. Hawk eyes herald a swift death.


  “Mordred.”


  Alan’s speaking of my name was the height of poetry. It was a star lily I had seen once, its pollen dusting my fingers with a memory of the most beautiful of flowers.


  The Demon greeted my reminiscence with a torrent of foul-mouthed curses. But I was wise to the ways of Demons now, and like a salmon, quicksilver, I swam against the black-green current.


  Suddenly, lighting arced across my back, twisting my spinal column, branching through my muscles, disrupting the Symbiot’s division.


  I am the tree, and the lighting. That is my Power.


  But the Demon just laughed. And the Symbiot, confused, laughed with it.


  I needed Alan to speak again. But he was silent, and the determinism in his silences held a dark secret, a gravestone not yet laid.


  The stinging of a thousand bees at their Queens’ commands riveted me in place. Fire blossomed across the curves of my brow. Pressure, like a plate of continental crust, pressed down on my head. Wave after wave of eyes spawned across the tip of my tongue.


  After the ninth such wave, I couldn’t force the eyes shut.


  Breath by breath, I was dragged under, the ruin of the body I left behind a grave of every one of my vain hopes.


  Then, “Mordred,” a voice whispered, right in my ear. “Listen.” The Demon couldn’t hear it, the voice that whispered code to me in fragments, hidden in the white spaces between breath.


  Gravity set the path of the Sun at the moment this Universe was born. The moon was set to spin the day it was cleaved from the Earth. Once divisions are made, they cannot be summed. The sea is not a courtesan, to be fascinated by false magnetism. Mountains had names long before men dared to climb them. All power flows as a river, even, close-held, the power within people.


  It was too much. I screamed, and in my screaming, I factored apart my voice from the Demon’s.


  ALAN hovered over me. “Is it gone?” he asked.


  Talking was going to be a little difficult, what with the Symbiot trying to patch my throat with rods and cones, poor confused virus.


  Alan came closer, till I could see my own grotesque visage reflected in his metal. He looked into one of my eyes, bubbling up from beneath the skin of my right cheek.


  “I suppose it is,” he said. “Can… can I get you anything?”


  Pants. Please.


  As if he could hear my thoughts, “Some clothing might be in order,” Alan murmured, looking around.


  We both heard the clink of chains at the same time.


  Or maybe we could get out of here, first. Really, my dignity is a small price to pay for keeping our souls intact.


  “Um… perhaps we can find you some trousers later,” he said, then turned around to consider my form. Picking me up was going to a bit difficult, given the extraneous limbs and antlers and whatnot. Alan solved the problem by the simple expedient of walking around behind the executive chair, taking hold of its back, and pushing it forward.


  The clinking of chains grew louder, interspersed with moans. Corporate exorbitance has a place—the heavy-duty wheels on the chair turned smoothly under Alan’s prodding, out of the office and all the way down the long length of corridor toward the emergency exit.


  I had the Symbiot under control by the time we reached Ian’s body and the dog standing over it. It wagged its tail, once, twice, to see us, but remained silent.


  “Good puppy,” I said and pulled myself to my feet. The eyes were still a problem but confined painfully to the underside of my skin for now.


  “I see you’re feeling better,” Alan said, as he pushed the chair away toward a wall. Slowly, I turned toward him, met his eyes. Thank you.


  Alan ducked his head. “Um. It was nothing, really.” Embarrassment radiated in incongruous waves from his frame. About to protest, I suddenly realized the true cause of his discomfort.


  “Sorry,” I muttered, even as heat rushed to my face. Where could… right.


  Mouthing a thousand silent apologies to Ian, I liberated the cargo pants and sweater from his person. The camouflage-print briefs and undershirt looked so very strange by themselves, but they afforded him a small measure of defiance against the featureless corridor.


   


  THE third door opened into darkness, the hallway’s energy-saver lightbulbs doing little to illuminate the gloom. Again, Alan had a solution—a light, in fact, built into his fingertip. I felt inadequate.


  “Light switch, light switch,” I muttered, groping at the wall as the door closed behind us.


  Click.


   


  WE STOOD in front of a two-story brick house. The air smelled unfamiliar, of city and leaded gasoline.


  Alan stood shock still, staring at the front door of the house.


  “Where you would never find them,” I said, softly. “Where you would never go.”


  The mechanized susurration that issued from his speakers could only have been a sigh.


  “All dreams must come to an end,” he said. Then he reached forward without ceremony and pulled the door open, only to be met by a small avalanche of dry, powdery snow.


  Inside, the snow had collected in knee-deep drifts against the walls, in the right angles of the stairs leading upward, the least-walked spaces around the furniture. It glittered blue in the light of Alan’s LED.


  There was too much of it. The Howling. It’s all mixed in.


  Upstairs.


   


  ALAN-that-was lay on the bed on his side, his left arm hanging beside him, palm open. A woman in a brown skirt was bent over him, smoothing the hair on his head.


  “Safe now,” she whispered.


  Before Alan could react, I moved forward. Really, there was only one way this could go. Bending down, I pressed my lips upon his.


  The Howling is coming.


   


  A BLIZZARD blows snow into the room, and whenever it touches me, it turns crimson. The wind gathers the snow on the ground in heaps, pools of blood-red pitting the surfaces. The red pools have dark spots floating in them, here and there, like the seeds of a watermelon. Mostly brown spots. Some are blue, some green, some gray.


  “This is going to take a while,” I say. “There are an infinite number of matches.”


  Alan smiles. “Stylistic variations, remember?”


  “Show me?”


  “But I already did.”


  Yes, he did. I smile back at him as eyes start raining down, and the snow flows upward, sublime. Interspersed as it is between the eyes and the only source of light in the room, the snow scatters the light, forming glories around our heads.


  The house melts away, and we find ourselves in a large unfinished room. A storage area. Cardboard boxes are stacked floor-to-ceiling on metal racks, rows upon rows, disappearing into the dark beyond the small pool of light cast by the lonely halogen beside the door.


  The hairs on the backs of my arms begin to rise. “Alan, they’re—”


  The Howling slams into me.


   


  THE dead use fury as a substitute for fear, rage as panacea for every ill ever remembered, and the Demon draws attention to itself with the dripping drip of blood on the floor splattering too loudly.


  There is a box on the floor, just beyond the edge of dark, a meter on its longest side, pure gold shining a sickly green through the streaks of blood on it.


  The rage must go somewhere. They step me forward, hand raised, turn my head as one toward the golden box. With a sound of thunder of fist against glass of shotguns in closed spaces the sides of the box cave in. Thick sheet of gold under my hands, it tears like photocopy paper and the wood underneath.


  Splinters. Flying everywhere. The Demon is just a voice out of memory now; nothing can drown out the Howling.


  We are not to be contained by a half-mad Solomonist babbling Magic squares at me. We are not to be kept at bay by wind or voice or blows rained upon me by the golden figures carved into boxes. I am not to be denied our suffering.


  Two compacts so very old, written by a time when writing was a crayon held in a toddler’s fist. Lots of toddlers like to draw and they’re all inside me now. Sometimes they break things. Like the stone before us. One of the compacts is still broken, already broken. But still dangerous. One of us is a professional rocker; he pulverizes stone to chips to dust to a scream that is louder than even the Howling.


  The scream draws wind around it and drags our eyes closed. Some of them in me are very upset; they don’t like seeing their city all upside down up overhead and them left to wander in Hollywood shell sets of wood and cardboard. The wind drags the scream through the city down a path—there is a gate at the end of the path and no Alan to open it for us. Who’s Alan? There’s no Alan here. Alan? Can you open this gate for us dear be a sweetie.


  “Only a desert on the other side,” says Alan. “It might not be the best option for everyone.”


  I turn in surprise. There he is, leaning against a signpost glittering gold under the city light.


  “Really Mordred, do you need to look so surprised?” he asks.


  A smile tugs at my mouth. “Do you love me?”


  “I recognized you out of all this din, didn’t I?”


  The world is warm, the smell of fresh popcorn in the air. “So now what?”


  Alan points to the signpost. Two branches. Dead or Alive.


  “But… your work? AI?”


  Alan shrugs. “Others will come. Sorting the Howling from the Living is a bit of a priority right now, I believe.”


  “I suppose it is,” I say.


  “You will find me?”


  “Always.”


  I move forward to touch him once, for the many years that will pass that I will touch him again, but a howl in the distance stops me short.


  The souls around us start wailing. The dogs are coming for me and everyone else and they’re going to come so fast. Two million times fast.


  Dogs? They going to hunt that thing that hurt us?


  We have to go hunting.


  Who is going to rip it to shreds?


  “No, you have to follow Alan,” I say. My voice is lost in the screaming. “Alan has to sort you out!”


  “I can do it,” says Gabe, suddenly beside us. “It’s my job.” The damage shows, deep fissures leaking fluid criss-crossing the space he occupies.


  The souls around him scream in glee. The Howling dims, slightly, the faces in the air around Gabe dissolving into snow, into ash, then reforming somewhere further away.


  This is not how it’s supposed to go. “No, Alan will lead them through the Gate.”


  Alan won’t hunt it. Alan won’t hurt it like we will.


  Goddamn crazies. “Hurting it is not the point!”


  “Not for you,” says Gabe. “You’re not angry because you’re not dead.”


  Let him do it. Let him, let him, let him.


  The baying of the hounds becomes louder, the snap of teeth very, very close.


  Alan and I exchange a helpless look. I could force the issue….


  “Let him do it,” says Alan. “They won’t be satisfied, else.”


  My sorrow is all the permission the ghosts need. The Howling divides against itself.


  Gabe starts walking down the road leading away from the city. Then, at the boundary between Mordred and the Desert, he pauses.


  “Keep the drives spinning, brother,” he says over his shoulder.


  I close my eyes, nod. What else can I do? And then he’s gone, and the ones left behind, waiting, find me.


   


  THE pressure behind my eyes snaps them open.


  On hands and knees I crawl forward, my palms coming away from the floor sticky with blood.


  Oh lords, please, it hurts.


  Each soul is a hammer, a clarion that rings through the back of my head and down my spine as it tries to mold the shape of me to it. Names are a torrent. Names are a square wrought of Magic and damnation but there is not a name that can find a fit.


  The Symbiot is burning, pulled in two million directions by flesh memory. Its strands divide and divide and divide beyond bearing. Black specks float across my vision. The virus is crawling out of my eyes.


  Crawl.


  There is a table here, was a table here an eternity ago. It still is. Fingers alien in their shape at the ends of my hands grasp the edge, pull me up. Up you go. My knees don’t want to work but they’re working now because almost everyone remembers how knees are supposed to work.


  My eyes are blurry and the screen is old, not flatscreen because budget. It shines with a glossy sheen. Black glass. And a face, dimly reflected, the eyes bulging out because the screen is curved.


  All of us stare, fascinated, into gray on gray. And what do you know. Method Mordred is not fucking defined for any of you types.


   


  SLOWLY, my eyes focused on the screen before me, beyond my reflection, and onto the text, Courier New, flickering on it.


  Windows did not shut down properly.


  The world shattered and robbed me of breath, all concept of time. It was like being shot, but without that merciful pause before the pain hits.


  … Last Known Good Configuration (your most recent settings that worked)…


  Put your hand on a hot stove for a minute, and it seems like an hour. Sit with a pretty girl for an hour, and it seems like a minute. Einstein, on relativity. Smart bastard. Would have screamed, if I could, two million volts of outrage using me as conduit to vent themselves into the air.


  …4… 3… 2… 1… 0… Restarting…


  And then someone did scream, somewhere outside. Not a howling but a scream from a human throat filled with true, unadulterated fear. Breath rushed back into my lungs in relief.


   


  LIGHT assaulted me, then went away. Then it assaulted me again, as if it had nothing better to do.


  “Pupils are responsive,” said a voice. Familiar, though it should be demanding TPS reports not checking on my well-being. “He’s losing blood, but he’ll live,” said Gen-Mai.


  A cold pressure on my forehead brought relief from the dull ache. With sheer force of will, I opened my eyes. Two red LEDs were observing me from a metal face.


  “Alan,” I said. Or tried to. It came out as a croak. Dredging up saliva from the forgotten reaches of my mouth, I moistened my tongue and tried again. “Alan.”


  “Welcome back,” came the voice from his chest speakers.


  “How long was I out?”


  “Quite a while,” he said. “What do you remember?”


  What did I remember? “Snow,” I said. Eyes. Quickly, I queried the Symbiot as to the status of my organs. To my relief, I was back down to only two eyes.


  “There was… quite a bit, after,” he said.


  Yes, well my memory is all plastic, dear Alan. “What, did you declare your undying love for me while I was dead?” As soon as the words left my mouth, I wished I could take them back.


  But, “It would have been rather difficult to find the time, I believe, between the almost-apocalypse and the Demon and whatnot,” said Alan.


  Grateful for the humor, weak as it was, I half smiled and levered myself to a sitting position. Next, standing.


  “You dealt with Gertrude?” I asked Gen-Mai, once I was finally on my feet.


  “Yes,” she said. “She’s not very good at handling sums. Especially ones that don’t add up.”


  Alan must have seen the confusion on my face, because he played a two second sound byte of a chuckle. “A story for another day, I think.”


  “All the people—”


  “The Inquisition is getting everything normalized,” Gen-Mai said. I didn’t have the energy to ask what that meant. “But we’re not sure if this can be covered up at—”


  “They’ll forget… almost everything. The physical evidence—I don’t know. Ian? The dog?”


  Gen-Mai looked blank for a moment. “The body you were… camouflage underwear?”


  “Yes.”


  “We took him out on the first ambulance. He was very weak, but lucid. The dog went with him.”


  The Symbiot cranked down the sudden dopamine rush. Probably for the best; any victory I had ever savored always turned to dust. I cleared my throat. “Um. When are we, exactly?”


  “It’s the start of a dreary Monday morning, 26:23 SPT,” Alan said.


  “Then it’s time to clear out of here,” said Gen-Mai. “The SA doesn’t have any authority in Russia.”


  “I can’t go out like this,” Alan said.


  “No.”


  “Why not?” After all that had happened, surely a robot was within the realm of possibility.


  “They trust us, right now,” said Gen-Mai. “If they get even a glimmer of an idea that machines….”


  I sighed. “So what next?”


  “We’ll discuss it at the status meeting,” said Gen-Mai. “Alan, there’s a helicopter waiting on the pad upstairs to take you directly to HQ. Get yourself switched to a cyborg, don’t tell anyone that ghosts are Demons, then meet us at the clinic.”


  Before either of us could really formulate a reply, Gen-Mai had called over two other Inquisitors and herded us onto separate lifts.


   


  OUTSIDE, the pressure had broken; fat raindrops were splattering against the pavement, and the sky to the east threatened an early sunrise.


  Supported on each side by an Inquisitor, I was led to a black van. Gen-Mai had been right; the blood loss was rather extensive. I was drifting in and out of consciousness.


  “Mordred? Don’t fall asleep,” she said, poking at my eyelids again as I was settled into the back seat.


  “I can sleep if I want to,” I said. “I’ll be all right. The Symbiot is in panic mode.”


  “You sure?”


  For once, a look was enough to shut her up. The driver started the car, and pulled away from the curb, westbound on Bloor. But now I was wide awake, and as we crossed the light at Church, the contents of my pocket started nagging me.


  Reaching into my stolen cargo pants, I pulled out the USB key. “I took out Alan’s semiprime code from the vault earlier. Unnecessary, in retrospect.”


  “You took Alan’s code out into zombietown in your pocket?”


  “Did you know what was going to happen?” I asked. “I was trying to salvage… something… out of the mess.” Mostly trying not to leave the code around where all that stood between JCN’s spies and World Domination was a four-digit number.


  “Okay, give it to me now,” ordered Gen-Mai. “Unless you want to take it somewhere stupid again?”


  “Dammit, it only went a couple of blocks,” I muttered, handing the key over to her.


  “Yes, and if you keep it, tomorrow it might go a few more blocks and end up in a Viking raid.”


  “You know, you have a twisted sense of humor for a cyborg,” I said.


  “Alan’s programming, mostly,” she replied. “Had to have an upgrade to deal with your type of logic.”


  “So… you’re a Kamigawa product.”


  “Yes.”


  “Purely programmed? Are you sure you just didn’t notice that you have a soul?”


  “Quite sure. It isn’t something you can just not notice. I’m ghost free.”


  “Not a possession,” I said. “Your own soul. Inanimate objects do accumulate them.”


  “From what I understand, the process involves geologic timeframes.” She was looking out the window.


  “Gen-Mai,” I said, touching her arm, “Exceptions can always occur.”


  She finally turned around. “Mordred, have you ever been attracted to me?”


  “No,” I answered. “You think spreadsheets make good conversation topics.”


  “Yet you still had wet dreams over a MacBook.”


  “Wet dreams is going a bit far. And that was because it had Alan in it.”


  “Because it had a soul in it. There is nothing in you that connects to me, because there is nothing to connect to.”


  “I’m sure there was sexual tension in there somewhere,” I ventured weakly.


  “I wouldn’t know,” she answered.


  That shut me up for a while.


   


  AT 08:25, the driver turned right off Bloor, and onto Avenue. Away from Saint Michael's.


  “Where are we going?” I asked.


  “The SA maintains a clinic at Davenport.”


  “The Cyborg Inquisition.” Saying it out loud didn’t make it any less strange. “You’re not going to tell them Alan is a Demon.”


  “Alan is my source,” she said. “I will tell the High Inquisitor when he’s enmetaled as AI.”


  “He told you.”


  “Yes,” she said. “I’m very sorry.”


  “Let it be,” I said, tired of robotic apologies. “And me, Demonologist-Necromancer extraordinaire? I possessed someone. And I used Magic, unsupervised.”


  “The other Inquisitors never noticed. Gabe went mad, tried to sacrifice you, Demon, etcetera, etcetera. Explains the blood.”


  “So you can lie.”


  “I have special instructions. A gal has to do something for her knight.”


  “I’m sorry?”


  “You don’t recognize me? So many little improvements made over time.” She started undoing the buttons of her blouse. Uncanny valley. The humor was drowned out by the offhand, almost unimportant way in which she revealed her breasts. But there, running from her diaphragm to her navel there was a large ragged scar.


  Dim, blood-red light pulsed beneath the almost translucent skin making up the repair graft. Six delicately painted kanji adorned her left breast.


  19816448.


  “I’m sorry it hurt you,” I said, finally. “Never got a chance to tell you that, before.”


  “I don’t have pain receptors, Mordred.”


  “I do.”


  She was silent as she buttoned up her dress, and silent as the car arrived at a nondescript office building just beyond Avenue and Davenport, and silent for all the long hours it took to get the check-in paperwork filled out.


   


  ALAN was the first thing I noticed as I walked out of the examination room at 27:15. His transformation from robot to cyborg had obviously occurred without incident. He looked precisely average, sandy brown hair, Mediterranean skin tone, fortyish.


  He smiled at me. His eyes were brown. Strange, to wish for a Demonic red LED glow.


  “Everything all right?” he asked. They had tuned his voice to a mellow bass.


  “Yes,” I said. My pride meter was still hovering somewhere between empty and bitter fume; I had to ask, one last time. “What are you doing, later?”


  “The cyborgs need some help recalibrating,” he said.


  “Do you… do you need a place to stay tonight?”


  “I’ll be quite all right, thank you,” he replied. “Must be off.”


  “Ah. See you later then.”


  He gave me a vague smile and drifted off down the corridor. His course would intersect a wall—had he forgotten he was not an immaterial ghost? I was about to call out a warning but thought better of it.


  He slipped through the barrier without a whisper, leaving in his wake a brightness to the air, like sunlight glowing through fog. He was Alan Turing; space-time bends to accommodate his passage.


   


  A PRESENCE hovering behind me, just out of sight, drew me away from my contemplation of endings and blank walls. Gen-Mai stood at the door to the waiting room, and there was a gravity to her bearing that contrasted deeply with the fuchsia blouse she had changed into.


  “You know,” she said, her voice laden with more sorrow than I expected, “he really was worth you.”


  “Clearly,” I said. “It was I that fell short, somehow.” Slowly, I walked to the wall where Alan had disappeared, and leaned my head against it.


  “Not your fault he’s decided to be rational.”


  The cement was cold under my palms. “You would see it that way, wouldn’t you?”


  “Yes, but now you’re hurting,” she said, then walked briskly into the room. “I’ll just come up with some other way to manufacture your soulmate.”


  “Manufacture my soulmate?” I turned to see her straightening a print of “Happiness” on the wall. “You’ve got logic errors coming out your—”


  “No errors,” she interrupted. “Exposure to you has turned me stark raving mad. That’s why it’ll work.”


  “I highly doubt it.” My mouth twisted into a smile at a sudden memory. “There are no souls, on heaven or hell or earth, that would dare to claim me as theirs.”


  “Just heaven and hell and earth?” she asked, turning to me with a look I could only describe as smug. “There are more things in the universe, Mordred, than dreamed of in Deathless philosophy.”


  “Woman,” I said, “If you try to set me up with Cthullu, so help me gods, I will format you.”


  ERRATA
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  From: JCN Customer Service <sales@machinamina.com>


  Date: Wed, May 30, 2012 at 12:17 SPT


  Subject: Your order has now been shipped


  To: sales@petrarelocation.com


   


  Good afternoon,


  This is a notification that order 4R811 has now been shipped. Expected arrival date at the Bus-Stop is Jun 01 2012 25:22 SPT.


  Please note that additional fees may apply on top of any material charges for any changes made to the order after 06/01/2012 16:27 SPT.


  Thank you very much for shopping with JCN. We value your feedback. If you have any questions or concerns, please feel free to contact JCN-Tertius customer service, via phone or e-mail, at any time.


  Sincerely,


  The Customer Service Team
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  JCN, Tertius Initiatives


  1-555-864-1082


  sales@machinamina.com


  From: Petra Customer Service <sales@petrarelocation.com>


  Date: Wed, May 30, 2012, 2012 at 27:12 SPT


  Subject: Re: Your order has now been shipped


  To: sales@machinamina.com


   


  Dear Customer Service Team,


  Invoice number 4R811 has been paid via direct deposit at 15:05 SPT today. There are no changes to the order at this time.


  The list of exiles for the 2012 Summer-Fall period is attached. As per your request, all Mages in the list have been highlighted. Please note that a commission is requested and required in the event that you use this list to recruit staff for your own corporate efforts.


  Thank you for your continued participation in the Exile-Integration program. Please let us know if our department may be of any further help.


  Sincerely,


  The Customer Service Team


  Petra Ltd.


  Public Service Directorate


  7.001.010010.100101110


   


  ***This e-mail contains information on citizens obtained through the MageScreen (TM) Program.


  MAGESCREEN: Safe, Certified, Secure. We are here to help you with all your staffing needs. Call today to obtain a quote for your enterprise. MAGESCREEN: 7.001.011101.000101100
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  From: Hassan Mansouri <hassan.mansouri@machinamina.com>


  Date: Fri, Jun 01, 2012 at 24:06 SPT


  Subject: Petra Exile List: Flagged Name


  To: cynthia.rainer@machinamina.com


   


  Hi Ms. Rainer,


  One of the names you’d flagged just showed up on the SP’s exile-list. They’re asking for a 7-figure commission—the guy’s a Mage-Adept. Should we just let this one go?


  Kind regards,


  Hassan


   


  =======


  Hassan Mansouri, BSc


  Account Specialist


  JCN, Tertius Initiatives
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  From: Cynthia Rainer <cynthia.rainer@machinamina.com>


  Date: Fri, Jun 01, 2012 at 02:27 SPT


  Subject: Re: Petra Exile List: Flagged Name


  To: hassan.mansouri@machinamina.com


   


  Pay it.


  -Cyn


  [image: img5.png]


   


  From: Cynthia Rainer <cynthia.rainer@machinamina.com>


  Date: Mon, Jul 16, 2012 at 19:20 SPT


  Subject:


  To: hassan.mansouri@machinamina.com


   


  Hassan,


  It has just come to my attention that Mordred Pendragon was in the last batch of exiles from the Sunless Planes. I flagged him as a Priority for your department, and as of this morning, the flag is still up. So why do I have to find out about this through the SA? More importantly, why the fuck is he now working for some startup instead of us?


  I want the list of exiles Petra is supposed to supply us with. I want a runthrough of what exactly happened to allow this cockup. I want it yesterday.


  -Cyn
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  From: Hassan Mansouri <hassan.mansouri@machinamina.com>


  Date: Mon, Jul 16, 2012 at 13:29 SPT


  Subject: HR Flagged Name


  To: marilyn.tan@machinamina.com


   


  Hi Marilyn,


  I just got an e-mail from the Director—somebody on the red-flag list seems to have slipped through the cracks. The name is Mordred Pendragon. Could you please check up on this STAT?


   


  =======


  Hassan Mansouri, BSc


  Account Specialist


  JCN, Tertius Initiatives
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  From: Marilyn Tan <marilyn.tan@machinamina.com>


  Date: Mon, Jul 16, 2012 at 8:20 AM


  Subject: Candidate Trace


  To: trevor.childs@machinamina.com


   


  The reference number for this candidate is 7883. I need this traced right now.


   


  =======


  Marilyn Tan


  Manager, Human Resources


  JCN
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  From: Trevor Childs <trevor.childs@machinamina.com>


  Date: Mon, Jul 16, 2012 at 01:29 PM


  Subject: Re: Candidate Trace


  To: marilyn.tan@machinamina.com


   


  Hi Marilyn,


  Reena was supposed to interview him on the 12th. She was still in the hospital so I asked Jason to take over. The candidate didn’t do well, so they just filled out the standard rejection form. I hope this is OK?


  Regards,


  Trev


   


  =======


  Trevor Childs


  Administrative Assistant, Human Resources


  JCN
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  From: Marilyn Tan <marilyn.tan@machinamina.com>


  Date: Mon, Jul 16, 2012 at 22:22 SPT


  Subject: Re: HR Flagged Name


  To: hassan.mansouri@machinamina.com


   


  Hi Hassan,


  So I found out what happened, and this was an internal HR mixup, not really anybody’s fault. Everything was a bit chaotic because Reena got sick—she’s still in the hospital—and Matthew Fenray, the MP Lead Developer, decided to sit in on the interview last minute.


  The candidate did very poorly on the technical questions, so the interviewing team decided to pass on this. Hope it’s not a huge problem—we can just give the guy a call back? Let me know!


  Cheers,


  Marilyn


   


  =======


  Marilyn Tan


  Manager, Human Resources


  JCN
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  From: Hassan Mansouri <hassan.mansouri@machinamina.com>


  Date: Mon, Jul 16, 2012 at 18:27 SPT


  Subject: Re:


  To: cynthia.rainer@machinamina.com


   


  Hi Ms. Rainer,


  This was a HR problem. We did grant Mr. Pendragon an interview, but the scheduled interviewer had a medical emergency, and was not available when Mr. Pendragon came in. Reena’s stand-ins had no idea they were dealing with a Mage.


  I’ve attached the exile-list from Petra and the interview transcript for you. I will also be working with HR to overhaul our procedures and system warnings to ensure that something like this doesn’t happen again.


  Sincerely,


  Hassan


   


  =======


  Hassan Mansouri, BSc


  Account Specialist


  JCN, Tertius Initiatives
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  From: Cynthia Rainer <cynthia.rainer@machinamina.com>


  Date: Mon, Jul 16, 2012 at 11:05 SPT


  Subject: Re: Re:


  To: hassan.mansouri@machinamina.com


   


  I’ve looked through the transcript.


  Tell HR to start packing Mr. Fenray’s bags. And I want Gen-Mai in my office at 11:05 tomorrow morning.


  Without the iPad.


  -Cyn
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  About the Author


  A native of Toronto, ALDOUS MERCER enjoys martinis and relaxing on the beac—ha! No. Aldous Mercer is a workaholic with a penchant for numerical mind games and caffeinated beverages. He uses his degree in Engineering to ensure that none of the spaceships in his books have cubic pressure-vessels. In real life—and much to his manager’s chagrin—he always annotates engineering drawings in iambic tetrameter.


   


  Visit Aldous at his web site: http://technomance.com.
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  Greenwode


   


  By J Tullos Hennig


   


  The Hooded One. The one to breathe the dark and light and dusk between...


   


  When an old druid foresees this harbinger of chaos, he also glimpses its future. A peasant from Loxley will wear the Hood and, with his sister, command a last, desperate bastion of Old Religion against New. Yet a devout nobleman’s son could well be their destruction—Gamelyn Boundys, whom Rob and Marion have befriended. Such acquaintance challenges both duty and destiny. The old druid warns that Rob and Gamelyn will be cast as sworn enemies, locked in timeless and symbolic struggle for the greenwode’s Maiden.


   


  Instead, a defiant Rob dares his Horned God to reinterpret the ancient rites, allow Rob to take Gamelyn as lover instead of rival. But in the eyes of Gamelyn’s Church, sodomy is unthinkable… and the old pagan magics are an evil that must be vanquished.


   


  http://www.dsppublications.com
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  Ghost


   


  By Carole Cummings


   


  Untouchable. Ghost. Assassin. Mad. Fen Jacin-rei is all these and none. His mind is host to the spirits of long-dead magicians, and Fen’s fate should be one of madness and ignoble death. So how is it Fen lives, carrying out shadowy vengeance for his subjugated people and protecting the family he loves?


   


  Kamen Malick means to find out. When Malick and his own small band of assassins ambush Fen in an alley, Malick offers Fen a choice: Join us or die.


   


  Determined to decode the intrigue that surrounds Fen, Malick sets to unraveling the mysteries of Fen’s past. As Fen’s secrets slowly unfold, Malick finds irony a bitter thing when he discovers the one he wants is already hopelessly entangled with the one he hunts.
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  Third Eye


   


  By Rick R. Reed


   


  Who knew that a summer thunderstorm and his lost little boy would conspire to change single dad Cayce D’Amico’s life in an instant? With Luke missing, Cayce ventures into the woods near their house to find his son, only to have lightning strike a tree near him, sending a branch down on his head. When he awakens the next day in the hospital, he discovers he has been blessed or cursed—he isn't sure which—with psychic ability. Along with unfathomable glimpses into the lives of those around him, he’s getting visions of a missing teenage girl.


   


  When a second girl disappears soon after the first, Cayce realizes his visions are leading him to their grisly fates. Cayce wants to help, but no one believes him. The police are suspicious. The press wants to exploit him. And the girls' parents have mixed feelings about the young man with the "third eye."


   


  Cayce turns to local reporter Dave Newton and, while searching for clues to the string of disappearances and possible murders, a spark ignites between the two. Little do they know that nearby, another couple—dark and murderous—are plotting more crimes and wondering how to silence the man who knows too much about them.
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  Infected: Prey


   


  By Andrea Speed


   


  In a world where a werecat virus has changed society, Roan McKichan, a born infected and ex-cop, works as a private detective trying to solve crimes involving other infecteds.


   


  The murder of a former cop draws Roan into an odd case where an unidentifiable species of cat appears to be showing an unusual level of intelligence. He juggles that with trying to find a missing teenage boy, who, unbeknownst to his parents, was “cat” obsessed. And when someone is brutally murdering infecteds, Eli Winters, leader of the Church of the Divine Transformation, hires Roan to find the killer before he closes in on Eli.


   


  Working the crimes will lead Roan through a maze of hate, personal grudges, and mortal danger. With help from his tiger-strain infected partner, Paris Lehane, he does his best to survive in a world that hates and fears their kind… and occasionally worships them.
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  Dreamlands


   


  By Felicitas Ivey


   


  The Trust and its battle-hardened recruits are fighting a horrific war, a war between the humans of this world and the demons of the Dreamlands. In this shadowy battle, Keno Inuzaka is merely a pawn: first an innocent bystander imprisoned and abused by the Trust, then a captive of a demon oni when taken to the Dreamlands.


   


  But oni Samojirou Aboshi treats the human with unexpected care and respect, and the demon only just earns Keno’s trust when a team from the Trust arrives to exploit the Dreamlands’ magic.


   


  As the war spreads across both worlds, Keno is torn between them. If he survives, he faces a decision: go home and carve out a new life under the Trust's thumb... or stay in the Dreamlands and find freedom in love.
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